
 

 
 
 
DYDD MERCHER, 22 CHWEFROR 2023 
 
 
AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R CYNGOR SIR 
 
 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD Y  
CYNGOR SIR A GYNHELIR YN SIAMBR - NEUADD Y SIR, 
CAERFYRDDIN. SA31 1JP AC O BELL AM 10.00 YB, DYDD 
MERCHER, 1AF MAWRTH, 2023 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R MATERION 
A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 
 
 
 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 

GELLIR GWYLIO’R CYFARFOD AR WEFAN  Y CYNGOR DRWY'R DDOLEN CANLYNOL:- 
HTTPS://CARMARTHENSHIRE.PUBLIC-I.TV/CORE/PORTAL/HOME 

Swyddog Democrataidd: Kevin Thomas 
Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224027 
E-bost: kjthomas@sirgar.gov.uk  
 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 
 
 

Pecyn Dogfennau

https://carmarthenshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 

A G E N D A   
  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   
 
2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL.   
 
3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD.   
 
4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y 

CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR 25 IONAWR 2023  
5 - 14 

 
5. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y CABINET O RAN A MATERION 

CYNLYNOL:-  
 

 
5 .1 STRATEGAETH CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2023/24 I 2025/26 15 - 134  
5 .2 RHAGLEN GYFALAF PUM MLYNEDD 2023/24 - 2027/28. 135 - 170  
5 .3 POLISI RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS A STRATEGAETH  2023-24 171 - 222  
5 .4 STRATEGAETH GORFFORAETHOL CYNGOR SIR 

CAERFYRDDIN 2022-27 
223 - 262 

 
6. DERBYN ADRODDIAD CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD 

AR Y DYDDIADAU CANLYNOL:  
 

 
6 .1 30 IONAWR, 2023 263 - 268  
6 .2 13 CHWEFROR 2023 269 - 278  

7. YSTYRIED Y RHYBUDDION O GYNNIG CANLYNOL:-   
 

7 .1 RHYBUDD O GYNNIG A GYFLWYNWYD GAN 
CYNGHORWYR ROB JAMES, DERYK CUNDY, ANDREW 
DAVIES AC ARWEL DAVIES 

  

 “Bod Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin yn cefnogi pryderon trigolion a 
busnesau lleol ynglŷn â'r cynnig i godi peilonau i gysylltu Parc Ynni 
Mithil â'r Grid Cenedlaethol yn Sir Gaerfyrddin; yn credu y dylai Bute 
Energy weithio gyda thirfeddianwyr i osod y ceblau dan ddaear; a'n 
bod ni, fel Awdurdod, yn ysgrifennu'n ffurfiol at y cwmni ynni i 
gefnogi'r pryderon a godwyd.” 
 

 

 
7 .2 RHYBUDD O GYNNIG A GYFLWYNWYD GAN 

CYNGHORWYR  GARETH THOMAS, ANN DAVIES, ROB 
JAMES AC CRISH DAVIES 

  

 Strategaeth ddileu effeithiol ar gyfer TB buchol 
  
Mae'r cyngor hwn yn gofyn i Lywodraeth Cymru fanteisio ar y 
cyfle a ddaw yn sgil y strategaeth dileu TB buchol newydd i 
ganfod ei heffeithiolrwydd o ran lles anifeiliaid (bywyd gwyllt a 
da byw), iechyd y cyhoedd a'r gost.  
  
Mae lefelau heintio cyson uchel, ei effaith ar les anifeiliaid ac 
iechyd y cyhoedd ynghyd â'r gost gynyddol i'r pwrs cyhoeddus 
yn awgrymu nad yw'r mesurau presennol yn addas i'r diben.  

 



 

  
Gofynnwn i Lywodraeth Cymru nodi'r pwyntiau canlynol a 
chymryd camau yn eu cylch:- 
  

        Mae TB buchol yn glefyd trosglwyddadwy y dylid mynd 
i'r afael ag ef yn gyfannol fel mater lles bywyd gwyllt ac 
anifeiliaid fferm, gan ddefnyddio cyfres gynhwysfawr o 
fesurau, a arweinir gan y cyngor gwyddonol gorau sydd 
ar gael. 

        Mae'r gofyniad i brofi gwartheg yn aml yn rhoi straen ar 
dda byw ac yn peri risg uchel o anaf a hyd yn oed 
marwolaeth i'r rhai sy'n ymwneud â chynnal profion ar 
gyfer TB buchol. 

        Mae'r methiant parhaus i fynd i'r afael â TB buchol yn 
peri lefelau sylweddol o broblemau iechyd meddwl 
ymhlith teuluoedd sy'n ffermio a phobl mewn rolau 
cysylltiedig. 

        Mae angen ymdrin ag achosion o'r clefyd ar ddaliadau 
mewn modd sensitif drwy gyfathrebu'n effeithiol ac yn 
symlach. 

        Dylai fod gan fwrdd y rhaglen ddileu gynrychiolaeth 
gytbwys gan gynnwys yr holl randdeiliaid yr effeithir 
arnynt.”  

  
8. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 

LAW).  
 

 
9. CWESTIYNAU GAN YR AELODAU (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 

LAW).  
 

 
10. COFNODION ER GWYBODAETH (AR GAEL AR Y WEFAN)   
 

10 .1 PWYLLGOR TRWYDDEDU - 10 IONAWR 2023   
10 .2 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU ADDYSG, POBL IFANC A'R 

GYMRAEG - 23 IONAWR 2023 
 

 
10 .3 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU LLE, CYNALIADWYEDD A NEWID 

YR HINSAWDD - 23RD IONAWR 2023 
 

 
10 .4 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU IECHYD A GWASANAETHAU 

CYMDEITHASOL - 24 IONAWR 2023 
 

 
10 .5 PWYLLGOR SAFONAU - 24 IONAWR 2023   
10 .6 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU, CARTREFI & 

ADFYWIO - 26 IONAWR 2023 
 

 
10 .7 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU PERFFORMIAD AC ADNODDAU 

CORFFORAETHOL - 30 IONAWR 2023 
 

 
10 .8 PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO - 2 CHWEFROR 2023  

 
 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

CYNGOR SIR 
 

DYDD MERCHER, 25 IONAWR 2023  
 

PRESENNOL Cynghorydd R.E. Evans (Cadeirydd) 
 
Cynghorwyr (Yn y Siambr): 
S.M. Allen P. Cooper D.M. Cundy C.A. Davies 
B. Davies G. Davies L. Davies L.D. Evans 
N. Evans P.M. Hughes J.D. James R. James 
G.H. John B.W. Jones D. Jones H. Jones 
A. Lenny N. Lewis A. Leyshon K. Madge 
D. Nicholas D. Owen D. Price E. Rees 
B.A.L. Roberts H.B. Shepardson E. Skinner D. Thomas 
E.G. Thomas M. Thomas J. Tremlett A. Vaughan Owen 

 
Cynghorwyr (Yn rhithwir): 
L.R. Bowen K.V. Broom J.M. Charles M.D. Cranham 
S.A. Curry A. Davies W.R.A. Davies T.A.J. Davies 
C. Davies H.L. Davies K. Davies L.M. Davies 
S.L. Davies T. Davies A. Evans H.A.L. Evans 
W.T. Evans A.D. Harries J.P. Hart T.M. Higgins 
J.K. Howell P. Hughes-

Griffiths 
J.P. Jenkins A.C. Jones 

A.G. Morgan M. Palfreman B.D.J. Phillips S.L. Rees 
E.M.J.G. Schiavone J. Seward R. Sparks G.B. Thomas 
F. Walters P.T. Warlow D.E. Williams J. Williams  
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn y Siambr): 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau 
A. Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Amgylcheddol a Gwastraff 
J. Morgan, Pennaeth Cartrefi a Chymunedau Mwy Diogel 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad) 
S Burford, Rheolwr y Prosiect 
G. Morgan, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
C. Higginson, Media Manager 
S Jenkins, Rheolwr Ardal Datblygu Economaidd 
A. Eynon, Prif Gyfieithydd 
M.S. Davies, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cymorth y CabinetI. Jones, Pennaeth Hamdden 
A Thomas, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Addysg a Chynhwysiant 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol  (Yn rhithwyr): 
I. Jones, Pennaeth Hamdden 
A Thomas, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Addysg a Chynhwysiant 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Siambr,  Neuadd Y Sir, Caerfyrddin: 10.00 yb - 12.45 yp 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  4



 

[Sylwer: Yn unol â Rheol 2(3) o Weithdrefn y Cyngor, newidiodd y Cadeirydd drefn y 
materion ar yr agenda er mwyn i Eitem 8 ar yr Agenda gael ei hystyried yn gynharach 
yn y cyfarfod]. 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan  y Cynghorwyr S. Godfrey-
Coles, D.C. Evans, M. James, G.R. Jones ac M.J.A. Lewis.  
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 
Y Cynghorydd  Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 
J. James 5.3 - Cyllideb y Cyfrif 

Refeniw Tai 2023/24 tan 
2025/26 Pennu Cyfalaf a 
Rhenti Tai ar gyfer 
2023/24; 

Mae ei ferched yn denantiaid tai 
cyngor; 

D. Price  5.3 - Cyllideb y Cyfrif 
Refeniw Tai 2023/24 tan 
2025/26 Pennu Cyfalaf a 
Rhenti Tai ar gyfer 
2023/24; 

Mae aelod o'i deulu yn denant y 
Cyngor. 

  
3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD 

        Dywedodd y Cadeirydd ei fod ef a'i Gydymaith, y Cynghorydd Nysia Evans, 
wedi mynd i Drochfa'r Tymor ym Mhen-bre ar Ŵyl San Steffan i godi arian i 
elusen. Diolchodd i'r staff am eu cymorth yn y digwyddiad; 
  

    Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio, Hamdden, Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth, 
gyda chaniatâd y Cadeirydd, wrth y Cyngor fod y Llywodraeth, ar 19 Ionawr 
2023, wedi cyhoeddi'r ceisiadau llwyddiannus yn Rownd 2 o'r Gronfa Ffyniant 
Bro. Roedd 525 o geisiadau wedi dod i law ac mae 111 o brosiectau wedi 
derbyn cyllid gwerth oddeutu £2 biliwn.  Atgoffwyd aelodau bod Sir 
Gaerfyrddin wedi cyflwyno ceisiadau yn ymwneud ag adfywio Llanelli a 
Chyfnewidfa a Mwy Llanelli. Yn anffodus roedd hysbysiad wedi ei dderbyn bod 
y ddau gais wedi bod yn aflwyddiannus. Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros 
Adfywio, Hamdden, Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth fod y newyddion yn siomedig, yn 
enwedig o ystyried yr angen clir a chryfder ac ansawdd y cyflwyniadau a'r 
llawer iawn o amser ac ymdrech a wnaed wrth gyflwyno'r ceisiadau. Diolchodd 
i'r swyddogion am y gwaith yr oeddent wedi'i wneud mewn perthynas â'r 
ceisiadau gan ychwanegu bod yr Awdurdod wedi gofyn am adborth 
ysgrifenedig allai gefnogi cynigion a chyflwyniadau yn y dyfodol, a bod hynny 
wedi'i addo, gan gofio y byddai trydedd rownd o'r Gronfa Ffyniant Bro maes o 
law. Ychwanegodd fod y dadansoddiad o'r ddau ddyfarniad yn nodi nad oedd 
yr un awdurdod wedi cael llwyddiant yn y ddwy rownd. Dim ond 4 awdurdod 
lleol yng Nghymru gafodd ddim llwyddiant wedi'r ddwy rownd, ac yn y ddwy 
rownd gyda'i gilydd, roedd Sir Gaerfyrddin yn ail i Gaerdydd yn unig ar 
gyfanswm y cyllid oedd wedi'i neilltuo hyd yma. I gloi, ailadroddodd ein bod yn 
aros am yr adborth ffurfiol ac na fyddai unrhyw sylwadau pellach yn cael eu 
gwneud tan hynny.  

  
 

Tudalen 6



 

4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR A 
GYNHALIWYD AR 7FED RHAGFYR 2022 
 
PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 7 
Rhagfyr 2022 gan eu bod yn gywir.  
 

5. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y CABINET O RAN A MATERION CYNLYNOL:- 
 
5.1. ADRODDIAD CHWARTEROL YNGYLCH RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS A 

DANGOSYDD DARBODAETH EBRILL 1AF 2022 I MEDI 30AIN 2022 
Dywedodd wrth y Cyngor fod y Cabinet, yn ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 28 
Tachwedd 2022 [gweler cofnod 7 o'r cyfarfod hwnnw], wedi cymeradwyo'r 
wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am weithgareddau rheoli'r trysorlys o 1 Ebrill 2022 hyd at 
30 Medi 2022, yn unol â Pholisi a Strategaeth Rheoli'r Trysorlys 2022/23 (a 
fabwysiadwyd gan y Cyngor ar 2 Mawrth 2022. 
  
Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau mai balans y buddsoddiad ar 20 
Medi 2022 oedd £195m ac mai gwerth yr holl fuddsoddiadau a wnaed ac a ad-
dalwyd oedd mwy na biliwn o bunnoedd - £1,060.5m. Y llog gros a enillwyd am y 
cyfnod oedd £920,000. Roedd y lefel buddsoddi presennol, ychwanegodd, yn dal 
yn arwyddocaol gyda balans o £210.5m. O ran gweithgarwch benthyca'r 
Awdurdod yn y cyfnod yr adroddwyd amdano, cyfanswm y benthyciadau sydd 
heb eu talu yw £411.72m. Roedd pedwar benthyciad newydd gan y Bwrdd 
Benthyciadau Gwaith Cyhoeddus, gwerth £20m, wedi'u cymryd yn ystod y 
cyfnod. Y llog a dalwyd yn ystod y cyfnod oedd £8.18m. Roedd y dangosydd 
cyfradd llog wedi cynyddu o 125% i 150% er mwyn darparu ar gyfer lefel uwch o 
falansau buddsoddi parhaus yr Awdurdod. I gloi, dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet 
dros Adnoddau fod yr holl Ddangosyddion Darbodus eraill o fewn y terfynau a 
bennir gan Gyllideb 2022-23 a'r Polisi a Strategaeth Rheoli’r Trysorlys ar gyfer y 
flwyddyn ariannol hon. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y Cabinet: 
  
'bod Adroddiad Rheoli'r Trysorlys a Diweddaru Dangosyddion Darbodol ar 
gyfer 1 Ebrill 2022 tan 30 Medi 2022, gan gynnwys newidiadau i'r terfynau ar 
gyfer Cyfraddau Llog, yn cael ei gymeradwyo.'  
 
5.2. CYNLLUN GOSTYNGIADAU'R DRETH GYNGOR 
Cafodd y Cyngor wybod fod y Cabinet, yn ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Ionawr 
2023 [gweler cofnod 9 o'r cyfarfod hwnnw], wedi ystyried adroddiad a amlinellodd 
wybodaeth am Gynllun Gostyngiadau’r Dreth Gyngor 2023/24. Diben yr 
adroddiad hwn oedd gofyn am fabwysiadu'n ffurfiol Gynllun Gostyngiadau’r Dreth 
Gyngor (a gyflwynwyd yn lle Budd-dal y Dreth Gyngor ym mis Ebrill 2013) am 
2023/24. Nodwyd, yn dilyn cyfarfod y Cabinet, bod rheoliadau'r cynllun wedi cael 
eu cymeradwyo gan Lywodraeth Cymru a'u bod wedi dod i rym ar 20 Ionawr 
2023.  
  
Wrth gyflwyno'r adroddiad, dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau nad oedd 
y cynllun ei hun wedi newid yn faterol ar gyfer 2023/24. Fodd bynnag, yn ogystal 
â'r uwchraddio blynyddol arferol o rai ffigurau ariannol a ddefnyddir ar gyfer 
asesu hawl unigol a rhai addasiadau technegol, roedd yr offeryn statudol yn 
gwneud nifer o ddiwygiadau llai eraill a oedd yn cynnwys diwygiadau mewn 

Tudalen 7



 

perthynas â phobl o Wcráin, y rheiny sy'n lletya pobl o Wcráin, a dinasyddion 
Ardal Economaidd Ewrop fel yr amlinellir yn yr adroddiad. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y Cabinet: 
  
‘bod y Cyngor:-  
  
5.2.1. Yn mabwysiadu'n ffurfiol gynllun safonol Cymru Gyfan ar gyfer  

Gostyngiadau'r Dreth Gyngor a ddarperir yn a. Rheoliadau 
Cynlluniau Gostyngiadau'r Dreth Gyngor a Gofynion Rhagnodedig 
(Cymru) 2013, a  

  
5.2.2. Yn gweithredu'r ffigurau uwchraddio blynyddol (a ddefnyddir wrth 

gyfrifo hawl) a'r diwygiadau technegol eraill sydd wedi'u cynnwys yn 
Rheoliadau Cynlluniau Gostyngiadau'r Dreth Gyngor (Gofynion 
Rhagnodedig a'r Cynllun Diofyn) (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2023, a fydd yn 
dod i rym ar 20 Ionawr 2023 ac mae'r rheoliadau hyn yn berthnasol 
mewn perthynas â chynllun gostyngiadau'r dreth gyngor a wnaed ar 
gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol sy'n dechrau ar 1 Ebrill 2023;  

  
5.2.3. Parhau i arfer ei ddisgresiwn o ran elfennau disgresiynol cyfyngedig 

y cynllun rhagnodedig, fel y'u hamlinellir yn y Crynodeb 
Gweithredol.’  

 
5.3. CYLLIDEB Y CYFRIF REFENIW TAI A PHENNU RHENTI TAI AR 

GYFER 2023/24 
[SYLWER: Roedd y Cynghorydd J. James a D. Price wedi datgan buddiannau yn 
yr eitemau hyn yn gynharach a gadawodd y ddau y cyfarfod tra oedd yr eitem yn 
cael ei hystyried]. 
  
Cafodd y Cyngor wybod fod y Cabinet, yn ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Ionawr 
2023 [gweler cofnod 10 o'r cyfarfod hwnnw], wedi ystyried Cyllideb y Cyfrif 
Refeniw Tai 2023/24 i 2025/26 a chynigion Pennu Rhenti Tai ar gyfer 2023/24 
cyn i'r Cyngor eu hystyried. Mae'r adroddiad a baratowyd gan Gyfarwyddwr y 
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol, ar y cyd â swyddogion o'r Adran Cymunedau yn 
dod ynghyd â'r cynigion diweddaraf ar gyfer Cyllidebau Refeniw a Chyfalaf y 
Cyfrif Refeniw Tai am 2023/24 i 2025/26. Nodwyd bod yr adroddiad wedi cael ei 
ystyried a'i gymeradwyo hefyd gan y Pwyllgor Craffu – Cymunedau yn ei gyfarfod 
ar 19 Rhagfyr 2022, fel rhan o'r broses ymgynghori ynghylch y gyllideb. 
  
Wrth gyflwyno'r adroddiad, ailadroddodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau y 
sylwadau a wnaed ganddo yng nghyfarfod y Cabinet ar 9 Ionawr 2023 [gweler 
cofnod 10 o'r cyfarfod hwnnw] gan ychwanegu ei fod yn sicr y byddai'r Cyngor yn 
gwerthfawrogi'r anhawster o ran cyflawni cydbwysedd wrth benni rhenti o fewn 
polisi'r Llywodraeth ar lefel fforddiadwy i denantiaid a gwireddu ei uchelgeisiau o 
ran tai. Pwysleisiodd, os mabwysiadwyd argymhellion y Cabinet gan y Cyngor, y 
byddai'r rhent cyfartalog i'w denantiaid yn dal i fod o dan £100 yr wythnos - un o'r 
lefelau rhent isaf allan o'r 11 Awdurdod sy'n cadw stoc yng Nghymru, ac yn 
sylweddol is na'r sector preifat. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y Cabinet: 
  

Tudalen 8



 

5.3.1 'Cynyddu rhent cyfartalog tai, 5.5% (£5.18) fesul preswylfa yr wythnos 
yn ôl Polisi Rhenti Tai Cymdeithasol Llywodraeth Cymru;  

  
• Bod cynnydd o 5.36% yn digwydd i renti eiddo sydd ar y rhenti 

targed a; 
• Bod eiddo lle mae'r rhent yn is na'r rhenti targed yn cynyddu gan 

5.36% yn ogystal â'r cynnydd mwyaf posibl o £1.00;  
• Bod y rhenti hynny sy'n uwch na'r targed yn cael eu rhewi hyd nes 

eu bod yn unol â'r  targed.  
  

Bydd hyn yn arwain felly at Gynllun Busnes cynaliadwy, cynnal 
STSG+, darparu adnoddau ar gyfer ein Cynllun Cyflawni Adfywio a 
Datblygu Tai, ac mae'n cael ei gynnal gan y Tîm Strategol Adfywio a 
Thai;  

  
5.2.3. Cadw rhenti garejis ar £9.00 a sylfeini garejis ar £2.25;  
  
5.3.3. Gweithredu'r polisi ynghylch taliadau am wasanaethau i sicrhau bod 

y tenantiaid sy'n elwa ar wasanaethau penodol yn talu am y 
gwasanaethau hynny;  

  
5.3.4. Cynyddu'r taliadau am ddefnyddio ein gwaith trin carthffosiaeth yn 

unol â'r cynnydd mewn rhenti;  
  
5.3.5. Cymeradwyo Cyllideb y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai ar gyfer 2023/26 

(cyllidebau dangosol oedd rhai 2024/25 a 2025/26), fel y nodwyd yn 
Atodiad A;  

  
5.3.6. Cymeradwyo'r Rhaglen Gyfalaf a gynigir a'r cyllid perthnasol ar gyfer 

2023/24 a gwariant dangosol 2024/25 a 2025/26 fel y'u nodwyd yn 
Atodiad B.’  

 
5.4. CYNLLUN BUSNES 2023-26 Y CYFRIF REFENIW TAI RHAGLEN 

BUDDSODDIADAU TAI SIR GAERFYRDDIN 
Cafodd y Cyngor wybod fod y Cabinet, yn ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Ionawr 
2023 [gweler cofnod 11 o'r cyfarfod hwnnw], wedi ystyried Cynllun Busnes y 
Cyfrif Refeniw Tai 2023-26 - Rhaglen Buddsoddiadau Tai Sir Gaerfyrddin a 
esboniodd y weledigaeth a manylion Rhaglen Buddsoddiadau Tai y Cyngor dros 
y tair blynedd nesaf, gan gynnwys cynlluniau i wella'r stoc dai, y rhaglen adeiladu 
tai newydd a'r cynlluniau i ddod yn garbon sero net. 
  
Dywedodd yr aelod Cabinet dros Gartrefi, wrth gyflwyno'r adroddiad, fod y 
Cynllun yn amlinellu y byddai'r Cyngor yn parhau i ddarparu rhaglen 
gynhwysfawr o waith i dai a chynnal gwasanaethau i'w holl denantiaid. Yn 
benodol, byddai'r incwm gan renti tenantiaid a ffynonellau cyllid eraill dros y tair 
blynedd nesaf yn galluogi'r Awdurdod i ddatblygu rhaglen gyfalaf dros £103m, a 
fyddai'n:  

       gwella a chynnal y stoc dai bresennol, lleihau nifer y tai gwag Cyngor a 
delio â'r gwaith atgyweirio sydd wedi pentyrru, rhoi gwybod i denantiaid 
am gynnydd;  

       cefnogi'r gwaith o ddarparu dros 2,000 o gartrefi fforddiadwy newydd i 
sicrhau bod mwy o gartrefi ar gael i'r rhai mewn angen;  

Tudalen 9



 

       cefnogi egwyddorion Carbon Sero Net y Cyngor, creu cartrefi sy'n 
defnyddio ynni'n effeithlon, lleihau allyriadau carbon a hyrwyddo 
cynhesrwydd fforddiadwy i denantiaid leihau'r gost o gynnal a chadw 
cartref;  

       helpu i ysgogi twf economaidd, creu swyddi a chyfleoedd hyfforddi yn y sir; 
a  

       helpu i greu cymunedau cynaliadwy cryf - lleoedd lle mae pobl yn falch o 
allu eu galw'n gartref iddyn nhw. 

  
Mynegodd y gobaith y byddai'r aelodau yn cytuno bod y Cynllun yn gynhwysfawr 
ac yn uchelgeisiol ac y byddai'n caniatáu i'r Awdurdod gyflawni blaenoriaethau 
allweddol i denantiaid y Cyngor a theuluoedd agored i niwed. I gloi, dywedodd hi 
fod hon yn rhaglen fuddsoddi enfawr a diolchodd i bawb oedd wedi cyfrannu at y 
gwaith o'i datblygu a'r staff oedd yn fodlon helpu eraill.  
  
Mewn ymateb i bryderon ynghylch y gostyngiad arfaethedig yn y gyllideb ar gyfer 
yr holl waith mewnol ar waith tai a thai gwag a gwaith mawr i dai, ac a yw'r swm 
yn ddigon i ddelio â'r ôl-groniad o waith, bu i'r Aelod Cabinet dros Gartrefi fynegi 
hyder bod y gyllideb yn ddigon ond rhoddodd sicrwydd i'r Cyngor fod y sefyllfa'n 
cael ei hadolygu'n rheolaidd. Ychwanegodd fod pob ymdrech yn cael ei wneud i 
ddenu adeiladwyr ac ati i gael eu cyflogi gan y Cyngor fel bod ganddo ei dimau ei 
hun i wneud gwaith o'r fath.  
  
Dywedwyd y gallai gosod paneli haul ar dai cyngor helpu aelwydydd sy'n wynebu 
costau gwresogi uwch yn fawr.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y Cabinet: 
  
5.4.1 ‘Cadarnhau'r weledigaeth ar gyfer ein rhaglenni buddsoddiadau tai 

dros y tair blynedd nesaf; 
  
5.4.2 Cytuno y gellir cyflwyno Cynllun Busnes 2023-26 i Lywodraeth Cymru;  
  
5.4.3. Nodi'r cyfraniad y gwnaeth y Cynllun i'r Cynllun Cyflawni ar gyfer 

Adfywio a Datblygu Tai i gefnogi'r gwaith o ddarparu dros 2000 o 
gartrefi newydd;  

  
5.4.4 Nodi pwysigrwydd y buddsoddiad sydd wedi'i gynnwys yn y cynllun 
hwn a'i rôl o ran ysgogi'r economi leol a chreu swyddi lleol a chyfleoedd 
hyfforddiant.’ 
 
 
 
 
5.5. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL DRAFFT CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN AR 

GYFER 2021/22 
Cafodd y Cyngor wybod fod y Cabinet, yn ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Ionawr 
2023 [gweler cofnod 14 o'r cyfarfod hwnnw], wedi ystyried Adroddiad Blynyddol 
drafft y Cyngor ar gyfer 2021/22, a oedd wedi'i lunio yn unol â gofynion Deddf 
Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 a Deddf Llywodraeth Leol ac 
Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021, sy'n ei gwneud yn ofynnol i'r Cyngor lunio adroddiad 

Tudalen 10



 

blynyddol ar ei amcanion llesiant ac i adrodd ar berfformiad, yn seiliedig ar ddull 
hunanasesu.  
  
Cyflwynodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Drefniadaeth a'r Gweithlu yr adroddiad oedd 
yn adlewyrchu adborth a gafwyd yn ystod y broses ymgynghori drylwyr yr oedd yr 
adroddiad destun iddi. 
  
Yn sgil y gostyngiad mewn cyfraddau ailgylchu, cyfeiriwyd at y lansiad diweddar 
o'r trefniadau casglu newydd ar gyfer deunydd ailgylchu/gwydr a dryswch ymhlith 
y cyhoedd, er gwaethaf y cyhoeddusrwydd, ynghylch pryd y byddai eu bagiau 
glas/du a'u gwydr yn cael eu casglu. Ymatebodd y Cyfarwyddwr Lle a Seilwaith 
fod y methiant i gyflawni cyfradd ailgylchu o 64% yn 2021/22 yn bennaf oherwydd 
y tân yng nghanolfan ailgylchu CWM yn Nant-y-caws a'r angen i wneud 
trefniadau eraill. 65% oedd y gyfradd ailgylchu bresennol a'r gobaith oedd parhau 
ar y trywydd hwnnw. O ran y trefniadau casglu newydd, roedd y rhain yn cael eu 
cyflwyno'n raddol a'r disgwyl yw y byddai'r problemau presennol yn cael eu 
datrys yn y diwedd. 
  
Cyfeiriwyd at yr angen, yn dilyn ymgynghori ar unrhyw fater, i adrodd am 
ganlyniadau i unrhyw un, gan gynnwys aelodau, a gymerodd ran yn yr 
ymgynghoriad, a chytunodd y Prif Weithredwr i sicrhau bod hyn yn digwydd. Yn 
hyn o beth, gofynnwyd am eglurhad pryd yr oedd yr ymgynghoriad ar Goridor yr 
A484 Heol y Sandy y cyfeirir ato yn yr Adroddiad Blynyddol wedi digwydd a 
gofynnwyd y cwestiwn a oedd unrhyw ddadansoddiad o ganlyniadau'r 
ymgynghoriad ar gael i'r cyhoedd. Cytunodd y Cyfarwyddwr Lle a Seilwaith i 
ddilyn y mater. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y Cabinet: 
  
‘bod Adroddiad Blynyddol Drafft Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin ar gyfer 2021/22 yn 
cael ei dderbyn.’  
 

6. DERBYN ADRODDIAD CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD AR Y 
DYDDIADAU CANLYNOL: 
 
6.1. 28AIN TACHWEDD 2022 
 
PENDERFYNWYD derbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 28 
Tachwedd 2022.  
 
6.2. 12FED RHAGFYR 2022 
 
PENDERFYNWYD derbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 12 
Rhagfyr 2022.   
 
6.3. 9FED IONAWR 2023 
 
PENDERFYNWYD derbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 9  
Ionawr, 2023.  
 
 
 

Tudalen 11



 

7. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y 
cyhoedd.   
 

8. CYFLWYNO DEISEBAU 
8.1. DEISEB I GYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN STOPIO BANCIO GYDA 

BARCLAYS 
Croesawodd y Cadeirydd Mr M. Reed a oedd wedi cael gwahoddiad i gyflwyno i'r 
Cyngor, ac annerch y Cyngor ynghylch y ddeiseb ganlynol yn ymwneud â Banc 
Barclays: 
  
'Rydym yn galw ar Gyngor Sir Caerfyrddin i:  
 dynnu ei fusnes o fanc Barclays cyn gynted â phosibl a throsglwyddo i fanc 

moesegol (neu os nad oes banc moesegol sy'n gallu delio â'u hanghenion 
corfforaethol, symud i'r banc lleiaf gwael yn y sector); 

 rhoi pwysau ar fanc Barclays i newid ei bolisïau buddsoddiadau i'r rhai sy'n 
blaenoriaethu anghenion yr hinsawdd a chenedlaethau'r dyfodol.' 

  
Amlinellodd Mr Reed i'r Cyngor y rhesymeg dros y ddeiseb.  
  
Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau y byddai'r adran yn ymchwilio i'r 
materion a godwyd yn y ddeiseb ac yna byddai adroddiad yn cael ei gyflwyno i 
gyfarfod o Gabinet y Cyngor yn y dyfodol. Yn dilyn y cyflwyniad, rhoddodd Mr. 
Reed y ddeiseb i'r Cyngor yn ffurfiol.  
  
 PENDERFYNWYD cyfeirio'r ddeiseb i'w hystyried gan y Cabinet.   
 
8.2. DEISEB I GYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN YNGHYLCH DIRYWIAD 

HARBWR PORTH TYWYN 
Croesawodd y Cadeirydd i'r cyfarfod Mr D. Williams a wahoddwyd i gyflwyno i'r 
Cyngor a'i annerch ynghylch y ddeiseb ganlynol yn ymwneud â Harbwr Porth 
Tywyn: 
  
'Rydym ni, etholwyr Sir Gaerfyrddin sydd wedi llofnodi isod yn cyflwyno'r ddeiseb 
i Gyngor Sir Caerfyrddin:  
 Cydnabod bod cyflwr harbwr a marina Porth Tywyn wedi dirywio'n raddol i'r hyn 

sydd yn ei hanfod yn gyflwr anymarferol er gwaethaf y brydles tymor hir i 
weithredwr marina preifat, ac rydym yn cofrestru ein hanfodlonrwydd a'n pryder 
mawr.  

 Sicrhau, fel Landlord ac Awdurdod Statudol yr Harbwr, bod holl delerau'r 
brydles honno'n cael eu gorfodi'n llawn heb oedi pellach.  

 Archwilio'r eiddo a chyhoeddi hysbysiadau o unrhyw doriadau o'r telerau hyn o 
fewn y mis nesaf, ac os yw'r lesddeiliad yn methu â chymryd camau priodol ac 
effeithiol, dilyn eich hawliau o dan y brydles.  

 Nodi nad oes gennym ffydd na hyder y bydd y dull Carthu drwy Chwistrellu Dŵr 
yn clirio'r tywod trwm sydd angen ei waredu o'r harbwr, sy'n ffurfio'r rhan 
helaeth o'r gwaddodion sydd wedi cronni, ac nid ydym o'r farn bod hyn yn 
weithred briodol nac effeithiol.  

  Rydym am weld yr harbwr a'r marina yn dychwelyd i'r cyflwr gorau posibl, i fod 
yn gyfleuster diogel, gweithrediadol, deniadol sydd o fudd gwirioneddol i 
ddefnyddwyr yr harbwr a'n cymuned gyfan.'  

Tudalen 12



 

  
Amlinellodd Mr Williams i'r Cyngor y rhesymeg dros y ddeiseb.  
  
Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio, Hamdden, Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth y 
byddai'r adran yn ymchwilio i'r materion a godwyd yn y ddeiseb ac yna byddai 
adroddiad yn cael ei gyflwyno i gyfarfod o Gabinet y Cyngor yn y dyfodol. Yn 
dilyn y cyflwyniad, rhoddodd Mr. Willians y ddeiseb i'r Cyngor yn ffurfiol.  
  
 PENDERFYNWYD cyfeirio'r ddeiseb i'w hystyried gan y Cabinet.   
 

9. CWESTIYNAU GAN YR AELODAU 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan yr Aelodau.  
  

10. COFNODION ER GWYBODAETH (AR GAEL AR Y WEFAN) 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd fod y cofnodion a amlinellir ar agenda 10.1 – 10.10 ar 
gael i'w gweld ar wefan y Cyngor. 
 

11. GORCHYMYN I'R CYHOEDD ADAEL Y CYFARFOD 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL, yn unol â Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972, 
fel y'i diwygiwyd gan Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) 
(Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007, orchymyn i'r cyhoedd adael y cyfarfod tra oedd yr 
eitem ganlynol yn cael ei hystyried, gan fod yr adroddiad yn cynnwys 
gwybodaeth eithriedig fel y'i diffiniwyd ym mharagraff 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 
12A i'r Ddeddf.   
 

12. PENTRE AWEL 
 
Yn sgil cynnal prawf budd y cyhoedd PENDERFYNWYD, yn unol â'r Ddeddf 
y cyfeiriwyd ati yng nghofnod 11 uchod, beidio â chyhoeddi cynnwys yr 
adroddiad am ei fod yn cynnwys gwybodaeth eithriedig ynghylch materion 
ariannol neu faterion busnes unrhyw unigolyn penodol (gan gynnwys yr 
Awdurdod oedd yn meddu ar y wybodaeth honno) (Paragraff 14 o Ran 4 o 
Atodlen 12A i'r Ddeddf).  
  
Roedd yr adroddiad yn cynnwys manylion am bartneriaid academaidd 
posibl nad ydynt hyd yma wedi llofnodi memoranda cyd-ddealltwriaeth 
gyda'r Awdurdod.  Er y byddai'r budd i'r cyhoedd fel rheol yn ffafrio 
tryloywder a diffuantrwydd, roedd y budd i'r cyhoedd o ran cadw 
cyfrinachedd yn yr achos hwn hyd nes i'r memoranda cyd-ddealltwriaeth 
gael ei lofnodi yn drech na hynny.  
  
Cafodd y Cyngor wybod bod y Cabinet, yn ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Ionawr 
2023 (gweler cofnod 18 o'r cyfarfod hwnnw), wedi ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn 
rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y contract adeiladu a fforddiadwyedd Parth 1 
Pentre Awel. 
  
Wrth gyflwyno'r adroddiad, dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio, Hamdden, 
Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth na fyddai angen cyflwyno'r tabl crynodeb y cyfeiriwyd 
ato yn argymhellion y Cabinet [gweler cofnod 18.4 ohonynt] i'r Cabinet. 
  

Tudalen 13



 

Gwnaeth aelodau ail-bwysleisio pwysigrwydd sicrhau bod cwmnïau a busnesau 
yng Nghymru ac yn lleol yn cael cyfle i elwa ar adeiladu Pentre Awel ac wedi 
hynny. Rhoddodd Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol sicrwydd bod hon 
yn elfen bwysig o'r prosiect a'i bod yn cael ei monitro.  
  
Awgrymodd y Prif Weithredwr fod trefniadau'n cael eu gwneud i gynnal sesiwn 
anffurfiol i aelodau er mwyn rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am gynllun Pentre 
Awel, yn enwedig o ystyried nifer yr aelodau newydd. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y Cabinet: 
  
12.1 Derbyn a nodi cwblhad a chanlyniadau cam cyntaf y contract dylunio 

ac adeiladu dau gam i ddarparu Parth 12.1 Pentre Awel’;  
  
12.2 'Mynd ymlaen i ail gam y contract gyda Bouygues Construction, yn 

unol â'r argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad’;  
  
12.3. ‘Nodi'r cynnydd wrth sicrhau cytundebau tenantiaeth’;  
  
12.4. ‘Bod unrhyw ddiffyg ariannol yn cael ei ddarparu drwy gyfuniad o 

gyfraniadau ychwanegol cyllidwyr allanol, cyllid wrth gefn Cyngor Sir 
ar gyfer Pentre Awel (Bargen Ddinesig), a chyllid ychwanegol gan y 
farchnad. Ar ôl cytuno ar bris Bouygues, bydd tabl crynodeb yn cael ei 
rannu gydag Aelodau'r Cabinet yn cael ei gyflwyno i'r Cabinet. Bydd 
rhaglen o Beirianneg Gwerth parhaus yn cael ei chynnal gyda 
Bouygues drwy gydol cyfnod y contract i sicrhau rheolaeth gadarn ar 
gostau’;  

  
12.5 'Dirprwyo awdurdod i Gyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol a'r 

Prif Weithredwr i barhau i drafod pris terfynol y contract a chytuno ar 
y pris hwn ar y cyd ag Arweinydd y Cyngor a'r Aelod Cabinet dros 
Adfywio, Hamdden, Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth a'r Aelod Cabinet dros 
Adnoddau.’ 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 
 

Tudalen 14



 

 
 
 

STRATEGAETH CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2023/24 I 2025/26 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen: 
 
1. Bod y Cyngor Sir yn cymeradwyo:  
 
a) Strategaeth y Gyllideb am 2023/24, sy'n cynnwys y diwygiadau ym mharagraff 4.1.4; 

 

b) Y Dreth Gyngor am 2023/24 (Band D) o £1,490.97 (cynnydd o 6.8%); 
 

c) Dileu cynigion arbedion penodol fel y nodir ym mharagraff 3.2.5; gyda’r diwygiadau 
canlynol:     
i) I ohirio cyflwyno taliadau newydd tan 2024/25 mewn 9 maes parcio sydd am ddim 

ar hyn o bryd, er mwyn caniatau i’r awdurdod asesu ac ystyried yr effaith ehangach 
ar yr ardaloedd unigol fesul achos.Gwerth y gohiriad ym mlwyddyn 1 yw £10,000. 

ii)   I ddileu’r arbediad o £22,000 am yr Iaith Gymraeg o’r gyllideb Polisi Corfforaethol. 
 

d) Cyfyngu ar godiadau incwm i brydau ysgol a meysydd parcio fel y nodir ym mharagraff 
3.2.5; 
 

e) Dyraniad dewisol cyllid pwysau i briffyrdd a chanol trefi fel y nodir ym mharagraff 3.2.5; 
wedi’i ddiwygio i £262,000 er mwyn cynnwys y ddau newid a gynigwyd gan y Cabinet; 
ac 
 

f) Y cynllun ariannol tymor canolig a fydd yn sail ar gyfer cynllunio yn y dyfodol. 
 

2. Bod y Cyngor Sir yn dirprwyo i Gyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol, mewn 
ymgynghoriad â'r Prif Weithredwr, yr Arweinydd a’r Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau i wneud 
unrhyw newidiadau sy'n angenrheidiol o ganlyniad i setliad terfynol Llywodraeth Cymru ar 
1af Mawrth 2023. 

 

Y Rhesymau:  
Galluogi'r Awdurdod i bennu ei Gyllideb Refeniw ar gyfer Cronfa'r Cyngor ac, yn sgil hynny, 
Treth y Cyngor am 2023/24. 
 

Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad            OES  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad             OES 
YR AELOD O'R CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO: 
 
Cyng. Alun Lenny – yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth: 
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
 
Enw Pennaeth Gwasanaeth: 
Randal Hemingway 
 
Awdur yr adroddiad: 
Randal Hemingway 

Swydd: 
 
 
Pennaeth Gwasanaeth 
Ariannol 

Rhif Ffôn. (01267) 224886 
 
 
Cyfeiriad e-bost: 
Rhemingway@sirgar.gov.uk 
 

 

Y CYNGOR

1af MAWRTH 2023

Tudalen 15

Eitem Rhif  5.1

mailto:Rhemingway@sirgar.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
COUNTY COUNCIL 

1st MARCH 2023 
 

REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY 2023/24 TO 2025/26 

This report brings together the latest proposals for the Revenue Budget 2023/24 with indicative 
figures for the 2024/25 and 2025/26 financial years. 
It summarises the latest Budgetary position giving an update on the budget validation, 
spending pressures, the Welsh Government final settlement and the responses from the 
budget consultation. 
Members are required to consider the proposals within this report and make recommendations 
in accordance with Council Policy. 
 
Documents Attached: 
 

o Report of the Director of Corporate Services  
o Table 1 – Council Fund Summary 
o Appendix A – Consultation Report 
o Appendix B – Budget reduction proposals 
o Appendix C – Budget pressures 

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 

 
 

  

Tudalen 16



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 

 
 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:      Randal Hemingway                           Head of Financial Services                            

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 
 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  
 

NONE 
 

YES  NONE 
 

 NONE 
 

NONE 
 

NONE 
 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

 
The budget has been prepared having regard for the Council’s Corporate Strategy, and the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.   Equalities Impact Assessments have 
been undertaken on the budget proposals in order to consider and assess the potential 
impact with respect to protected characteristic groups. The Equalities Impact Assessments 
will be further developed following consideration of possible mitigation measures. 

3. Finance   
The implications on the latest proposals as set out in the report are as follows:  

• Proposed Net County Council Budget of £450.333m 
• Proposed Council Tax increase of 6.8% for 2023/24 – Band D of £1,490.97 

Tudalen 17



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed:                   C. Moore                                               Director of Corporate Services                                                 

 
1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  YES/NO/N/A – Delete as 

appropriate 
If yes include the following information: - 
Scrutiny Committee   
Date the report was considered:  
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations: 
Consultation with all Scrutiny committees undertaken.  
 
 

 
2.Local Member(s)   
Not Applicable 
 
3.Community / Town Council  
Consultation with the Town & Community Council Forum undertaken  
 
4.Relevant Partners   
Consultation with relevant partners undertaken  
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
Consultation with Representatives undertaken 

 
CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

Include any observations here 

 
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

2022/23 3 year 
Revenue Budget  

 Corporate Services Department, County Hall, 
Carmarthen 

2023/24 3 year 
Revenue Budget  

 Corporate Services Department, County Hall, 
Carmarthen 

WG Provisional 
Settlement 

 Corporate Services Department, County Hall, 
Carmarthen 

 

Tudalen 18



DETAILED REPORT  

 1 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

Council 
   

1st March 2023 

REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY 2023/24 to 2025/26 
 

DESIGNATION: 
 
C Moore, Director of Corporate Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 
Resources 

TELEPHONE NO. 
 
01267 224120 

AUTHOR & DESIGNATION  
 
R Hemingway, Head of Financial Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 
Resources 

TELEPHONE NO 
 
01267 224886 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Cabinet in January 2023 considered and endorsed the Revenue 
Budget Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 for consultation. The report 
indicated, after taking account of the provisional settlement, a Council 
tax increase of 7.00%. The Cabinet, in endorsing the report for 
consultation, specifically sought comments from consultees on the 
detailed efficiency proposals appended to the report. 

1.2. This report updates members on the latest position for the Revenue 
Budget including: 

o Budget Consultation Results 

o The Medium Term Spending Plans 

o Implication and proposal on the Council Tax for 2023/2024. 
 

 
The final proposals have endeavoured to meet the aspirations of the 
Authority, whilst recognising the extraordinary inflationary environment 
prevailing at this time. They address specific demands in certain 
service areas whilst seeking to balance the impact on service delivery 
and local taxpayers.  

1.3. There are inherent risks attached to this Budget Strategy and they are 
detailed within the body of this report, however the Director of 
Corporate Services confirms that the proposed Budget has been 
prepared in a robust manner.  

1.4. The Cabinet needs to consider these detailed proposals and make 
recommendations to County Council in accordance with Council policy. 

Tudalen 19



DETAILED REPORT  

 2 

1.5. The provisional settlement was more favourable than expected, 
however there remains considerable uncertainty facing local authority 
finances, as outlined in this report.  Local Government financing 
remains on a precarious footing and is likely to remain so for a number 
of years. Yet again, decisions have had to be made in respect of 
prioritisation of services and the inclusion of further budget reductions 
in order to achieve what hopefully is an acceptable Council Tax 
increase.   

2. CONSULTATION 

2.1. The original proposals have been subjected to a wide ranging 
consultation exercise since the Budget Strategy. In order to seek the 
widest possible response, the public consulation was launched on 21st 
December 2022, ahead of the budget reports presented to the Cabinet 
on the 9th January 2023.  with the groups and committees being invited 
to comment:- 
 

o Public Consultation  
o Town and Community Councils 
o School Budget Forum 
o Member Seminars  
o Scrutiny Committees 
o Trade Union meetings 
o Secondary Schools Insight Day 

  
 
A detailed report on the consultation results for each of the above is 
attached at Appendix A.  
 

3. BUDGET REQUIREMENT 2023/24 

3.1. Current Year Performance (2022/23) and Pay award Impact 

3.1.1. As the Authority’s core spending requirements remains constant 
year on year, a review of current year’s performance is 
important in identifying whether there are any underlying 
problems within the base budget. 

3.1.2. The current projection for the Revenue Outturn for 2022/23 
(based on the October 2022 monitoring) is as follows: 

 

 

Tudalen 20



DETAILED REPORT  

 3 

Service
Approved

Budget
Total

Expenditure
Forecast

Variance
Forecast 
For Year

£'000 £'000 £'000
Chief Executive 17,218 16,687 -531
Communities 119,589 122,223 2,634
Corporate Services 29,116 28,235 -881
Education and Children's Services 187,394 191,091 3,697
Environment 65,784 65,709 -75
Departmental Expenditure 419,101 423,945 4,844

Unfunded Pay offers 6,300 6,300

Corporate contingency 3,000 200 -2,800

Capital Charges -17,694 -20,194 -2,500
Levies and Contributions 11,479 11,477 -2
Transfer to/ from Reserves 0 -2,370 -2,370
Net Expenditure 415,885 419,358 3,473
 

The main reasons for the departmental variances are as follows: 

o Chief Executive’s Department: underspends on member pay 
and travelling, registrars and vacant posts across the 
department, offset by People Management overspends  

o Education and Children’s Services: Significant overspends in 
Children’s services due to increased demand and agency 
costs, overspends in ALN budgets and School Meals 
Service, offset by additional grants in Early Years non-
maintained provision.  

o Communities Department: underspends in Older Peoples 
and Physical Disabilities budgets are offset by overspends in 
Learning Disabilities and Mental Health divisions. 
Additionally, Leisure income levels have been gradually 
returning to pre-pandemic levels, however this creates an in-
year overspend. It should also be noted that without the 
sectoral staffing shortages in social care, the overspend 
could be significantly higher. 

o Corporate Services: there are underspends on pre-Local 
Government Reorganisation pension costs, and Council Tax 
Reduction, partially offset by an overspend in Rent 
Allowances. 

o Environment Department: Overspends in waste services, 
school transport and reduced car park usage post-pandemic, 

Tudalen 21



DETAILED REPORT  

 4 

offset by vacant posts and reduced property maintenance 
activity due to contractor capacity.  

The teachers enhanced pay offer made by Welsh Government 
is not included in the above figures however it is assumed that 
in respect of 2022/23 it will be funded.  

3.1.3. In planning for next year’s budget and the medium term, the 
single largest financial risk is the level of inflation, including how 
it affects the level of nationally agreed pay awards and the cost 
of purchasing 3rd party goods and services, in particular 
commissioned care.   

Validation  

3.1.4. Validation reflects the changes in expenditure requirements to 
deliver the current level of services in future years. Primarily 
this is inflation, but also includes some service specific changes.  

3.1.5. At the time of last year’s report, CPI inflation was at 5.4% and 
was forecast by the Bank of England to peak at over 7% and 
then reduce. Against this, CPI reached 11.1% in October 2022 
and has remained above 9% since last April. In line with its 
overarching mandate to target a 2% level, the Bank of England 
has responded with multiple interest rate rises, most recently to 
4%. Given the current uncertainty, our budget strategy is to set 
inflationary assumptions for next year at 5% generally, with 
specifically higher allowances for energy, transport fuel and food 
purchases. Further ahead, we have assumed a gradual easing 
over years 2 and 3 of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
This provides departments with an element of protection against 
price movements, however this is recognised as a key risk. The 
proposed validation factors are detailed below: 

2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
Original Proposed

General inflation - Expenditure 3.0% 5.0% 3.0% 2.0%
General inflation - Fees & Charges 2.5% 10.0% 3.0% 2.0%
Electricity & Gas 5.0% £8.4m -10.0% 0.0%
Fuel 5.0% 50.0% 3.0% 5.0%
Pay Inflation - non teaching 2.5% 5.0% 3.0% 2.5%
Pay Inflation - Teaching 2.5% 5.0% 3.0% 2.5%
NI increase nil -1.25% nil nil
Levies (see para 3.2.9) 2.5% 16.5% 3.0% 2.0%
Pension Contributions nil -1.8% nil nil
Capital Charges £500k nil £500k £500k

 

When considering changes to the final budget, members should 
note that the whilst the 10% income validation was set as a 

Tudalen 22



DETAILED REPORT  

 5 

corporate approach where possible, individual service changes 
are expected to follow the detail charging digests provided to 
scrutiny committees as part of the consultation process. Many of 
our charges are not able to be varied from nationally set levels 
or caps. On this basis, income was estimated on a conservative 
basis in the draft budget, and following more detailed 
calculations, can now be uplifted by £850k.   

3.1.6. It is proposed that for 2023/24, the requirement to increase 
capital charges can be removed. Challenging contractor 
capacity constraints have caused delays to existing capital 
schemes, which has lessened our need to borrow, and there is 
currently an increased offset from the increased investment 
income generated from positive cash balances. This is however 
expected to be only temporary, as interest rates are expected to 
reduce again over the medium term, and industry capacity 
issues ease, leading to greater delivery, not least of which is our 
investment in the coming years as part of the Swansea Bay City 
Region.  

3.1.7. The Swansea Bay City Region is responsible for 9 projects and 
is reliant upon £241m of UK and Welsh Government Funding. 
During 2018/19 a joint agreement was approved by all four 
Local Authorities and a Joint Committee was created. The 
principle behind the funding structure of the City Deal is that 
each Local Authority will be required to borrow the value of the 
funding allocated to their project and the UK and Welsh 
Government will repay this debt over a period of up to 15 years. 
The County Council is the Accountable Body for the whole City 
Deal and also has ownership of four projects: Yr Egin; Pentre 
Awel (Wellness & Life Science Village); Skills and Talent 
programme; and Digital Infrastructure – the last two being 
regional projects.  

Phase 1 of Y Egin project is complete and ideas for Phase 2 are 
being developed. The Pentre Awel project, which is the County 
Council’s main strategic project is at an exciting position, where 
enabling works has commenced and the main contractor for the 
Zone 1 contract is imminently due to be signed for the delivery 
of the core elements of the project including the Leisure, Health 
and Academic elements of the build. This key development is 
due to be completed and occupied in Autumn 2024. 

The value of the Pentre Awel project (Zone 1) and the funding 
has been included within the Capital Programme, as the County 
Council will be required to borrow against this scheme.  

3.1.8. In large part driven by inflationary forces, there is significant 
uncertainty in the budget which relates to pay costs for all staff. 

Tudalen 23



DETAILED REPORT  

 6 

This final budget maintains the budget strategy assumption of a 
5% award for our NJC staff in April 2023.   

For staff on NJC terms and conditions, the nationally set April 
2022 award of a fixed cash sum of £1,925 was predicated on 
the need to deliver against a substantial increase in the National 
Living Wage. In order to maintain pay differentials between 
spinal pay points, the fixed sum was for employers the most 
affordable way to achieve this, and delivered an increase of 
more that 10% at the lowest point, with the percentage reducing 
gradually, the higher the grade.   

It is possible that a similar approach may again be applied next 
year – should this be the case, our 5% assumption would allow 
for an increase of around £1,400 - £1,500 – anything above this 
would represent an unfunded budget pressure.  

Calculations on our pay budgets this year have been 
particularly detailed – in addition to the normal uplifts, the 
following amendments have been incorporated: 

• The required budgetary “catchup” for the April 2022 
award,  previously estimated at an additional 3.1% 

• Application of reductions from top of scale budgeting to 
exact pay points, including incremental drift for around 
1,500 staff, and adjustments for income generating 
services, Housing Revenue Account funded roles and 
capitalised salaries  

• Applying the reversal of the health and social care levy of 
1.25% National Insurance 

• A reduction of 1.8% to Employer pension contributions  

 

3.1.9. For teachers pay, the picture is likewise complicated: 

• There is a similar need to build in “budgetary catchup” for 
the full year effect of the September 2022 pay award. The 
previous offer was 5% versus a 4% assumption – i.e. a 
1% catchup.  

• However, less than a fortnight ago, an improved offer of 
6.5% was made by Welsh Government plus a one-off 
sum of 1.5% extra. Our budget assumption is that 
additional funding will be forthcoming from Welsh 

Tudalen 24



DETAILED REPORT  

 7 

Government to meet this additional cost, either through 
specific grants or increased Aggregate External Finance.  

• Looking ahead to the September 2023 award, the 
recommendation of the Independent Welsh Pay Review 
Body was an increase of 3.5%, which would raise 
teachers starting salaries to above £30,000. However, 
media outlets are now reporting that Ministers have 
agreed to relook at this as part of current pay 
negotiations with Unions. Given this, it is questionable 
how deliverable the 3.5% now is. As such it seems 
prudent to maintain our 5% assumption. 

 

3.1.10. The budget strategy provided for an increase in the Fire Levy of 
13%, as well as an explicit pressure in respect of Welsh 
Government withdrawal of grants. The Fire Authority has now 
agreed its final budget, including the reserve funding to meet 
additional costs arising from the cessation of the Emergency 
Services Network grant, but have increased the Levy to cover 
the the redesignation of a pensions grant by Welsh Government 
– we are informed that this will be added into the final Local 
Authority settlement. Pending formal confirmation of figures, our 
assumption is that the original £150k pressure allowed for will 
be sufficient to meet any shortfall, but this will not be clear until 
the final settlement is received on 1 March.  

There are minor changes to the Levies of the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Levy and South West Wales Corporate Joint 
Committee 

3.1.11. There is a clear risk to the Budget Strategy as departments may 
find it difficult to manage their expenditure within these 
parameters, especially where service specific inflationary 
increases may differ to the global validation rates. Following the 
removal of £1.5m from the corporate contingency as proposed 
in the budget strategy report, this budget currently stands at 
£1.3m pending any future allocations. This risk is something that 
will require close monitoring during the year. 

3.1.12. In total validation adds £30.3m onto the current year’s budget. 

3.2. Cost Reduction Programme  

3.2.1. As detailed in the report to Cabinet on 9th January 2023, in 
anticipation of the settlement not being sufficient to cover 
demand pressures and inflationary factors, significant work in 
identifying further service efficiencies/ rationalisation proposals 

Tudalen 25



DETAILED REPORT  

 8 

had been undertaken and more than 100 individual savings 
proposals were included for consideration. 

3.2.2. The current proposals are attached in Appendix B and are 
categorised as follows: 

Managerial – cost reductions that result in no 
perceivable change to the overall level of service 
delivery or Council policy 

Policy – Efficiency or service rationalisation 
proposals that will directly affect service delivery 
(generally frontline).  

3.2.3. Equality Impact Assessments have been conducted on new 
policy proposals. These are intended to identify whether these 
savings could have a disproportionate impact on one or more 
groups. Where this is the case appropriate consultation with 
representatives of such groups will be conducted and measures 
to mitigate the impact will be considered where possible. 

3.2.4. All ‘existing policy’ proposals have undergone public 
consultation and Equality Impact Assessments have been 
prepared in previous years, and updated where necessary.  

3.2.5. The cost reductions included in the draft budget strategy were 
as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Following feedback from the budget consultation activities 
undertaken, it is recommended that the following amendments 
are made to the budget: 

Proposal 2023-24 
Value 
(£000) 

Recommendation 

Rising 4s Policy Nil Recognising concerns from 
both Public and Members, defer 
proposed implementation from 
September 2024 to September 

 2023/24 
£m 

2024/25 
£m 

2025/26 
£m 

Managerial 6.136 3.641 2.755 
Existing Policy Nil 0.200 0.952 
New Policy 3.241 0.543 0.289 
Total  9.377 4.384 3.996 
Shortfall  Nil 2.064 0.535 

Tudalen 26



DETAILED REPORT  

 9 

2025, allowing for wider 
consultation and full evaluation 
of different operating models 

Youth Support 
Services 

100 Withdraw saving proposal 
following concerns raised by 
councillors and public 

School Music 
Service 

35 Recognising member seminar 
comments, split saving over two 
years (defer £35k to Y2) to 
allow impact to be monitored/ 
mitigated where possible 

Children & 
Communities 
Grant 

150 Withdraw saving proposal, 
recognising member comments 
regarding the importance of 
early intervention & prevention 

St Clears 
Leisure Centre 

35 Defer proposal by a year to give 
time for local community/ sports 
clubs to increase usage/ 
improve financial viability of the 
centre   

Civic vehicles 19 Remove saving pending a 
report on a wider review of civic 
vehicles and better use of pool 
cars 

Citizens Advice 
Bureau 

10 Withdraw saving given 
increased demand for the 
service at the current time 

Supported 
Living 

250 Reduce saving target on the 
basis of current deliverability 
delays, as the service has not 
yet caught up following 
successive lockdowns impact 
assessments and construction 
capacity issues (these have 
delayed the planned reduction 
of residential care placements)  

Delegated 
schools budgets 

700 Lower proposed reduction from 
£2.7m to £2.0m, recognising 
this was the most negative 
response arising from the public 
consultation 

Tudalen 27



DETAILED REPORT  

 10 

 1,299 TOTAL SAVINGS 
ADJUSTMENTS 

OTHER CHANGES IN RESPONSE TO THE CONSULTATION 

Car park 
charges 

135 Restrict the parking charges 
increase to 5%  

School Meals 
prices 

250 Restrict the School Meals price 
increase to 5%  

 385 TOTAL CHARGES 
ADJUSTMENTS 

Highways & 
Town Centres  

294 Recognise concerns raised by 
Members regarding the year on 
year reductions which have 
been borne by this service since 
the start of austerity  

 294 TOTAL PRESSURES 
ADJUSTMENTS 

Adjustments to savings proposals have been reflected in the 
detailed list provided in Appendix B, giving a revised total for 
2023/24 of £8.078m.  

  

3.3. New Expenditure  Pressures  

3.3.1. New expenditure pressures are the combination of additional 
cost to meet existing service needs e.g. increased client 
base/greater service take up and the costs of meeting change in 
service provision e.g. policy changes.  

3.3.2. The draft budget provided £12.150m of funding towards known 
and unavoidable service pressures. This included a sum of 
£250k unallocated, to provide for any new risks that were 
identified. As this has not been the case, this sum can now be 
released.  

 

A full list of core funded pressures is provided at Appendix C. 

3.3.3. After pay awards, the single largest budget increase for the 
authority next year is the uplift in energy costs. At the time of 

Tudalen 28



DETAILED REPORT  

 11 

draft budget preparation, around two thirds of energy volumes 
had been secured by Crown Commercial Services, with a 
forecast increase of £9.5m required. Now that almost all 
purchases have been completed for next year, a reduction in 
wholesale market prices over recent months has reduced this 
sum to £8.4m, reducing the budget requirement by £1.1m.    

In addition, members should note that there were increases to 
specific grant funding allocations made by Welsh Government 
alongside the provisional settlement in respect of Additional 
Learning Needs, Pupil Development Grant, and Recruit 
Recover Raise Standards funding. 

3.4. Schools Delegated Budgets 

3.4.1. The draft budget was constructed on the basis of full funding to 
schools for known and unavoidable pay, pensions and 
inflationary increases. Against this, an explicit reduction of 
£2.7m (2.1%) was proposed, which recognised the scale of 
overall budget shortfall and the need for all areas of Council 
services to find efficiencies. As referenced in the table at 
paragraph 3.2.5 above and in appendix C, this sum has been 
reduced by £700k to £2.0m in recognition of the public 
consultation responses.  

3.4.2. With teachers pay representing the largest line item in school 
budgets, there remains continued financial risk over pay rises, 
and the funding required by schools to meet them. As identified 
in paragraph 3.1.3 above, there is this year a double risk with 
not only uncertainty about the September 2023 award, but the 
current negotiations regarding the September 2022 award. This 
remains a considerable risk to school finances. Should any 
further increase agreed by Welsh Government not be 
accompanied by additional funding, this would fall upon 
Council/school budgets.  

4. FUNDING  

4.1. Revenue Settlement 2023/24 

4.1.1. WG are not due to publish the final local government settlement 
for 2023/24 until 1st March 2023.  

4.1.2. Consequently, this paper is based on information already 
released in relating to specific funding elements as well as 
officers’ assumptions where appropriate. Our working 
assumption is that the only change WG will make to the 
headline level of funding is the transfer in of the firefighters 
pension funding as explained in paragraph 3.1.4 above. This 

Tudalen 29



DETAILED REPORT  

 12 

sum, calculated at £383k, has been added to our provisional 
settlement for final budget calculations.     

4.1.3. Our draft budget was based on the actual increase of 0.50% to 
the tax base in 2023/24, increasing budgeted Council Tax 
receipts by around £0.5m when compared to the current year. 

4.1.4. When added to the contingency sum in the draft budget, the 
items highlighted in the report create total budget headroom of 
£1.790m as set out below: 

 

Paragraph  £000s 

 Draft budget – unallocated sum  716 

3.1.6 Capital Charges 500 

3.1.8 & 
3.1.9 

Pay calculations  (1,257) 

3.1.5 Income calculations  850 

3.3.2 Pressures contingency removal 250 

3.3.3 Energy calculations 1,100 

3.1.10 Changes to Levies (MAWWFRS, 
BBNPA, SWWCJC) 

(369) 

 Total 1,790 

Bringing together all the proposals contained in the paper, the 
final budget amendments are summarised below: 

 £000s 

Total Budget Headroom 1,790 

Assumed increase in WG funding for 
Firefighter Pensions 

383 

Savings proposals removed from 2023/24 (1,299) 

Charges capped at 5% (385) 

Discretionary pressures funded (highways & (294) 

Tudalen 30



DETAILED REPORT  

 13 

town centres)  

Budget headroom remaining 195 

 

Taking account of the budget amendments outlined above 
responding to individual pressure points and consultation 
feedback, it is recommended that the remaining sum be applied 
to Council Tax. The outcome would allow members to reduce 
the planned increase slightly to 6.8% in response to the clear 
consultation feedback from the public. Whilst this is higher than 
desirable, this is nevertheless considerably lower than the 
prevailing level of inflation at this time, and represents a 
reasonable balance between Council Tax and the need to 
protect essential daily services.   

Taking account of any recommendations made by Cabinet to 
County Council, the Director of Corporate Services will need to 
make any future changes necessary in consultation with the 
Chief Executive, the Leader and the Cabinet Member for 
Resources, following receipt of the Final Settlement information 
from WG on 1st March.  

4.1.5. Based on the provisional information, the salient points of next 
year’s settlement are noted below:  

4.1.6. The draft settlement for 2023/24 gave an increase in Standard 
Spending Assessment (SSA) for Carmarthenshire of £28.0m 
(6.6%) with a similar increase on an all Wales basis reflecting 
the significant pressures the sector is facing.  

4.1.7. There remains considerable uncertainty in future years. Whilst 
Welsh Government did announce an uplift from 2.4% to 3.0% 
for 2024/25, this change is dwarfed by other figures such as pay 
awards, inflation, and even the variation between individual local 
authorities. As we do not know what these assumptions are, it is 
hard to assess how generous the uplift is.  

4.1.8. Welsh Government confirmed in its draft budget on 20th  
December that Business Rate Poundage is to be frozen at the 
current rate of 53.5p, providing at least some budgetary relief, 
the Authority’s own business rates bill is c. £6m, with the lion’s 
share of costs borne by schools, car parks and leisure centres. 

Tudalen 31



DETAILED REPORT  

 14 

4.1.9. The table below provides a summary of the overall position for 
this authority after the final settlement: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The difference represents the sum which WG estimates Local 
Authorities will need to raise through taxation or charging. The 
SSA update this year has incorporated some unusual changes, 
including a 7% reduction in the assumed cost of debt financing 
(vs rising interest rates) and a fire levy uplift assumption of 3%, 
versus 16.5% notified.  

Internal Funding 

4.1.10. Generally speaking, whilst the use of reserves to support annual 
budgets should not be summarily discounted, it must be treated 
with caution. Funding on-going expenditure from such funds 
merely defers and compounds difficult financial problems to the 
following year. One-off items of expenditure within any budget 
proposal lend themselves better for such funding support. 

4.1.11. In deliberating this point however, members must bear in mind 
any inherent risks that may be built into the budget strategy. 
These include: 

- Sustained high level of inflation, which may take 
longer to come down than current Bank of England 
forecasts 

- Significant uncertainty over the level of future pay 
awards (linked to inflation) 

- Welsh Government may not be able to fully fund 
revised Teachers pay offer 

- Schools’ ability to deliver efficiency savings 
- Continued challenges recruiting staff due to a 

challenging labour market. In particular this may 
continue to negatively affect social care delivery  

- The need to deliver challenging efficiency targets  
- Additional pressure on demand lead services, 

particularly Childrens services and Education 
- Schools’ ability to deliver efficiency savings 

 2022/23 
Settlement  

£m 

2023/24 
Original 

Notification 
£m 

2023/24  
Final 

Settlement 
£m 

Standard Spending Assessment 422.884 450.911 Available 1st 
March 

Aggregate External Finance 311.603 338.017 Available 1st 
March 

Difference 111.281 112.893  

Tudalen 32



DETAILED REPORT  

 15 

- Confirmation of final WG settlement 
 
Sensitivity impact analysis: 

 
Budget 
element 

 
Movement 

Annual 
Impact 

£m 
Pay inflation 1% 2.6 
General inflation 1% 

(expenditure 
only) 

2.4 

General inflation 1% (income 
only) 

-1.5 

WG Settlement  1% 3.4 
Specific Grants 1% 1.0 
Council Tax  1% 0.97 

 

4.1.12. The following table summarises the main categories of reserves 
held by the Authority. 

 
 1st Apr 

2022 
£’000 

31st Mch 
2023 
£’000 

31st Mch 
2024 
£’000 

31st Mch 
2025 
£’000 

Schools Reserves 15,205 7,815 7,815 7,815 
General Reserves 13,468 9,995 9.995 9,995 
Earmarked Reserves 139,328 112,131 77,955 61,744 

 

4.2. School Reserves 

4.2.1. Schools have delegated responsibility for the management of 
their own finances.   The level of reserves held by an individual 
school at any point in time will depend on a number of factors 
including the level of contingency fund that the school governing 
body considers appropriate and the particular plans each school 
has for expenditure. The forward forecast is based on the 
current year budget monitoring and an expectation of multi-year 
deficit recovery plans to be finalised. 

4.2.2. Legislation allows schools to carry forward reserves from one 
financial period to another.  Current guidance requires schools 
to limit their carry forward to £50,000 for Primary Schools and 
£100,000 for Secondary Schools or 5% of their budget 
dependent on what is greater. School Improvement officers 
continually work with schools to ensure they comply with the 

Tudalen 33



DETAILED REPORT  

 16 

guidance. As at 31st March 2022, 17 primary, 2 secondary and 
one special school were in deficit. 

5. GENERAL RESERVES 

5.1.1. In the changeable and challenging environment currently facing 
Local Government the Authority is committed to maintaining a 
reasonable level of General Reserves or Balances.   Whilst 
there is no prescribed minimum level for Balances, the Authority 
has previously deemed 3% of net expenditure as being a 
prudent level, which has been accepted by our Auditors as 
being reasonable. As at 31st March 2022, General Reserves 
stood at £13.468m, or 3.2% of the 2022/23 net revenue budget.   

5.1.2. The overall level of Balances is taken into consideration each 
year when the annual budget is set and has on occasions been 
utilised to augment expenditure/reduce Council Tax. The 
2022/23 budget was set on the basis of a nil transfer from 
General Reserves.  

5.1.3. As outlined in paragraph 3.1.2, the current year forecast is 
indicating an overspend position of £3.5m. This prudently 
assumed an in-year overspend on grant funded posts which 
would need to be met from core budgets – as such the 
overspend is expected to reduce somewhat, though it is likely 
an overspend position will remain. On this basis it is deemed 
imprudent at this stage to assume any further support for future 
years budgets from the current General Reserves. 

5.2. Earmarked Reserves 

5.2.1. The Authority holds earmarked reserves which have been set 
up to finance the delivery of specific projects, or in protecting the 
authority against future liabilities or issues. The reserves can be 
summarised as follows: 

 

Reserve  March 
 2022 
£'000 

March 
 2023 
£'000 

March 
 2024 
£'000 

March 
 2025 
£'000 

March 
 2026 
£'000 

Insurance 13,536  14,286  15,536  15,536  15,536  
Capital Funds 47,557  38,896  19,681  15,202  9,702  
Development Fund (inc Schools 
Dev Fund) 1,033  1,131  2,185  2,191  2,191  
Corporate Retirement Fund 6,171  6,493  6,108  5,747  5,403  
Joint Ventures 1,538  1,504  1,455  1,406  1,387  
Other 69,492  49,819  32,989  21,661  15,694  
TOTAL 139,328  112,131  77,955  61,744  49,915  

Tudalen 34



DETAILED REPORT  

 17 

 

5.2.2. As can be seen from the table above the level of earmarked 
reserves fluctuates greatly year on year, and whilst the level in 
each fund is not an exact science it is based on an informed 
estimate and past experience of the likely call on the authority in 
future years in line with the intended purpose of each reserve. 
Great care must therefore be taken when considering utilising 
such funds for purposes other than those which they were 
created as this could lead to the authority being faced with 
substantial unfunded liabilities in the future. 

5.2.3. Taking account of the proposals within this report, including the 
use of reserves, the Director of Corporate Services confirms that 
overall the estimated level of financial reserves (as indicated 
above) is adequate for the financial year 2023/24, with the 
General Reserves as set out in paragraph 5.1.1 being at the 
minimum that could be supported. 

 

6. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 

6.1. In considering the budget proposals, members need to take into 
consideration the requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. The Act requires that we must carry out sustainable 
development, improving the economic, social environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales.  

‘… the public body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that 
the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs’ 

6.2. In doing so, we must demonstrate the following 5 ways of working: 

• Looking at the long-term so that we do not compromise the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs 

• Understanding the root causes of the issues to prevent them 
recurring 

• Taking an integrated approach so that we look at all well-being 
goals and objectives of other services and partners 

• Collaboration – Working with others in a collaborative way to 
find shared sustainable solutions 

• Involving a diversity of population in decisions that affect them 

Tudalen 35



DETAILED REPORT  

 18 

6.3. Carmarthenshire’s Well Being objectives were updated in April 2021: 

Start Well  

1. Help to give every child the best start in life and improve their early life 
experiences 

2. Help children live healthy lifestyles 

Live Well 

3. Support and improve progress, achievement, and outcomes for all 
learners  

4. Tackle poverty by doing all we can to prevent it, help people into work 
and improve the lives of those living in poverty 

5. Create more jobs and growth throughout the county 

6. Increase the availability of rented and affordable homes 

7. Help people live healthy lives (tackling risky behaviour and obesity) 

8. Support community cohesion, resilience and safety  

Age Well 

9. Support older people to age well and maintain dignity and 
independence in their later years 

In a Healthy and Safe Environment 

10. Look after the environment now and for the future 

11. Improve the highway and transport infrastructure and connectivity 

12. Promote Welsh Language and Culture 

Corporate governance 

13. Better Governance and use of Resources 

 

 

 

Tudalen 36



DETAILED REPORT  

 19 

7. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN  AND COUNCIL TAX PROPOSAL 
2023/24 

7.1. The table below provides members with a summary of the latest 
position which reflects the contents of this report. 

Assuming that the Council Tax increase is set to 6.8%, this will give an 
estimated income from Council Tax of £111.930m which when added 
to the Welsh Government settlement will provide a net available 
expenditure budget for the Authority of £450.330m.   

£'000 £'000 £'000
Previous Years Budget 415,885 450,330 463,357
Validations/Adjustments 42,523 19,475 17,049
Validated Budget 458,408 469,805 480,406
less

Efficiency/Service Rationalisation -8,078 -6,448 -4,445

Projected Budget 450,330 463,357 475,961

Potential sum available
450,330 463,357 475,961

WG Settlement
    RSG & NNDR -338,400 -346,522 -355,179
Earmarked reserve funded expenditure
Call on Council Tax 111,930 116,835 120,783

Tax Base 75,072 75,348 75,624
Council Tax Rate (Band D) 1,490.97£   1,550.62£  1,597.14£   
Council Tax Increase 6.80% 4.00% 3.00%

2023 - 2024 2024 - 2025 2025 - 2026

A full summary of the Budget Build up can be seen in Table 1.  

7.1.1. Years 2 and 3 of the Medium Term Financial Plan assume the 
identification of a further £2.329m and £0.314m savings 
proposals in 2024/25 and 2025/26 respectively, and delivery of 
all proposals in full in order to achieve a balanced budget. 
These will be re-visited when we are preparing the following 
years draft budget strategy 

7.1.2. It must be emphasised that the figures for the outer two years of 
the plan are indicative only and must therefore be treated with 
caution as the settlement figures, growth pressures and the 
inflation assumptions contained therein will all be subject to 
revision as the year progresses and firmer data becomes 
available.  

Tudalen 37



DETAILED REPORT  

 20 

Recommendations 

7.2. That Cabinet consider and recommend to County Council:  

7.2.1. The Budget Strategy for 2023/24, which includes the 
amendments at paragraph 4.1.4; 

7.2.2. The Band D Council Tax for 2023/24 of £1,490.97 (an 
increase of 6.80%); 

7.2.3. The removal of specific savings proposals as identified 
in paragraph 3.2.5 

7.2.4. The restriction of income uplifts to school meals and 
car parks as identified in paragraph 3.2.5 

7.2.5. The discretionary allocation of pressures funding to 
highways and town centres as identified in paragraph 
3.2.5  

7.2.6. The Medium Term Financial Plan which will form the 
basis for future years financial planning; 

7.3. That Cabinet/County Council delegates to the Director of Corporate 
Services, in consultation with the Chief Executive, Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Resources, to make any amendments necessary as a 
consequence of the WG final settlement due on 1st March 2023. 

 

 

Tudalen 38



APPENDIX x 
 
 

REVENUE BUDGET 
2023 - 2026
CONSULTATION REPORT

carmarthenshire.gov.uk

FEBRUARY 2023

Tudalen 39



 
2

 

 

 

Contents 

 

1) OUTLINE OF APPROACH AND CONSULTATION METHODS .........................................3 

2) RESPONDENT PROFILE ...................................................................................................6 

3) SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS ..........................................................................................7 

4) CONSULTATION FINDINGS – ALL PROPOSALS .............................................................8 

5) INSIGHT 2023 ...................................................................................................................50 

6) NOTES FROM BUDGET CONSULTATION MEETINGS ..................................................54 

7) MINUTES OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS .......................................................59 

8) APPENDIX 1 – MAP OF COMMUNITY AREAS ...............................................................72 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Tudalen 40



 
3

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL - BUDGET 2023-26 CONSULTATION 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
A mixed-methods approach to ascertaining views on the 2023-26 budget took place 
during the period from 21 December 2022 to 29 January 2023. 
 
In making savings, the Council is concerned to minimise the impact upon service 
delivery.  In meeting the challenge of bridging the budget shortfall of over £20 million, 
many savings are being made through internal service changes. It is however 
recognised that some savings proposals will potentially have an impact on service 
delivery.  These are known as ‘policy’ proposals and 17 proposals (with a total value 
of £4.8 million) are being considered by the Council in balancing its budget for 2023-
26. 
 
There are a variety of legal and policy reasons why the Council must undertake full 
and meaningful consultation, where service changes are under consideration.1  
Ultimately, a flawed approach can be a means whereby decisions can be challenged 
through the courts, through a process of Judicial Review. A decision against the 
Council would prevent the saving being delivered, as well as damage the reputation 
of Council, at a time when it needs to focus on responding to its challenging financial 
position. 
 
This report: 
 

1. Outlines the consultation approach and the different consultation methods 
deployed; 

2. Describes the demographic characteristics of those who took part 
3. Summarises the key findings; 
4. Details the specific consultation findings in relation to each of the 14 

proposals; and 
5. Collates minutes of meeting in which the budget was discussed 

 
 
1) OUTLINE OF APPROACH AND CONSULTATION METHODS 
 
Whilst the settlement provided by Welsh Government was much more favourable than 
expected, inflation, rising costs, demographic pressures and increased statutory 
obligations have required the Council to make significant cost reductions, which 
remains challenging following the Covid-19 pandemic. In response, Council 
departments identified proposals for making savings and a consultation exercise was 
undertaken to elicit views on levels of agreement, possible impacts and ways the 
impacts could be minimised (mitigation). 
 
Councillor involvement 
A series of departmental seminars for all county councillors took place over a five-day 
period: 16th January 2023 and 20th January 2023.2 Efficiencies across departments 
were considered in detail and feedback sought. Bullet points below provide an outlook 

 
1 The 2010 Equality Act and the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan require that ‘due regard’ be given to the views of designated 
groups in making decisions.  In terms of consultation, a body of case law points to the need for public authorities to properly 
gather and consider the views of the public in reaching decisions. 
2 As democratically elected representatives, councillor views are of central importance.  This is of course in addition to their 
decision making role, as Council, in deciding the budget. 

Tudalen 41



 
4

of their views and further suggestions on efficiencies.  Councillor feedback regarding 
the public consultation can be found against the relevant proposals. 
 
Alongside councillor engagement, public consultation took place in the following ways: 
 
Survey 
The survey provided financial and service information on each of the 17 policy 
proposals and asked respondents to express a view on the degree to which they 
supported the proposal.3  Views were also sought regarding the potential impact of 
implementing the proposal on people and communities.4   
 
The survey was administered in two principal ways: 
 

1) Electronically via the Council’s online consultation page on the website 
2) Hard copies were available on request in order to maximise the response rate.   

 
A total of 2161 responses were received from various sections of the community, 
including individuals, businesses, town and community councils and groups and 
organisations. A demographic breakdown is provided in section 2.  
 
Insight 
 
Teams from 10 secondary schools across Carmarthenshire have given their views on 
proposals in the Council’s budget as part of an event designed to engage with young 
people. The Council’s annual Insight event is open to all secondary schools in the 
county and gives pupils the chance to put themselves in the roles of the Council’s 
Cabinet and discuss their opinions on the proposed budget. The aim of the event is to 
introduce young people to local government and give them an insight into the 
challenges on a day-to-day basis. It is also an opportunity for Cabinet Members to 
hear pupils’ views and discuss with them directly about issues that matter to them. 
 
This year, pupils from years 10-13 from Ysgol y Strade, Ysgol Gyfun Emlyn, QE High, 
Dyffryn Taf, Ysgol Gyfun Bro Myrddin, Coedcae, Bryngwyn, Glan-y-Mor, Dyffryn 
Aman, Ysgol Bro Dinefwr took part in the event on Thursday January 26 at County 
Hall in Carmarthen. 
 
The results are outlined in Chapter 5. 
 
Other [Email responses received] 
5 emails and letters were submitted to the Council during the budget consultation 
period. These emails have been included in the overall analysis of the budget 
consultation.  
 
Publicity 
 
Local and regional press and local radio advertisements were used to inform the public 
how to become involved and obtain further information on the budget consultation. 
Carmarthenshire County council staff were also encouraged to take part in the Budget 
consultation via internal newsletter. Information was also highlighted on the council, 
and on the newsroom throughout the consultation period and generated 2250 views 

 
3 The format of the survey was identical to the previous budget survey, to ensure comparability of results for all  17 proposals. 
4 The responses are important in establishing the impact of Council proposals on people – a key consideration in undertaking 
good decision making based on evidence, and a requirement of the 2010 Equality Act. 

Tudalen 42



 
5

on the budget consultation page. Relevant information was posted on social media  
(Twitter and Facebook) which reached 46,116 pages.  
 
In addition, the consultation was publicised through relevant equality groups, including 
Equality Carmarthenshire, Ageing Well Carmarthenshire and the Carmarthenshire 
Disability Coalition for Action. In addition, All Town and Community Councils were 
asked to take part using the online consultation.  
 
The public consultation phase ran from 21 December 2022 to 29 January 2023. In 
total, 2161 responses were received, only 1 were paper based.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

About Average Index Score (AIS).  Sometimes known as a ‘weighted average’, the AIS is a 
way of distilling the ‘balance and strength of opinion’ down into one number.  Useful for 
questions with options to ‘strongly agree’, ‘disagree’, etc., the technique is used throughout the 
report.  Values range from 2 (everyone strongly agrees) to minus 2 (everyone strongly 
disagrees).

Example 
10 people are asked whether they ‘strongly agree’, ‘agree’, ‘have no opinion’, ‘disagree’ or 
‘strongly disagree’ that Wales will win the six nations.

Results...
3 strongly agree (each response worth 2, so=6)
3 agree (each response worth 1, so=3)
1 no opinion (each response worth 0, so=0)
1 disagree (each response worth -1, so= -1)
2 strongly disagree (each response worth -2, so=-4)

The AIS is calculated by adding all the numbers in bold: so, 6+3+0-1-4=4;

Then dividing by the number of responses (10 in this case).  The average index score is: 
4÷10=0.4 (shown graphically below)

Tudalen 43



 
6

2) RESPONDENT PROFILE 
Of the 1949 respondents who gave completed answers to demographic questions: 
99% were from individuals, 0.4% from Town and Community Councils (n=7), 0.3% 
were businesses (n=5) and 0.3% from other organisations (n=5). 5  

 
 

Demographic 
Characteristic Overall %  Demographic 

Characteristic Overall % 

Transgender 9%  Ethnicity  
PNTS 6%  White 92% 
Relationship status   BME 2% 
Single 16%  Other <1% 
Married 63%  PNTS 6% 
Separated/Divorced 6%  Disability  
Widowed 3%  Yes 13% 
Civil partnership 3%  No 81% 
PNTS 9%  PNTS 6% 
Sexual orientation   Preferred language  
Straight 86%  Welsh 21% 
LGB 3%  English 82% 
PNTS 11%  Other 1% 
Religion   Income  
Yes 52%  <£15,000 8% 
PNTS 8%  £15,000 – £29,999 22% 
Caring responsibilities   £30,000 – £44,999 21% 
Yes 21%  Over £45000 30% 
PNTS 5%  PNTS 19% 
     

 
 
A total of 1,911 respondents included their post codes.  These have been grouped into 
six community areas for analytical purposes. Appendix 1 maps out the community area 
boundaries and their constituent postcodes.  
 

 
Community 

Area 1 
Community 

Area 2 
Community 

Area 3 
Community 

Area 4 
Community 

Area 5 
Community 

Area 6 
% Responses 31% 11% 25% 12% 11% 11% 

Number of Responses 592 201 479 229 208 202 
 

5 Unnamed Secondary School, Kidwelly Market, BLUE MARBLE REFILL, Corvus inn, St Ishmael Community Council, St Clears 
Council, Daniel Elias, Ysgol Dyffryn Taf School Council, Llandeilo Town Council, Quicksilver jewellery 

2%

31%

48%

19%

16-24

25-44

45-64

65+

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Age Profile

1%

41%

54%

PAT

Male 

Female 

0% 20% 40% 60%

Gender

Tudalen 44



 
7

3) SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS 
Headline results – all 17 proposals 

The table below shows the results from the budget consultation survey.  It shows 
details of the proposal, then gives results for the question: ‘how strongly do you agree, 
or disagree, with this proposal’.6  The table is ranked in order by AIS score.  Those 
proposals with higher levels of support, reflected in higher AIS scores, appear first.7 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
6 The survey itself gave summary information about each proposal to inform the decisions of respondents. 
7 Values near to zero may indicate no clear consensus or may reflect apathy in relation to the proposal. 

R
an

k 

 
 
Ranking 

3 
Ye

ar
  

Sa
vi

ng
  

St
ro

ng
ly

 
 A

gr
ee

 (%
) 

A
gr

ee
 (%

) 

N
ei

th
er

 (%
) 

D
is

ag
re

e 
(%

) 

St
ro

ng
ly

 
 D

is
ag

re
e 

(%
) 

A
ve

ra
ge

 
 In

de
x 

Sc
or

e 

1 Commercial charge of Car park use £10000 50% 35% 6% 4% 5% 1.2 

2 Parking permits £25000 49% 34% 7% 4% 5% 1.17 

3 Publications of planning applications £20000 50% 33% 8% 4% 6% 1.15 

4 HWRC £63000 40% 43% 7% 5% 7% 1.04 

5 Music Service £75000 22% 28% 16% 17% 16% 0.99 

6 Nant-y-ci Park and Ride £40000 34% 32% 16% 10% 8% 0.73 

7 School rationalisation £750000 28% 37% 14% 9% 12% 0.61 

8 Charging at 9 car parks £90000 32% 33% 7% 10% 18% 0.5 

9 School crossing patrol £16000 27% 32% 12% 15% 13% 0.45 

10 Countryside access £15000 30% 28% 12% 16% 14% 0.44 

11 Pendine £180000 28% 29% 15% 15% 13% 0.43 

12 St Clears Asset transfer £75000 21% 30% 22% 10% 16% 0.31 

13 Litter bins £100000 24% 30% 12% 17% 16% 0.29 

14 Rising 4s policy £500000 24% 29% 14% 12% 21% 0.22 

15 Close St Clears Leisure centre £75000 23% 25% 17% 14% 21% 0.19 

16 Library services £64000 22% 29% 12% 17% 20% 0.16 

17 Youth club support withdrawal £16000 15% 20% 16% 27% 22% -0.2 

18 Reduction of Youth workers 0.8FTE £84000 13% 21% 20% 24% 22% -0.2 

19 Delegated school budget £2.7mil 17% 22% 10% 18% 32% -0.25 

Tudalen 45



 
8

4) CONSULTATION FINDINGS – ALL PROPOSALS 
Below, all 17 proposals are considered individually, in turn, in order to lay out a 
comprehensive summary of relevant consultation information. 
 
Each summary begins by detailing relevant facts and figures, including the value of 
the proposal, its average index score (AIS), and its AIS rank against other proposals.  
It also gives an AIS for selected categories of respondent, for comparative purposes, 
and also to help meet our Equality Duty of demonstrating ‘due regard’ to equality. It is 
important to recognise that some proposals will be of specific relevance to people in 
certain categories.  This must be taken in account in reaching decisions. 
 
Views expressed through the public consultation have been considered together and 
themes identified. 
 
The ‘other relevant information’ section includes information from specific sources, 
such as representations and organisational responses. 
 
The views of councillors, (as expressed through budget seminars or scrutiny 
committees) are included under the ‘councillor engagement’ heading. 
 
In the AIS charts that follow for each proposal, negative values are highlighted to show 
where results are, on balance, in opposition. 
 
In order to strengthen the decision-making process, where a proposal has formed part 
of a previous budget consultation, these results are also included, for comparative 
purposes. 
 
Information on all Equality impact assessments for each of the 17 proposals are 
available on request.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 46



 
9

1. St Clears Leisure Centre 
3 Year Savings: £75,000 
 
Information on savings proposal:  
Based on usage (income/running costs) and its location we are looking to close the St 
Clears Leisure centre or asset transfer. To mitigate against this efficiency, we will 
continue to provide a full service at Carmarthen Leisure Centre which is approximately 
10 miles away. In addition, there are several private leisure facilities in places such as 
Whitland, Llangynin and Carmarthen. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.07%  
 
 
 
 
 
Closure of St Clears Leisure Centre  
 
Average Index Score: 0.19 
Overall Rank (of 19): 15 
Sample Size:  1807 
 
 
 
Closure of St Clears Leisure Centre 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.49 0.14 0.25 0.08 0.3 0.08 0.14 0.24 0.24 0.16 
Sample 39 565 868 335 23 13 1001 753 234 165 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.19 0.34 0.76 0.14 0.16 0.12 0.33 -0.01 0.2 0.42 
Sample 381 59 25 611 902 543 915 344 375 141 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS -0.4 0.54 0.4 0.47 0.67 0.68 
Sample 584 196 464 214 201 202 

23% 25%

17%
14%

21%

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Closure of St Clears Leisure Centre

Tudalen 47



 
10

 
 
 
St Clears Leisure Centre Asset 
Transfer 
 
Average Index Score: 0.31 
Overall Rank (of 19): 12 
Sample Size:  1807 
 
 
 
 
 
St Clears Leisure Centre Asset Transfer 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.54 0.32 0.39 0.3 0.83 -0.15 0.29 0.45 0.27 0.39 
Sample 37 558 857 330 23 13 987 742 228 164 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.33 0.56 0.44 0.34 0.37 0.3 0.47 0.2 0.42 0.4 
Sample 374 57 25 605 893 535 902 340 369 136 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.07% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS -0.1 0.61 0.56 0.58 0.77 0.68 
Sample 574 192 463 212 204 198 

23%

50%

27%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

21%

30%

22%

10%
16%

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Asset Transfer  of St Clears Leisure 
Centre

Tudalen 48



 
11

90 comments were received on the proposal. 
 
Impact 

• Many expressed their disagreement with the proposal to close or asset 
transfer St Clears Leisure Centre, citing it would have detrimental impact on 
local users and the local community at large 

• Related comments highlighted that the leisure centre accommodates a 
number of active clubs (e.g. badminton, rugby and football) who would be 
displaced by the closure, with many unable to travel to alternative facilities 

• It was noted that alternative provision through private facilities was not 
comparable and, often, more expensive 

• Some respondents pointed to the correlation between leisure and health 
noting that a reduction in leisure services could undermine the wellbeing of 
the local population. Concern that rising obesity rates will increase cost and 
service pressures on the NHS, with the resultant cost outweighing any 
savings yielded by the proposal 

• Some observed that St Clears has a growing population with potential for 
increased future demand for leisure services owing to current and pipeline 
infrastructure projects, including housing developments and a new hospital  

• Proposal will increase travelling costs and discourage some users from 
keeping healthy and active. Environmental impacts were also noted 

• Recognition that difficult decisions must be made in the current economic 
climate. Proposal merits consideration if it is not economically viable to 
maintain the current facilities and there is alternative provision within a 
reasonable travelling distance 

• Reference was made to leisure centres being a non-statutory service 

Mitigation 
• Co-use of facilities - bringing St Clears library service into the leisure centre 

could increase footfall and generate efficiency savings whilst maintaining a 
similar level of service provision  

• Some highlighted success stories of community-run leisure facilities 
• Others put forward a view that private sector operators are more efficient 
• Extend the ‘warm places’ scheme to the leisure centre 
• Deprioritise the Carmarthen Hwb scheme 
• Several respondents did not wish to provide comment as they were not users 

of the leisure centre and instead encouraged further consultation with facility 
users. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 49



 
12

2. Pendine Outdoor Education Centre 
3 Year Savings: £180,000 
 
Description:  
The age of the infrastructure on site is of concern for the future and requires continued 
maintenance which is no longer viable. The proposal is to close Pendine education 
centre and look at providing an alternative facility within the county. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.17%  
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 0.49 
Overall Rank (of 19): 11 
Sample Size:  2029 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.54 0.32 0.39 0.3 0.83 -0.15 0.29 0.45 0.27 0.39 
Sample 37 558 857 330 23 13 987 742 228 164 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.33 0.56 0.44 0.34 0.37 0.3 0.47 0.2 0.42 0.4 
Sample 374 57 25 605 893 535 902 340 369 136 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.17% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid efficiency 
saving. 

 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS -0.1 0.61 0.56 0.58 0.77 0.68 
Sample 574 192 463 212 204 198 

17%

55%

28%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

28% 29%

15% 15% 13%

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Pendine Outdoor Education Centre

Tudalen 50



 
13

 
49 comments related to the POEC proposal 
 
Impact  

• A widely held view that outdoor pursuits / residential experiences are crucial 
to younger people’s learning and developmental journey, acquiring important 
skills and nurturing interests outside of the traditional school environment 

• Concern on the impact of the proposal on the health and wellbeing of school 
pupils 

• Economic impact emphasised – loss of jobs and increased spend in other 
counties (e.g. Llangrannog in Ceredigion) 

• Some support for the proposal on the grounds that the Centre is not on par 
with other outdoor facilities, does not warrant continued maintenance and a 
replacement facility would improve on the current offering  

Mitigation 
• Ensure replacement facility is in operation before closing the Centre 
• Private ownership or asset transfer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 51



 
14

3. Library Service 
3 Year Savings: £64,000 
 
Description:  
Look for opportunities to asset transfer our smaller, least utilised branch libraries. If 
an asset transfer cannot be found, these branch libraries will be closed but 
alternative outreach provision will be considered. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.06% 
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 0.16 
Overall Rank (of 19): 16 
Sample Size:  2027 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.79 0.28 0.21 -0.09 0.39 0 0.07 0.35 0.17 0.38 
Sample 39 558 862 334 23 13 995 749 228 164 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.06 -0.05 0.19 0.11 0.22 0.1 0.31 0.01 0.3 0.21 
Sample 377 59 26 605 897 540 915 337 370 141 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.06% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 

 
 

 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS -0.02 0.46 0.22 0.21 0.51 0.26 
Sample 582 196 462 215 198 201 

29%

48%

23%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

22%
29%

12%
17% 20%

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Library services

Tudalen 52



 
15

The libraries proposal generated 300 comments 
 
Impact 

• A wide-ranging view that the proposal is proportionate given the costs of 
running and maintaining an underutilised facility during a period of exceptional 
budgetary pressures. In addition, many were amenable to the proposal if it 
helped safeguard library services in core (main) facilities  

• Proposal is reasonable given the increasing shift to digital media and change 
in consumption habits  

• Some commended the Borrow Box & PORI apps as a means to access library 
services online 

• Proposal will have a disproportionate negative impact on Carmarthenshire’s 
older demographic, rural residents and those who are transport poor 

• Libraries are a critical resource, providing access to recreational, informational  
and educational/developmental resources that play an important role in 
people’s wellbeing 

• The ‘social’ function of libraries was emphasised, providing a designated 
warm space for users to engage with other people. Also promotes good 
mental wellbeing and combats loneliness and isolation 

• Poor broadband connectivity may discourage people from accessing e-books 
and media at home 

• Many views that the 3-year saving does not warrant the negative impacts that  
could be brought to bear by implementing the proposal – potential negative 
impacts are not commensurate to the value of savings the proposal will yield  

• Proposal runs counter to the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 
• A number of respondents requested further information on which branch 

libraries were at risk in order to make a fully informed comment 

 
Mitigation 

• Preserve full service offering at core libraries supplemented by an extensive 
mobile service  

• Mobile service will help mitigate the effects for older adults and disabled users 
• Maintain less utilised facilities through volunteering and self-service 
• Diversification – look at accommodating café/catering facilities 
• Pooling of resources to create one multi-purpose community facility with 

access to key services  
• Income generation by offering space/room to community groups 
• Consider an annual membership charge for a greater selection of e-books, 

audiobooks and films 
• Rural broadband initiatives to improve connectivity 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 53



 
16

Other comments relating to Communities Department 

Particular concern was expressed in relation to the geographical impact of the 
proposals with many suggesting that the effects of the budgetary savings will be 
more pronounced in smaller, rural towns such as St Clears.  
Other comments covered: 

• the Council’s staffing and wage structure 
• repurposing of lesser used council buildings  
• sale of Council assets to private developers 
• need for a longer-term strategic vision for Carmarthenshire to implement 

more efficient and sustainable cost-saving measures 
• a view that proposals are too narrow 
• challenges of households meeting any service or council tax increases 
• query on whether other council facilities provide value for money – reference 

made to Dylan Thomas’ Boathouse and Y Gat 

 
Members engagement: Communities Department 
 

• Suggest that there is positive engagement with St Clears community on the 
leisure centre – can it be taken over and/or proven increase in usage 
otherwise it will need to be closed 

• Members felt that greater certainty was needed over the alternative offering 
for Pendine in order to support closure 

• Difficult to decide on library closures without knowing specifically which ones 
• Some Believed that Pembrey County Park should not be over commercialised 
• Suggestion that season tickets could apply to multiple parks – e.g. PCP and 

LLO 
• Support to introduce car park charges at leisure centres 
• Support increased equipment use to reduce domiciliary care visits 
• Reduce residential care through use of extra care 
• Support for Cwm Aur proposal 
• Suggest introducing support for families that are providing care at home to 

prolong this approach  
• Support for supported living approach 
• Concern over increased demand for mental health services post COVID 
• Belief that more adult services provision is needed in rural areas 
• Suggestion that some council house stock could be converted into supported 

living 
• Support for reducing B&Bs for temporary accommodation 
• Suggestion that pest control could raise income for the council 
• Support for raising Licencing charges 
• Suggestion that school kitchens could provide catering for adult services  
• Discussion over the viability of Llesiant Delta Wellbeing taking more calls – 

members reported concerns over existing capacity to respond to current 
service levels 

 
 

Tudalen 54



 
17

4. Parking Services -  Introduce charging at 9 car parks 
 3 Year Savings: £90,000 
 
Description: We are proposing to introduce a charge at 9 car parks which are 
currently free:  
  -   Pottery Street, Llanelli 
  -   Waunllanyrafon, Llanelli 
  -   Eva Terrace, Ferryside 
  -   Llanybydder 
  -   Station Car park, Burry Port 
  -   Seaview Terrace, Burry Port 
  -   Glanyrafon, Kidwelly 
  -   Station Road, Kidwelly 
  -   Llansteffan. 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.09%  
 
 
Average Index Score: 0.50 
Overall Rank (of 19): 8 
Sample Size:  2062
  
 
  
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 1.21 0.61 0.51 0.39 0.74 1.33 0.49 0.61 0.38 0.78 
Sample 38 560 875 344 23 12 1006 758 235 166 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.41 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.53 0.43 0.69 0.39 0.79 0.32 
Sample 387 60 26 616 918 549 924 343 378 143 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.09% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.85 0.83 0.86 -0.87 0.79 0.54 
Sample 579 198 470 228 204 198 

32% 33%

7% 10%
18%

0%

20%

40%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Introduce Parking Charges

13%

63%

24%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 55



 
18

efficiency saving. 
37 comments received: 
 
Impact 

• Widespread concern that the proposal will impact the health of town centres 
and independent shops on the High Street at a time when consumer footfall 
and spend is low 

• Proposal will further encourage use of out-of-town shopping centres 
• Some highlighted the risk of increased off-road / illegal car parking as a 

means to avoid paying a parking charge 
• Many related the impacts to specific areas such as Kidwelly, Ferryside, 

Llansteffan and Llanybydder 
• Some opposed the blanket approach, upholding that each car park has a 

different context / use profile (e.g. retail, tourism) and should be assessed 
individually 

• Infrastructure, maintenance and enforcement costs will offset any savings 
yielded from the proposal 

• Comments in favour of the proposal referred to Council’s charging policy at 
other sites across the country, suggesting it would promote a consistent and 
equitable approach  

Mitigation 
• Ensure provision of ‘all day’ car parking (as opposed to a maximum length of 

stay) and a tapered charge that is reasonable at the lower end. Furthermore, 
offer more ‘shorter stay’ options (e.g. 30mins) 

• Query on whether there is a role for private / commercial operators 
• It was suggested that there should be further consultation on each car park 

location  
• Additional areas were put forward for consideration, including Abergwili. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 56



 
19

5. Parking Services - Charge for commercial use 
3 Year Savings: £10,000 
 
Description: We are proposing a charge for the commercial use of these car parks. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.01%  
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 1.20 
Overall Rank (of 19): 1 
Sample Size:  2044 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 1.63 1.22 1.26 1.14 1.61 1.5 1.2 1.31 1.16 1.2 
Sample 38 560 872 336 23 12 995 760 233 163 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 1.21 1.34 1.15 1.23 1.23 1.19 1.33 1.14 1.27 1.2 
Sample 380 59 26 612 912 547 918 342 378 140 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.01% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 

 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 1.32 1.1 1.25 1.1 1.4 1.33 
Sample 579 197 467 224 201 197 

6%

80%

14%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

50%

35%

6% 4% 5%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Charge for commercial use

Tudalen 57



 
20

 
7 comments received: 

• Broad support expressed through comments 
• Proposal will instil a level of equity/fairness between general (car) and 

commercial users 
• Some surprise that the Council doesn’t currently charge for commercial use – 

a ‘missed opportunity’ to generate income from mobile banks and fairs 
• Views on the need for flexibility as to how the charge is applied to ensure that 

organisations that provide an important community / health service (e.g. 
screening, mobile banks) are not unduly charged 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 58



 
21

6. Publication of Planning Applications 
3 Year Savings: £20,000 
 
Description: It is proposed to stop advertising in the local newspapers and publicise 
through other methods that are currently undertaken.  This can include direct 
consultations with statutory bodies that include Local Members and Town & 
Community Council, site notices, and neighbour notifications.  A list of registered and 
determined applications are also published weekly on the Council's website, as well 
as being available to view in real-time. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.02%  
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 1.15 
Rank (of 19):  3 
Sample Size:  2040 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 1.37 1.3 1.2 0.98 1.48 1.67 1.18 1.23 1.03 1.23 
Sample 38 553 868 347 23 12 996 760 235 164 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 1.11 1.03 1.42 1.07 1.17 1.06 1.36 1.05 1.21 1 
Sample 381 59 26 615 905 551 914 342 374 140 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.02% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 1.13 1.3 1.28 1.08 1.35 1.25 
Sample 578 200 468 220 203 200 

50%

33%

8%
4% 6%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

6%

80%

14%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 59



 
22

12 comments related to the publication of planning applications 
 
Impact 

• Proposal is in keeping with the growing trend to access information 
electronically 

• Newspaper readership / circulation is limited and therefore the cost of 
advertising no longer provides value for money 

• A view that there are inefficiencies within the current planning system 
resulting in longer applications and poor use of council resources 

Mitigation 
• Use of social media 
• Increase planning application fees to cover promotional costs 
• Importance of maintaining site notices highlighted 
•  A supporting comment that Town and Rural Councils should bear a greater 

responsibility for publishing and discussing planning applications 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 60



 
23

7. Parking Services - Parking permits 
3 Year Savings: £25,000 
 
Description: There is an administrative cost in receiving applications for on-street 
parking permits, checking eligibility and vehicle details, processing applications and 
issuing permits.  There is also a cost to patrolling and enforcing the permit parking 
areas and maintaining road markings. Residents permits have cost £30 since 2009 
and the proposal is to increase on-street permit charge to £40 per year to cover costs. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.02%  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 1.17 
Overall Rank (of 19): 2 
Sample Size:  2031 
 
 
  
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 1.29 1.14 1.26 1.15 1.22 1.55 1.14 1.28 1.21 1.24 
Sample 38 553 867 341 23 11 991 760 227 164 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 1.18 1.32 1.15 1.13 1.22 1.03 1.35 1.14 1.23 1.17 
Sample 378 59 26 612 904 545 920 338 375 140 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.02% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 1.27 1.29 1.27 1.14 1.29 1.1 
Sample 580 197 467 218 203 201 

49%

34%

7% 4% 5%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Parking Permits

4%

82%

14%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 61



 
24

 
4 comments received:  

• Limited number of comments 
• Proposal is fair as permit costs have been maintained at their current level 

since 2009 
• Brings the service in line with inflationary increases 
• A view that the current permit allowance per household does not reflect the 

variability of parking provision in some areas. Where spaces are limited, this 
results in residents not being able to park near their property as some 
households have multiple vehicle permits registered at their address. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 62



 
25

8. Countryside access 
3-Year Saving: £15,000 
 
Description: Cease discretionary clearance by Contractors (3 cuts per year) of 
overhanging and encroaching vegetation on 70% of the promoted PROW network 
(132km) and engage with landowners to ensure they take responsibility for their 
encroaching vegetation. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.01%  
 
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 0.44 
Overall Rank (of 19): 10  
Sample Size:  2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 1.03 0.42 0.45 0.44 0.3 0 0.43 0.5 0.47 0.39 
Sample 38 548 867 340 23 11 987 755 231 162 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.37 0.54 0.48 0.46 0.48 0.43 0.51 0.37 0.46 0.42 
Sample 380 59 25 608 902 543 912 343 373 142 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.01% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.34 0.51 0.44 0.27 0.55 0.59 
Sample 579 194 463 221 201 200 

30% 28%

12%
16% 14%

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Countryside access

22%

59%

20%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 63



 
26

 
13 comments related to the countryside access proposal 
 
Impact 

• The importance of maintaining Public Rights of Way was recognised 
• Respondents underscored the social and health benefits of walking/rambling 
• Significant concern that countryside footpaths could become inaccessible 
• Possible impacts on tourism were emphasised if footpaths cannot be freely 

and safely navigated. Could give rise to negative perceptions of the county’s 
amenities 

• Risk of injury 
• Broad agreement as landowners should be responsible for their own 

maintenance 

Mitigation 
• Suggestion that landowners should be invoiced for work if they fall foul of their 

maintenance responsibilities 
• Consider alternative schemes such as building raised beds for wildflowers 
• Work with community groups to develop a volunteering scheme for 

maintenance work whilst contributing to the costs of equipment/tools 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 64



 
27

9. Nant-y-Ci Park and Ride  
3-Year Saving: £40,000 
 
Description: 
Withdrawal of service between Nant-y-Ci, Town Centre and Glangwili Hospital. The 
service is part funded by Hywel Dda health board and discussions will take place 
before any service change. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.04%  
 
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 0.73 
Overall Rank (of 19): 6 
Sample Size:  2019 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.81 0.81 0.83 0.45 1.22 1.54 0.68 0.86 0.51 1.02 
Sample 38 548 867 340 23 13 987 750 232 162 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.81 0.84 1 0.69 0.75 0.6 0.92 0.63 0.79 0.69 
Sample 378 58 25 608 902 546 910 340 375 140 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.04% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.61 0.96 0.77 0.85 0.9 0.84 
Sample 574 192 471 220 205 200 

34% 32%

16%
10% 8%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Nant-y-Ci Park and Ride

10%

70%

20%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 65



 
28

11 comments received 
 
Impact  

• Limited number of comments 
• Concern about the impact on staff and visitor parking at Glangwili Hospital 
• Concern that this would have a disproportionate impact on disabled users 
• Some were unaware of the service and felt it required better promotion / 

advertisement 

Mitigation 
• Consideration should be given to other pick-up points to improve the viability 

of the service 
• Use of County Cars scheme for hospital appointments 
• Re-investment of funds to improve car parking at Glangwili 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 66



 
29

10. Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC) 
3-Year Saving: £63000 
 
Description: This proposal focuses on the rationalisation of the days and times that 
the sites are open based upon usage.  
1. Change of Whitland opening hours - 10am -4pm all year - £7,500 
2. Change Nantycaws and Wernddu to close on one week day based on site usage - 
£55,500 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.06%  
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 1.04 
Overall Rank (of 19): 4 
Sample Size:  2030 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 1.24 1.11 1.08 0.95 1.35 1.64 1.08 1.07 1.03 1.26 
Sample 37 552 870 339 23 10 991 756 233 164 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 1.07 1.12 1.32 0.95 1.06 1.04 1.16 0.86 1.09 1.07 
Sample 378 58 25 610 905 544 916 342 378 138 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.06% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.93 1.11 1.11 1.14 1.25 1.19 
Sample 574 197 469 222 204 200 

40% 43%

7% 5% 7%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

HWRC

6%

80%

14%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 67



 
30

 
11 comments received: 
 
Impact 

• A majority view that reduced operating hours would bring to bear adverse 
environmental (e.g. increase in fly tipping) and economic (e.g. loss of 
employment / reduced hours) impacts 

• A number held the view that reduced operating hours would be unjust on 
those in employment (i.e. working ‘9 to 5’ roles) 

• An alternative view that the proposal would have a minimal impact 

Mitigation 
• It was suggested that a Sunday closure could realise greater savings 
• Extend opening hours during summer and spring seasons 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 68



 
31

11. Litter Bins 
3-Year Saving: £100,000 
 
Description:  
We are looking to rationalise up to 20% of litter bins for the County. Following a review, 
we have seen that bins in laybys are often filled with household waste which is in 
contradiction to the initial purpose of these bins (i.e., fast food packaging). This 
rationalisation will deliver savings on Waste disposal charges, operative time and plant 
costs. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.10%  
 
 
 
 
 
Average Index Score: 0.29 
Overall Rank (of 19): 13  
Sample Size:  2006 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.7 0.3 0.37 0.3 0.7 0.91 0.29 0.42 0.27 0.29 
Sample 37 549 860 335 23 11 984 747 231 164 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.33 0.37 0.72 0.32 0.36 0.3 0.43 0.2 0.41 0.29 
Sample 380 57 25 601 904 538 908 339 374 140 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.10% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.24 0.36 0.38 0.33 0.37 0.27 
Sample 571 194 466 222 202 197 

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Litter Bins

14%

59%

27%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 69



 
32

This proposal received 44 comments: 
 
Impact 

• Concern that the proposal could lead to an increase in fly tipping 
• Reference was made to the increased risk of dog fouling 
• Some against proposal as it will harm the appeal of the county and therefore 

its potential for tourism 
• Support on the basis that commercial operators (i.e. fast food chains) should 

contribute to the costs of the cleansing service and it is unfair on tax payers 
• Incorrect use of litter bins is better than the alternative of fly tipping / littering 
• A view that the proposal is ambiguous 

Mitigation 
• Bins located within or adjacent to town centres should be prioritised 
• Improved enforcement through patrols and CCTV monitoring would lessen 

misuse of litter bins and reduce incidences of fly tipping 
• Consider the design of bins to facilitate the correct disposal of waste 
• Apply a ‘litter levy’ on commercial operators 
• Print vehicle registration details on fast food packaging to combat littering 
• Public information campaigns to raise awareness of the correct methods to 

dispose of household waste 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 70



 
33

12. School Crossing Patrols  
3 Year Savings: £16,000 
 
Description: It is proposed that sites will no longer require a school crossing patrol if 
they do not meet the national criteria. Notwithstanding this, the home to school journey 
remains a parental responsibility unless home to school transport is provided by the 
authority. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.02%  
 
 
 
 
 
Average index score: 0.45 
Overall Rank (of 19): 9 
Sample Size:  2009 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.76 0.33 0.49 0.55 0.36 0.83 0.38 0.56 0.43 0.54 
Sample 37 546 862 344 22 12 987 753 234 162 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.49 0.57 0.62 0.53 0.48 0.51 0.47 0.47 0.56 0.42 
Sample 375 58 26 602 906 544 911 337 371 142 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.02% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.42 0.63 0.43 0.41 0.52 0.57 
Sample 572 197 467 218 201 200 

27%
32%

12% 15% 13%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

School Crossing Patrol

18%

62%

20%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 71



 
34

The school crossing patrol proposal generated 178 comments 
 
Impact 

• Comments suggesting the service should be maintained formed the biggest 
response category 

• A prevailing view that school crossing patrols are critical to ensuring pupil 
safety 

• The risk of a traffic accident, and subsequent impact, outweighs the savings 
to be realised by implementing the proposal 

• A safe environment will encourage children to walk to school – improving 
health and physical activity 

• Proposal may increase vehicular usage around schools if more parents drive 
their children to school, bringing about environmental health impacts 

• Concern that some drivers do not adhere to lower speed limits in school / 
built-up areas 

• Concern that school staff may be required to maintain the service if withdrawn 
by the Council, placing additional pressures on schools  

• Some agreement subject to an individual impact assessment for each 
affected school site prior to withdrawal of the service 

• Reference was made to some schools having both a school crossing patrol 
and pedestrian crossings (e.g. Pelican crossing)  

Mitigation 
• Comments suggesting that the responsibility should lie with parents/carers. 

Similarly, whether the service could be run by parents in a volunteering 
capacity 

• Use of Pelican or Puffin crossings to allow pupils to traverse the road safely 
• Enforcement of 20mph speed limits will create a safer environment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 72



 
35

Other comments relating to Place and Infrastructure Department 

32 ‘other’ comments were received 
• Further comments on the imbalance of service provision in urban and rural 

areas, with rural residents seen to have poorer access to services  
• Rationalisation of council buildings in light of agile working arrangements 
• Views on the Council’s spend on signage (Welcome to Carmarthen) 
• Many of the proposals will generate a negligible saving, part of which will be 

expended when administering their implementation 
• Council pay and management structure  
• The survey does not set out the probable impacts of implementing the 

proposal  
• Some comments on the structure of the survey 

Members engagement: Place and Infrastructure  
 

• Members did not accept a 10% increase to car parking charges 
• Wide ranging discussion on 9 new car parks charging – concern that this will impact 

local shops/businesses – broad consensus that this was not supported, but if it 
proceeded, it was important that each locality needed to be looked at on its own 
merits  

• Support for NantyCi parking proposal but recognised that NHS agreement was 
important 

• Agreement to raise Residents parking charges, with suggestion that a higher 
increase to £50 could be considered 

• Support to increase charges for commercial car park usage, especially example of 
banks, but recognise the need for discretion – should not be applied to e.g. blood 
bank. 

• Mixed support for reduction in School Crossing Patrols  
• Majority not supporting enforcing landowner responsibility for countryside access 
• Strongly against cuts to highways general maintenance and supportive of raising 

council tax to fund 
• Supportive of Camera car 
• Strongly against Technical surveys proposal, and supportive of raising council tax to 

fund 
• Broad support for all other highways proposals 
• Broad support for all Place and Sustainability proposals 
• General agreement for bins rationalisation but suggested local member involvement 
• Broad agreement on HWRC opening days, but must be kept open at weekends 
• Broad support for all other waste and environmental services proposals 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 73



 
36

 
13. Delegated School’s Budget 
3-Year Saving: £2.7m 
 
Description: While we will continue to provide full funding to meet the substantial 
increase in energy costs and teacher staff pay awards, we propose that the delegated 
budget to schools should be reduced by 2.1% in line with all other Council 
Departments. The management of the overall delegated school budget will be the 
responsibility of the school’s governing body who will have to manage this reduction. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 2.50%  
 
 
 
 
 
Average index score: -0.25 
Overall Rank (of 19): 19  
Sample Size:  2006 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS -0.97 -0.5 -0.11 0 -0.74 -0.67 -0.37 -0.04 -0.01 -0.14 
Sample 38 548 861 339 23 12 988 749 229 161 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS -0.19 -0.1 -0.04 -0.13 -0.2 -0.09 -0.29 -0.24 -0.21 -0.09 
Sample 380 58 26 601 905 541 914 338 376 139 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 2.5% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 

 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS -0.37 -0.03 -0.19 -0.22 -0.08 -0.15 
Sample 569 200 467 217 202 200 

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

17%
22%

10%
18%

32%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Delegated School Budget

Tudalen 74



 
37

 
The Delegated Schools Budget proposal generated 75 comments 
 
Impact 

• A majority view that education should be a ‘protected service’ 
• Emphasis was given to the impact on pupils’ social and mental wellbeing, 

educational attainment and longer-term career opportunities 
• Widespread concern that the proposal will further compound the effects of 

Covid on pupils’ learning and development, with reference made to 
challenges around social integration, speech and language and pupil 
behaviour  

• Concern in relation to larger classroom sizes and fewer teachers / teaching 
assistants, placing additional pressures on schools 

• Proposal will undermine the deliverability of the new Curriculum for Wales 
• Fear that teachers may leave the profession 
• Risk of schools being placed in Special Measures 
• Disinvestment in education is penny wise and pound foolish, inhibiting long-

term economic growth and prosperity  
• Possible impacts on the use and development of the Welsh language were 

highlighted – implementation of Welsh in Education Strategic Plans (WESPs) 
• Some agreement that the delegated schools budget should be reviewed but 

not to the detriment of smaller, local schools 
• An alternative view that the delegated schools budget could be expended 

more efficiently 
• Specific mention was made of Ysgol Heol Goffa and SEN provision 

 
Mitigation 

• Review funding to support/ancillary functions such as Challenge Advisors 
• Seek additional funding at a national level 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 75



 
38

14. Rising 4’s Policy 
3-Year Saving: £500,000 
 
Description: These non-statutory aged pupils receive a full-time education in a school 
when funding is available to provide this provision in alternative settings. The childcare 
funding for Wales provided by Welsh Government provides up to 30 hours free 
education and childcare for children aged between 3-4 for up to 48 weeks of the year. 
At a time when revenue expenditure is under extreme pressure, the funding of non-
statutory full-time pupils at such an early age could be re-prioritised to fund other 
statutory functions from the schools delegated budget. Therefore, we are proposing to 
remove the rising 4's policy. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.50%  
 
 
 
 
 
Average index score: 0.22 
Overall Rank (of 19): 14 
Sample Size:  1997 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS -0.88 -0.22 0.43 0.4 -1.04 -0.92 0.1 0.32 0.34 0.22 
Sample 34 549 859 338 23 13 986 745 232 163 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.36 0.32 0.5 0.19 0.23 0.4 0.07 0.3 0.19 0.39 
Sample 376 59 26 602 897 543 911 333 371 141 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.5% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.19 0.41 0.22 0.16 0.22 0.09 
Sample 567 199 466 216 204 200 

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Rising 4's Policy

19%

57%

24%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 76



 
39

This proposal received 31 comments: 
 
Impact 

• A number were against the proposal, advocating that all children should be 
afforded the opportunity to begin school at 4 years 

• Has an important role in preparing young children for education 
• Many views that the policy facilitates parents’ transition back into the 

workplace and its removal would place jobs at risk 
• Costs of childcare are prohibitive  
• Concern that there are insufficient nursery / childcare places to manage the 

impacts of the proposal 
• A comment that the current policy is applied unequally across primary schools 

in Carmarthenshire and its removal would restore parity 

Mitigation 
• Funding flexibility – it was suggested that childcare funding for Wales be used 

to cover the Rising 4’s policy at parents’ discretion 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 77



 
40

15. School Rationalisation 
3-Year Saving: £750,000 
 
Description: These non-statutory aged pupils receive a full-time education in a school 
when funding is available to provide this provision in alternative settings. The childcare 
funding for Wales provided by Welsh Government provides up to 30 hours free 
education and childcare for children aged between 3-4 for up to 48 weeks of the year. 
At a time when revenue expenditure is under extreme pressure, the funding of non-
statutory full-time pupils at such an early age could be re-prioritised to fund other 
statutory functions from the schools delegated budget. Therefore, we are proposing to 
remove the rising 4's policy. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.72%  
 
 
 
 
Average index score: 0.61 
Overall Rank (of 19): 7 
Sample Size:  1991 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.69 0.42 0.69 0.78 0 -0.55 0.51 0.77 0.61 0.7 
Sample 36 540 858 340 23 11 975 753 230 162 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.66 0.71 0.84 0.57 0.65 0.61 0.67 0.57 0.65 0.68 
Sample 376 58 25 598 897 541 906 335 372 139 

 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.5% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 0.52 0.58 0.78 0.43 0.98 0.52 
Sample 565 196 462 218 201 565 

28%
37%

14%
9% 12%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

School Rationalisation

12%

68%

20%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 78



 
41

This proposal generated 53 comments 
 
Impact 

• Comments outlined the negative impacts on pupil wellbeing due to a change 
of routine, loss of social networks etc. 

• Some respondents maintained this would have a disproportionate impact on 
rural schools 

• A view that schools have an important ‘community’ / ‘hub’ role in smaller 
and/or remote areas 

• Proposal may fuel urbanisation – pushing families away from rural areas to 
larger towns with a consequential impact on rural economies 

• Some agreement that the consolidation / amalgamation of smaller schools is 
a necessary and fair measure to reducing operating costs 

• Acknowledgment of the age and condition of some school buildings 
• Merged schools could provide a better learning experience for pupils with 

improved access to resources and curriculum opportunities 
• Concern that decommissioning schools will cause buildings to fall into a state 

of disrepair. Respondents requested consideration be given to a longer-term, 
cohesive strategy for repurposing and/or redeveloping empty buildings 

• Proposal is generalised and requires further detail of the impact on specific 
schools / areas. Some requested the undertaking of an impact assessment for 
each school 

Mitigation 
• Open up school buildings on evenings and weekends to generate income 
• Give more prominence / weighting to school location and proximity when 

determining new planning applications 
• Respondents cautioned against an over-reliance on school performance  

statistics as some factors (e.g. staff sickness) may reflect unfairly on individual 
schools. Consideration should be given to the wider social/community context  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 79



 
42

16. Youth Support Services 
3-Year Saving: £100,000 
 
Description: We are looking to reduce the financing of youth clubs by £16k and to 
seek alternative possible funding sources. Additionally, we are proposing that we 
reduce full-time school-based youth workers to 0.8FTE (Full-time equivalent). This can 
provide schools with the option to either fund the remaining 0.2FTE In addition, we will 
not be looking to fill vacant posts. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.10%  
 
 
Youth support services reduced 
funding 
 
Average index score: -0.20 
Overall Rank (of 19): 17 
Sample Size:  1954 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.43 -0.3 -0.12 -0.21 -0.05 -0.82 -0.32 0 -0.02 -0.09 
Sample 37 532 842 332 20 11 960 733 230 161 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS -0.08 -0.21 -0.83 -0.12 -0.13 -0.17 -0.16 -0.19 -0.08 -0.26 
Sample 371 57 24 600 880 531 888 332 365 138 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0.8FTE Youth Workers  
 
Average index score: -0.20 
Overall Rank (of 19): 18 
Sample Size:  1840 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS -0.23 -0.08 -0.2 -0.16 -0.03 -0.19 
Sample 566 191 461 207 199 197 

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

YSS support reduced funding

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

0.8FTE Youth Workers

Tudalen 80



 
43

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 0.33 -0.3 -0.13 -0.13 0.16 -0.27 -0.3 0 -0.1 -0.1 
Sample 36 522 786 298 19 11 915 681 215 158 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS -0.15 -0.2 -0.67 -0.1 -0.15 -0.19 -0.18 -0.09 -0.17 -0.23 
Sample 346 55 24 563 826 496 844 305 338 130 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.10% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 

 
 
 
50 comments related to the Youth Support Services proposal 
 
Impact 

• Youth services provide social, health and cultural benefits 
• Widespread view that school youth workers are a valuable asset to children 

and young people 
• Youth clubs have an important ‘community’ role and provide a creative outlet 

and safe/trusted space for young people 
• Reference was made to the growing numbers of younger people with poor 

mental health/wellbeing 
• Youth services should be preserved against a backdrop of child poverty and 

increasing socio-economic inequity 
• Reduced provision will increase pressure and costs on other services 

including social care, safeguarding and policing 
• A view that the loss of youth support services will be irreversible even if the 

economic position within the public sector improves 

Mitigation 
• Explore opportunities for CCC Leisure to support youth services  
• Use of volunteers to sustain the service 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS -0.23 -0.12 -0.14 -0.1 -0.04 -0.2 
Sample 531 181 426 195 182 194 

27%

42%

31%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 81



 
44

17. Music Service 
3-Year Saving: £75,000 
 
Description: We propose to look at all options to reduce costs including staffing and 
not appointing to vacant positions. We will review the skill set and balance required 
between staffing who hold qualified teacher status, paid on school teacher's pay and 
conditions, and those employed on a 'tutor' basis, aiming to meet the needs of schools 
efficiently. 
 
Increase in Council Tax if not adopted: 0.07%  
 
 
 
 
Average index score: 0.99 
Overall Rank (of 19): 5 
Sample Size:  1943 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

AIS 1.03 0.91 1 1.13 1.29 1 0.96 1.03 0.96 0.9 
Sample 39 524 839 331 21 11 952 733 223 159 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

AIS 0.92 1.03 1.13 0.96 1 0.97 1.03 0.91 0.94 0.94 
Sample 365 59 24 591 874 529 887 324 365 131 

 
 
 
 
 
Response to accepting a 0.07% increase in the Council Tax in order to avoid 
efficiency saving. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
AIS 1.04 0.99 1.01 0.95 1.01 0.94 
Sample 557 192 452 212 200 192 

0%

10%

20%

30%

Strongly 
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Music Service

22%

55%

23%

Accept increase Accept proposal Implement another saving 

Tudalen 82



 
45

The Music Service proposal generated 163 comments 
 
Impact 

• A broad view that music fosters a more inclusive and diverse curriculum, 
broadening pupils’ interests and transferrable skills outside of conventional 
academic subjects 

• Support expressed for Carmarthenshire’s Music Service with some 
respondents recalling how it has helped further their academic interests at 
further/high education level, launched careers in music and given rise to 
national performances (e.g. Eisteddfod)  

• Several comments from young people against the proposal noting the 
confidence building, teamwork and escapism that the music service provides 

• Concern that the proposal will limit the exposure of music education to young 
children 

• Provides access to activities and experiences that many children cannot 
obtain at home 

• Further efficiencies will jeopardise the viability and quality of the music service 
• The proposal runs counter to the emphasis given to ‘Expressive Arts’ within 

the new Curriculum for Wales 
• The need to support music because of its cultural significance to Wales was 

noted 
• Concern that schools will be required to fund any deficit in provision   
• Unfair on parents who already pay a contribution towards the music service 
• Those in favour suggested music is not a core component of the curriculum 

and noted the wider savings required across education. Reasonable to ask 
parents to contribute to the cost of lessons 

• A view that the renumeration of teachers should reflect the different roles and 
responsibilities of classroom and peripatetic music teachers/staff 

Mitigation 
• Suggestions that parents should bear more of the cost as it is a ‘desirable’ 

service, with means-tested subsidies offered to those on low incomes to 
ensure the charge isn’t prohibitive  

• Offer music tuition in after school clubs 
• Learning via YouTube, social media and private tutors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 83



 
46

Other comments relating to Education and Children’s Services Department  
27 ‘other’ comments were submitted within the Education section and related to: 

• Parity between Welsh and English medium education funding 
• Review of Council staffing and pay structure 
• Councillor renumeration 
• Spending on infrastructure / capital projects 
• Sale of Council buildings, facilitated by accommodating more staff at central 

locations 
• Structure and format of survey 

Members engagement: Education and Children’s Services 
 

• Some members were not in favour of closing small schools, whilst others recognised 
the need to look at small school provision, given the scale of the budget challenges, 
and wider non-financial considerations such as difficulty recruiting staff, leadership 
issues and maintenance challenges. Recognition that admin etc required for a school 
was now so significant that for a small school this was too much and it was not fair on 
the pupils. Recognition that whilst federation could be considered in some areas, this 
would still mean two school buildings, so minimal savings. The process needs to be 
carefully managed and transparent, and each case needs to be considered on its 
merits, including the impact on school transport and safe routes to schools provision. 
Suggestion that consideration could be given to asset transfer to local or community 
groups as their could be unforeseen costs of unused assets. Comment made over 
the possible beneficial role of small schools for ALN  
 

• The 2.1% reduction to delegated schools budget was seen as a necessary evil – 
“need to be realistic”, with members suggesting that governors may need training to 
manage budget reductions. There was concern over the negative impact on staff 
pressure, and that small schools in particular may have little or nothing to cut as the 
budget was so tight.  There was positive recognition that the council was providing 
funding for energy costs and pay increases, taking some of the pressure off 
 

• Members felt that the current youth club provision did not cover all areas of the 
county and may not be equitable.  Suggestion that Town and Community councils 
should be more involved in local provision and could possibly access grants 
(suggestion of police funding). A possible link was made between a reduction in the 
youth provision and an increase in future offending rates and/or substance misuse, 
so may not be effective in the long run. Consideration to be given to phasing the 
savings over 2 years possibly 
 

• Members felt that that any change to the rising 4s policy needed to be equitable, with 
possibly all children starting in the September term. There was recognition that any 
change would a difficult impact on schools, particularly small schools. Also this could 
create some difficulties for working parents, though it was recognised alternative 
provision would be available. Suggestion that a change of approach could create a 
safeguarding issue for vulnerable families 
 

• Some Members were not in favour of using more grant funding towards children’s 
services – as a statutory service they felt it should be core funded, whilst others 
welcomed maximisation of grants available to the service. There was concern that it 
may not be realistic to cut the budget, as this could result in a risk to statutory duties 

Tudalen 84



 
47

which could cost more. Early intervention is both better and cheaper than dealing 
with potentially more devastating outcomes 
 

• When considering the School Music Service, members questioned whether the new 
curriculum meant that this should be core funded by Welsh Government. It was felt 
that it was a service which needs to be provided, it linked to a growing creative 
industry and was of benefit to pupil wellbeing during the pandemic. Also seen as not 
the right time given the Urdd Eisteddfod coming to Llandovery this year.    
 

• Members agreed with the proposal to reduce early years non maintained support 
• Members were concerned with the practicalities of sharing redundancy costs with 

schools and how achievable this was, especially if the school was already in deficit. 
They were however supportive of improved efforts to redeploy staff and avoid 
redundancies. 
 

• Some members were happy with departmental administrative efficiencies, whilst 
others were concerned this could have a negative effect on the service received by 
schools, with existing concerns already over the time taken to provide some 
information. 

Increase in chargable services 
 
Participants were asked to give their opinion on whether chargeable services such 
as; green waste collection, leisure services, school meals, car parking, adult social 
care, and public protection etc. should increase in line with 10% inflation.  The 
results are presented below.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16-24 25-44 45-64 65+ Pregnant Mat/Pat  Female Male Disabled Gender 
Reas. 

Yes 68% 71% 71% 67% 70% 67% 71% 70% 0% 61% 
No 32% 29% 29% 33% 30% 33% 29% 30 100% 39% 

 
 Carers LGBTQ+ BME Single  Religion less 

£20k 
£20-39k £40k+ Welsh 

Language  
Armed 
forces 

Yes 69% 70% 77% 67% 70% 65% 75% 64% 71% 71% 
No 31% 30% 23% 33% 30% 35% 25% 36% 29% 29% 

 
 
 
 
 

 CA1 CA2 CA3 CA4 CA5 CA6 
Yes 73% 77% 72% 63% 70% 70% 
No 27% 23% 28% 37% 30% 30% 

69%

31%

Yes No

Do you agree with the proposal?

Tudalen 85



 
48

 
A wide range of viewpoints were expressed. Whilst there was broad understanding 
of the budgetary challenges faced by the Council, a high number of comments 
received suggested that a blanket 10% inflationary increase in chargeable fees 
across all service areas would not be reasonable. A ‘one size fits all’ approach 
would, in the views of many respondents, have a disproportionate impact on certain 
demographic cohorts who rely most upon these services.  

In particular, concern was expressed at the current cost of school meals against 
the backdrop of the cost-of-living crisis and the additional pressure that would be 
placed on families should the costs of this service increase. Furthermore, it was felt 
that increases to leisure centre fees would be counterproductive in light of the 
upward trend in obesity and physical inactivity, with the subsequent risk of 
exacerbating demand on the NHS. Respondents emphasised the importance of 
leisure centres to promoting good physical and mental wellbeing.  

A similar sentiment was conveyed in relation to car parking charges with numerous 
respondents stating that increased fees would deter residents and visitors from 
shopping at town centres to the economic detriment of local businesses.  In 
response, some participants advocated for free car parking to increase town centre 
footfall.  

Many respondents agreed with the principle of the proposal but queried the 
affordability of a universal 10% increase at a time when wages/income/pensions 
have not kept track with inflation.  

In contrast to a blanket methodology, respondents recommended the council adopt a 
more flexible approach whereby the quantum of any increases are tailored to 
individual service areas based on an assessment of need/impact. Accordingly, this 
would enable some chargeable services to be increased by a reduced amount (i.e. 
below inflation) or maintained at current pricing levels.  

There was also broad recognition of the need to consider a raise in incoming 
generating fees to mitigate against any further increases in council tax and if all 
other options for reducing council services have been exhausted. Many respondents 
indicated that they would be against a rise in council tax and/or would favour an 
increase in charges over a reduction in the scope or quality of council services.  

A number of other views were put forward for the Council’s consideration: 

• Increased fees will bring to bear negative social, economic and 
environmental impacts 

• Increases to adult social care fees may make the service inaccessible and 
unaffordable for those in greatest need. Consequent risk of increasing the 
pressure on unpaid carers 

• ‘Snowball / domino effect’ – increased fees could lower the take up of 
services, reducing their overall viability and quality and placing jobs at risk as 
long-term demand is reduced 

• Ensure appropriate procurement processes are in place in relation to school 
meals to facilitate value for money and local sourcing of foods 

• Implement voluntary charging for breakfast clubs 

Tudalen 86



 
49

• Variable pricing for leisure services based on demand / time of day (i.e. 
charge less during ‘off peak’ times) 

• Council’s staffing and pay structure should be reviewed 
• Comments on councillor renumeration 
• Use of council reserves to minimise cost increases 
• Observations that council protocols in relation to signage, Welsh language, 

equalities and planning offer opportunities for efficiency savings 
• A review of current infrastructure projects was suggested 
• A view that residents face a ‘double charge’ to maintain the status quo - a 

raise in income generating fees together with a concurrent increase in council 
tax  

• Agreement with the proposal on the proviso that the council undertakes a 
regular review of the inflation rate and is responsive to any fluctuations, 
passing on any reduction to service users without delay 

• Views against the closure of St Clears Leisure Centre – these are 
considered on page 12. 

 

Council Tax 
 
Respondents were asked to indicate how much of an increase in Council Tax they 
would be willing to accept. Results are presented in the bar graph below.  
 

 
Sample: 1929 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42%

10%
13%

5%
8%

23%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

5% 6% 7% 8% 9% Other

Please indicate how much of an increase in Council tax 
you would be willing to accept or other outside of the 

suggested range?

Tudalen 87



 
50

5) INSIGHT 2023 
 
Teams from 10 secondary schools across Carmarthenshire have given their views on 
proposals in the Council’s budget as part of an event designed to engage with young 
people. The Council’s annual Insight event is open to all secondary schools in the 
county and gives pupils the chance to put themselves in the roles of the Council’s 
Cabinet and discuss their opinions on the proposed budget. This year, pupils from 
years 10-13 from Ysgol y Strade, Ysgol Gyfun Emlyn, QE High, Dyffryn Taf, Ysgol 
Gyfun Bro Myrddin, Coedcae, Bryngwyn, Glan-y-Mor, Dyffryn Aman, Ysgol Bro 
Dinefwr took part in the event on Thursday January 26 at County Hall in Carmarthen. 
 
The aim of the event is to introduce young people to local government and give them 
an insight into the challenges on a day-to-day basis. It is also an opportunity for 
Cabinet Members to hear pupils’ views and discuss with them directly about issues 
that matter to them. The task involved discussing and determining which efficiencies 
pupils would like to keep and which to remove, taking into account how it would be 
managed, its impact and how it would be communicated. As Cabinet Members they 
were required to compromise and negotiate to ensure that the Council had the right 
strategy which best suits the residents of Carmarthenshire. Each school group 
selected a Leader and Deputy Leader which presented the teams recommendations 
to Cabinet members and senior staff. A summary of the key points raised are 
presented below.  
 

1) St Clears Leisure Centre 
 
- Majority of school groups felt that this efficiency should be made as there 

are a number of local alternatives available. Pupils made specific reference 
to Carmarthen Leisure centre which has better facilities and is in close 
proximity.  

- Some groups noted that the St Clears Leisure Centre building is in poor 
condition and that the upkeep of the building is becoming unsustainable.  

- Dyffryn Amman and QE High noted that St Clears leisure centre could be 
sold to private leisure facilities to continue to offer leisure facilities in the area 

- Ysgol y Strade suggested that an asset transfer could be done with the 
Town and Community Council using an alternative model. They proposed 
that no funding should be given in the first year to allow time for the Town 
and Community Council to demonstrate that it is a viable business. 
Following this period, funding would be issued in year 2 and reduced year 
on year.  

 
2) Pendine Outdoor Education Centre 

 
- Most of the schools agreed that Pendine Outdoor Education Centre should 

remain as an efficiency as the building and facilities are in a bad state of 
repair and is becoming unsustainable.  

- Many schools including Bro Dinefwr, Glan-y-Môr, and QE High noted that 
alternative provision should be set up elsewhere within the County to 
accommodate the closure. 

- Bro Dinefwr noted that there are other centres within and outside of the 
County which have better facilities which are better used.  

- Many groups including Ysgol Gyfun Emlyn, Coedcae, Bryngwyn noted that 
the facility is dated and does not generate enough income. 

Tudalen 88



 
51

 
3) Library Services  

 
- There were mixed feelings regarding the Library services proposal. For 

example Dyffryn Taf, Coedcae and Glan-Y-Môr groups felt that it is a vital 
asset for smaller, rural communities and is vital to maintain community spirit.  

- Dyffryn Taf and Coedcae also noted that libraries are vital for young people 
and the older generation and more should be done to increase footfall for 
all ages. 

- Dyffryn Taf and Glan-y-Môr also noted that libraries should be changed to 
provide working spaces and not just have ‘books’.  

- Alternatively, other groups noted that whilst smaller branch libraries will be 
a loss, alternative provision is provided through online services with some 
suggesting that schools could host the libraries in smaller rural areas.  

 
4) Introduce charging at 9 car parks 

- The majority of groups agreed with this proposal however some alterative 
suggestions were made. Specifically, Strade noted that there should be a 
reward scheme for people parking at the carparks if they are shopping 
locally whereby, they would have a reduced rate if they have purchased 
anything in the town/village (e.g., similar to ASDA, Llanelli car park). 

- Glan-y-Môr noted that there should be a free time period as customers may 
use the carpark for very minimal time to ‘pop in’ to the local shops. Having 
a charge may drive away customers to areas (such as Retail parks) instead 
of buying in their local town/village.   

- Bro Myrddin noted that areas which are for vocational or leisure use should 
be charged however areas where the parking is needed for shopping (e.g., 
Burry Port and Kidwelly) should remain free as there are no alternatives.  

 
5) Charge for commercial use 

- Majority of groups agreed with this efficiency. Groups such as Dyffryn 
Amman noted that Health services (e.g., Blood banks, food banks) should 
not receive a charge.  

- All groups agreed that most commercial companies should be charged for 
the use of carparks.  

 
6) Publication of Planning Applications 

- All groups agreed to keep this efficiency in the budget. Some noted that 
Social media and digital means should be explored.  

 
7) Parking permits 

- All groups agreed to keep this proposal as an efficiency within the budget 
with some suggesting that the charge should increase if residents have 
multiple vehicles.  

 
8) Countryside Access 

- Majority of groups agreed to retain this proposal in the budget. Some 
schools such as Bro Dinefwr disagreed and noted that the cutting of 
vegetation should be done by professionals to ensure that it is maintained 
properly and there is consistency.  

 
 

Tudalen 89



 
52

9) NantyCi Park & Ride 
- Most school groups agreed to retain this efficiency proposal. Pupils noted 

that the service is insufficiently used and if HDdHB want to continue to keep 
the service then they would have to continue funding it.  

 
10)  Household waste recycling centres (HWRCs) 

- The majority of groups supported this proposal. Closure times should be 
evidenced based and opening times should also be based on footfall.  

- Schools such as Dyffryn Taf and QE High noted that educational campaigns 
should be held in schools to promote recycling in schools.  
 

11)  Litter Bins 
- Majority of schools agreed with this proposal on the basis that the bins 

removed are from laybys and not in areas where they are needed. Many 
expressed that layby bins should be removed as they are being misused.  

 
12)  School crossing patrol 

- There were mixed feelings regarding the school crossing patrol proposal. 
Some schools thought that the efficiency is reasonable and only the 30 
areas should be patrolled. Additionally, pupils believed that it is the 
responsibility of the parent and guardian to ensure that their child arrives to 
school safely.   

- Some noted that removing school crossing patrols could be dangerous and 
each area should be assessed by the Council. 

 
13)  Delegated Schools Budget 

- Most school groups disagreed with this efficiency proposal noting that 
schools are currently under significant pressures. However, a number of 
schools suggested that the amount deduced from school budgets should be 
reduced (e.g., Ysgol Emlyn 1%, Dyffryn Amman 1.2%).  

- QE High suggested that schools should look to generate income themselves 
to help the financial difficulties.  

- Ysgol Emlyn also noted that during this financial crisis it is important that 
education continues to be supported as a ‘more educated workforce means 
more people in work’. Further they also suggested combining proposals 
moving libraries into schools to generate income.  

 
14)  Primary Schools Rising 4's Policy 

- The majority of school groups agreed to retain this proposal. However, 
Coedcae noted that this may impact children’s ability to socialise and be 
more comfortable with school earlier. This may have an impact on 
attendance in future years.  

- Some noted that this may have an impact on Welsh language skills as 
young pupils are starting to learn the language in social environments later.  

 
15)  School Rationalisation 

- Whilst there were rigorous discussions held in the majority of groups, overall 
there was an acceptance of this proposal. Some noted that some areas will 
lose their community is there is no school in smaller towns/villages. 
However, Ysgol Emlyn noted that there will be a community as the majority 
of those pupils will attend the same school.  

Tudalen 90



 
53

- Bro Dinefwr noted that the reduction of schools would cost less for the 
Council due to maintenance of older school buildings.  

- QE High noted that bigger, newer schools can help educate young pupils 
and become 21st century schools.  

- Bro Myrddin agreed with the proposal and noted that the merging of schools 
can help educate pupils better as they will be able to pool resources and 
expertise.  

 
16)  Youth Support Services 

- Most school groups disagreed with the Youth Support Services proposals. 
Ysgol Emlyn noted that Covid-19 has impacted young people massively and 
that support should be increased rather than reduced.  

- Additionally, Coedcae noted that Youth Services support young peoples’ 
mental health and gives them an opportunity to socialise and destress.  

- Dyffryn Amman noted that rather than a blanket approach, each school 
should be assessed case-by-case to identify need.  

 
17)  Music Service 

- Most schools agreed that this proposal should be removed. Some schools 
such as Bringwyn indicated that the service should be enhanced rather than 
reduced.  

- Dyffryn Taf noted that the Music Service and learning to play instruments 
should be encouraged as it builds character and improves learning. 
Additionally, they would also like to see more modern, rather than 
classical/traditional aspects being offered.  

- Ysgol Emlyn also noted that learning music is beneficial for pupils wellbeing 
and many pupils will not have the opportunity to experience this outside of 
school. In addition, they raised the potential impact on charging low income 
families to use the Music service and highlighted that the service would not 
be accessible for all.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 91



 
54

6) NOTES FROM BUDGET CONSULTATION MEETINGS 
 
Schools Strategy Budget Forum – 11th January 2023 
 
Aneirin Thomas (AT)  Head of Education & Inclusion services 
Randal Hemingway (RH) Head of Financial Services 
Susannah Nolan (SN), Group Accountant, Education & Children 
Gareth Morgans (GM) Director of Education & Children 
Peter Evans (PE) Headteacher Bro Banw 
Simon Davies (SD)  Head of Access to Education 
John Jones, (JJ) Headteacher Glanymor 
Allan Carter (AT) Schools Transformation and Change Manager 
Paul Jones (PJ) Headteacher Bryngwyn  
 
AT welcomed Randall Hemingway and Susannah Nolan to the forum and outlined that 
this year we will be facing a number of significant challenges. 
 
The current shortfall for the Carmarthenshire County Council falls well below what we 
were expecting, however the current figure is still substantial. Proposals in terms of 
meeting the funding gap have already been identified. AT urged colleagues to 
undertake the consultation survey on the budget as feedback is vital from everybody 
concerned.  
 
 
RH proceeded to take colleagues through the corporate picture and how schools fit 
within this, including the proposals for delegated schools’ budget.  RH provided an 
outlook for the year ahead and years two and three and detailed information in regard 
to pay and energy costs which of course affects all schools. 
 
Welsh Government have taken on board the lobbying by authorities and the budgetary 
settlement is better. Welsh Government funding represents around three-quarters of 
the authority’s yearly funding. This year, although the settlement is much better than 
expected, the inflationary increase is unprecedented. 
 
RH proceeded to show colleagues a year-on-year chart of funding awards. All Wales 
average increase is 7.9%. Carmarthenshire County Council is overall 8.5% increase. 
Indicative figures are around 3.0% for Year 2. The final Welsh Government budget will 
be published on 7th March. The authority must set figures for Council Tax by the 10th 
of March.  
 
In terms of pressure, we have allowed £12 million which will need to cover everything 
e.g., heating in care homes, school meals. In terms of pay, this is by far the largest 
budgetary item on every school budget. 
 
The Teacher’s Pay award is currently a risk for the LA. The increase of 5% was 
accepted by Welsh Government but as yet has not been accepted by unions. For next 
year, we have assumed 5%. 
 
There are some positives e.g., pension fund is performing well and provides a one-off 
sum to help plug the budget gap. In addition, a move to actual ‘Spinal points’ for 
salaries will realise additional funding- this does not directly impact school budgets. 
Proposal to increase all fees at a rate of 10%. 

Tudalen 92



 
55

 
Energy cost increases have been included and factored for next year. 
 
On Education and Children funding, our approach for schools is a 2.1% reduction. 
However additional funding will be identified to meet pay, energy and inflation costs.  
Departmental forecasts for the next years were then divulged to colleagues.  
 
£700,000 available to enable Cabinet to address budget consultation outcomes.  
 
We welcome your views; survey is open until 29th January, and cabinet meetings will 
commence on the formal budget 13th February. 
 
AT thanked RH for his comprehensive observations. 
 
GM hoped that these details did not come as too much of a surprise. We are looking 
at offering up around £1.75 million of savings for the Education and Children Services. 
 
We will be looking at making a 2.1% reduction in school budgets. We are concerned 
about the impact of the £2.7 million cut especially in our smaller schools. 
 
Directors have been asked to identify pressures; our main concerns are allowances 
we pay our foster parents and managing to keep our learners in Carmarthenshire 
especially those who require special and additional measures. There is currently a 
huge ALN demand and our legal obligations in meeting needs. Another pressure is 
the school meals service and the cost of food. 
 
These are policy proposals. 
 
£2.7 million cut in school budgets, schools may wish to work out the impact that this 
cut will mean to their individual schools. 
Policy proposal for year 2 and 3- a review of school footprint and school improvement 
requirements. The model of maintaining 112 schools is unsustainable.  
Saving around £225,000 across the department in Better Ways of Working, with the 
reduction of travel time, working from home/hybrid models. 
A new way we manage redundancies- there is a central budget for this which needs 
to be reviewed. 
Support for Early Years and non-maintained sectors, looking at how we provide 
support to these settings efficiently and cost-effectively. 
Partneriaeth is partly contributed to by us as an authority. We have negotiated with the 
Partneriaeth and this year there will be a reduction in our contribution. 
Youth Services- in discussion on reducing general costs, travel, etc, and making better 
use of grant funding. 
£250,000 saving against Children Services, Jan Coles is looking at how to make better 
use of the system we currently have. 
 
These will be challenging and difficult to deliver and will impact indirectly on learners 
and schools. The Director mentioned that this is one of the most difficult budgets we 
have ever had to set. Next year, could be even more difficult. These issues will be with 
us for the foreseeable future. Some of our families are struggling and our schools need 
to be commended for assisting our schools. 
 

Tudalen 93



 
56

The Director wanted to thank our primary schools in terms of the roll-out of free school 
meals and there has been a significant uptake of this offer and understands that the 
funding of this is putting extra pressure on school catering budgets. 
 
The floor was then opened for any questions. 
 
PE asked in terms of the footprint of schools what type of reduction are we looking at. 
 
The Director mentioned a workshop with members in these terms, where we set the 
stall out around ALN, Leadership, condition of buildings etc. The ultimate decision will 
lie with the Cabinet in terms of how they wish to proceed. We will hopefully see a 
decision on this before the end of this academic year. SD mentioned that it all depends 
what fits for any particular area of schools and age ranges. 
 
JJ asked whether these cuts would have an impact on capital projects as well. The 
Director mentioned that the capital agenda is a key component for Carmarthenshire 
County Council, the decision will probably be made to leave the capital monies 
currently but possibly have to dip into, in the future. 
 
RH mentioned that the draft budget for capital monies is yet to be written up, there is 
not a huge amount of cash to use. 
 
GJ mentioned that statutory and curricular requirements are obligations every school 
needs to meet, and some schools may have to set deficit budgets. The Director noted 
that there is a process of licencing a deficit budget and we collaborate with schools to 
resolve issues. 
 
AT added that pupil numbers will impact funding and also grant funding, what is 
important is that we focus on what has worked well in the past in terms of planning 
ahead. 
 
GJ asked as to when we could expect the figures to set budgets. The Director 
mentioned that the authority budget will discuss the budget on the 1st of March, SN 
and team will then get numbers out to schools. They will work on the forecasts, but SN 
kindly asked if colleagues could get their pupil numbers to the Data Team as soon as 
they can, this would help matters significantly. 
 
AT, it was noted that SLA costs are yet to be deducted from school budgets.  
AC reassured colleagues in terms of SLA’s that these issues are currently being 
addressed. 
 
PE asked whether secondary schools still have budget re-runs? SN replied that they 
do and the reasons for that approach. 
 
PJ suggested the sharing of good practice between primary/secondary and 
addressing overlap and streamlining services for children. AT agreed and this will be 
discussed at a future forum. 
 
In conclusion AT wished to ask colleagues that this forum is looking for a new Chair. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 94



 
57

Corporate Employee Relations Forum (CERF) Meeting 18th JANUARY 2023 
 
Chris Moore (CM), Director of Corporate Services 
Randal Hemingway (RH) Head of Financial Services 
Rob  Young (RY), Lead HR Business Partner  
Mark Evans (ME), Unison 
Jonathan James (JJ), GMB 
Brian Harries (BH), Unite 
 

CM shared the Revenue Budget Strategy that was presented at Cabinet 9th January 

2023. CM explained that we have been in austerity for over 10 years and the 

challenges keep on coming. Raising Council Tax is not an ideal option. Settlement 

was far better than expected, 8.5% for us where we were predicted 3.6%. Savings 

target for 23/24 - £9.4m, 24/25 - £6.4m and 25/26 - £4.5m. Final settlement will not 

come through until March. 

 
The new waste strategy of 3 weekly collections is seen to the public as a cut 
however it is a push to increase recycling which will actually cost more. 
 
Due to a consequence of inflation and pay awards, there was a £38m gap at the 

start of the year. Pay rise cost 7.1% - 3.1% extra than budgeted. 4% has been put 

aside for teachers with an extra 1%, still unsure of outcome, there is no extra money 

put aside for teachers, WG would have to ask UKG. 

 

If we don’t put Council Tax up there will have to be cuts elsewhere. Reiterated that 

the new Waste Strategy has been put in place to encourage the public to recycle 

more not a cut on a service. 

 

Due to the performance of the Dyfed Pension Fund, we can reduce employer’s 

contributions, which will offset some pressures by approximately £3m, this does not 

affect staff’s pension. 

We have made a saving of £2m on NI contributions. 

We have also taken out the ‘slack’ on spinal point grades so that that budget cannot 

be used which is a saving. 

CM touched very briefly on the fact that our electric and gas costs have increased 

three-fold.  

 
Comments from Union members: 
 

Tudalen 95



 
58

ME - 8.5% on inflation is still a cut, should not be called a no cuts budget. Unions 

object to the so-called survey. The proposal’s effect people who are already 

struggling. School cuts directly affect children’s education, closing leisure centres 

impacts on health and wellbeing. Unions have issues with the people making the 

decisions not the officers. Strongly worded motion does not cut it and using reserves 

to plug gaps will just make us worse off next year. Also suggested we set a no cuts 

budget which is not balanced and ask for more money from WG. 

CM – Explained that the Council was required by law to set a balanced budget 
and as Section 151 officer he was duty bound to advise members against 
setting an unlawful budget. 
 
JJ – questioned why we hadn’t hit our waste target? 
ME – staff have been led to believe that we have received a fine. 
CM / RH – query the fine with the Department, both are unaware of any fine, as 
we are being seen to work towards the goals set by WG, with regards to 
changing vehicles etc. 
 
JJ – asked whether we had paid towards the new electric vehicles? Electric vehicles 
do not work in rural communities, would have been better to spend the money 
elsewhere.  
RH – Confirmed we received grant funding. 
JJ – questioned should LA’s be pushing back on agenda items such as the new 
Waste Strategy with WG and asking to use the money elsewhere. 
RH – explained that they have raised pushing back on some areas, such as the 
20mph limit, no feedback has been received to date. 
CM – CJC’s pushed back on draft budget from £1.5m to £600k  
 
JJ – With the rise in Council Tax, staff’s pay rise will have gone, and members of the 

public see the rise and service cuts such as waste collection. JJ also raised the 

validity of using Band D to investigate figures. 

RH – Confirmed that ¾ of the properties in Carmarthenshire are Band A-D  
ME – believes there are inconsistencies regarding the 0% Carbon Footprint agenda, 

the issue is being transferred to staff working from home using their electric/gas. 

 
JJ – queried whether agency staff had been costed into the budget. 
CM – Yes costs have been built into the budget. 
RY – confirmed that spend for last year was £2.5m for corporate agency staff 
and £4.5m for schools. 
JJ – Concerns that agency staff are used on a more permanent basis. 
CM – During consultation process a Councillor has raised that we should be 
looking at a pool of teachers within the Authority, dialogue is required. 
 
JJ – Suggested that we should be providing the private sector our services to make 
income and we should be putting proposals to WG to change this Legislation. JJ 

Tudalen 96



 
59

gave an example of ash die back issue, public are paying for private companies to 
cut them down rather than CCC, when they are already on site. The staff have never 
been asked their views on how they can make money. 
CM – There are certain Governance and Legislation in place that prevent this. 
CM will feedback the lack of communication to Ainsley Williams. 
 
JJ – Unions want to see the removal of spinal points to allow just 2 and was told 
there was money available if that’s not the case there will be strike action. 
CM – the removal of spinal points was not included in the budget the report 
has not been finalised. 
  
CM closed the meeting by re-iterating that balances the books is challenging. 
JJ said that bringing back working groups to liaise with staff would be good. 
CM will take this back to WW. 
 

 
 

7) MINUTES OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE & RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY, 30 JANUARY 2023  

The Cabinet Member for Resources presented the Revenue Budget Strategy 2023/24 
to 2025/26 which had been endorsed by the Cabinet for consultation purposes at its 
meeting on 9th January 2023.  
  
The report indicated that, after adjustments for Welsh Government identified transfers, 
the increase in the provisional settlement for Carmarthenshire was 8.5% (£26.432 
million). The Aggregate External Finance (AEF) had therefore increased to £338.017 
million in 2023/24. Whilst the settlement was significantly above the indicative figure 
of a 3.4% increase and provided £15.5m more than the original assumption, Welsh 
Government had recognised that the increased figure would not be enough to meet 
the inflationary pressures currently facing councils and that difficult decisions would 
therefor need to be made. 
  
It was noted that whilst significant work had already been undertaken in preparing the 
budget, the report was only an initial position statement which would be updated over 
the coming months as the budget was further developed. However, it was reported 
that due to the delays in the provisional settlement, and the consequential impact on 
Welsh Government’s budget finalisation, the publication of the final settlement would 
not be published until the 7th March 2023.  
  
In recognising the critical importance of minimising the Council Tax increase for 
residents during the current cost of living crisis, it was considered necessary to 
respond to the current risks around this Budget Strategy and the ongoing inflationary 
backdrop. The Budget Strategy, in line with the Medium Term Financial Plan proposed 
that the Council Tax for 2023/24 be increased to 7%, which sought to mitigate 
reductions to critical services. The proposal would be considered as part of the budget 
finalisation process over the next month or so and when the Authority would receive 

Tudalen 97



 
60

further clarification on cost and grant funding with a view to limiting the Council Tax 
increase as far as possible. Final budget proposals would then be presented to the 
Cabinet mid/late February, which would allow a balanced budget to be presented to 
County Council on the 1st March 2023. 
  
Amongst the issues raised during consideration of the report were the following: 

·       The Director of Corporate Resources agreed to circulate a list of those 
schools which currently had a budget deficit; 

·       In response to a concern regarding the proposed ‘Reduction in the Hardware 
Replacement Programme’, including staff laptops etc., as a savings proposal 
the Head of ICT & Corporate Policy expressed confidence that the impact could 
be minimised; 

·       Concerns were expressed that the removal of the civic and cabinet vehicles 
was included as a savings proposal. 

  
RESOLVED to accept the report and endorse the Charging Digest subject to the 
Cabinet being requested to retain the civic and cabinet vehicles.  
 
 
 
 

PLACE, SUSTAINABILITY & CLIMATE CHANGE  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
23 JANUARY 2023  

 
 
[Note: Councillors A. Davies, D. Phillips and G. Thomas declared a personal interest 
in this item. They remained in the meeting, took part in the deliberations and voting 
thereof.] 
 
The Committee considered a report on the Council’s Revenue Budget Strategy 
2023/24 to 2025/26, as endorsed by the Cabinet for consultation purposes at its 
meeting held on the 9th January 2023.  The report provided Members with the current 
view of the Revenue Budget for 2023/2024 together with indicative figures for the 
2024/2025 and 2025/2026 financial years based on officers’ projections of spending 
requirements and took account of the provisional settlement issued by Welsh 
Government on the 14th December 2022.  
  
The Committee was informed that the announced provisional settlement represented 
an average increase of 8.0% across Wales on the 2022/23 settlement, with 
Carmarthenshire’s increase being 8.5% (£26.432mm) thereby taking the Aggregate 
External Finance to £338.017m for 2023/24. While the settlement was significantly 
above the initial indicative figure of a 3.4% increase and provided some £15.5m more 
than the Council’s original assumption, the Welsh Government had recognised the 
increased figure would still not be sufficient to meet inflationary pressures facing 
councils, pay awards and fuel price increases and difficult decisions would need to be 
made. 
  
Whilst the budget proposals assumed the full delivery of all savings proposals, it was 
noted further work would be required to develop the cost reductions for the 2024/25 

Tudalen 98



 
61

and 2025/26 financial years to be able to maintain the current Budget Strategy and 
level of Council tax.   
  
It was noted that given the current risks around the Budget Strategy and the ongoing 
inflationary backdrop, together with other budgetary pressures, the proposed Council 
Tax increase for 2023/24 had been set at 7% to mitigate reductions to critical services. 
In years 2 and 3, the financial picture remained uncertain and, as such, modelled 
indicative Council Tax rises of 4% and 3% had been made purely for planning 
purposes and sought to strike a balance with budget reductions. Those proposals 
would be considered by the Council in setting the Council Tax level for 2023/24 at its 
meeting on the 1st March 2023. Additionally, as the Welsh Government final settlement 
figure was not due to be announced until the 7th March, 2023 any amendments 
required to be considered to the budget strategy as a result of that announcement 
would need to be considered by Council. 
  
The Committee thereupon considered the following detailed budget information 
appended to the Strategy relevant to its remit: 
  
• Appendix A(i) – Efficiency summary for the Environment and Public Protection 

Services; 
• Appendix A(ii) – Growth Pressures summary for the for the Environment 

Service; 
• Appendix B – Budget monitoring report for the Environment and Public Protection 

Services; 
• Appendix C – Charging Digest for the Environment and Public Protection 

Services. 
  
The following questions/issues were raised on the report:- 
 
Queries raised on the Appendix Ai (Savings Proposals): 
  

• Reference was made to Traffic Management and the implementation of road 
safety/speed management schemes.  In respect of the efficiency description 
‘Three-year moratorium on new speed limits not included within 20mph 
legislation unless overriding safety issue’ it was commented that three years 
was a long time and it was asked if it could be dealt with in conjunction with the 
roll out of the new 20mph legislation?  The Head of Highways and 
Transportation stated that the change to the default speed limit from 30mph to 
20mph which affected all residential areas was a comprehensive piece of work 
involving a lot of resources.  It was reported that the moratorium was realistic 
in terms of the extensive work required. 
 

• In response to a query raised on the efficiency description - Road Safety 
Innovation within Traffic Management, the Head of Highways and 
Transportation explained that a report on Roundabout Sponsorship would be 
available shortly.  The highways team had been working to find ways and 
approaches to increase revenue particularly following the pandemic and 
sponsorship was an approach that would provide much needed income. 
 

• In reference to the School Transport and the efficiency description regarding 
Additional Needs Personal Travel Budgets, clarification was sought in respect 
of the payment process.  The Head of Highways and Transportation explained 

Tudalen 99



 
62

that currently pupils with additional learning needs were provided with an option 
of accessing specialist transportation.  In cases where parents have specialist 
mobility vehicles, a personal travel budget was offered which would be subject 
to a claim being made by the parent. 
 
In response to a further query, the Head of Highways and Transportation 
explained that a formal policy would include rigorous validation process 
ensuring that reimbursements were legitimate and made to the correct person.  
 

• In reference to the Bring Sites, it was asked if there would be a future strategy 
and if the communities would still be able to use them.  The Interim Head of 
Waste and Environmental Services explained that currently there were a 
number of bring sites offering glass, textiles and electric recycling which would 
be retained in the long term.  However, the bring sites that offered just glass 
collections would be mapped against the current demand and the recently 
launched glass collection service.  The results of the analysis would inform the 
rationalisation of the bring sites over the next 12 months with a view of up to 
50% being removed by 2024. 
 
In addition, the Cabinet Member for Resources emphasised to Members that in 
view of the fact that the Council was liable of a fine of £160k for every 1% below 
the Welsh Government statutory target that is not met, it was important the 
public be made aware of the importance of recycling from not only the benefits 
to the environment but from a financial perspective. 
 

• Reference was made to Property Maintenance.  In terms of the energy 
efficiency measures, it was raised that a neighbouring Authority were seeking 
to make a reduction in the temperature of offices to 19 degrees in order to save 
£26k.  Considering this, it was asked if this Authority was looking at a similar 
efficiency?  The Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Decarbonisation and 
Sustainability stated that Powys County Council similar to Carmarthenshire 
County Council were committed to reach Net Zero by 2030.  Members were 
reminded that as stated in the Net Zero Plan, presented earlier this year, the 
Authority to date made a 34% carbon reduction, however on closer analysis it 
was apparent that the electricity had reduced by 21% and gas (heating) had 
only reduced by 11%.  He added that whilst significant effort had taken place to 
reduce carbon, one of the challenges was that this Authority, like many 
Authorities had many old buildings which were difficult to zone.  Data in terms 
of energy use would continue to be collected in order to inform where 
interventions would was needed. 
   

• Reference was made to Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC). It was 
suggested that the Authority should be considering alternative options eg. cross 
border working or introducing a charge to utilise them.  In addition, in 
commenting that the opening hours at HWRC’s seemed to be too restrictive for 
the public who work 9-5 weekdays, it was suggested that the operational hours 
be re-considered at all the HWRC sites.  It was further commented that currently 
agency staff were employed at the HWRC sites and that the use permanent 
staff could be more cost effective.  The Interim Head of Waste and 
Environmental Services explained that currently HWRC’s offer free services to 
householders and residents of Carmarthenshire and that previously charges for 
trade waste customers were in place which presented significant issues in 

Tudalen 100



 
63

terms of queueing and creating undue delays for residents using the HWRC 
sites.  In response, trade waste was diverted to the trade waste facility at 
Nantycaws, Carmarthen.  It was highlighted, that a consultation was currently 
underway and that any suggestions and feedback relating to the operations and 
hours would be gratefully received through the consultation process.  In terms 
of staffing implications, the Interim Head of Waste and Environmental Services 
stated that he would seek further clarification from Cwm Environmental Ltd.   
 

• Reference was made to Parking Services.  In respect of the efficiency 
description to introduce charging at 9 carparks, which currently were free to 
park, it was suggested that each carpark should be looked at on a case-by-
case basis.  It was felt that by introducing a charge on the free carpark would 
have a detrimental impact upon and undermine the viability of nearby 
businesses.   In raising concern, it was asked if the income would be more than 
the cost of implementing a charge and if any research or survey’s done to back 
up the proposal?  The Head of Highways and Transportation explained that all 
carparks with exception of Llansteffan carpark would be consistent with the 
rural towns which an income profile had been mapped.  It was highlighted that 
whilst there would be a short-term capital investment to introduce the 
carparking changes there would be a long-term revenue gain. 
 
It was formally proposed that in regard to the proposal for the introduction of 
parking charges at the 9 carparks, as stated in the report, be reviewed by the 
Cabinet Member on a case-by-case basis.  This was duly seconded. 
 

• In response to a concern raised regarding the proposal to rationalise up to 20% 
of litter bins, the Interim Head of Waste and Environmental Services stated that 
the rationalisation would be in the main include litter bins located on laybys 
along the trunk road network and non-amenity areas.  Research suggested that 
where litter bins have been removed the litter in that area had improved.  Bins 
in high footfall areas would remain in situ.  The rationalisation would be a 
managed process. 
 
It was asked, prior to the removal of a litter bin, if the appropriate ward members 
could be consulted upon?  The Interim Head of Waste and Environmental 
Services stated that a list would be provided to ward members.  Comments 
were made in agreement that bins often attract rubbish and acknowledged the 
need to rationalise and strategically place rubbish bins. 
 

Queries raised on the Appendix C (Charging Digest): 
 
• Reference was made to the proposal to increase in the Residents Parking Permit 

Admin Charge.  It was observed that the proposal stated that it was being 
increased by 10% however, that proposed cost increase in the report was from 
£30 to £40 which was more than the 10%.  It was suggested to increase the charge 
to £50, which would equate to less than £1 per week for residents.  The Cabinet 
Member for Resources stated that the rationale behind the £10 increase was that 
an increase had not been made since 2009.  
   

• Reference was made to the Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN).  The Cabinet Member 
for Climate Change, Decarbonisation and Sustainability explained that the 
charges were outlined in Appendix C for Members however, offered the Scrutiny 

Tudalen 101



 
64

Committee additional time should they wish for the Task and Finish Group 
undertaking the review on the management of flytipping in Carmarthenshire to 
consider the charge of the FPN prior to agreement.  The Chair in thanking the 
Cabinet Member, stated that the Task and Finish Group would ensure that the 
charge in respect of the flytipping FPN would be considered as part of the review.  

 
• In response to a query raised in regard to the Buy with Confidence Scheme, the 

Head of Homes and Safer Communities in offering to circulate the exact 
membership numbers to the scheme to Members following the meeting, confirmed 
that the scheme was being actively promoted. 

 
 

• In response to a general query raised in regard to the budget impact and the Net 
Zero targets, the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Decarbonisation and 
Sustainability stated that budget constraints would naturally challenge the 
ambition to reach Net Zero carbon by 2030, however a toolkit had been introduced 
which enabled different scenarios to be modelled informing the best approach in 
how to reach the target of being Net Zero by 2030 in the most effective and efficient 
way. 

 
RESOLVED that:- 
 
5.1 
 
5.2 

the 2023/24 to 2025/26 Revenue Budget Strategy be received; 
 
the proposals for delivery of efficiency savings as identified in Appendix 
A(i) be received;  

5.3 
 
 

the Charging Digest for the Environment and Public Protection 
Services, as detailed in Appendix C to the report, be endorsed; 

5.4 the proposal for the introduction of parking charges at the 9 carparks as 
stated in the report be reviewed by the Cabinet Member on a case-by-
case basis. 

 
 

HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY, 24 JANUARY 2023  
 
 
The Committee considered the Council’s Revenue Budget Strategy 2023/24 to 
2025/26 which provided a current view of the revenue budget for 2023/2024 together 
with indicative figures for the 2024/25 and 2025/26 financial years.  The report was 
based on officers’ projections of spending requirements and took account of the 
provisional settlement issued by Welsh Government (WG) on 14th December 2022. 
  
It was emphasised that whilst significant work had already been undertaken in 
preparing the budget, the report represented an initial position statement which 
would be updated following the consultation process.  Accordingly, Members were 
reminded that the report had been considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 9th 
January 2023 and members of the Committee had attended recent consultation 

Tudalen 102



 
65

events which had provided an opportunity to analyse and seek clarification on 
various aspects of the budget. 
  
The Committee was advised that the final budget proposals would be presented to 
the Cabinet mid/late February, which would enable a balanced budget to be 
presented to County Council on the 1st March 2023.  It was however noted that due 
to the delays in the provisional settlement, and the consequential impact on Welsh 
Government’s budget finalisation, the publication of the final settlement would not be 
published until the 7th March 2023. 
  
The report indicated that, after adjustments for WG, identified transfers, the increase 
in the provisional settlement for Carmarthenshire was 8.5% (£26.432 million).  The 
Aggregate External Finance (AEF) had therefore increased to £338.017 million in 
2023/24.  Whilst the settlement represented a significant increase to the indicative 
figure of 3.4%, the financial model forecasted a requirement for £20m savings over 
the three-year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) period. 
  
It was highlighted that an additional £7.9m funding had been announced for Health, 
Social Services and Education and apportioned to Local Government resulting in an 
increase share of 8.5% for the Authority.   
  
It was noted that inflationary pressures were heavier than they had been in decades 
and that the inevitable cost rises would result in budgetary reductions.  WG also 
issued all Wales level specific grants alongside the provisional settlement.  These 
were broadly similar in cash value to previous years.  However, with the rise in 
inflation and the pay awards at the current level there were real term cuts.   
  
The Ministers letter stated that funding had been provided to cover the living wage 
increase and that all funding had been allocated.  The full cost of future pay awards 
would need to be accommodated locally.  In constructing the budget this had been 
challenging as the adjusted pay and inflation assumptions to provide departments 
with funding wasn’t sufficient.   
  
Members were reminded that when the budget was previously set, the agreed pay 
increase was 4% which was prudent at the time.  Pay increase for most staff was 
agreed at a flat rate of 2K (equating to an average of 7.1%) across the 
workforce.  An additional 3.1% ‘catchup’ would need to be factored into next year’s 
budget.  Reference was made to the 5% increase for all Teachers which had been 
agreed by WG; however, it was acknowledged that the National Education Union 
(NEU) members had voted in favour of industrial action in a bid for a 12% pay 
uplift.  Committee noted that the draft budget included the 1% ‘catchup’ to 5%, 
however any further increases would be unfunded and represent an additional 
financial pressure of approximately £1m for every 1% increase in pay.  In total, the 
assumption on pay would add £19m to the Council’s budget next year 
  
It was noted that the strategy over the previous years had been to increase fees and 
charges in line with the prevailing rate of inflation and the draft budget proposed a 
10% increase where possible.  Residents had been invited to submit their views on 
this as part of the public consultation.  
  

Tudalen 103



 
66

The Committee was advised that Appendix C showed a £12m toward the  increase 
in departmental pressures identified by departments and were inescapable if the 
Authority was to continue to deliver services at the current level. 
  
Appendix Aii showed substantial inflationary increase in the cost of provisioned care, 
demographic growth as well as increases in fostering allowances.  It was noted that 
Adult Social Care had pressures which had already been constrained to what the 
Director considered to be operationally deliverable given the current workforce 
pressure experienced across the entire sector. 
  
The Committee thereupon considered the following detailed budget information 
appended to the Strategy, relevant to its remit:- 
  

·         Appendix A(i) – Efficiency summary for Health and Social Services 
·         Appendix A(ii) – Efficiency Summary for Health and Social Services 
·         Appendix B – Budget monitoring report for Health and Social Services 
·         Appendix C – Charging Digest for Health and Social Services 

  
On behalf of the Committee the Chair extended her appreciation for the work the 
team had undertaken in producing the draft budget and for hosting the recent Budget 
Seminar where the Committee had been afforded the opportunity of asking 
questions.  
  
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that: 
  
6.1 The 2023/24 – 2025/26 Revenue Budget Strategy Consultation be 

received; 
6.2 The Charging Digest detailed in Appendix C to the report, be 

endorsed. 
 
 

COMMUNITIES, HOMES  &  REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY, 26 JANUARY 2023  
 
 
(NOTE: Councillors H. Shepardson and R. Sparks having previously declared an 
interest in this item redeclared that interest and remained in the meeting ) 
  
The Committee considered a report on the Council’s Revenue Budget Strategy 
2023/24 to 2025/26, as endorsed by the Executive Board for consultation purposes at 
its meeting held on the 9th January 2023.  The report provided Members with the 
current view of the Revenue Budget for 2023/2024 together with indicative figures for 
the 2024/2025 and 2025/2026 financial years based on officers’ projections of 
spending requirements and took account of the provisional settlement issued by Welsh 
Government on the 14th December 2022.  
  
The Committee was informed that the announced provisional settlement represented 
an average increase of 8.0% across Wales on the 2022/23 settlement, with 
Carmarthenshire’s increase being 8.5% (£26.432mm) thereby taking the Aggregate 
External Finance to £338.017m for 2023/24. While the settlement was significantly 
above the initial indicative figure of a 3.4% increase and provided some £15.5m more 

Tudalen 104



 
67

than the Council’s original assumption, the Welsh Government had recognised the 
increased figure would still not be sufficient to meet inflationary pressures facing 
councils, pay awards and fuel price increases and difficult decisions would need to be 
made. 
  
Whilst the budget proposals assumed the full delivery of all savings proposals, it was 
noted further work would be required to develop the cost reductions for the 2024/25 
and 2025/26 financial years to be able to maintain the current Budget Strategy and 
level of Council tax.   
  
It was noted that given the current risks around the Budget Strategy and the ongoing 
inflationary backdrop, together with other budgetary pressures, the proposed Council 
Tax increase for 2023/24 had been set at 7% to mitigate reductions to critical services. 
In years 2 and 3, the financial picture remained uncertain and, as such, modelled 
indicative Council Tax rises of 4% and 3% had been made purely for planning 
purposes and sought to strike a balance with budget reductions. Those proposals 
would be considered by the Council in setting the Council Tax level for 2023/24 at its 
meeting on the 1st March 2023. Additionally, as the Welsh Government final settlement 
figure was not due to be announced until the 7th March, 2023 any amendments 
required to be considered to the budget strategy as a result of that announcement 
would need to be considered by Council. 
  
The Committee thereupon considered the following detailed budget information 
appended to the Strategy relevant to its remit: 
  

·       Appendix A(i) – Efficiency summary for the Regeneration, Leisure, Place 
and Sustainability and Non HRA Housing Services; 

·       Appendix A(ii) – Growth Pressures summary for the for the Place and 
Sustainability Services, - none for the Regeneration, Leisure and Non HRA 
Services; 

·       Appendix B – Budget monitoring report for the Regeneration, Leisure, Place 
and Sustainability and Non HRA Housing Services; 

·       Appendix C – Charging Digest for the Regeneration, Leisure, Place and 
Sustainability and Non HRA Housing Services; 

  
The following questions/issues were raised on the report:- 

·       With regard to the recent budget seminars held for county councillors, it was 
confirmed no changes had been made to the Strategy following the seminars. 
However, the outcome of the formal budget consultation exercise, that 
included the Council’s Scrutiny Committees and the public, would be collated 
and incorporated within the budget consultation report to Cabinet and Council 
as part of their considerations on the Budget Strategy. 

  
RESOLVED THAT IT BE RECOMMENDED TO THE CABINET/COUNCIL THAT: - 
4.1 The 2023/24 – 2025/26 Revenue Budget Strategy Consultation be 

received. 
4.2 The Charging Digests for the Regeneration, Leisure, Place and 

Sustainability and Non HRA Services, as detailed in Appendix C to 
the report, be endorsed. 

  
 
 

Tudalen 105



 
68

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EDUCATION, YOUNG PEOPLE & THE WELSH LANGUAGE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE MONDAY 

 
23 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

[NOTE: Councillors L.M. Davies and A.C. Jones, having earlier declared an interest in 
this item remained in the meeting during its consideration. Furthermore, at this point, 
Councillor B.W Jones declared a personal interest on the basis that her son was 
employed as a Headteacher in a school within the County. Councillor B. Jones 
remained in the meeting during consideration of the item].  
 
The Committee considered the Council’s Revenue Budget Strategy 2023/24 to 
2025/26 which provided a current view of the revenue budget for 2023/2024 together 
with indicative figures for the 2024/25 and 2025/26 financial years. The report was 
based on officers’ projections of spending requirements and took account of the 
provisional settlement issued by Welsh Government (WG) on 14 December 2022.  
 
It was emphasised that whilst significant work had already been undertaken in 
preparing the budget, the report represented an initial position statement which would 
be updated following the consultation process. Accordingly, Members were reminded 
that the report had been considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 09 January 2023 
and members of the Committee had attended recent consultation events which had 
provided an opportunity to analyse and seek clarification on various aspects of the 
budget. 
 
The report indicated that, after adjustments for WG, identified transfers, the increase 
in the provisional settlement for Carmarthenshire was 8.5% (£26.432 million). The 
Aggregate External Finance (AEF) had therefore increased to £338.017 million in 
2023/24. Whilst the settlement represented a significant increase to the indicative 
figure of 3.4%, the financial model forecasted a requirement for £20m savings over 
the three year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) period.  
 

Tudalen 106



 
69

Committee’s attention was drawn to section 3.5 of the budget strategy whereby an 
overview of the schools’ delegated budgets was provided to Members. It was noted 
that many service-specific grants would remain at a broadly similar level (cash value) 
to previous years which would, in reality reduce outputs given the impact of pay awards 
and general inflation. The Cabinet Member for Resources was however pleased to 
report that the Additional Learning Needs Transformation Grant and the Pupil 
Development Grant had been enhanced, and furthermore, WG funding had been 
provided to flatline the Recruit Recover Retain Standards (RRRS) grant, instead of the 
planned reduction, and this would enable schools to continue with their post-covid 
recovery activities. 
 
Reference was made to the independent pay review body’s recommendation of a 5% 
increase for all Teachers which had been accepted by WG; however, it was 
acknowledged that the National Education Union (NEU) members had voted in favour 
of industrial action in a bid for a 12% pay uplift. Committee noted that the draft budget 
included the 1% “catchup” to 5%, however any further increases would be unfunded 
and represent an additional financial pressure of approximately £1m for every 1% 
increase in pay.  
 
The Committee thereupon considered the following detailed budget information 
appended to the Strategy, relevant to its remit:-  
 
• Appendix A(i) – Efficiency summary for the Education & Children’s Services 
Department.  
• Appendix A(ii) – Growth Pressures summary for the Education & Children’s Services 
Department.  
• Appendix B – Budget monitoring report for the Education & Children’s Services 
Department  
• Appendix C – Charging Digest for the Education & Children’s Services Department  
 
The Committee was advised that the final budget proposals would be presented to the 
Cabinet mid/late February, which would enable a balanced budget to be presented to 
County Council on the 1st March 2023. It was however noted that due to the delays in 
the provisional settlement, and the consequential impact on Welsh Government’s 
budget finalisation, the publication of the final settlement would not be published until 
the 7th March 2023.  
 
The issues/observations raised by the Committee were addressed as follows:-  
 
In response to a query regarding the utilisation of school reserves for 2022/23, the 
Director of Corporate Services confirmed that it was possible for the end of year 
position to be more favourable than forecasted, due to the timings of the grant funding 
being confirmed by Welsh Government. In this regard, it was clarified that any school-
specific grant funding received would be accommodated into the school reserves, 
should the grant’s terms and conditions allow.  
 
Concerns were raised regarding the potential reprofiling of smaller schools whereby it 
was expressed that further information was required before efficiency savings could 
be supported in this regard. The Director of Education and Children’s Services clarified 
that the review of the Carmarthenshire's Sustainable Communities for Learning 
Programme was underway and was expected to be concluded by the Summer 2023. 

Tudalen 107



 
70

It was noted that the results of the review would be considered by the Cabinet in due 
course.  
 
The Director of Corporate Services, in response to a query, confirmed that any 
Industrial Action undertaken by the NEU members would result in a direct budgetary 
saving for the Local Authority. Furthermore, it was clarified that no further budget 
provision would be made in respect of Teacher Pay Awards until the settlement had 
been finalised.  
 
Following a request for further information regarding the schools which showed a 
deficit budgetary position as at March 2022, the Director of Education and Children’s 
Services highlighted that myriad of reasons could contribute to a school being in a 
budget deficit, though the main expenditure for schools related to staffing costs. 
Furthermore, it was explained that smaller schools would not have much flexibility 
within their budgets to meet unexpected costs. An assurance was provided to 
Committee that regular communication and support was provided to schools in an 
endeavour to address budgetary challenges.  
 
Concerns were expressed in respect of the impact of the proposed elevation in the 
cost of school meals set out in the Charging Digest, which could lead to a lower uptake 
in the purchasing of school meals and result in a further deficit to the budgetary 
position. It was confirmed that the concerns raised by Committee would be fed back 
to the Cabinet as part of the consultation process prior to the final budget being set by 
Council on 7th March 2023. The Director of Corporate Services clarified to the 
Committee that the Cabinet Member for Education and Welsh Language was 
responsible for reconciling the fees and charges for the Education and Children’s 
Services division.  
 
In response to a query, the Director of Education and Children’s Services explained 
that an element of the Council’s budget would be delegated to schools to manage 
redundancies and discussions were ongoing to enable schools to better understand 
the impact of redundancies and become more cost effective. In this regard, Members 
highlighted that the Governor Training programme would need to be updated to reflect 
the additional requirement.  
 
A discussion ensued on the current process in place regarding school redundancies 
and it was reported to Committee that there was no information to indicate a change 
to Welsh legislation to follow the Scottish model whereby teachers were employed 
centrally to facilitate the effective management of the workforce in terms of staff 
movements to meet the needs of schools.  
 
A concern was expressed in relation to the proposed budget reduction for youth 
support related services. The Head of Strategy and Learner Support confirmed that 
the Shared Prosperity Fund would provide some financial support for youth support 
services. The Council was also exploring different ways of providing youth support 
services in an endeavour to minimise the impact of budgetary reductions on frontline 
services.  
 
Reference was made to the proposed review of primary schools’ footprint to derive 
efficiency savings of £200k for 2024/25. A Member enquired as to the methodology 
for selecting schools for closures, together with the potential number of school 
closures that would be required to achieve the efficiency savings. The Director of 

Tudalen 108



 
71

Education and Children’s Services clarified that the figure noted was indicative at this 
stage, pending the outcome of the review; it was however confirmed that savings in 
the region of £75k - £80k could be generated from each school closure as a result of 
the premises and running costs.  
 
RESOLVED that:  
5.1 The 2023/24 – 2025/26 Revenue Budget Strategy Consultation be received;  
 
5.2 The Charging Digest detailed in Appendix

Tudalen 109



 
72

8) APPENDIX 1 – MAP OF COMMUNITY AREAS      

T
udalen 110



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

 Proposals

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive 689 344 10 1,043 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 689 344 10 1,043

Education 898 75 55 1,028 0 0 402 402 40 35 0 75 938 110 457 1,505

Schools Delegated 0 0 0 0 0 200 550 750 2,000 0 300 2,300 2,000 200 850 3,050

Corporate Services 325 125 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 325 125 0 450

Communities 2,387 2,650 2,246 7,283 0 0 0 0 40 155 124 319 2,427 2,805 2,370 7,602

Environment 1,408 447 444 2,299 0 0 0 0 291 88 0 379 1,699 535 444 2,678

5,707 3,641 2,755 12,103 0 200 952 1,152 2,371 278 424 3,073 8,078 4,119 4,131 16,328

MANAGERIAL EXISTING POLICY PROPOSALS NEW POLICY PROPOSALS TOTAL PROPOSALS

page 1 of 19

T
udalen 111



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive

Chief Executive, Business and 

Executive Support
618 Office of the Chief Executive, business and executive support 35 19 0 54 Reduction of staffing within Business Support Unit

Chief Executive, Business and 

Executive Support
618 Office of the Chief Executive, business and executive support 30 0 0 30 Further reduction in staffing within business support unit

People Management division 3,095
Includes Payroll, People Services, Organisational Development, Employee Wellbeing , HR 

Development Team, Business and Project Support
75 65 0 140 

£20k L&D reallocation of the SCDWP grant ; £35k TIC additional income & £20k HR 

payroll - introduction of a new AVC wise scheme.

People Management Division 3,095
Includes Payroll, People Services, Organisational Development, Employee Wellbeing , HR 

Development Team, Business and Project Support
75 65 0 140 Realignment of Division

Information Technology 4,722

ICT Services underpins and contributes towards all that the Council delivers both internally 

as an organisation and externally to service users and communities, independently or in 

partnership. It is a vital function providing innovative opportunities for improving services 

and achieving our priorities in an efficient and effective way. IT Services is pivotal as an 

enabler of change and a vehicle for driving forward transformational improvement to all 

services. As we continually strive to deliver our solutions in an efficient manner and in line 

with our key Digital Strategies (Digital Transformation Strategy, Digital Technology Strategy, 

Digital Schools Strategy) our major savings in future years however will have to be found 

from our staffing budget.  The work the service does significantly contribute to financial 

savings being delivered from revenue budgets held across the Authority by other service 

areas. 

100 111 0 211 

Reduction in the Hardware Replacement Programme. This will result in having to 

sweat the current assets and hardware estate we manage by extending the life of current 

stock. i.e. a laptop is scheduled to be replaced currently every 4 years based on industry 

advice and standards. This will have to be extended by 1-2 years presenting a risk as 

there will be a significant reduction in stock available in the replacement programme. This 

could reduce the quality of the excellent service that we have been providing to staff 

during COVID and hybrid-working and will likely increase hardware failures and disruption 

to staff working by extending life of current stock beyond what we currently have set in our 

Replacement Programme.

Statutory Services - Coroners 369 20 10 10 40

Discussion with Pembrokeshire CC on how costs can be economised including office 

accomodation (inquest files storage costs will remain)  due to remote working. It is also 

planned to instigate talks with Glangwili hospital to formalise the arrangements regarding 

post mortems carried out of behalf of the Coroner and also to formalise a tender for 

Funeral Directors working on behalf of the Coroner. Both these proposals should 

generate future savings.

Corporate Policy 805 26 0 0 26 

 £4k from Policy which will see a reduction in budgets currently supporting admin, 

subsistence and meeting costs; £22k from Welsh Language which will see a reduction in 

projects and commissioned work/research. 

Marketing & Media 542
Business Unit comprising of translation, marketing and tourism, contact centres, customer 

services, press and communications.
46 44 0 90 Review of Translation Unit

Marketing & Tourism 

Development
400 40 0 0 40 £40k reduction in activities that currently support the tourism sector.

Regeneration division 4,547

Regeneration is a key priority for the council. The Division provides Business, employability, 

grant funding and skills support and advice. We also deliver physical regeneration projects 

throughout the county, including the Swansea Bay City Deal Pentre Awel Life Science and 

Wellness Village planned for Delta Lakes.  The Regeneration Division is responsible for the 

management of  land assets (those within the economic/commercial portfolio) of the 

Council, taking a strategic commercial view to ensure the portfolio is managed to meet the 

Council’s economic development needs.  The Division is also responsible for the delivery 

of the Council’s Net Zero Carbon agenda. 

112 30 0 142 

£30k Staffing cost savings (possibly making use of external funding in place of current 

core funding); £10k - Econ Dev revenue budget cut - split 50/50 between Rural & Llanelli; 

£12k - Operational depots revenue budget cut; £30k - Admin building revenue budget cut; 

£30k - Property industrial premises budget cut

Regeneration division 4,547

Regeneration is a key priority for the council. The Division provides Business, employability, 

grant funding and skills support and advice. We also deliver physical regeneration projects 

throughout the county, including the Swansea Bay City Deal Pentre Awel Life Science and 

Wellness Village planned for Delta Lakes.  The Regeneration Division is responsible for the 

management of  land assets (those within the economic/commercial portfolio) of the 

Council, taking a strategic commercial view to ensure the portfolio is managed to meet the 

Council’s economic development needs.  The Division is also responsible for the delivery 

of the Council’s Net Zero Carbon agenda. 

130 0 0 130

Additional £60k staff saving cost. Additional £30k econ dev revenue budget cut 

– split 50/50 between Llanelli and rural. £40k through mothballing admin areas 

where vacant to reduce utility costs etc.

Chief Executive Total 689 344 10 1,043

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

page 2 of 19

T
udalen 112



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Education & Children

Director & Management Team

Departmental - cross cutting

various 

across the 

dept

Cross-departmental support costs including administration, financial processing, 

& premises management
75 55 130 

Reprofiled to allow implementation of programme due to link with school 

rationalisation/federations - therefore dependent upon member 

discussions/workshops.  Root & branch review of support services across the 

Department in order to realise savings and increase flexibility

Departmental - cross cutting

various 

across the 

dept

Cross-departmental support costs including administration, financial processing, 

& premises management
225 0 0 225 

Efficiencies rom Better Ways Of Working review, post covid, online 

conferences, travel

Total Director & Management 

Team
225 75 55 355

Education Services 

School based Early Voluntary 

Retirement / redundancy 

(funded centrally)

176 

Schools are currently provided with budget to fund Teaching Assistants (TAs) for 

pupils with a statement of educational need.  If the pupil moves school, the TA 

can be redundant as they have been employed by a specific school.  

50 0 0 50 

Schools have been asked to communicate with the LA any projected 

redundancies. The Change Review Panel, will work closely with schools in an 

effort to re-deploy staff, thus avoiding any avoidable redundancy costs.

School Redundancies 2,133 

The majority of this budget relates to ongoing pension costs from past decisions 

leaving only £100k to meet pension costs. Schools will be charged the 

redundancy element of new demands as schools need to downsize because of 

pupil numbers or school rationalisations. 

100          100        
Transfer responsibilities for redundancy costs to schools (Dept to pick up 

pension strain costs). 

Early Years Non-Maintained
100 (grant 

funded)

The service provides support for our 30 non-maintained settings, focussing on 

ensuring a good start for all early years children attending  settings. Leadership 

support is provided, including monitoring and evaluation to ensure that learning 

experiences meet the need of all children. Professional learning is delivered, 

working alongside 'Early Years' officers and school based practitioners. 

50            50          

We aim to maximise the service delivery to the providers for this age group, 

reflecting on the roles and responsibilities across the Education and children's 

services department and amending the service where applicable. This will result 

in a change to the way that we deliver support. All grants will continue to be 

maximised, relieving pressures on core budgets.

Total Education Services 200 0 0 200

School Improvement

School Improvement -

Partnerieth 1
73 73 73

To fund contribution to Partneriaeth via grants or negotiate a reduced / nil level 

of core funding.

School Improvement -

Partnerieth 2
N/A           200 200        

On top of original £73k proposal. Reduced activities provided by Partneriaeth 

and deliver them by utilising the regional grant locally. 

Total School Improvement 273 0 0 273

Partneriaeth contributes to the range of support, intervention and professional 

development activities led by our Education Support Advisors' Team. We work in 

close partnership with two neighbouring Local Authorities (Pembrokeshire & 

Swansea). This ‘regional alliance’ supports our school improvement services to 

implement effective support strategies across a wide range of specific areas of 

focus, for example curriculum provision and leadership development. Local, 

regional and national priorities, as outlined by Welsh Government within the 

‘National Model for Regional Working’ (WG Guidance 126/2014, February 2014) 

and 'Education in Wales - Our National Mission' are supported in full. 

Partneriaeth are paid a contribution that has been funded from core budget to 

date.

page 3 of 19

T
udalen 113



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Curriculum & Wellbeing

Youth Support Service 586

Carmarthenshire Youth Support Service was established on 1/1/16 bringing 

together the Carmarthenshire Youth Service and the Carmarthenshire Youth 

Offending Service under a single integrated management structure.  The Youth 

Support Service allows for the development of a more holistic approach to the 

delivery of the youth support services across Carmarthenshire. The service 

retains the statutory functions of the Youth Justice Team; promotes the ethos of 

working together to deliver targeted support and retains elements of direct 

universal youth work provision.  Includes Youth Work Strategy Grant, YE&P 

Framework Grant, YJB YOT Partnership Grant, Promoting Positive Engagement 

Grant, Dyfed Powys Police & Crime Commissioner. Key responsibilities under 

Participation include the Children & Young People’s Participation Strategy, 

support for Carmarthenshire Youth Council, support for School Councils, 

participation of vulnerable groups including the Junior Local Safeguarding 

Children’s Board and Children’s Rights.

100          100        

Reconsideration not to proceed with a new post, keeping two p/time posts 

vacant (total =1.1FTE), reducing general expenditure, photocopying and 

transport.

Total Curriculum & Wellbeing 100 0 0 100

Children's Services

Children's Services 13,075 

Children's' Services encompasses the Social worker teams, Fostering, Adoption, 

Early years, Family Support Services, Specialist Care Provision, School 

Safeguarding & Attendance and Educational Psychology.

100 100 

Continual review of services, maximising grant opportunities and managing 

vacant posts without putting the service at risk of not meeting its statutory 

function.

Total Children's Services 100 0 0 100

Education & Children 

Total
898 75 55 1,028

page 4 of 19

T
udalen 114



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Corporate Services

Financial Services

PRE LGR Pension Costs 1,816 Cost of Pre LGR Pension Costs 100 100 0 200 Reduction in call on budget over time

Bank Charges 66 Cost of Authority's Banking arrangements 5 0 0 5 Reduction in bank charges following negotiation of new contract

Treasury 

-200 

(income 

budget)

100 100
Increased investment returns from treasury activity - assumes recent increase in 

interest rates sustained and higher level of cash balances retained

Treasury & Pensions Section 77 

Provision of a Treasury Management and Pension Fund Investments Service 

including statistical and legislative research and development work.  The unit 

manages the strategic direction, formulates and implements Policy and Strategy 

and ensures the integrity of the Dyfed Pension Fund.  The unit also manages the 

Dyfed Welsh Church Fund and Banking Services

15 0 0 15 
Increase in external SLA income for work undertaken for Wales Pension 

Partnership

Accountancy 1,399 

The provision of a decentralised accounting and financial management service, 

covering:

• Technical Accounting (Preparation of final accounts, corporate accounting and 

taxation), 

• Management Accounting (Month end close, maintenance of financial records 

and budgeting) 

• Strategic Finance functions (projects, planning and financial advice to 

members)

0 25 0 25 
Increase in external SLA income for work undertaken for Llesiant Delta 

Wellbeing

External Audit Fees 229 Cost of external audit fees 10 0 0 10 
Reduction in external audit cost by maximising audit costs chargeable against 

grant schemes

Total Financial Services 230 125 0 355 

Revenues & Financial 

Compliance

Rates Relief 289 
Cost to CCC of properties that are eligible and have successfully applied for 

discounts on their business rates
50 0 0 50 Demand is currently less than current budget provision

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 17,249 
Low income households, if meet certain criteria are entitled to Council Tax 

reduction.
35 0 0 35 Aligning the budget to actual

Total, Revenues and 

Financial Compliance
85 0 0 85

Corporate Services General

Training Budget 60 
Training budget set for the Department and to be used to support staff 

deelpoment / CPD - managed centrally by BSU
10 0 0 10 

Reduce the sum available for the Department for training - current budget is 

£60k

Total Corporate Services 

General
10 0 0 10 

Corporate Services 

Total
325 125 0 450

page 5 of 19

T
udalen 115



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Communities

Leisure

Increased Parking income -66 
Increased parking income at coastal car parks and potential development of 

motorhomes sites
10 10 10 30 

Increase charges above inflation: season tickets and parking at Country Parks 

and Millennium Coastal Path and camping charges. Develop additional income 

generating activities. Enhance enforcement to minimise problematic parking.

Country Parks -265 

Pembrey Country Park is one of the most visited outdoor facilities in 

Carmarthenshire and Wales, regularly attracting around half a million users 

annually. Whilst usage numbers have fluctuated this year with lockdowns and 

restrictions, the park was busier than ever during August, highlighting the value 

people put on great and safe outdoor spaces. The park has an 8 mile beach, a 

320 pitch caravan and camping site, 550 acres of woodlands, a 130m long dry 

ski slope and toboggan run in Wales, along with a new Crazy Golf course, 9 hole 

pitch and putt facility, a miniature model steam railway, a riding centre, and the 

National Closed Road Cycle circuit and pump track.

25 25 25 75 
Improve operating efficiency of Pembrey Country Park to reduce spend on 

waste collection, internal communications, fleet running costs, staffing hours.

Leisure Centres 601 

There are 6 Leisure Centres in operated by the Council in Carmarthenshire: 

Llanelli, Carmarthen, Ammanford, Llandovery, St Clears and Newcastle Emlyn. A 

variety of activities take place at these centres such as: Swimming, Diving, 

Canoeing, Fitness, Cycling, Badminton, Tennis, Table Tennis, Squash, Hockey, 

Netball, Basketball, Football, Rugby, Cricket, Gymnastics, Birthday Parties, 

Holiday programmes.  There are normally over a million visits to the Leisure 

facilities annually  Typically our Leisure facilities attract over a million per annum, 

collecting £4m in income. 2020/21 has seen usage numbers and income crippled 

to around 25% of normal levels as the coronavirus lockdown and restrictions 

affect trading. A new Actif Anywhere online service has been launched to 

compliment the physical offer at sites during this unprecedented period.

20 50 50 120 

Additional income across Leisure from improved offer at Aman Valley following 

refurbishment, improved offer at Llanelli 2G pitch and new and innovative 

leisure activities eg FAST, play and aqua activities.

Reduction in staffing levels and greater efficiencies in procurement. Improve 

staff rota management to reduce staffing, and review live streaming provision

Y Gat Craft Centre 72 

Arts venues include Oriel Myrddin Art Gallery in Carmarthen, Y Gât in St. Clears 

and the Dylan Thomas Boathouse, Laugharne

Y Gât (formerly known as St. Clears Craft Centre) is an arts facility that also hosts 

the local library and an in-house catering facility. The facility has an open gallery / 

shop area along with conference rooms facilities and studio spaces for local 

artists to hire. 

5 5 5 15 
Asset transfer progressing with St Clears Town Council for handover 1/4/23 and 

£5k reduced funding year on year.

Libraries 2,700 

Carmarthenshire libraries provide an extensive choice of books, DVDs, CDs, 

online services, newspapers and magazines. With over half a million books on 

offer between 3 regional, 13 branch and mobile libraries, the service offers 

invaluable support and access to Carmarthenshire residents. Public access 

computers and Wi-Fi are available at all libraries, and typically, the service issues 

over 600,000 books per year.  The mobile service provides a valuable outreach 

services to rural parts of the County, linking up with various partners to deliver 

public information services online.

20 20 26 66 Increased operating efficiency approx £20k pa - reduction in staffing hours

page 6 of 19

T
udalen 116



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Theatres 978 

Carmarthenshire Theatres manage the Miners’ Ammanford, Lyric Carmarthen 

and Ffwrnes Llanelli and promote a broad range of bi-lingual events and 

productions throughout the year for all age groups and interests. In previous 

years, in excess of 100,000 paying customers and participants visited and make 

use of our facilities, however, during 2020/21 Theatres have been hit harder 

than most services, not being allowed to open at all due to Covid restrictions. 

Prior to this financial year, Carmarthenshire’s flagship theatre, The Ffwrnes, 

established itself as one of Wales’s leading Cultural and Entertainment venues. 

Typical annual figures pre 2020/21 would have been as follows: 266 visiting 

companies and hirers; 400 performances/events; 74,130 attendances; 33,805 

participants. Whilst costs and lost income are reclaimed through hardship funding 

grants for this financial year, the service has also innovated to develop new 

online products and shows, which will hopefully grow our audience base and 

income in future years. 

10 10 10 30 
Improve operating efficiency of Theatres to reduce spend on operational costs 

and  staffing hours.

Total Leisure 90 120 126 336 

page 7 of 19

T
udalen 117



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Integrated Services

Domiciliary Care 17,288 

Domiciliary Care is provided to approx. 1,000 individuals in the county in. On 

average over 11,000 hours per week are delivered by in-house and independent 

domiciliary care agencies.

- Around 250 individuals receive care from two carers (known as "double handed" 

care). 

- Approx.  170 individuals receive a large package of care involving 4 calls per 

day. 

- Fulfilled Lives is a model of domiciliary care which has been developed for 

individuals living with dementia which has demonstrated that the service can 

maintain people living at home for longer than traditional domiciliary care. The 

plan is to expand the service to cover the entire county.

- The Reablement Service provides short term domiciliary care.  The number of 

clients who receive Reablement is over 500 and 55% leave the service with no 

long term care package.

- Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) and the Carmarthenshire United 

Support Project (CUSP) are both preventative services which support individuals 

to maintain their independence without the need for statutory social services. By 

increasing the proportion of referrals that go through IAA or CUSP, it reduces the 

demand on statutory services.

- The specialist Continence service has been established within Community 

Nursing. By providing the right continence products to meet the individual's 

continence needs, it is possible to reduce the number of visits per day of 

domiciliary care. 

600 600 600 1,800 

Through robust and regular review of home based packages including review of 

double staffed packages and implementation of the releasing time to care 

methodology, we will reduce the number of care hours required. Calculations 

are based on a reduction of 610 care hours per week per year at a cost of £25 

per hour minus an investment of £150K investment in the review team to 

provide us with additional capacity to conduct reviews. Removal of night service 

in Extra Care.

Extra Care 857 

Extra Care facilities provide supported accommodation as an alternative to a 

residential care home placement. There are 4 extra care facilities (Cartref 

Cynnes, Ty Dyffryn, Plas y Môr and Cwm Aur) for older people. A domiciliary care 

service is provided to those tenants living in the Extra Care facilities who require 

care and support. The aim of Extra Care is to avoid or delay the need for a 

residential care placement. Residential care is provided in local authority and 

private sector care homes for individuals who can no longer live independently in 

the community. Depending on the nature of their needs, their placement may be 

made by the local authority or jointly with the health board, or entirely by the 

health board if they qualify for free continuing health care (CHC).

50 50 50 150 

Review of existing Policy for Extra Care Lettings with a view to increasing Cat A 

flats, and consequently reducing spend on residential care. Less provision on 

site of Domiciliary Care .

Cwm Aur 353 

Extra Care facilities provide supported accommodation as an alternative to a 

residential care home placement. There are 4 extra care facilities (Cartref 

Cynnes, Ty Dyffryn, Plas y Môr and Cwm Aur) for older people. A domiciliary care 

service is provided to those tenants living in the Extra Care facilities who require 

care and support. The aim of Extra Care is to avoid or delay the need for a 

residential care placement. Residential care is provided in local authority and 

private sector care homes for individuals who can no longer live independently in 

the community. Depending on the nature of their needs, their placement may be 

made by the local authority or jointly with the health board, or entirely by the 

health board if they qualify for free continuing health care (CHC).

200 0 0 200 

Decommissioning the current Block contract model of Care in Cwm Aur with a 

view to repurposing accommodation to be let as standard tenancies. The Care 

provision will be commissioned in from the community Domiciliary Care 

providers. This will affect 9 Service users who receive care from the current 

provider. 

Residential Homes 37,452 

Residential care homes provide accommodation as well as 24-hour personal 

care and support for older people and adults who struggle to live independently, 

but do not need nursing care. Residential care homes help people manage daily 

life, such as assisting with getting dressed, washing and eating.

50 100 100 250 

Reduction on spend on residential placements, due to robust challenge in 

relation to those who are eligible for Continuing Healthcare and minimisation of 

out of county placement. 

Total Integrated Services 900 750 750 2,400

page 8 of 19

T
udalen 118



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Adult Social Care

Shared Lives 8,371 

Shared Lives provides placements for individuals with Learning Disabilities or 

Mental Health issues with families that have been approved as Shared Lives 

Carers. 

55 110 110 275 Reduce offer by providing more efficient alternatives via core services.

Residential and Supported 

Living 
11,129 

Supported Living is provided for those individuals with  Learning Disabilities or 

Mental Health issues who need support with daily living tasks to remain in the 

community. Support is provided from staff in the setting which can range from a 

few hours to 24/7 in some circumstances. Promoting independence is a key 

aspect of supported living.

225 1025 1025 2,275 

Step down from residential care to supported living, rightsizing of packages to 

promote independence, reduction in core costs to mitigate over provision and 

recovery of non  delivery, collaborative opportunities for income generation, use 

of Shared Lives provision, review of commissioning strategy and charging 

framework.

This is in addition to  previous savings not yet delivered due to COVID 

pressures. Thus overall efficiency required is greater by the service and will 

need to be performance managed.

Direct Payments 4,720 

Direct Payments allow service users to receive cash payments from the local 

authority instead of care services.  This can allow the service user more flexibility 

and control of their support package.

70 20 20 110 
Additional income following new CHC guidance April 2022, better utilise half 

hour support slots, develop pooled direct payment groups.

Day Services 3,776 

As part of the transformation of Learning Disability day service provision, the 

buildings will provide for those with most complex needs, this will also reduce the 

reliance on external providers for those with complex needs as more individuals 

with complex needs are supported by the in-house day service provision.

245 220 0 465 

Fewer buildings will be required as we propose two merge two buildings to 

create a new skills hub, focusing on training, volunteering ,and employment. We 

also propose to merge one centre into another to maximise use of resources. 

This will be a more cost effective strategy for the division, but will also maximise 

the potential, and improve outcomes  for those who use our services.

Total Adult Social Care 595 1,375 1,155 3,125 

page 9 of 19

T
udalen 119



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Homes and Safer 

Communities 

Day Services - Older People 1,133 

Day care for adults typically involves planned activities and support with important 

aspects of social, health, nutrition and daily living. These support services are 

typically run by social care professionals and volunteers and are often in non-

residential, group settings. Day care enables adults who have care needs, and/or 

who are at risk of social isolation, to engage in social and organised activities, as 

well as providing a regular break to carers.

100 100 Provision of catering at Garnant Day Centre from centralised catering.

Public protection and CF 

Housing
3,345 

Public Protection and CF housing services is part of Homes and Safer 

Communities. It  provides a range of services in relation to Housing, 

Environmental Protection, Business and Consumer Affairs, Housing Options and 

Tenancy Support and Community Engagement.

30 30 
Rationalise out of hours working. Better utilisation of Delta Well-Being for out of 

hours services.

Public protection

Pest Control Agency

2,123 

Public Protection and CF housing services is part of Homes and Safer 

Communities. It  provides a range of services in relation to Housing, 

Environmental Protection, Business and Consumer Affairs, Housing Options and 

Tenancy Support and Community Engagement.

0 20 30 50 
Setting up of Agency to provide pest control services where there is a current 

gap in the market.

CF Housing 1,222 

Public Protection and CF housing services is part of Homes and Safer 

Communities. It  provides a range of services in relation to Housing, 

Environmental Protection, Business and Consumer Affairs, Housing Options and 

Tenancy Support and Community Engagement.

30 70 100 200 

Gradual reduction in the use of  Bed and Breakfast as an option for 

homelessness from Sep 2023. Would need to make sure that better, more cost 

effective, alternatives were in place.

CF Housing 1,222 

Public Protection and CF housing services is part of Homes and Safer 

Communities. It  provides a range of services in relation to Housing, 

Environmental Protection, Business and Consumer Affairs, Housing Options and 

Tenancy Support and Community Engagement.

250 250 
Funding some of Temporary Accommodation portfolio through alternative 

funding sources.

CF Housing 1,222 

Public Protection and CF housing services is part of Homes and Safer 

Communities. It  provides a range of services in relation to Housing, 

Environmental Protection, Business and Consumer Affairs, Housing Options and 

Tenancy Support and Community Engagement.

0 40 0 40 

Reduction in number of Housing Option Advisors 24/25 (Council Fund %). The 

development of homelessness preventative services over next 18 months 

should see a reduction in homelessness casework.

Realignment of posts in 

Consumer and Business Affairs
50 0 0 50 Realignment of posts in Consumer and Business Affairs

Public protection 2,123 

Public Protection and CF housing services is part of Homes and Safer 

Communities. It  provides a range of services in relation to Housing, 

Environmental Protection, Business and Consumer Affairs, Housing Options and 

Tenancy Support and Community Engagement.

10 40 50 

Comprehensive review of charging digest e.g. licences. Will need a 

comprehensive review and resource intensive

Increase in some charges

Total Homes and Safer 

Communities 
470 170 130 770 

Business Support and 

Commissioning

Business Support 1,000 

The Business Support Division is made up of 130 staff, there are 8 core functions 

which are critical to supporting the Department for Communities: Collections, 

Payments, Financial Assessments, Audit & Compliance, Blue Badge, Transport, 

Buildings & Emergency Planning and Diivisional Business Support

40 40 40 120 Restructure to reduce staffing levels and greater efficiencies in procurement. 

Transport 1,605 The service provides transport support for Social Care.  125 45 45 215 Reduction of fleet, based on demand and efficiencies.

Total Business Support and 

Commissioning
165 85 85 335 

Other

Regional 170 

The Regional Collaboration Unit provides support to the West Wales Care 

Partnership.  Funede mainly through Welsh Government Grants, each local 

authority also makes a contribution to the funding.

17 17 Anticipate regional agreement to reduce local authority contribution by 10%

Management and back office 

review
800 Management and support functions for Communities Department 150 150 300 Management and back office review

Total Other 167 150 0 317 

Communities Total 2,387 2,650 2,246 7,283

page 10 of 19

T
udalen 120



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Environment 
Departmental net £52m 59 0 0 59 Review management structure

Business Support & 

Performance 

Business Support Unit

£40k non-

pay 

budget

The BSU Division provides support and advice to all sections of the Department 

by providing a variety of financial, administrative, democratic, business support, 

learning development, health & safety and performance management services.

16 0 0 16 Reduction in office consumables, photocopying & postages

Total for Business Support & Performance 16 0 0 16

Highways & Transport

Depot rationalisation

various 

across the 

dept

Depot infrastructure to support the delivery of front line services. 0 0 140 140 

A review of the depot infrastructure is to be undertaken with regards to 

utilisation of locations and possible streamlining the number of locations 

currently operated 

Road Safety 243

The Road Safety Unit is responsible for delivery of road safety initiatives to meet 

road casualty reduction targets. The unit has responsibility for road safety 

education, training and publicity, the School crossing patrol service, national 

driver improvement schemes and road safety outside schools.

5 0 0 5 
Road Safety Innovation - the service will develop income streams and 

sponsorship. If sponsorship is not delivered a budget cut will be made

Parking Services -1,232

The County Council provides off street car parking facilities in towns and villages 

to support the expeditious movement of traffic to enable town centres to function. 

Parking supports these wider transport policy objectives and enables the 

authority to maintain highway and public transport services. There are 57 car 

parks across the county.  

40 9 0 49 Introduce a second camera enforcement vehicle, Business Case prepared

Parking Services -----"----- ------------------------------------"------------------------------------- 30 30 0 60 

New fixed camera enforcement sites to tackle congestion & improve road 

safety, New sites to enforce yellow box blocking and banned turning 

movements

Traffic Mangement 391
Implement road safety/speed management schemes in accordance with statutory 

obligations. 
15 0 0 15

Three year moritorium on new speed limits not included within 20mph 

legislation unless overriding safety issue

Traffic Mangement -------"------ -----------------------------------------"----------------------------------------------- 10.75 0 0 10.75

£10k - Limit number of prohibition of waiting orders processed per year with 

emphasis on safety rationale. £0.75k - Increase charge for Tourism signs, 

currently £100 for assessing application, works costs are extra, we currently 

process around 5 applications per year. Suggest increase to £250

Traffic Management -----"----- ------------------------------------"------------------------------------- 15 0 0 15 
Reduce budget allocated to TRO for parking issues, Focus on sites with 

evidenced safety issue

Traffic Management 391
Implement road safety/speed management schemes in accordance with statutory 

obligations. 
5 0 0 5

Introduce charge for deferred TTRO applications of £350. In 2022/23 we 

expect to have revised road closures for 15 projects to applicants delaying start 

of works.

School  Transport 3,645

Provision of home to primary/secondary/special schools transport in accordance 

with statutory obligations. Provision of transport in the post-16 sector is a 

discretionary service. Provision of passenger assistants for pupils with Additional 

Learning Needs

30 110 0 140 
Additional Needs Personal Travel Budgets. Parents will be offered a personal 

travel budget to help reduce demand on the Authority.

Asset Utilisation - Client budget 

reductions Invest to Save

various 

across the 

dept

Use of vehicles and plant with service users. 10 98 0 108 Review the utilisation of plant for all services within the department.

Road Safety and Traffic 

Management
634

The Traffic Management & Road Safety Unit investigates and strives to prevent 

road accidents by utilising a mix of engineering, education and enforcement 

interventions across Carmarthenshire.  With the third highest traffic volumes in 

Wales, managing the expeditious movement of traffic and improving road safety 

on the second highest length of road network in Wales, requires prudent 

management of a limited resource. 

50 0 0 50 
Increased income from Road Closures due to increased utility activity , this 

will be kept under review for future years due to its reactive nature. 

page 11 of 19

T
udalen 121



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Street Works 58

Co-ordination and management of all works affecting public highways in accordance with 

the Traffic Management Act - including utility works.  Supervision of new housing estate 

roads in preparation for future adoption by Carms County Council under section 38 of the 

Highways Act.

31 10 4 45

£15k - Additional income generation from Street Works compliance issues if the 

Compliance and Enforcement Officer role is created and filled. £20k - Additional 

income from an increased coring programme subject to creation and 

appointment of the Compliance and Enforcement Officer role and procurement 

process.Cost Recovery not income generation i.e. Retrospective charge for sub 

standard reinstatemnet work identified from coring sampling of reinstated works 

undertaken by utility companies.

Highways - Public Lighting & 

stopping up orders
1,382

Provision and maintenance of Street lighting and ancillary equipment.  Stopping 

Up Orders are made when sections of the existing highway become redundant. 

This happens for example when a road improvement is undertaken, land within 

the extent of the original  highway limit that has become redundant  is then 

stopped up via a legislative process and reverts to the landowner.  Where there 

is a formal request received from a landowner to Stop Up an area of highway 

land, the proposal is to charge the respective landowner the associated costs for 

undertaking this work. 

7 0 0 7 

£4k - Increase cost for switching off / on traffic signals for roadworks - increase 

charge from £250 to £350 (approx. 30-40 switch offs per year) Powys charge 

£400, Pembrokeshire 2 hours, Swansea £225 or £312 Out Of Hours. £3k - 

increase income target for Stopping Up Orders

Highway Services ------"---- -----------------------------------------"----------------------------------------------- 26 0 0 26

Depot Storesperson ( Cillefwr Depot ) ~ Depot Storesperson post has remained vacant 

since Oct 2021 following promotion of the Storesperson to Depot Foreperson. 

Management of the depot stores, waste transfer station and servicing and maintenance 

of the light plant & tools has continued to be undertaken effectively. No requirement to 

back-fill the post.

Highway Services ------"---- -----------------------------------------"----------------------------------------------- 80 0 0 80

£30k - General Mtce / Minor Works ~ Reduce general maintenance budget - subject to 

the finanical position reamining unchanged the service will be forced to further reduce 

the level of general maintenance work.Negative impact on general  maintenance work , 

total revenue and capital budget is insufficient to meet demand.  Backlog of 

maintenance works will continue to increase leading to claims. Reduction in work raises 

the level of overhead recovery unless there is a corresponding reduction in overheads.  

£25k - Signs ~ Reduce maintenance budget and prioritise work in line with the risk 

based / network hierarchy approach laid down in the HAMP. Negative impact on 

maintenance work.  £25k - Road Studs ~ Reduce maintenance budget and prioritise 

work in line with the risk based / network hierarchy approach laid down in the HAMP.  

Negative impact on maintenance work.

Highway Services -----"----- ------------------------------------"------------------------------------- 10 140 0 150 

Rationalisation of mechanical plant and equipment and reconfiguration of 

construction gangs. Plant and equipment to be reviewed across all sectors, 

North West (Llandovery) currently has the smallest workload for construction 

works.

Technical Surveys -----"----- ------------------------------------"------------------------------------- 20 0 0 20 
Reduce technical surveys. Reduce drainage (mapping & condition surveys) and 

geotechnical surveys

Total Highways & Transport division 385 397 144 926

page 12 of 19

T
udalen 122



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Place & Sustainability

Ecology

net 

divisional 

budget of 

£3.2M

Delivery of a range of specialist ecology and landscape advice 100 0 0 100 

The proposal is to create two additional officers at a cost of c£50K each :An additional 

Project Ecology post and a Project Landscape officer. The two posts would sit within 

Place and Sustainability and deliver a range of specialist ecology advice to projects being 

led by the council which is routinely procured from external consultancy, for example to 

ensure compliance with protected species legislation and in the development of capital 

infrastructure to meet landscape  requirements. Initial scoping work undertaken with 

the communities and regeneration teams estimates that c£105k project funding is being 

contracted out to consultancy in both areas. Figures do not include procurement or 

management costs associated with the contracting process. It is expected that the 

councils spend in these areas is unlikely to diminish and will increase over the coming 

 years due to the regulatory and statutory environment.  It is proposed that these 

services are brought in house to be delivered by the officers, offering financial savings 

and adding capacity and resilience to  the planning teams. Further potential to develop 

the service as a centre of excellence and offer  provision to other local authorities at a 

cost  will be  explored should capacity allow.

Total Place & Sustainability 

division
 100 0 0 100 

Property 

Property Maintenance

notional 

allocation 

2,596

This division is responsible for the day-to-day and long term repairs & 

maintenance of the council's estates including schools, administrative buildings, 

depots etc.

54 0 0 54 

Over 98% of the budget for the Property Division comprises the Revenue 

Maintenance Budget. Efficiencies are proposed to be met through reducing 

expenditure on revenue maintenance across the Council’s buildings following 

disposal of some properties and previous capital improvements undertaken to 

others. We are also aiming to make savings through new procurement 

arrangements and seeking to in-source areas of work where it is more cost 

effective than using external contractors or consultants. 

Total Property division 54 0 0 54

Waste & Environmental 

Services

Reduction Black bag waste 8,504 

Targeted campaigns to reduce waste and increase the awareness and use of all 

recycling schemes/initiatives. It is anticipated that this will result in the diversion 

of waste from the residual waste stream to the  recycling waste stream, thereby 

realising savings due to the differential in the treatment costs as set out.

35 35 100 170 
Anticipated savings due to differential in gate fee between blue bag and black 

bag treatment as a result of proposed kerbside black bag restrictions.

Waste services 100 0 0 100 reduction in operational costs in CWM 

Crematorium 0 Park Gwyn Crematorium, Narberth 17 0 0 17 Crematorium income

page 13 of 19

T
udalen 123



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Environmental Enforcement 570
Environmental enforcement relating to litter control, fly-tipping, dog fouling, 

nuisance vehicles, abandoned vehicles, graffiti and fly posting offences.
30 0 0 30 Enforcement realignment

Bring sites  - Operational 401 
Bring sites are located across the County to provide recycling facilities within 

communities. They currently cater for glass deposits.
37 0 0 37 

Potential to reduce the number of service vehicles due to fewer Community 

Bring Sites being operated. The saving is phased over two financial years to 

reflect the introduction of kerbside glass collections from October 2022 with half 

the savings delivered in 22/23 and the balance in 23/24.

Waste Services - operational 3,141 
The operational budget includes for the provision of resources, including vehicles 

and premises to effect the kerbside waste collection service.
10 0 200 210

A review of garden waste collection leased vehicles for 2023/24 with the 

potential to purchase vehicles meaning a reduction in revenue spend with a 

required capital purchase of vehicles. 

2025/26 - Review of waste rounds and depot utilisation, subject to the 

conclusions of detailed route planning for the kerbside collection rounds. 

Foodwaste liner consortium 

procurement 
341 

The Authority currently provides Corn-Starch food waste liners for our food waste 

recycling scheme to all households as part of an Annual delivery. 
200 0 0 200 

As part of our treatment contract the contractor has a requirement to remove all 

food waste bags as part of the pre-treatment solution and conform to an end 

product industry regulation. At present three neighbouring Authorities use 

different liners to Carmarthenshire at a significantly reduced cost. A move to a 

joint procurement with our neighbouring authorties for these liners would deliver 

significant savings. 

Closed Landfill 265 

We currently manage the ongoing aftercare at two former refuse landfill sites - 

Nantycaws (Phase 1) in Carmarthen and Wern Ddu in Ammanford. This includes 

dealing with leachate from the landfill sites and ensuring the adequacy and 

functionality of the infrastructure, including drainage systems.

10 0 0 10 Reduction in maintenance of infrastructure.

Cleansing 2,674 

The County Council maintain over 3,500km of roads throughout the County. The 

Cleansing Service provides for the sweeping and de-littering of streets and 

footways. The service includes mechanical sweeping of highways, footways and 

pedestrianised town centre areas, hand litter picking and emptying bins, chewing 

gum removal, graffiti and illegal poster removal, clearing up illegal dumping of 

rubbish and dog mess. 

88 0 0 88 Phased purchase of plant (sweepers) and reduction in labour (agency). 

Grounds maintenance - 

Reduced sub-contractor work
1,272 

The Grounds Maintenance Section incorporates the direct responsibility of 

managing and maintaining parks and playgrounds, inland water areas and a 

large number of public open spaces within Carmarthenshire. It also maintains 

grounds for many other departments of the County Council such as Social Care 

and Housing, Cultural Services, Education and many individual schools. The 

Section also has numerous external clients such as Town and Community 

Councils and private sports clubs.

70 5 0 75 Reduce the reliance on sub-contractors through greater internal efficiencies.

Cleansing

Total 

Cleansing 

budget 

£2.674m

The County Council maintain over 3,500km of roads throughout the County. The 

Cleansing Service provides for the sweeping and de-littering of streets and 

footways. The service includes mechanical sweeping of highways, footways and 

pedestrianised town centre areas, hand litter picking and emptying bins, chewing 

gum removal, graffiti and illegal poster removal, clearing up illegal dumping of 

rubbish and dog mess. 

75 0 0 75 Rationalisation of street cleansing activity

page 14 of 19

T
udalen 124



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Grounds maintenance - 

Reduced sub-contractor work
1,272 

The Grounds Maintenance Section incorporates the direct responsibility of 

managing and maintaining parks and playgrounds, inland water areas and a 

large number of public open spaces within Carmarthenshire. It also maintains 

grounds for many other departments of the County Council such as Social Care 

and Housing, Cultural Services, Education and many individual schools. The 

Section also has numerous external clients such as Town and Community 

Councils and private sports clubs.

30 0 0 30 Grounds - additional sub-contractor efficiencies

Waste, Grounds and Cleansing 

no 

specific 

budget

A review of consumables; PPE and Water 10 0 0 10 

At present we provide an annual stock of single-use water bottles during the 

summer season to all staff. We propose to provide a single re-usable water 

container to all operational staff with access to drinking water re-fill stations. 

A review of PPE provsion - Gloves, and clothing. With the provision of higher 

quality items meaning reduced ongoing replacement costs. 

Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC)

total budget 

for Waste is 

£18.2m

There are currently four HWRCs located across the County that serve all communities. 67 0 0 67 Technology driven efficiencies at HWRC sites

Commercial opportunity - income 

from Japanese Knotweed 

Treatment (net)

total budget 

for Grounds 

£1.2m

The grounds maintenance team arranges the treatment of Japanese Knotweed with 

respect to its own assets and other landownership across the Council. 
0 10 0 10

Potential to treat knotweed for external clients, subject to wider corporate consideration 

on commercial activity that service departments can undertake.

Public Conviniences 210 
Carmarthenshire County Council currently oversees the running and servicing of 

19 publicly accessible traditional stand-alone toilet blocks throughout the county.
15 0 0 15 

Public Toilet Rate Relief - 100% rate relief is available to occupied properties in 

the rating list described as Public Lavatories/Conveniences. 

Total Waste & Environmental 

Services
794 50 300 1,144

Environment Total 1,408 447 444 2,299  

MANAGERIAL Total 5,707 3,641 2,755 12,103

page 15 of 19

T
udalen 125



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'001 £'000 £'000

Education & Children

School Improvement 1,484 

The Council is obliged to employ a notional number of officers to provide a School Improvement Service 

to meet the needs of our schools. With a reduced number of schools it is possible to review this notional 

figure.

0 122 122

Reprofiled due to direct link to review of MEP.  Reduction in School 

Challenge Advisor levels equivalent to 1 FTE on the basis that the school 

rationalisation programme is progressed - dependent upon member 

discussions/workshops    

Departmental - across Education Services 17,295 

The majority of the Services' budgets are for the support, administration and management of the schools - 

School improvement, Grant support, Data, Admissions, School Meals, Music Service, ALN, safeguarding 

to name a few

0 280 280

Reprofiled due to direct link to review of MEP.  Rationalising of Primary 

Schools will  reduce the level of support required. The savings would actually 

be managerial as service provision would not be reduced, however it is a 

policy decision that would enable this efficiency to be delivered. As with other 

linked savings, it is dependent upon member discussions/workshops.

Education & Children Total 0 0 402 402

Schools Delegated Budget

Primary School Delegated Budget 67,171 

We have a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient primary and secondary schools in 

Carmarthenshire. This may involve opening new schools or adding places to existing schools where extra 

capacity is required. It may also mean reducing in size or closing schools with surplus accommodation. 

The challenge for the Council in attempting to secure value for money is to provide the right number of 

places in the right locations, to secure efficient and effective education for the pupils in its area. We have 

the second highest number of primary schools in Wales (94 Primary schools) and sustaining this number 

of schools provides many challenges including; recruitment and retention of staff, securing sustainable 

leadership, ensuring adequate funding to meet the needs of all learners and maintaining the school 

buildings.

200 550 750

We are proposing to review our primary schools’ footprint, especially those 

unable to sustain effective staffing structures due to low pupil numbers and 

those that are disproportionately expensive to operate. Through carefully 

selected remodelling, strategically driven school federations and investment 

in sustainable settings the primary school estate could be reduced. The 

need to move to a more effective and efficient model is imperative and could 

improve the financial stability of the remaining schools and reduce demands 

on a range of County Council services e.g., Finance, HR, catering, cleaning.

Schools Delegated Budget Total 0 200 550 750

Waste & Environmental Services

Total Waste & Environmental Services 0 0 0 0

Environment Total 0 0 0 0

EXISTING POLICY Total 0 200 952 1,152

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

page 16 of 19

T
udalen 126



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget
FACT FILE

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Children

School Music Service 333

Carmarthenshire Music Service provides weekly tuition to 

around 5000 children and young people across 

Carmarthenshire. With the introduction of the new Curriculum 

for Wales, the music service will evolve to deliver, engage, 

motivate and encourage learners to develop their creative 

skills.

40               35 75               

We propose to look at all options to reduce costs including staffing and not appointing to 

vacant positions. We will review the skill set and balance required between staffing who 

hold qualified teacher status, paid on school teacher's pay and conditions, and those 

employed on a 'tutor' basis, aiming to meet the needs of schools efficiently.

Education & Children Total 40 35 0 75

Schools Delegated Budget

Delegated Schools Budget 128,035 

In recent years, the delegated school budget has been 

protected by the Council. This budget is delegated to every 

school (1 nursery, 94 Primary, 2 special and 12 secondary) 

under the fair funding formula. This budget is to meet all the 

costs associated with running a school (e.g., employment of 

teachers and support staff, support for learners, buying 

resources and equipment, Premises costs, Cleaning, HR, IT, 

etc.).

2,000 0 0 2,000

While we will continue to provide full funding to meet the substantial increase in 

energy costs and teacher staff pay awards, we propose that the delegated 

budget to schools should be reduced by 2.1% in line with all other Council 

Departments. The management of the overall delegated school budget will be 

the responsibility of the school’s governing body who will have to manage this 

reduction.

Primary Schools Rising 4's Policy 67,171 

The statutory requirement is to provide full time education from 

5 years of age. We currently have a Rising 4's policy that 

allows learners full time admission to primary schools in the 

school term of their fourth birthday rather than the term after 

their fourth birthday, or the September after their fourth 

birthday, which is common practice across Wales.

300 300

These non-statutory aged pupils receive a full-time education in a school when 

funding is available to provide this provision in alternative settings. The childcare 

funding for Wales provided by Welsh Government provides up to 30 hours free 

education and childcare for children aged between 3-4 for up to 48 weeks of the 

year. At a time when revenue expenditure is under extreme pressure, the funding 

of non-statutory full-time pupils at such an early age could be re-prioritised to 

fund other statutory functions from the schools delegated budget. Therefore, we 

are proposing to remove the rising 4's policy.

Schools Delegated Budget Total 2,000 0 300 2,300

page 17 of 19

T
udalen 127



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget
FACT FILE

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities

St Clears Leisure Centre 113 

St Clears Leisure centre is one of 6 leisure centres operated 

by the Council in Carmarthenshire and offers facilities such as 

a 3 court sport-hall and a fitness suite and multi-purpose 

space. The leisure centre does not have a swimming pool. The 

centre also has changing rooms for indoor and outdoor sports 

(serving the football field behind, and the outdoor Multi-use 

games area - MUGA). Additionally, it is not located on a school 

site which differs from the other centres.

0 35 40 75 

Based on usage (income/running costs) and its location we are looking to close 

the St Clears Leisure centre or asset transfer. To mitigate against this efficiency, 

we will continue to provide a full service at Carmarthen Leisure Centre which is 

approximately 10 miles away. In addition, there are several private leisure 

facilities in places such as Whitland, Llangynin and Carmarthen.

Libraries 2,700 

Carmarthenshire libraries provide an extensive choice of 

books, DVDs, CDs, online services, newspapers and 

magazines. With over half a million books on offer between 3 

regional, 13 branch and mobile libraries. Public access 

computers and Wi-Fi are available at all libraries, and 

typically, the service issues over 600,000 books per year.  The 

mobile service provides outreach services to rural parts of the 

County, linking up with various partners to deliver public 

information services online.

0 40 24 64 

Look for opportunities to asset transfer our smaller, least utilised branch libraries. 

If an asset transfer cannot be found, these branch libraries will be closed but 

alternative outreach provision will be considered.

Outdoor Education 181 

Pendine Outdoors Education Centre is a large residential 

activity centre catering for school, youth and adult groups. On 

site activities include climbing, abseiling, high and low ropes 

courses, Archery, Zip wire, canoeing, surfing and Team 

building exercises. The accommodation caters for up to 150 

people on a B&B, half or full board basis. Self-catering and 

camping facilities are also available for smaller groups.

40 80 60 180 

The age of the infrastructure on site is of concern for the future and requires continued 

maintenance which is no longer viable. The proposal is to close Pendine education centre 

and look at providing an alterative facility within the county.

 Communities 40 155 124 319

Communities Total 40 155 124 319

Environment

Highways & Transport

Parking Services -1,232

The County Council provides off street car parking facilities in towns 

and villages to support the expeditious movement of traffic to enable 

town centres to function. Parking supports these wider transport 

policy objectives and enables the authority to maintain highway and 

public transport services. There are 57 car parks across the county.  

10 80 0 90

Introduce charging at 9 car parks that are currently free -  Income estimate 

based on actuals in similar car parks.  Lead-in time of approx 12 months. 

(Llanybydder, Station car park and Seaview Terrace car park in Burry Port , 

Glanyrafon and Station Road Kidwelly, Llanstephan & Eva Terrace Ferryside), 

Pottery St, Llanelli and Waunllanyrafon, Llanelli

Parking Services -------"-------
There are 57 car parks currently maintained by the Council. 

Sometimes these car parks are used for Mobile banks, fairs, filming, 

construction and utility compounds.

10 0 0 10 We are proposing a charge for the commercial use of these car parks.

Parking Services -------"------
On-street permit parking areas prevents commuters parking in 

residential areas and ensures more parking opportunities for local 

residents and any business within the permit area

25 0 0 25

There is an administrative cost in receiving applications for on-street parking 

permits, checking eligibility and vehicle details, processing applications and 

issuing permits.  There is also a cost to patrolling and enforcing the permit 

parking areas and maintaining road markings.

 	Residents permits have cost £30 since 2009 and the proposal is to increase on-

street permit charge to £40 per year to cover costs.  

Countryside  Access 982

The Public Rights of Way network (PROW) extends over 2000Km 

and includes a range of paths, byways and bridleways.  A network 

hierarchy has been introduced to focus limited resources on the most 

popular and key routes.  Where vegetation encroaches over a PROW 

it is normally the adjacent landowner's responsibility to cut the 

vegetation back.  The Council's responsibility normally only relates to 

the surface of the route. 

15 0 0 15

Cease discretionary clearance by Contractors (3 cuts per year) of overhanging 

and encroaching vegetation on 70% of the promoted PROW network (132km) 

and engage with landowners to ensure they take responsibility for their 

encroaching vegetation

Traffic Management 8 8 0 16
Decrease number of School Crossing Patrols - CCC have currently got 42 

sites with only an estimated 30 sites that meet the threshold criteria for SCP.

page 18 of 19

T
udalen 128



APPENDIX B - SAVINGS PROPOSALS

DEPARTMENT
2022/23 

Budget
FACT FILE

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed

2025/26 

Proposed
Total EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Nant y Ci Park & Ride 50

The park and ride facility at Nant-y-Ci includes a shuttle bus 

service which links to Carmarthen town centre and Glangwili 

Hospital.  Use of the service is particularly low with a current 

average of 4.3 passengers per trip.  However, this also 

includes people living in the area surrounding Nant-y-Ci who 

walk to the site to catch one of the half hourly service.  This 

reduces the viability of alternative bus services which run 

nearby but on a less frequent basis.

40 0 0 40 

Withdrawal of service between Nant-y-Ci, Town Centre and Glangwili Hospital. 

The service is part funded by Hywel Dda health board and discussions will take 

place before any service change. 

Total for Highways & Transport 108 88 0 196

Place & Sustainability

Planning 

net 

divisional 

budget of 

£3.2M

 We are required by law to publicise all planning applications. 

Certain application types are advertised in the local 

newspapers depending on specific factors relating to the 

application's location.

20 0 0 20 

It is proposed to stop advertising in the local newspapers and publicise through 

other methods that are currently undertaken.  This can include direct 

consultations with statutory bodies that include Local Members and Town & 

Community Council, site notices, and neighbour notifications.  A list of registered 

and determined applications are also published weekly on the Council's website, 

as well as being available to view in real-time.

Total Place & Sustainability division  20 0 0 20

Waste & Environmental Services

Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC)

total budget 

for Waste is 

£18.2m

There are currently four HWRCs located across the County that 

serve all communities. With Trostre, Nantycaws and Wernddu 

HWRCs open 7 days a week and Whitland open 5 days.

63 0 0 63

This proposal focuses on the rationalisation of the days and times that the sites are open 

based upon usage.

1. Change of Whitland opening hours - 10am -4pm all year - £7,500

2. Change Nantycaws and Wernddu to close on one week day based on site usage - 

£55,500

Cleansing - Litter bin ------"----
The Cleansing Service provides in excess of 2,500 litter bins 

which are serviced as part of general cleansing operative 

duties. 

100 0 0 100

We are looking to rationalise up to 20% of litter bins for the County. Following a 

review, we have seen that bins in laybys are often filled with household waste 

which is in contradiction to the initial purpose of these bins (i.e., fast food 

packaging). This rationalisation will deliver savings on Waste disposal charges, 

operative time and plant costs.

Environment Total 291 88 0 379

NEW POLICY Total 2,371 278 424 3,073

page 19 of 19

T
udalen 129



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Demographic, Legislative or continuing pressures APPENDIX C

Description Bid Allocation

2023-24 2023-24
£'000 £'000

Total for the Chief Executives Department 0 0

Fostering - uplift in allowances
Increase applied May 2022, compounded 
by forecast increase for 2023

700

Childrens services - Residential settings
Creation of Ty Magu offering has created 
an unfunded staffing structure

300

ALN, ASD, Behaviour and Inclusion 2,801

School Meals service includes allowance for food inflation 1,200

Other 30

Total for the Education & Childrens Department 5,031 3,750

Demographic Growth 
Older peoples / Learning Disabilities / 
Mental Health

792

Foundation Living Wage impact on commissioned care rates 3,562

Market Pressures 1,185
Pent up demand 247
Commissioned care - Energy and Food inflation 1,740
Other 500

Total for the Communities Department 8,027 6,000

Total for the Corporate Services Department 0 0

Waste
Waste Service delivery change (nb part 
year effect only, builds on previous year)

830

Property TIC Board recommendation 170

Planning 91

Fleet 298

Climate change officer 54

Highways Drainage and Gully Cleansing 439

Public and School Transport
Combination of Driver shortages, 
retendering and fuel increases

1883

Total for the Environment Department 3,765 2,000

Fire Levy Additional Increase 150 150

Highways and Town Centres
New investment, responding to concerns 
raised by public and Members

294

TOTAL 16,973 12,194

1 of 1

Tudalen 131



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



TABLE 1

2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Approved Provisional Proposed Indicative Indicative

Budget Outturn Budget Budget Budget

£ £ £ £ £

17,217,622 16,687,000 Chief Executive 18,688,014 18,684,700 19,095,252

187,394,396 191,091,000 Education & Childrens Services 200,709,959 204,950,077 207,142,299

29,315,883 28,235,000 Corporate Services 33,331,623 43,110,987 50,532,264

119,588,785 122,223,000 Communities 131,651,173 131,948,354 131,918,319

65,783,812 65,709,000 Environment Services 70,309,814 71,452,083 72,272,976

Savings to be identified 0 -2,329,000 -314,000

419,300,498 423,945,000 Departmental Expenditure 454,690,584 467,817,200 480,647,110

6,300,000 Unfunded pay offers

3,000,000 200,000 Corporate Contingency

(17,694,060)     (20,194,060)      Capital Charges/Asset Management Acc (17,694,060)     (18,194,060)      (18,694,060)       

Levies and Contributions

11,170,197 11,170,197 Mid & West Wales Fire Authority 13,013,807 13,404,221 13,672,306

155,000 155,000 Corporate Joint Committee 168,091 173,134 176,596

153,850 152,360 Brecon Beacons National Park 152,360 156,931 160,069

416,085,485 421,728,497 Net Expenditure 450,330,782 463,357,426 475,962,022

0 (3,473,012)        Contribution to/from general balances 0 0 0

0 (2,170,000)        Transfer to/from Departmental Balances 0 0 0

(200,000)           (200,000)           Transfer to/from Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0

415,885,485 415,885,485 NET BUDGET 450,330,782 463,357,426 475,962,022

TO BE FINANCED FROM:

(311,602,859)   (311,602,859)   Aggregate External Finance (338,400,387)   (346,521,855)   (355,178,848)    

104,282,626 104,282,626 CALL ON TAXPAYERS 111,930,395 116,835,571 120,783,173

1,396.04 Band D Tax 1,490.97 1,550.62 1,597.14

2.50% Council Tax Increase 6.80% 4.00% 3.00%

COUNCIL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT 

SUMMARY STATEMENT 

Tudalen 133



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 
 

RHAGLEN GYFALAF PUM MLYNEDD 
 2023/24 - 2027/28 

YR ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU 
HANGEN: 
 
Cabinet yn argymell i'r Cyngor Sir fod:  
 

1. Y rhaglen gyfalaf pum mlynedd a’i ariannu yn unol ag Atodiad A, gyda chyllideb 
2023/24 yn un bendant a chyllidebau 2024/25 i 2027/28 yn rhai mynegiannol, yn cael 
ei gymeradwyo. 

2. Bod y rhaglen yn cael ei hadolygu, fel sy'n arferol, os na cheir y cyllid allanol neu o’r 
cyngor sir a ragwelwyd. 

3. Cymeradwyo'r strategaeth gyfalaf (Atodiad C),  
a 

4. Bod y Cabinet/Cyngor Sir yn dirprwyo i Gyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol, 
mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Prif Weithredwr, Arweinydd ac Aelod o'r Cabinet dros 
Adnoddau, awdurdod i wneud unrhyw newidiadau sy'n angenrheidiol o ganlyniad i 
setliad terfynol Llywodraeth Cymru, setliad a gyhoeddwyd ar 1af Mawrth 2023. 
 

Y RHESYMAU:  
Galluogi’r Awdurdod i gytuno Rhaglen Gyfalaf Pum Mlynedd 2023/24 i 2027/28. 

 
ANGEN I’R CABINET WNEUD PENDERFYNIAD    OES 
ANGEN I’R CYNGOR WNEUD PENDERFYNIAD    OES 
 
YR AELOD O’R GABINET SY’N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:       
Cyng. Alun Lenny (Adnoddau) 
 
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Enw Cyfarwyddwr y 
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol: 

Randal Hemingway 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad:  
Adrian Armstrong 

Swydd: 

Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Ariannol 

 

Rhif ffôn: 01267 224886 
 
Cyfeiriad E-bost: 
RHemingway@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
 
MAArmstrong@sirgar.gov.uk 

 
 

CYNGOR SÎR
  

01.03.2023

Tudalen 135

Eitem Rhif  5.2

mailto:RHemingway@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:MAArmstrong@sirgar.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
COUNTY COUNCIL 

01.03.2023 
FIVE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME (COUNCIL FUND)   

2023/24 TO 2027/28 
 

 
 
The report brings together the latest proposals for the five-year capital programme 
2023/24 to 2027/28, taking account of the consultation exercise undertaken and the 
revenue implications arising from the programme.   

 
The proposed gross expenditure on the capital programme for 2023/24 is £151.143m 
with the projected funding being £87.227m from the county council’s own resources 
through the use of borrowing, reserves and direct revenue financing, capital receipts and 
general capital grant, with the balance of £63.916m coming from external sources.  
These figures include projects delayed in 2022/23 that have been carried over and built 
into the budgets of future years. 
 
The new capital programme is fully funded over the five-year period; however, it is 
proposed to under commit some of the available funding in order to give flexibility across 
the programme to cover any unexpected additional costs and to allow further 
consideration to the Sustainable Communities for Learning review when complete. 
 
The programme includes projected expenditure on the Swansea Bay City Region Deal 
projects against which the authority will borrow, with the funding being returned from 
both Welsh and UK governments over a 15-year period (from 2018/19). 
 
The authority’s capital strategy, required by the prudential code for capital finance in 
local authorities, has been updated and sets out the long-term context in which capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are made. It gives due consideration to both risk 
and reward and impact on the achievement of priority outcomes. The capital strategy 
covers expenditure  on both  Council Fund and HRA capital and is included as    
Appendix C. 

 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 
 

 
  

Tudalen 136



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
3. Finance 
The updated capital programme is projected to be fully funded for the five years 2023/2024 
through to 2027/28, however, if any of the currently anticipated funding does not materialise 
it will need to be revisited.  In addition, it is expected that further commitments will need to 
be considered when the Sustainable Communities for Learning review is complete, and this 
will then need to be considered further by the Council. You will note that the majority of 
potential schools funding has not been allocated directly to specific schools.   
 
7. Physical Assets   
New assets created from the capital programme will be added to the Council’s portfolio. In 
addition, the programme proposes expenditure to improve the existing assets and comply 
with statutory responsibilities. 

 
  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:                Randal Hemingway                                                   Head of Financial Services                        

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 
 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

NONE 
 

NONE 
 
 

YES  NONE NONE 
 
 

NONE 
 
 

YES  
 

Tudalen 137



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed: Randal Hemingway                                                Head of Financial Services                                               

 
 

1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  YES 
 
Scrutiny Committee  Corporate Performance and Resources 
Date the report was considered: 30.01.2023 
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations: 
 
Minutes provided Appendix B 
 

 
2.Local Member(s)   
N/A 
 
3.Community / Town Council  
N/A 
 
4.Relevant Partners   
N/A 
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
N/A 

 
CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

Include any observations here 

 

Tudalen 138



 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

2022/23 – 2026/27 
Capital Programme 
 

 Corporate Services Department, County Hall, 
Carmarthen. 
 
On-line via corporate website – Minutes of County 
Council Meeting 2nd March 2022. 
 

2023/24 – 2027/28 
Capital Programme 

 Corporate Services Department, County Hall, 
Carmarthen. 

  

Tudalen 139



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 1 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

CABINET 
   

20-02-2023 
 

FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME – 2023/24, 2024/25, 2025/26, 
2026/27 and 2027/28 

 
DIRECTOR & DESIGNATION 
 
C Moore, Director of Corporate Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 
Corporate 
Services 

TELEPHONE NO. 
 
01267 224120 

AUTHOR & DESIGNATION  
 
R Hemingway, Head of Financial Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 
Corporate 
Services 

TELEPHONE NO. 
 
01267 224886 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The report provides members with a view of the proposed five-year Capital 
Programme 2023/24, 2024/25, 2025/26,2026/27 and 2027/28.  

1.2. This report reflects the position following consultation and sets out the 
proposals for the authority’s capital programme for the next five years. 

1.3. In response to the consultation and the matters raised in the scrutiny 
committee meeting, the capital programme has been updated to give 
additional support for flood mitigation and decarbonisation measures. 

1.4. The authority is required to approve a rolling capital programme each year as 
part of its budget setting process. This facilitates forward planning and is 
consistent with the requirements of the Prudential Code in terms of financial 
planning and funding while assisting officers in bidding for external funding. 

1.5. The Cabinet needs to consider the detailed proposals within the report and 
approve the recommendations in accordance with council policy. 

 

2. CONSULTATION 

2.1. The detailed provisional capital programme (Appendix A) was presented to 
the Corporate Performance and Resources Scrutiny Committee on                
30th January 2023 to seek its views on the proposals. An extract from the 
relevant Committee meeting minutes is appended (Appendix B) for 
information.   

 

Tudalen 141



 2 

3. BACKGROUND 

3.1. Last year the authority agreed a fully funded five-year capital programme 
2022/23 to 2026/27 which was approved at County Council on 2nd March 
2022. 

3.2. 2021 was an unprecedented year and saw us reprioritise our capital strategy 
and capital programme to reflect the desire to boost local businesses and 
local economies in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  This commitment 
remained our focus last year and coupled with the UK Government’s levelling 
up funding saw the start of significant investments to boost the 
Carmarthenshire economy.  During 2022 we faced multiple challenges from 
rising costs, rising inflation and reductions in government funding, those 
challenges remain as we look to prioritise our spending in 2023/24 and 
beyond.  The truth is that the council has never faced the pressures on 
budgets that we currently face.   The capital programme has been reviewed 
and departments also submitted proposals for new critically urgent projects 
for the programme. Projects have been assessed and prioritised with only the 
highest priorities being included in the programme.  Given the cost pressures 
on the revenue budgets no wider expressions of interest were invited.  This 
will enable projects already approved to be completed without putting addition 
pressures on resources and local contractor capacity. 

3.3. The proposed capital programme is attached in Appendix A and shows the 
anticipated expenditure and sources of funding over the five year period.  

3.4. The proposed capital programme and funding is based on the Welsh 
Government’s (WG) provisional settlement, received on 14th December 2022.  
This year the capital funding across Wales has been confirmed at £180m for 
2023/24 and 2024/25 which is 8.1% lower in real terms compared to the 
2022/23 capital budget. For Carmarthenshire this means an allocation of non-
hypothecated capital funding of £11.989m.  Other hypothecated capital 
funding grants across Wales totalling £925.948m was announced in the 
settlement and we will be applying to take advantage of this grant funding in 
due course but it is not reflected in the programme at this time.  Any 
successful applications for funding will be reported separately.  The Final 
Settlement, is due in March.  Should there be any amendments in the funding 
figures Cabinet/County Council is asked to delegate to the Director of 
Corporate Services authority to adjust the programme accordingly, in liaison 
with the Chief Executive, Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources.  
Similarly, delegated authority to update the programme is sought should any 
other award of grant funding be received at the same time, again in 
consultation with the same. 

 

4. PRIORITIES 

4.1. The current Corporate Strategy for 2018-2023 (refreshed June 2021) sets out 
the Authority’s strategic priorities, aspirations, overarching themes and core 
values, and the programme has been developed in line with these, whilst also 
recognising the priorities that have come forward as a consequence of the 
pandemic and Levelling Up funding.  

Tudalen 142



 3 

4.2. The proposed capital programme of £265m over the five years (which 
includes some reprofiled projects from previous years), is aimed at delivering 
a number of key projects that will create jobs and improve the quality of life 
for the people of Carmarthenshire.     

 

The key investments within the programme are:   

           £’m 
 Schools     73 
 Housing (Non HRA)   12 
 Lesiure & Culture     4 
 Regeneration    27 
 Swansea City Deal Region            86 

ICT and Property     4 
Place and Infrastructure  59 

5. FUNDING 

The provisional settlement received from WG allocated capital funding of 
£11.989m for the Authority in 2023/24, made up of non-hypothecated supported 
borrowing of £5.914m and General Capital Grant of £6.075m. 

5.1. The level of capital receipts funding included within the programme is £3.5m 
for the Llanelli Leisure centre project. It should be noted that there may be a 
need to amend future capital programmes if there is a shortfall in expected 
receipts. 

5.2. The use of earmarked reserves was approved as part of previous years’ 
reports and were included as funding for the current capital programme. In 
total £45.2m of reserve funding is included over the five years of the 
programme.  

5.3. The existing levels of investment into the schools estate programme is 
maintained with a realisation that additional funding will be needed in future 
years to deliver the whole MEP programme.  New match funding is made 
available from reserves and prudential borrowing to deliver the next phase of 
new school builds.   

5.4. Funding from external parties in the form of grants for the whole of the capital 
programme is currently expected to be in the region of £100.4m. which 
includes City Deal, Levelling Up projects and anticipated schools gants. 

5.5. As part of the provisional annual settlement from Welsh Government, funding 
was made available on an all Wales basis for the following areas: 

• Active Travel Fund, Local Transport Fund, Bus Infrastructure, Road 
Safety and Safe Routes in Communities - £107m for 2023/24. 
Carmarthenshire will bid for funding from these grants and any 

Tudalen 143



 4 

successful awards will be added to the capital programme in due 
course. 

5.6. Disappointingly, no award was made for Highways Refurbishment or 
Resilient Roads funding as in previous years which means we have had to 
revise down our commitments in this area.  

6. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023/24 TO 2027/28  

6.1. When the capital programme was approved at County Council on 2nd March 
2022 it was fully funded. The new capital programme again remains fully 
funded over the five-year period, however, it is proposed to undercommit 
some of the available funding from the Welsh Government in order to give 
flexibility across the programme to cover any unexpected additional costs on 
approved projects. 

Community Services 

6.2. In recent years there have been significant investments across the 
Community Services portfolio with investments in the new Carmarthenshire 
Archive, Museums in Abergwili and Parc Howard and the ongoing 
development at Oriel Myrddin. 

6.3. The new programme includes the provision of a new leisure centre in Llanelli, 
which will be delivered in conjunction with the Pentre Awel development 
under the umbrella of the Swansea Bay City Region. 

6.4. In 2027/28 within Private Sector Housing, further funding is provided for 
Disabled Facility Grants of £2.5m.   

Environment 

6.5. For 2027/28 further allocations to existing rolling programmes of work are 
included, namely Highway Improvements £600k, Highway Drainage £250K, 
Bridge Maintenance £400k, Road Safety Improvement £250k, public lighting 
£400k.   

Given the disappointing omission of specific Highways Improvement grant 
funding in the WG settlement, in 2022/23 we were able to supplement this 
with £1m of our own resources.  We will be able to continue this support in 
2023/24 funded from borrowing because we have been able to take 
advantage of more favourable borrowing rates than was supported by the 
Welsh Government under the LGBI initiativie.  This is in addition to our annual 
commitment of £600k already mentioned.  We will continue to work with the 
WG in the hope that funding towards highways can be restored in future 
years. 

6.6. 2027/28 also sees the continuation of our commitment to Rights of Way and 
Byways with funding of £66k, in recognition of our obligations in this area and 
the wider community health and environmental benefits provided by these 
valuable resources. 

6.7. Our commitment to the Tywi Valley Path project continues with £18.2m 
included in the new programme, £1,864k in-house funding together with the 

Tudalen 144



 5 

grant of £16.8m from the UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund.    A major 
investment which will bring significant benefits to the rural economy in the 
medium to long-term and improvements in  health and wellbeing for 
residents.   

6.8. Funding for flood risk management of £75k in 2023/24 continues in order to  
match fund external grants. 

6.9. £1m additional funds have been incorporated within the first three years to 
support flood mitigation. 

6.10. £500k in provided in 2023/24 to further support the Council’s decarbonisation 
programme. 

6.11. Significant investment continues to be made available to the upkeep and 
refurbishment of the County’s estate. 

• Works continue at County Hall, alongside £300k for county farms slurry 
infrastructure. 

• In addition in 2027/28 it is proposed to continue the annual allocation 
towards Capital Maintenance across the county estate at £3m. (£15.2m 
across the five years.) This maintains our investment is this area whilst 
recognising that the estate may be downsized in coming years as we aim 
to release capital receipts to fund future programmes. 

6.12. £4.7m for refuse and recycling vehicle replacement is included, which will see 
the rollout of kerbside sorting for recycling collections.  It is hoped that this 
project will attract significant funding from WG in the future which will see 
investment in the infrastructure at Nantycaws and the replacement of the 
current refuse lorries with an electric fleet in the coming years.  It will make a 
huge contribution to our efforts to decarbonise our services to address local, 
national and global commitments to Net Zero Carbon.  

6.13. A five-year Fleet Replacement Programme for £4.5m, excluding refuse and 
recycling collection vehicles, is included to ensure that vehicles and plant 
machinery assets are replaced when they reach the end of their viable 
economic life. The funding for this capital spend will be provided directly from 
revenue budgets of the service users via prudential borrowing.  

6.14. As part of the provisional settlement, £20m per annum from 2023/24 will be 
made available on an all Wales basis for the decarbonisation agenda.  We 
will work with the WG and other local authorities and organisations to see 
how this funding can be best utilised to have the greatest impact across the 
authority’s estate, and across Wales, in response to the climate emergency.   

Education and Children 

6.15. In the Education and Children Services capital programme, the MEP includes 
the continuation of the Sustainable Communities for Learning improvement 
programme. Schemes are funded jointly by Welsh Government grant and the 
Authority.  

Tudalen 145



 6 

6.16. There are eight schools included in the programme at design stage.  As they 
complete final business case stage and receive offers of grant funding from 
the Welsh Government they will be included in the delivery stage of the 
programme.  Future reports will seek approval for inclusion in the programme 
if and when external funding is secured. Internal match funding will be from 
the Consolidated MEP Delivery Fund. 

6.17. It is proposed to award a further £500k in 2027/28 to fund ongoing pressures 
on the education budget, namely: Equalities Works, Health and Safety 
measures, Mobile Classroom Provision.   

6.18. To mitigate ongoing health and safety concerns at a number of school drop-
off sites we propose to provide £850k in 2023/24 and 2024/25 for the 
provision of new bus bays and traffic management projects.  This will be 
funded by MEP unsupported prudential borrowing. 

6.19. An autism spectrum disorder (ASD) unit for secondary age pupils is urgently 
needed in the east of the county. This will be accommodated in the Llanelli/ 
Burry Port Area.  It is hoped that this will attract government funding of 
approximately £1.5m. It is proposed to provide a further £500k in match 
funding for the provision of the same from our own resources to meet our 
responsibilities in this area.  This will be funded by MEP unsupported 
prudential borrowing. 

Chief Executive  

6.20. ICT services are crucial to our future ways of working.  There is £2.4m 
allocated across the programme for this area.  It includes annual funding of 
£200k per ammun to support digital transformational projects across council 
services. The county council will also see the benefit of the Swansea Bay City 
Region Digital Project across the county.  

Regeneration 

6.21. The work to deliver the new Carmarthen town centre hub continues.  A new 
community resource, in partnership with healthcare and education providers. 
It will also see a new home for some of the county’s art collections currently 
unseen by the public, and a new fitness suite. This development will bring 
footfall back to the town centre and be a catalyst for the regeneration and 
revitalisation of Carmarthen town centre. 

6.22. In the medium term we will need to be able to support new regeneration 
projects as they are developed. We are therefore making new awards of £2m 
per year in 2026/27 and 2027/28 to Regeneration Schemes Match Funding, 
which in turn will be utilised to attracted external grant funding to 
developments across the county. 

6.23. Work continues on the Pentre Awel project (Zone 1), delivered under the 
Swansea Bay City Region programme, which will create five distinct buildings 
linked with a “street” space, comprising an aquatics centre, sports hall, 
multipurpose sports and fitness rooms and gym, education and training 
facilities, clinical delivery and research and innovation and business space. 
The budgeted costs of Zone 1 which started in 2018/19 are increasing at the 

Tudalen 146



 7 

moment and we are in negotiations with the contractor currently. The  funding 
will be via City Deal (£40m), County Council finances, Llanelli Waterfront JV, 
third party Health parters, and external market funding, £26m of which falls 
within year one of the new programme.  The latest estimated cost is included 
within the programme. 

The project also includes the provision of a hydro-therapy pool, which will be 
part of the leisure element, the funding for which includes approximately £1m 
from a trust.  This project has recently been subject to a separate County 
Councvil report.  With reference to the City Deal funding, the expenditure - 
whilst being incurred by the Authority, will be repaid to the Authority over a 
period of up to 15 years by both Welsh and UK governments. The structure 
of the City Deal projects means that WG expects the Authority to deliver the 
projects and raise the funding through borrowing which will then be repaid 
over a 15 year period. The projects or the Authority will need to accommodate 
the interest payments on this borrowing.   

6.24. The Pentre Awel development also provides for an assisted housing 
development programme, in Zone 3, which is part of the HRA capital 
programme.  

6.25. The County Council will also have an input in other regional projects delivered 
by the Swansea Bay City Region given its role as lead body. 

7. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 

7.1. In considering the capital programme, members need to take into 
consideration the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. The Act requires the public bodies to carry out 
development sustainably, improving the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales.    

‘… the public body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs 
of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations 
to meet their own needs’ 

7.2. In doing so, we must demonstrate the following five ways of working: 

i. Looking at the long-term so that we do not compromise the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs 

ii. Understanding the root causes of issues to prevent them recurring 

iii. Taking an integrated approach so that we look at all well-being goals 
and objectives of other services and partners 

iv. Working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable 
solutions 

v. Involving a diversity of population in decisions that affect them 

 

Tudalen 147



 8 

7.3. The act identifies seven well-being goals and provide a shared vision for 
public bodies to work towards. We must work towards achieving all of them. 

i. A prosperous Wales 

ii. A resilient Wales 

iii. A healthier Wales 

iv. A more equal Wales 

v. A Wales of cohesive communities 

vi. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 

vii. A globally responsible Wales 

7.4. Our well-being objectives are designed to maximise our contribution to 
achieving the seven well-being goals of the Act.  

7.5. All projects within the programme have been assesses and scored with the 
five ways of working, the seven goals and our corporate well-being statement 
in mind. 

 

Tudalen 148



 9 

8. SUMMARY 

The table below gives a breakdown of the expenditure by departments and the sources 
of funding.  

CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY 
  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Expenditure             
Community Services 6,312 2,300 2,000 2,500 2,500 15,612 
Place and Infrastructure 35,311 6,672 6,543 5,026 5,026 58,078 
Education & Children 18,416 33,593 20,857 500 500 73,866 
Chief Executive 1,465 1,657 200 200 200 3,722 
Regeneration 89,639 15,424 3,863 2,201 2,000 113,127 
Total Expenditure  151,143 59,646 33,463 10,427 10,226 264,905 
              
Grants and Contributions             
External Funding 63,916 23,273 13,232 0 0 100,421 
              
Net Expenditure Funded 
by CCC 87,227 36,373 20,231 10,427 10,226 164,484 

              
CCC Funding             
Non-hypothecated 
Supported Borrowing  5,914 5,914 5,914 5,914 5,914 29,570 

Unsupported Borrowing 24,603 10,143 4,822 -1,100 280 38,748 
Prudential Borrowing - Fleet 7,250 1,000 1,000 0 0 9,250 
General Capital Grant 6,075 6,075 6,075 6,075 6,075 30,375 

Capital Reserves   39,369  12,725 1,904         500  0  54,498  
Joint Venture Funding 
Llanelli Leisure Centre 3,500 0 0 0 0 3,500 

Direct Revenue Funding 516 516 516 490 16 2,054 

Overall Net Position: 
Surplus + / Deficit (-) 0 0 0 1,452 2,059 3,511 

 

8.1. To summarise the overall position, all approved projects within the capital 
programme are fully funded for the five years from 2023/24 to 2027/28, 
however, not all available funding is commited at this time in order to give us 
flexibility to deal with future cost pressures or urgent works which may arise. 

8.2. The total cost of the programme is £264.9m of which £100.4m is funded from 
external grants and contributions.  

8.3. The full detail of the proposed five-year capital programme is attached in 
Appendix A. 

 
Tudalen 149



 10 

9. REVENUE IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. The revenue budget strategy in 2023/24 allows for a £400k increase in the 
revenue budget implications of the capital programme.  

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Cabinet consider and recommend to County Council: 
 

10.1. The five-year Capital Programme and funding as detailed in Appendix A, with 
2023/24 being a hard budget and 2024/25 to 2027/28 soft/indicative budgets.  

10.2. That the programme be reviewed, as is usual, if predicted external or county 
council funding does not materialise. 

10.3. That the Capital Strategy in Appendix C be approved.  

and 

10.4. That Cabinet/County Council delegates to the Director of Corporate Services, 
in consultation with the Chief Executive, Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Resources, authority to make any amendments to the programme necessary 
as a consequence of the final settlement from the Welsh Government due on        
1st March 2023. 

 
 

Tudalen 150



Capital Programme  2023/24 - 2027/28

Capital Project
2023/24-2027/28

COUNCIL FUND
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total 
Scheme

County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County 
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

COMMUNITIES

Private Sector Housing
Disabled Facility Grants 2,700 0 2,700 2,300 0 2,300 2,000 0 2,000 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 2,500 12,000 0 12,000
Sports & Leisure
Amman Valley Leisure Centre 3G Pitch 1,912 0 1,912 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,912 0 1,912

Culture
Oriel Myrddin 700 1,000 1,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 700 1,000 1,700

Total Communities 5,312 1,000 6,312 2,300 0 2,300 2,000 0 2,000 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 14,612 1,000 15,612

Total Communities Excluding HRA 5,312 1,000 6,312 2,300 0 2,300 2,000 0 2,000 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 14,612 1,000 15,612

Five Year Total2027/282023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Five Year Total 
2023/24:2027/28

Appendix A

T
udalen 151



Capital Programme  2023/24 - 2027/28

Capital Project
2023/24-2027/28

COUNCIL FUND
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total 
Scheme

County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County 
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Five Year Total2027/282023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Five Year Total 
2023/24:2027/28

Appendix A

PLACE and INFRASTRUCTURE

Countryside
Byways 16 0 16 16 0 16 16 0 16 16 0 16 16 16 80 0 80
Rights of Way Improvement Programme 50 0 50 50 0 50 50 0 50 50 0 50 50 50 250 0 250

Coastal and Flood Defence
Flood Mitigation 200 0 200 400 0 400 400 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000
Flood Management 75 425 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75 425 500

Fleet Management
Fleet Replacement - Prudential Borrowing 2,520 0 2,520 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,520 0 4,520

Infrastructure
Multi Storey Car Park, Llanelli 60 0 60 60 0 60 60 0 60 60 0 60 60 0 60 300 0 300
Highways 1,600 0 1,600 600 0 600 600 0 600 600 0 600 600 0 600 4,000 0 4,000
Highways Drainage 250 0 250 250 0 250 250 0 250 250 0 250 250 0 250 1,250 0 1,250
Bridges and Structures 400 0 400 400 0 400 400 0 400 400 0 400 400 0 400 2,000 0 2,000
Street Lighting Replacement & Upgrade 0 0 0 400 0 400 400 0 400 400 0 400 400 0 400 1,600 0 1,600

Waste Management
Refuse Vehicles replacement 2,125 0 2,125 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,125 0 2,125
Decarbonisation of Refuse and Recycling Collection 
Vehicles

2,605 0 2,605 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,605 0 2,605

Transportation
Road Safety Improvement Schemes 250 0 250 250 0 250 250 0 250 250 0 250 250 0 250 1,250 0 1,250

Cross Hands Economic Link Road Phase 2 384 0 384 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 384 0 384

Public Transport Infrastructure

Twyi Valley Path - Non Levelling Up 426 0 426 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 426 0 426

Tywi Valley Path - Levelling Up Fund 6,086 11,751 17,837 0 0 0 45 0 45 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,131 11,751 17,882

Place
Decarbonisation Measures 500 500 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Property
Capital Maintenance 2,838 0 2,838 3,246 0 3,246 3,072 0 3,072 3,000 0 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 15,156 0 15,156
County Hall 1,600 0 1,600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,600 0 1,600

1,150 0 1,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,150 0 1,150

Total Place and Infrastructure 23,135 12,176 35,311 6,672 0 6,672 6,543 0 6,543 5,026 0 5,026 5,026 0 5,026 46,402 12,176 58,578

T
udalen 152



Capital Programme  2023/24 - 2027/28

Capital Project
2023/24-2027/28

COUNCIL FUND
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total 
Scheme

County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County 
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Five Year Total2027/282023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Five Year Total 
2023/24:2027/28

Appendix A

EDUCATION & CHILDREN

Schools: General Projects
Non MEP Education Works - Equalities Works, Mobiles, 
H&S etc

500 0 500 500 0 500 500 0 500 500 0 500 500 0 500 2,500 0 2,500

Dyffryn Taf Bus Bays 169 0 169 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 169 0 169
Infant Class Size Penygroes 157 0 157 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 157 0 157
Glanymor Bus Bays 250 0 250 250 0 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Amman Valley Bus Bays 300 0 300 300 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 600
Bro Myrddin Onsite traffic management issues 100 0 100 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 0 200
Amman Valley Safeguarding access 200 0 200 200 0 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 400
ASD  Llanelli Area - Secondary Provision 500 1,500 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 1,500 2,000

Sustainable Communities for Learning BandA - 
Design stage Projects
Laugharne 50 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 50
Dewi Sant 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 100

Sustainable Communities for Learning BandB - 
Design stage Projects
Ysgol Gymraeg Gwenllian 20 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 20
Carmarthen West 50 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 50
Llandybie 50 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 50
Heol Goffa New School 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 100
Bryngwyn 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 100
Maes y Morfa 100 0 100 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 0 200

Sustainable Communities for Learning BandB - 
Approved Schemes
Y Castell 0 60 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60 60
Pum Heol 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Pembrey 3,260 850 4,110 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,260 850 4,110

Sustainable Communities for Learning Match 
Funding

Consolidated MEP Delivery Fund 2,500 7,500 10,000 9,750 22,393 32,143 7,125 13,232 20,357 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,375 43,125 62,500

Total Education & Children 8,506 9,910 18,416 11,200 22,393 33,593 7,625 13,232 20,857 500 0 500 500 0 500 28,331 45,535 73,866

T
udalen 153



Capital Programme  2023/24 - 2027/28

Capital Project
2023/24-2027/28

COUNCIL FUND
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total 
Scheme

County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County 
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Five Year Total2027/282023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Five Year Total 
2023/24:2027/28

Appendix A

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Property
Rural Estate Infrastructure 0 0 0 300 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 0 300
St David's Park - Block 3 1,000 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000

Digital Transformation 200 0 200 200 0 200 200 0 200 200 0 200 200 0 200 1,000 0 1,000
PSBA Network 75 0 75 75 0 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150 0 150
Strategic Digital Initiatives 100 0 100 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 0 200
Information Security and Governance 50 0 50 50 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 100
Virtualised Server & Storage Environment Replacement 0 0 0 400 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 400
UPS 15KVA 15 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 15
Voice Infrastructure 25 0 25 20 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 45 0 45
Business Critical Infrastructure & Strategic ICT 
Development

0 0 0 512 0 512 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 512 0 512

Total Chief Executive 1,465 0 1,465 1,657 0 1,657 200 0 200 200 0 200 200 0 200 3,722 0 3,722

T
udalen 154



Capital Programme  2023/24 - 2027/28

Capital Project
2023/24-2027/28

COUNCIL FUND
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total 
Scheme

County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County 
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Five Year Total2027/282023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Five Year Total 
2023/24:2027/28

Appendix A

REGENERATION

Transformational Strategy Project Fund 0 0 0 1,500 0 1,500 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 7,500 0 7,500

Rural Employment Spaces JV 1,000 1,000 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 2,000

Rural Enterprise Fund 1,500 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 1,500
Transformation Commercial Property Development Fund 2,500 0 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500
Business Support for Renewable Energy Initiatives (3rd 
Party Grants)

400 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 400

Ten Town Growth Plan

Ten Town Growth Plan 1,000 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000

Llanelli, Cross Hands & Coastal Belt Area
Tri Market Street North 1,700 0 1,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,700 0 1,700

Ammanford, Carmarthen & Rural Area
Carmarthen Hub - Levelling Up Fund 1,896 8,417 10,313 0 0 0 93 0 93 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,989 8,417 10,406
Carmarthen Hub - Fit-out 0 0 0 0 0 0 201 0 201 201 0 201 0 0 0 402 0 402

Swansea Bay City Region Projects
City Deal - Pentre Awel Wellness Project 16,513 26,913 43,426 13,044 880 13,924 1,569 0 1,569 0 0 0 0 0 0 31,126 27,793 58,919
City Deal - Llanelli Leisure Centre 22,300 4,500 26,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22,300 4,500 26,800

Total Regeneration 48,809 40,830 89,639 14,544 880 15,424 3,863 0 3,863 2,201 0 2,201 2,000 0 2,000 71,417 41,710 113,127

Total Council Fund 87,227 63,916 151,143 36,373 23,273 59,646 20,231 13,232 33,463 10,427 0 10,427 10,226 0 10,226 164,484 100,421 264,905

Total Council Fund Excluding HRA 87,227 63,916 151,143 36,373 23,273 59,646 20,231 13,232 33,463 10,427 0 10,427 10,226 0 10,226 164,484 100,421 264,905

T
udalen 155



Capital Programme  2023/24 - 2027/28

Capital Project
2023/24-2027/28

COUNCIL FUND
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total 
Scheme

County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County  
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total
County 
Council 
Funding

External 
Funding

Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Five Year Total2027/282023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Five Year Total 
2023/24:2027/28

Appendix A

Sources of Funding
Borrowing: PWLB 23,254 0 23,254 11,570 0 11,570 11,736 0 11,736 4,814 0 4,814 6,194 0 6,194 57,568 0 57,568
Borrowing: Non PWLB 14,513 0 14,513 5,487 0 5,487 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 20,000
Capital Receipts 3,500 3,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,500 0 3,500
Reserves / Revenue 30,526 0 30,526 13,241 0 13,241 2,420 0 2,420 990 0 990 16 0 16 47,193 0 47,193
Highways & Transport Grants 12,176 12,176 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,176 12,176
Economic Development Grants 40,830 40,830 880 880 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41,710 41,710
Education Grants 9,910 9,910 22,393 22,393 13,232 13,232 0 0 0 0 0 45,535 45,535
Other Grants & Funding 15,434 1,000 16,434 6,075 0 6,075 6,075 0 6,075 6,075 0 6,075 6,075 0 6,075 39,734 1,000 40,734

Total Capital Programme Funding 87,227 63,916 151,143 36,373 23,273 59,646 20,231 13,232 33,463 11,879 0 11,879 12,285 0 12,285 167,995 100,421 268,416

Net Funding Position - Surplus / (Shortfall) -0 0 -0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,452 0 1,452 2,059 0 2,059 3,511 0 3,511

Summary of Expenditure by 
Services
Public Housing
Private Housing 2,700 0 2,700 2,300 0 2,300 2,000 0 2,000 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 12,000 0 12,000
Culture & Leisure 2,612 1,000 3,612 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,612 1,000 3,612
Transportation, Infrastructure & Municipal 17,547 12,176 29,723 3,426 0 3,426 3,471 0 3,471 2,026 0 2,026 2,026 0 2,026 28,496 12,176 40,672
Econcomic Development 48,809 40,830 89,639 14,544 880 15,424 3,863 0 3,863 2,201 0 2,201 2,000 0 2,000 71,417 41,710 113,127
Edcuation & Children 8,506 9,910 18,416 11,200 22,393 33,593 7,625 13,232 20,857 500 0 500 500 0 500 28,331 45,535 73,866
Property 6,588 0 6,588 3,546 0 3,546 3,072 0 3,072 3,000 0 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 19,206 0 19,206
ICT 465 0 465 1,357 0 1,357 200 0 200 200 0 200 200 0 200 2,422 0 2,422

Total Capital Expenditure by Service 87,227 63,916 151,143 36,373 23,273 59,646 20,231 13,232 33,463 10,427 0 10,427 10,226 0 10,226 164,484 100,421 264,905

Summary of Expenditure by 
Department
Communities 5,312 1,000 6,312 2,300 0 2,300 2,000 0 2,000 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 14,612 1,000 15,612
Place and Infrastrucuture 23,135 12,176 35,311 6,672 0 6,672 6,543 0 6,543 5,026 0 5,026 5,026 0 5,026 46,402 12,176 58,578
Education & Children 8,506 9,910 18,416 11,200 22,393 33,593 7,625 13,232 20,857 500 0 500 500 0 500 28,331 45,535 73,866
Chief Executive 1,465 0 1,465 1,657 0 1,657 200 0 200 200 0 200 200 0 200 3,722 0 3,722
Regeneration including City Deal 48,809 40,830 89,639 14,544 880 15,424 3,863 0 3,863 2,201 0 2,201 2,000 0 2,000 71,417 41,710 113,127

Total Capital Expenditure By Department 87,227 63,916 151,143 36,373 23,273 59,646 20,231 13,232 33,463 10,427 0 10,427 10,226 0 10,226 164,484 100,421 264,905

External Grants 0 63,916 63,916 0 23,273 23,273 0 13,232 13,232 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100,421 100,421
Net CCC Funding 87,227 0 87,227 36,373 0 36,373 20,231 0 20,231 10,427 0 10,427 10,226 0 10,226 164,484 0 164,484

* N.B.Some external funding shown may be subject to final 
approval from the relevant funding body.

T
udalen 156



 
 

         APPENDIX B 
 

EXTRACT 
 

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE & RESOURCES  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, 30TH JANUARY 2023 

 
5. FIVE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME (COUNCIL FUND) 2023/24 TO 2027/28 

 
The Cabinet Member for Resources presented the 5-year capital programme which 
provided an initial view of the 5-year Capital Programme from 2023/24 to 2027/28. 
The report formed the basis of the budget consultation process with members and 
other relevant parties and any feedback, along with the final settlement, would 
inform the final budget report which would be presented to Council in March 2023. 
 
The proposed gross expenditure on the capital programme for 2023/24 was 
£154.530m with the projected funding being £90.527m from the county council’s 
own resources through the use of borrowing, reserves and direct revenue financing, 
capital receipts and general capital grant, with the balance of £64.003m coming from 
external sources. These figures included projects delayed in 2022/23 which had 
been carried over and built into the budgets of future years. 
 
Whilst the new capital programme was fully funded over the five-year period it was 
proposed to under commit some of the available funding in order to give flexibility 
across the programme to cover any unexpected additional costs and to allow further 
consideration to the Sustainable Communities for Learning review when complete. 
The programme included projected expenditure on the Swansea Bay City Region 
Deal projects against which the authority would borrow, with the funding being 
returned from both Welsh and UK governments over a 15-year period (from 
2018/19). 
 
Amongst the issues raised during consideration of the report were the following: 

• In response to a comment the Head of Regeneration advised that round three 
of the Levelling-Up fund in Carmarthenshire would be restricted to bids from 
the Llanelli Parliamentary Constituency as the other two constituencies had 
already benefitted from funding for the conversion of the former Debenhams 
store and Tywi Valley Cycle Path; 
 

• Reference was made to the work being undertaken to address deprivation in 
the Glan y Mor and Tyisha wards in south Llanelli and the benefits which 
were likely to accrue from the Pentre Awel scheme; 
 

• Concern was expressed that no funding for flood management was included 
in years 2-5 of the 5-year programme particularly in light of the increase in 
flooding incidents and global warming. The Director of Corporate Resources 
agreed to convey the concern to the Director of Place and Infrastructure. 
 

RESOLVED that the Five-Year Capital Programme 2023/24 – 2027/28 be 
endorsed. 

Tudalen 157



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 
 

CAPITAL STRATEGY

2023 - 2024

carmarthenshire.gov.wales

Tudalen 159



CAPITAL STRATEGY 2023-24 
PURPOSE AND AIMS 

The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities was updated by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) in December 2021.  
 
This Code dictates that “authorities should 
have in place a capital strategy that sets out the 
long-term context in which capital expenditure 
and investment decisions are made and gives 
due consideration to both risk and reward and 
impact on the achievement of priority 
outcomes.” 
 
The Capital Strategy shows how this Council 
makes capital expenditure and investment 
decisions in line with service objectives and 
properly takes account of: 

 
• Stewardship / good professional practice 
• Value for money 
• Prudence / risks considered 
• Sustainability 
• Affordability 
 
 
It sets out a framework for the self-
management of capital finance and examines 
the following areas: 
 
• Capital expenditure and investment plans 
• Treasury Management  
• Prudential Indicators 
• Commercial activity 
• Knowledge and skills 
 
The above considerations help to support local 
strategic planning, local asset management 
planning and effective option appraisal. 
 
Through this Capital Strategy elected members 
and other stakeholders will see how future 
capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activities will contribute 
to the provision of services, together with a 

summary of how associated risks are managed 
and the implications for future financial 
sustainability. It also highlights the governance 
framework required to ensure the Strategy is 
delivered. 
 

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 
It is important to set out the external 
environment in which Carmarthenshire County 
Council is currently operating. One of the key 
factors that impact directly on the capital 
programme is the reduced revenue funding for 
local government. Owing to the pressure on 
public finances, the funds allocated from the 
Welsh Government to this council to run its 
services is substantially lower than in recent 
years.  Carmarthenshire will continue to 
identify, plan, fund and invest longer term in 
non-current assets to help the council deliver 
departmental strategies and wider plans.  
 
 

CARMARTHENSHIRE’S STRATEGIC 
RESPONSE 

In considering capital implications, the 
authority takes into consideration the 
requirements of the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The Act requires 
that we must carry out sustainable 
development, improving the economic, social 
environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales. The Act requires us to look at the long-
term prevention of recurring problems, 
integrating our approach, collaborating with 
others, and involving stakeholders. 
Carmarthenshire’s Well Being objectives have a 
direct impact on the Council Capital Strategy. 
Some of these include: 

• Start Well - help to give every child the best 
start in life and improve their early life 
experience 

• Live Well - increase the availability of rented 
and affordable homes 

• Age Well - support the growing numbers of 
older people to maintain dignity and 
independence in their later years 

Tudalen 160



• In a Healthy and Safe Environment - improve 
the highway and transport infrastructure 
and connectivity 

 
This Capital Strategy supports 
Carmarthenshire’s Well-being Objectives.  
Consideration is also increasingly given to the 
authority’s Corporate Vision and Net Zero 
Carbon Plan. 
  
 

WHAT IS CAPITAL EXPENDITURE? 
Capital expenditure is expenditure on non-
current assets such as Property, Plant and 
Equipment, Investment Properties and 
Heritage Assets. This would include the 
acquisition or construction of new assets, 
together with any subsequent expenditure on 
major upgrades or development work to those 
assets. 
 
Expenditure which adds to and does not merely 
maintain the value of an existing asset, should 
be treated as capital, if it yields benefits to the 
authority and the services it provides for a 
period of more than one year. 
 
Capital expenditure is defined by legislation as: 

• the acquisition, reclamation, enhancement 
or laying out of land, 

• the acquisition, construction, preparation, 
enhancement or replacement of roads, 
buildings and other structures, 

• the acquisition, installation, or replacement 
of moveable or immovable plant, 

• machinery, apparatus, vehicles and vessels. 
 
An understanding of what constitutes capital 
expenditure is fundamental to realising the 
benefits that an authority can obtain under the 
Prudential framework. Unless expenditure 
qualifies as capital it will normally fall outside 
the scope of the framework and be charged to 
revenue in the period that the expenditure is 
incurred. If expenditure meets the definition of 
capital, there may be opportunities to finance 
the outlay from capital receipts (funds raised 

from the sale of surplus assets e.g., a former 
school site) or by spreading the cost over future 
years’ revenues (i.e., through Minimum 
Revenue Provision). 
 
 

CARMARTHENSHIRE’S APPROACH 
TO CAPITAL INVESTMENT 

A Managing Capital procedure document has 
been adopted as a policy for the Authority. 
Within this document Carmarthenshire’s 
approach to capital investment is conveyed. A 
sub-strategy that feeds into the Authority’s 
overall Corporate Strategy is the Capital 
Programme. The Programme is closely linked to 
various other sub-strategies such as the 
Corporate Asset Management Plan, Local 
Transport Plan, Digital Transformation 
Strategy, and the Service Departments’ 
Business Plans. The ‘Managing Capital’ 
document explains that the aim is to deliver 
projects and outputs that meet the set 
objectives. The Capital Programme is prepared 
and approved on a five-year forward plan basis 
to: 
 

• Provide a detailed implementation plan to 
enable the high-level objectives to be 
realised, 

• Provide a financial commitment to allow 
enough time to adequately plan, 

• design and implement future schemes and 
projects, 

• Provide an overview of the likely future 
commitments arising from current schemes. 

 
Carmarthenshire’s Capital Strategy defines and 
outlines its approach to capital investment and 
is fundamental to the Council’s financial 
planning processes. It aims to ensure that:  
 

• Capital expenditure contributes to the 
achievement of the Council’s strategic plan, 

• An affordable and sustainable capital 
programme is delivered, 

• Use of resources and value for money is 
maximised, 

Tudalen 161

http://intranet/media/485699/managing-capital.pdf


• A clear framework for making capital 
expenditure decisions is provided, 

• A corporate approach to generating capital 
resources is established, 

• Access to enough long-term assets to 
provide services are acquired and retained, 

• Invest to Save initiatives to make efficiencies 
within the Council’s revenue budget are 
encouraged, 

• An appraisal and prioritisation process for 
new schemes is robust. 

 
GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

It is important given the risks surrounding 
Capital Projects that the appropriate 
Governance framework is in place: 
 

Capital Programme Approvals 

All capital expenditure must be carried out in 
accordance with the financial regulations. The 
expenditure must comply with the statutory 
definition of capital purposes as defined within 
this document and wider financial standards. 
The Capital Programme approved by Full 
Council as part of the Council’s annual budget 
report sets the capital funding availability for 
the Council, the prioritisation of funding and 
the schemes receiving entry into the Capital 
Programme. All schemes are formally approved 
for inclusion in the capital programme by 
following a process set out in the financial 
regulations. Officers are not authorised to 
commit expenditure without prior formal 
approval as set out in the financial regulations. 
Each scheme must be under the control of a 
responsible person/project manager. 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 162



How it all works 
 

 
 
This Strategy is intended to maximise the financial resources available for investment in service 
provision and improvement within the framework of the Medium-Term Financial Plan. Whilst at the 
same time ensuring that each business case has a robust self-sustaining financial model that delivers 
on the wider outcomes of the strategy.  
 

Corporate 
Approach to 

Capital 
Investment 

and 
Governance

Expressions of 
Interest  for 

Capital Projects in 
which to invest 

are drawn up by 
Managers and 
Departmental 

Project Working 
Groups

Stragetic 
Asset Steering 
Group (SASG) 
develop and 

prioritise  
projects

Corporate 
Management 
Team (CMT) 

review

Cabinet 
recommend 
approval to 

Council

County 
Council 

approve the 
Five-Year 

Capital 
Programme 

and its funding

Project 
Managers 

monitor 
expenditure in 

the year

Section 151 
Officer lays out 
consequences 
on Prudential 

Indicators

Head of Financial 
Services monitors  
progress during 

the year and make 
recommentations 

to Cabinet on 
underspends or 

slippages

Departmental 
Management 
Teams (DMT) 

consider 
business plans 

and make 
recommentatio

ns to SASG

Tudalen 163



 
 
 
 

Tudalen 164



 

Overview of General Fund Capital Programme 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OUR PRIORITIES  

Cabinet have set out their aspirations for Carmarthenshire in ta Cabinet Vision Statement 2022-2027.  
The capital programme has been developed and approved to support this vision for the future.   
 

Carmarthenshire’s Sustainable 
Communities for Learning 

Modernising schools building though our 
Sustainable Communities for Learning 
programme is the flagship policy which has 
seen over £200million invested to date in the 
building of new schools and upgrading others, 
with a further commitment to fund future 
investments. 

 
 

Health & Wellbeing 
Improving the health and wellbeing of 
residents is a key aspiration and to this end we 
are committed to delivering: 

• A new leisure centre for Llanelli as part of 
the Swansea Bay City Deal Pentre Awel 
Wellness Project, and a new 4G Pitch in 
Ammanford. 

• Developing a new Working and Cycling Path 
from Carmarthen to Llandeilo along the 

Capital Budgets 
 by Department: 

2023/24 
£'000 

2024/25 
£'000 

2025/26 
£'000 

Communities 6,312 2,300 2,000 

Place and Infrastructure 35,311 6,672 6,543 

Education & Children 18,416 33,593 20,857 

Chief Executive 1,465 1,657 200 

Regeneration 19,413 1,500 2,294 

City Deal Projects 70,226 13,924 1,569 
Total Budget 151,143 59,646 33,463 

    

Financed by: 2023/24 
£'000 

2024/25 
£'000 

2025/26 
£'000 

Borrowing 37,767 17,057 11,736 
Unhypothecated  
General Capital Grants 6,075 6,075 6,075 

External Grants  
& Contributions 63,916 23,273 13,232 

Reserves 39,369 12,725 1,904 
Direct Revenue Financing 516 516 516 

Capital Receipts  3,500 0 0 
Total Funding 151,143 59,646 33,463 

Tudalen 165



former railway line.  A major investment 
which will bring significant benefits to the 
rural economy in the medium to long-term 
and improvements in health and wellbeing 
for residents.  We aspire to develop further 
projects of this type. 
 

 
Better ways of Working 

A desire to embrace and compound new ways 
of working, will enable us to make the best use 
of resources and identify any redundant assets 
that could be sold; raising income from capital 
receipts to fund strategic capital projects. 
 

Helping Local Businesses 
Many businesses have seen a downturn in 
fortunes in recent years.  A dedicated economic 
stimulus and business support package 
together with wider regeneration funding, will 
boost local economies.  It includes specific 
investment in a growth plan for our smaller ten 
satellite towns.   

 
Cultural Heritage 

Building on our transformation plan for the 
museum provision. Major refurbishments at 
the county museum at Abergwili, Parc Howard, 
and a new Museum of Speed at Pendine, 
together with a new county archive and 
storage facility at “Y Stordy” will ensure that 
our valuable cultural learning and tourism 
resource is improved for residents and visitors 
and maintained for future generations.  Further 
investment in culture will see the 
redevelopment of the Oriel Myrddin Gallery in 
Carmarthen.  This will also build on our 
commitment to see the wider regeneration of 
the “Old Town Quarter” within the County 
Town. 
 

Decarbonisation 
In a commitment to future generations, we will 
see decarbonisation measures rolled out across 
our built estate and our Fleet.  Grant funding is 
also made available for local business to 
embrace renewable energy.  We will also see 

growing investments in electric car charging 
infrastructure across the county. 
  

 
Highways 

The economic prosperity of our towns is 
enhanced by improvements to road 
infrastructure. 
 
The Cross Hands economic distributor road 
coupled with associated developments at the 
Cross Hands strategic employment site will 
boost the economy in the Gwendraeth Valley. 
The longer-term plans for the development of 
the Ammanford distributor road will improve 
traffic flows and enhance retail investment 
opportunities.  
 

Digital Transformation 
Information Communication Technology (ICT) 
is crucial to our future ways of working. Our 
digital transformation programme aims to 
ensure that Carmarthenshire services are fit for 
purpose in the digital age.  The county will also 
benefit from the rollout of enhanced regional 
connectivity as part of investments by the 
Swansea Bay City Region. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 166



Housing 
Carmarthenshire’s Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan 2023-2026 details the Council’s 
priorities, plans and actions for council housing 
in Carmarthenshire for the future years. The 
plan covers all housing services and assets in 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). The 
purpose of this Plan is to explain the vision and 
detail of our Housing Investment Programme, 
and what it means for tenants. Maintaining the 
‘Welsh Housing Quality Standard’ (WHQS) is a 
statutory duty which Carmarthenshire exceeds 
by maintaining our Carmarthenshire Homes 
Standard. Providing more affordable homes 
has always been important to us, but now with 
the cost-of-living crisis and the steep rise in 
homelessness it is more important than ever. 
We have already delivered over 1,600 
additional homes and our new development 
programme will support the delivery of a 
further 2,000 homes, supporting the 
regeneration of our town centres, rural towns 
and villages and our major regeneration sites 

including the Transforming Tyisha programme. 
We have also accelerated our buying private 
sector homes programme and remodelled 
some of our existing stock, helping to increase 
supply quickly meeting the needs of some of 
our most vulnerable individuals and families.  
In addition, the Council plans to continue to 
invest over £52m in maintaining tenants’ 
homes over the next three years.  
 
• The Council recognises the importance of 

strategic asset management in providing the 
foundation for its investment plans so within 
the HRA Business Plan has highlighted five 
key themes for future investment:  

• Supporting tenants & residents 
• Investing in our homes & our estates.  
• Providing more homes.   
• Decarbonising our stock and services 
• Local economy, Community Benefits & 

procurement. 
 
 

 
 

HRA CAPITAL SPENDING AND FUNDING 

HRA Capital 
Budgets: 

2023/24 
£'000 

2024/25 
£'000 

2025/26 
£'000 

Maintain the 
standard 10,429 11,237 11,450 

Support Tenant and 
Residents 3,920 3,350 4,000 

Provide more  
affordable homes 12,730 14,900 15,500 

Decarbonisation 2,835 2,623 2,055 

Support the 
delivery of CHS+ 3,923 2,252 2,462 

TOTAL 33,837 34,362 35,467 

    
    

 
 

 
 
   

Tudalen 167



  

    

Financed by: 2023/24 
£'000 

2024/25 
£'000 

2025/26 
£'000 

Welsh Government 
Grant-MRA 6,225 6,225 6,225 

Welsh Government 
Grant - Other  9,272 9,052 7,000 

Direct Revenue 
Financing 10,000 5,000 5,000 

Borrowing  8,340 14,085 17,242 

TOTAL 33,837 34,362 35,467 
 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

The Council produces a Treasury Management 
Policy and Strategy which is approved by full 
Council annually as part of the budget setting 
process. There are close links between the 
Capital Strategy and Treasury Management 
Strategy. 
 
The capital programme determines the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the 
longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that 
the Council can meet its capital spending 
obligations. This management of longer-term 
cash may involve arranging long or short-term 
loans or using longer term cash flow surpluses. 
On occasion any debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost 
objectives. 

 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

Under the Local Government Act 2003 and the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (revised in 2021), local authority 
capital spending and its borrowing to fund that 
spending is limited by what is affordable, 
prudent and sustainable. The Prudential Code 
sets out several indicators that enables the 
authority to assess affordability and prudence. 
 

These indicators are included in the annual 
Treasury Management Policy and Strategy. 
 

COMMERCIAL ACTIVITY 
Our commercial portfolio consists of a variety 
of asset types, namely: Retail Units, Industrial 
Estates, Farms, Ground leases and Provision & 
livestock Markets. The portfolio generates 
revenue through rental receipts with 
opportunities to enhance income through rent 
reviews and renewals depending on the terms 
of each agreement. The Council has 20 
Industrial estates located around the County 
with a total of around 400 units, together with 
26 farms, 2 Provisions markets and 3 Livestock 
Markets. There are 104 Ground leases and 
Retail units (other than those forming part of 
the provisions markets). 
 In addition to generating a commercial return 
the portfolios meet corporate objectives of 
encouraging and supporting business and 
employment development, rural initiatives and 
town centre regeneration. In many instances 
the support of these broader aims is as 
important and income generation, and it’s the 
Council’s role to balance commercial returns 
with economic development objectives and 
corporate priorities. 

Tudalen 168



 Each portfolio will be managed uniquely 
considering its objectives; however, the 
underlying principle is that the Council makes 
the best use of its resources by increasing 
returns wherever possible, taking on board 
wider corporate priorities. 

RISK APPETITE 
Risk appetite can be thought of as the amount 
of risk an organisation is willing to accept, 
tolerate or be exposed to, in pursuit of its 
strategic and organisational objectives. The 
Council recognises that its appetite for 
different types of risks will vary and needs to 
reflect both its capability and its ability to 
exercise control.  
 
By virtue of its statutory responsibilities for 
public services and associated functions, the 
Council often has limited choice in whether to 
accept or tolerate risk. Clearly there are some 
types of risks where the Council’s tolerance will 
be extremely low, or risk averse, for example, 
those that could:  

• Endanger the safety of service users, 
employees, members or the general public 

• Damage the Council’s reputation or financial 
standing  

• Lead to breaches of laws and/or regulations 
• Threaten the future operations of the 

Council.  
In some circumstances, the Council is willing to 
accept a different level or type of risk in pursuit 
of its strategic objectives. For example, capital 
schemes typically invoke risks such as 
achievement of timescales and financial 
targets, management of contractors and 
satisfaction of service requirements.  
 
In other areas, the Council’s appetite for risk 
has evolved in response to the changing and 
challenging environment in which local 
government now operates. For example, in 
response to reductions in central government 
funding, the Council has been willing to 
consider commercial income generating 
ventures and invest to save proposals in 

addition to service reductions and efficiencies 
to secure financial stability.  
 
It is not possible to articulate the Council’s 
appetite for every form of risk it may encounter 
or to predetermine which risks are acceptable 
or not acceptable. Instead, this strategy aims to 
inform and strengthen the decision-making 
process, to ensure that: 
  

• Risks, as well as benefits and opportunities, 
are always considered, identified, and 
reported 

• Risks are assessed and recorded 
consistently, in accordance with the 
Council’s risk management methodology 

• Proposals which are likely to involve higher 
or more challenging levels of risk, such as 
creation of new partnerships, investments 
in major projects, or commercial activities, 
are subject to a robust and detailed risk 
appraisal process 

• Risks which are likely to impact the 
achievement of one or more corporate 
objectives or to carry significant financial 
implications are escalated to the senior 
management team and the Cabinet for 
review and approval.  

• Exposure to risks for which the Council’s 
tolerance is low, such as the examples given 
above, is minimised. 

  
REVENUE IMPLICATIONS 

Serious consideration is given to the 
implications a project will have on the revenue 
budget, both in the short and long term. It may 
be that a scheme may produce savings in terms 
of ongoing maintenance in some instances. In 
other cases, the scheme may enhance the level 
of service to our customers but could add to 
the maintenance requirements of the service in 
the long term, particularly in the case of 
additional assets. There may be a need to 
provide additional resources such as finance, 
personnel, property, or ITC equipment, or 
there may be efficiency savings. 
 

Tudalen 169



KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS 
The Capital and Treasury Management 
functions are managed by a team of 
professionally qualified accountants with 
extensive Local Government finance 
experience between them. They all follow a 
Continuous Professional Development Plan 
(CPD) and attend courses on an ongoing basis 
to keep abreast of new developments and 
skills.  
 
The Council’s Section 151 Officer is the officer 
with overall responsibility for Capital and 
Treasury activities and views the strategy to be 
prudent and affordable and fully integrated 
with the Council’s Medium-Term Financial 
Plan, Treasury Management Strategy and other 
Strategic Plans.  
 
All the Council’s commercial projects have 
project teams from all the professional 
disciplines from across the Council and when 
required external professional advice is taken.  
The Council Members are involved at a very 
early stage of a project’s life cycle and internal 
and external training is offered to members on 
an annual basis to ensure they have up to date 
skills to make capital and treasury decisions. A 
register is also kept on member attendance. 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 170



 

 

Cyngor 

1 MAWRTH2023 
 

Y Pwnc / Pwrpas: 
Polisi Rheoli’r Trysorlys a Strategaeth  2023-24 

 

Argymhellion y Cabinet: 
 

1. 1. Bod y Cyngor yn mynd ati’n ffurfiol i gymeradwyo Polisi a Strategaeth Rheoli’r Trysorlys 
2023-24 a’r argymhellion sydd ynddynt. 

 
2. Bod y Cyngor yn mynd ati’n ffurfiol i gymeradwyo Dangosyddion Rheoli’r Trysorlys, 
Dangosyddion Darbodus, y Datganiad MRP, y Strategaeth Fuddsoddi a’r argymhellion sydd 
ynddynt. 
 
Y Rhesymau: 
 
Er mwyn cydymffurfio ag adolygiad Cod Darbodaeth CIPFA ac adolygiad Cod Ymarfer CIPFA 
o ran Rheoli’r Trysorlys 2021. 
 
Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol  DO 
 
Pwyllgor Craffu Perfformiad Ac Adnoddau Corfforaethol 9fed Chwefror 2023 
 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad OES 
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES 
 
YR AELOD O'R CABINET  SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-  Cllr. A. Lenny 
 
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 
 
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 
Randal Hemingway 
 
 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: Anthony Parnell 
 

 
 
Swydd: Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Ariannol 
 
 
 
Swydd: Rheolwr Pensiwn a 
Buddsodiadau Gyllidol 

 
 
Rhif ffôn: 01267 224886 
 
Cyfeiriad E-bost: 
RHemingway@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
Rhif ffôn: 01267 224180 
 
Cyfeiriadau E-bost: 
AParnell@sirgar.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 171

Eitem Rhif  5.3



 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
COUNCIL 
01/03/2023 

 
SUBJECT 

Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2023-24 
 

1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT. 
 

It is a requirement of the revised CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management, which Council have adopted, that 
 
a) The Council maintains a Treasury Management Policy which states the 

policies and objectives of the Authority’s treasury management  activities;   
 
and     

 
b) The  Council  approves  a  Treasury  Management  Strategy  annually  

before  the  start  of  the  financial  year  to  which  it  relates. 
  
In addition, under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council approves the 
Treasury Management Indicators for the coming year.  

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  
 

 
 

  

Tudalen 172



 

 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

2. Legal   
 
Under the Local Government Act 2003 and the revised CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management, local authorities must set out their Treasury Management Indicators that relate 
to the Authority’s capital spending and its borrowing.   

 
 

 
1. 3. Finance   

 
The Treasury Management Policy and Strategy details the procedures that the Authority 
adheres to in managing its treasury management function. 
 
Interest paid and earned has a direct impact on the Authority’s Revenue Budget. The 
estimated projections are included in the Budget which is to be presented to Council on 1st 
March 2023. 

 

 
  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:        R Hemingway                                                           Head of Financial Services                            

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 
 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  YES  YES  NONE 
 

NONE 
 

NONE 
 

NONE 
 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 
 
Council has adopted the revised CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management, one of 
the requirements is that an annual Treasury Management Policy and Strategy be approved by 
Council before the commencement of the year to which it relates.   
 

Tudalen 173



 

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed:   R Hemingway                                                               Head of Financial Services                                               

 
1. Scrutiny Committee 
Corporate Performance and Resources Scrutiny Committee 9th February 2023 
2.Local Member(s)   
N/A 
 
3.Community / Town Council  
N/A 
 
4.Relevant Partners   
N/A 
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
N/A 

 
CABINET MEMBER  PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES/NO * Delete as appropriate 

Include any observations here 

 
  

Tudalen 174



 

 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW  
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

The Local Government Act 
2003  
 

 County Hall, Carmarthen  
 

Guidance issued  by  
Welsh Government  
 

 County Hall, Carmarthen  
 

Revised CIPFA  Treasury 
Management Code of 
Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes  
 

 County Hall, Carmarthen  
 

Revised CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities  
 

 County Hall, Carmarthen  
 

 

Tudalen 175



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 1 

 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
DATE: 1ST MARCH 2023  

 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 2023-2024 
 
 
 
A. INTRODUCTION  
  

This Council carries out its treasury management activities in accordance with the 
Prudential Code of Practice first developed for public services in 2002 by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). This Code was last 
revised in 2021. The Council also carries out its treasury management activities in 
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021. 

 
 

The revised Code identifies three key principles:  
 
 

1. The Council should put in place formal and comprehensive objectives, policies 
and practices, strategies and reporting arrangements for the effective 
management and control of their treasury management activities. 

 
 

2. The Council’s policies and practices should make clear that the effective 
management and control of risk are prime objectives of their treasury 
management activities and that responsibility for these lies clearly within their 
Council. The Council’s appetite for risk should form part of its annual strategy 
and should ensure that priority is given to security and liquidity when investing 
funds. 

 
 

3. The Council should acknowledge that the pursuit of value for money in treasury 
management, and the use of suitable performance measures, are valid and 
important tools for responsible Councils to employ in support of their business 
and service objectives; and that within the context of effective risk management, 
the Council’s treasury management policies and practices should reflect this.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 177



 2 

B. CIPFA PRUDENTIAL CODE AND CIPFA TREASURY MANAGEMENT CODE OF 
PRACTICE   

 
1. This Council has adopted the Revised CIPFA Prudential Code 2021 and the 

Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021. 
 

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021 stipulates that there 
should be Member scrutiny of the treasury policies, Member training and 
awareness and regular reporting. 

 
The main objectives of the 2021 Codes are to ensure, within a clear framework, 
that the capital expenditure plans of local authorities are affordable and 
proportionate, that all borrowing liabilities are within prudent and sustainable 
levels, and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with 
good professional practice and in full understanding of the risks involved and 
how these risks will be managed to levels that are acceptable to the 
organisation. 

 
The Council has adopted the four clauses shown in 1.1 as part of its financial 
procedure rules and the Corporate Performance and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee is responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury 
management strategy and policies, before making recommendations to 
Council. 
The policies and parameters within this report provide an approved framework 
within which the officers undertake the day-to-day treasury activities. 

 
 1.1 The four clauses adopted are: 

 
(1) This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective 

treasury management: 
 
• A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, 

objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury 
management activities 

 
• Suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMPs), setting out the 

manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 
activities 

 
(2) The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three 

main reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates 
and actuals.   

 
This Council will therefore receive reports on its treasury management 
policies, practices and activities, including an annual strategy in advance 
of the year, a mid year review report and a year end annual report, in the 
form prescribed in its TMPs. This treasury management policy and 
strategy report includes the prudential indicators (Appendix D) and the 
minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (Appendix E). 

  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 178



 3 

(3) This Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and 
monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices, and the 
quarter 1 and quarter 3 monitoring reports to the Cabinet, and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions to the 
Director of Corporate Services, who will act in accordance with the 
Council's policy statement and TMPs and CIPFA's Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

 
(4) The Council nominates the Corporate Performance and Resources 

Scrutiny Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of 
the treasury management strategy and policies. 

 
 
1.2 Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) 
 
  The Schedule of TMPs is shown in Appendix A.  
 

 
C. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY 
 

1. This Council defines its Treasury Management activities as: 
 
The management of the Council’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions and the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities, and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks. 
 
‘Investments’ in the definition above covers all the financial assets of the 
organisation, as well as other non-financial assets (including loans and other 
non-specified investments) which the organisation holds primarily for financial 
returns, such as investment property portfolios. This may therefore include 
investments which are not managed as part of normal treasury management or 
under treasury management delegations. All investments require consideration 
of appropriate investment management and the risk management framework 
under this CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021. 

 
2. This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk 

to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the Council.  

 
 The key principle of control of risk and optimising returns consistent with the 

organisation’s risk appetite should be applied across all investment activities, 
including more commercially based investments. 

 
3. This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 

support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
management and to employing suitable comprehensive performance 
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.  

 
 
This policy holds indefinitely until circumstances dictate that a change is necessary. 
Any changes must be done before the beginning of the financial year to which it 
relates, or in exceptional circumstances within the year if approved by Council.  
 

Tudalen 179



 4 

It is the Director of Corporate Services responsibility to implement and monitor the 
Treasury Management Policy, revising and re-submitting the Policy for consideration 
to the Cabinet and the Council if changes are required.  
 
 

D.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2023-2024 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 The Treasury Management Strategy provides details of the expected activities 
of the Treasury Management function in the financial year 2023-24. 

 
1.2 The Council’s financial procedure rules require an annual strategy to be 

reported to Council outlining the expected treasury activity for the forthcoming 
year. A key requirement of this report is to explain both the risks, and the 
management of the risks, associated with the treasury service. Further treasury 
reports will be produced during the year if the strategy needs updating and a 
year-end annual report on actual activity for the year. 
 

1.3 The strategy covers: 
• Treasury Indicators and Limits on Activity  
• Prospects for interest rates 
• Borrowing Strategy 
• Investment Strategy 
• Debt Rescheduling and Premature Repayment of Debt 
• Performance Indicators 
• Treasury Management Advisers 
• Member and Officer Training 

 
 
2. TREASURY INDICATORS AND LIMITS ON ACTIVITY  

 
2.1  Under the Local Government Act 2003 and the Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities 2021, local authority capital spending and its 
borrowing to fund that spending is limited by what is affordable, prudent and 
sustainable. The Prudential Code sets out a number of indicators that enables 
the authority to assess affordability and prudence. The Prudential Indicators that 
related to Treasury Management were reclassified as Treasury Indicators in 
recent revisions of the Codes and are: 

 
• Upper Limit for Fixed Rate Exposure 
• Upper Limit for Variable Rate Exposure 
• Limits on the Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
• Limits on Total Principal Sums Invested Long Term 
  
The Prudential Code also requires that the total external debt does not exceed 
the Authorised Limit for external debt and only exceeds the Operational 
Boundary for external debt temporarily on occasions due to variation in cash 
flow. Full Council when approving the Budget sets the Authorised Limit and the 
Operational Boundary. 

  
 
 
 

Tudalen 180



 5 

 
2.2 The Treasury Management Indicators for 2023-24 are: 

 
2.2.1 Interest rate exposure limits for 2023-24 are estimated as follows: 

 
Estimated Average Position for 2023-24 
 Fixed Interest Rate Variable Interest Rate Total 
 £m £m £m 
Borrowed +464 +3 +467 
Invested    (50)   (50)    (100) 
Net Debt +414 (47) +367 
Proportion of 
Total Net Debt +113% 

 
(13%) +100% 

 
  It is recommended that the following maximum exposure limits are 
  adopted:  

 
 Fixed Interest Rate Variable Interest Rate 
Proportion of 
Total Net Debt  

 
+150% 

 
+5% 

 

 
 2.2.2 It is recommended that the following exposure limits for 2023-24, 2024-25 

and 2025-26 are adopted: 
 

Interest Rate Exposures 2023-24 2024-25 
 

2025-26 
 

 Upper Upper Upper 
 £m £m £m 
Limits on fixed interest  
rates based on net debt 

518 545 557 

Limits on variable 
interest rates based on 
net debt 

 
52 

 

 
54 

 

 
56 

 
  
 2.2.3 It is recommended that the Council sets upper and lower limits for the 

maturity structure of its borrowing as follows: 
 

 Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Under 12 months 15% 0% 
12 months to 2 years 15% 0% 
2 years to 5 years 50% 0% 
5 years to 10 years 50% 0% 
10 years to 20 years 50% 0% 
20 years to 30 years 50% 0% 
30 years to 40 years 50% 0% 
40 years and above 50% 0% 

  
  
  
 
 

Tudalen 181



 6 

 
 2.2.4  Maximum principal sums invested longer than 365 days: 
 

 2023-24 
 

2024-25 
 

2025-26 
 

 £m £m £m 
Maximum principal sums 
invested longer than 365 days  

 
10 

 
10 

 
10 

 
 
3. PROSPECTS  FOR  INTEREST  RATES  
 
 Based on the average projection from a number of sources we can expect the trend in 

the Bank Rate, set by the Monetary Policy Committee, over the next three years to be 
as follows: 
 

 Current  2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 
 % % % % 

Average Bank Rate 3.50 4.44 3.63 2.69 
 
 
4.  BORROWING STRATEGY 2022-23 – 2024-25 
   

4.1  The current forecast for interest rates reflects a view that the MPC would be 
keen to further demonstrate its anti-inflation credentials by delivering a 
succession of rate increases.  Bank Rate stands at 3.5% currently, but is 
expected to reach a peak of 4.5% in 2023. 

 
Further down the road, the Bank of England will be keen to loosen monetary 
policy when the worst of the inflationary pressures are behind us – but that 
timing will be one of fine judgment: cut too soon, and inflationary pressures may 
well build up further; cut too late and any downturn or recession may be 
prolonged. 
 
The CPI measure of inflation is currently 10.7%, despite the cost-of-living 
squeeze that is still taking shape, the Bank will want to see evidence that 
wages are not spiralling upwards in what is evidently a very tight labour market. 
 
In the upcoming months, the forecasts will be guided not only by economic data 
releases and clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and the 
Government over its fiscal policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia 
and Ukraine. 

 
There is expected to be a steady but slow fall in PWLB rates over the next few 
years, though there will be a lot of unpredictable volatility during this forecast 
period. 
 
The uncertainty over future interest rates increases the risks associated with 
treasury activity. As a result the Council will continue to take a cautious 
approach to its treasury management strategy.   
 
 
 

Tudalen 182



 7 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will 
be adopted with the 2023-24 treasury operations.  The Director of Corporate 
Services will monitor  interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic 
approach to changing circumstances. 
 
The Director of Corporate Services, under delegated powers, will take the most 
appropriate form of borrowing depending on the prevailing interest rates at the 
time, taking into account the risks shown in the forecast above.  
  
The option of delaying borrowing and utilising investment balances is likely to 
continue for the time being. However, this will be carefully reviewed to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in later years due to an overall current trend of 
rising rates. This strategy reduces counterparty risk and hedges against any 
expected fall in investment returns. 
 
The Council continues to maintain an under-borrowed position. This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been 
fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances 
and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent 
as medium and longer dated borrowing rates are expected to fall from their 
current levels once prevailing inflation concerns are addressed by tighter near-
term monetary policy. 
 
The timing of any action is important, and the Director of Corporate Services 
and treasury advisers will monitor prevailing rates for any opportunities during 
the year.  
  
The Council will be expected to borrow £40.5m for the Carmarthenshire led 
projects within the Swansea Bay City Deal partnership from 2023-24 to 2025-
26.  
 

 
 
4.2 The Council’s agreed policy is to raise funding only from the following:  

 
 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
 Market Long-Term 
 Market Temporary 
 Local Authorities 
 Overdraft 
 Internal Capital Receipts and Revenue Balances 

Leasing 
Welsh Government and Central Government 

   
 
   

4.3 Borrowing in advance of need 
The Council has some flexibility to borrow funds in advance of future years. 
The Director of Corporate Services may do this under delegated power where, 
for instance, a sharp rise in interest rates is expected, and so borrowing early at 
fixed interest rates will be economically beneficial or meet budgetary 
constraints.  Whilst the Director of Corporate Services will adopt a cautious 
approach to any such borrowing, where there is a clear business case for doing 
so borrowing may be undertaken to fund the approved capital programme or to 
fund future debt maturities.  

Tudalen 183



 8 

 
Borrowing in advance will be made within the constraints that: 

• It will be limited to no more than 50% of the expected increase in borrowing 
needed (CFR) over the three-year planning period; and 

• Not to borrow more than 12 months in advance of need. 
 
Risks associated with any advance borrowing activity will be appraised in 
advance and subsequently reported through the quarterly reporting mechanism.  

 
 
 
5.  INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2023-24 – 2025-26 

 
 
5.1  INTRODUCTION 

 
5.1.1 The Investment Strategy has been prepared with due regard to:  

 
 The Local Government Act 2003 
 
 Regulations made under the Local Government Act 2003 (as amended) 
 
 2021 Revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
 
 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) (Amendment)  
 Regulations 2008 
 

2021 Revised CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 
 
CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021 
 
 Welsh Government’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the        
Guidance”)  

 
5.1.2 Key Objectives 
 

The Council’s investment strategy primary objectives are: 

• safeguarding the repayment of the principal and interest of its investments 
on time  

• ensuring adequate liquidity  

• the investment return  
 
The Authority will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with regard to the 
Authority’s risk appetite. In the current economic climate, it is considered 
appropriate to maintain a degree of liquidity to cover cash flow needs. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 184



 9 

5.1.3 Risk Benchmarking 
 

A development in the revised Codes and the WG Investment Guidance is the 
consideration and approval of security and liquidity benchmarks.  Yield 
benchmarks are currently widely used to assess investment performance.  
Discrete security and liquidity benchmarks are new requirements to the Member 
reporting, although the application of these is more subjective in nature. The 
approach taken is attached at Appendix B.  

 
5.2 DEFINITIONS 

 
5.2.1 A credit rating agency is one of the following three companies: Fitch Ratings 

Limited (Fitch), Moody’s Investors Service Limited (Moody’s) and Standard and 
Poors (S&P). 

 
5.2.2 An investment is something held or a transaction which relies upon the power in 

section 12 of the 2003 Act. That is for any purpose relevant to its functions 
under any enactment, or for the purposes of the prudent management of its 
financial affairs. This covers all of the financial and non-financial assets a local 
authority has invested money into primarily or partially for the purpose of 
generating a surplus including investment property. As such this may include 
investments that are not managed as part of normal treasury management 
processes or under treasury management delegations (such as loans to third 
parties or other non specified investments). 

 
 
5.3 INVESTMENT COUNTERPARTIES 

 
 The Director of Corporate Services maintains a counterparty list in compliance 

with the following criteria and revises the criteria and submits them to Council 
for approval as necessary. This criteria is separate to that which approves 
Specified and Non-Specified investments as it selects which counterparties the 
Council will approve rather than defining what its investments are. The rating 
criteria use the lowest common denominator method of selecting counterparties 
and applying limits.  This means that the application of the Council’s minimum 
criteria will apply to the lowest available rating for any institution.  For instance if 
an institution is rated by all three agencies, two meet the Council’s criteria, the 
other does not, the institution will fall outside the lending criteria. 

 
5.3.1 Investment Counterparty Selection Criteria  

The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security 
of its investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key 
consideration.  To meet this main principle the Council will ensure: 

• It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will 
invest in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate 
security, and monitoring their security. This is set out in the Specified and 
Non-Specified investment sections. 

• It has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose it will set out 
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may 
prudently be committed. These procedures also apply to the Council’s 
prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums invested.   

 
Tudalen 185



 10 

5.3.2 UK Banks 1 (Upper Limit) – This Council will use banks which have at least 
the following Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poors ratings: 

Short Term – F1, P-1, A-1 
Long Term – AA-, Aa3, AA-  

  
UK Banks 2 & UK Building Societies (Middle Limit) – This Council will use 
all UK Banks and Building Societies which have at least the following Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard & Poors ratings: 

Short Term – F1, P-1, A-1 
Long Term – A, A2, A  

 
UK Banks Part Nationalised – Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc (Royal Bank 
of Scotland and National Westminster Bank). These banks will be included if 
they continue to be part nationalised or they meet the ratings above. 
  
At the time of writing the UK Government (HM Treasury) holds 45.97% stake 
within Royal Bank of Scotland Group. 
  
UK part nationalised banks which are partly owned by the UK Government will 
be included as investment counterparties, as long as they continue to have 
appropriate UK Government support. UK Government backing provides a credit 
quality overlay above that provided by the credit rating agencies.  The Royal 
Bank of Scotland Group plc will continue to be monitored for any further 
material reduction in state ownership or deterioration of the credit rating which 
suggests a reduction of its use or suspension from the counterparty list. 
 
UK Banks 3 – The Council’s banker for transactional purposes if it falls below 
the above criteria. Balances will be minimised in both monetary size and time. 

 
Money Market Funds – The Council will use AAA rated money market funds 
(MMFs) that are credit rated by at least two of the three credit rating agencies.  
These are pooled investment funds whose primary aims are liquidity and 
security and allow daily access to funds when required.  Their operations are 
strictly regulated by the credit rating agencies and are operated by a financial 
institution but do not form part of that institution’s assets, should the sponsoring 
institution fail the MMF is entirely separate, effectively owned by the investors.  
These types of funds invest in a range of instruments and institutions and 
therefore provide a low risk spread of investments. 

 
The Money Market Fund reforms in Europe came into force during 2018 and 
provide the Council the opportunity to invest into Public Debt Constant Net 
Asset Value (“CNAV”) MMFs and Low Volatility NAV (“LVNAV”) MMFs. This is 
consistent with our current strategic approach. The exceptional economic 
environment and low interest rate position has seen some MMFs changing 
operating procedures whilst keeping very low risk.  The Director of Corporate 
Services will continue to utilise and monitor these instruments. 
 
 

 
Tudalen 186



 11 

UK Government (including gilts and the DMADF) 
 
Local Authorities (including Police & Fire Authorities) 
 

5.3.3 Use of additional information other than credit ratings  
Under the Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021 the 
Council is still required to supplement credit rating information.  Whilst the 
above criteria relies primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a 
pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use, additional operational 
market information will be applied before making any specific investment 
decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.  The market information (for 
example, negative rating watches/outlooks, individual/viability and support 
ratings) will be applied to compare the relative security of differing investment 
counterparties. 
The UK Government, like other Western governments, have initiated market 
regulations which mean they may not bail out financial institutions in the future.  
This process included ring-fencing part of each bank and requiring greater 
capital buffers are held on the balance sheets. Whilst this is not a cause for 
concern, officers will continue to monitor the situation and, if necessary, make 
any changes to future investment strategies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 187



 12 

5.3.4 The time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s Counterparty List 
are shown below: (Specified and Non-Specified Investments) 
 

Fitch Moody’s Time Limit   

    

Standard 
& 

Poors 

Money 
Limit 

  
Upper Limit Category -             

Short Term   F1 P-1 A-1     
and         £10m 3 years 

Long Term   AA- Aa3 AA-     
Middle Limit Category -              

Short Term   F1 P-1 A-1     
and         £7m 1 year 

Long Term   A A2 A     
Part Nationalised  - - - £7m 1 year 
       
Council’s Banker 
(not meeting criteria above) 

 - - - £3m 1 day 

Other Institution Limits (per institution):             
              
- Any One Local Authority 
(including Police & Fire authorities) 

   
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
£5m 

 
1 year 

- Any AAA Rated Money Market Fund 
CNAV - - - £10m 

 
Daily 

Liquidity 
  

- Any AAA Rated Money Market Fund 
LVNAV 

 - - - £10m Daily 
Liquidity 

 
- Debt Management Account Deposit  
Facility (DMO) 

  - - - £125m 6 months 
(max term  
specified 
by DMO) 

 
  
  
   
5.3.5 There are two types of investments – Specified and Non Specified  
 

5.3.5.1 Specified Investments 
 

These investments are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity.  
These are low risk assets where the possibility of loss of principal or investment 
income is small.  These would include investments with: 
 
(1) The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Office, UK  

Treasury Bills or a Gilt with less than one year to maturity). 
  (2) A local authority, police authority and fire authority. 
  (3) Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market funds) that have 

been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. 
(4) A body that has high credit quality (which may include a high credit rating 

by a credit rating agency) such as a bank or building society. For this 
purpose a body with a short term rating of F1, P-1 or A-1 will be 
considered high quality.  

Tudalen 188



 13 

 
5.3.5.2 Non Specified Investments 
 

These investments are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined as 
Specified in 5.3.5.1 above).  
The maximum sum and time limit for non specified investments is £5m per 
counterparty with a limit of 3 years. 

  
Non specified investments will only be made in local authorities, bodies with a 
minimum long-term credit rating of AA– and in AAA rated money market funds. 

 
Note: Barclays Bank plc are the Council’s current bankers. If the bank’s credit 
rating falls and it no longer meets the criteria for a specified investment no 
deposits will be made with the exception of the bank’s overnight (Moneymaster) 
account. The average day to day operational balance on the account will not 
exceed £3m in these circumstances. See 5.3.4 above.   

 
In the normal course of the council’s cash flow operations it is expected that 
both Specified and Non-specified investments will be utilised for the control of 
liquidity as both categories allow for short term investments.   

 
The use of longer term instruments (greater than one year from inception to 
repayment) will fall in the non-specified investment category.  These 
instruments will only be used where the Council’s liquidity requirements are 
safeguarded.   

 
5.3.6 The Monitoring of Investment Counterparties 

 
The credit ratings of counterparties are monitored regularly. The officers receive 
credit rating information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from the 
treasury management advisers as and when ratings change, and 
counterparties are checked promptly. Occasionally ratings may be downgraded 
when an investment has already been made. The criteria used are such that a 
minor downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and interest. 
Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria will be removed from the list 
immediately by the Director of Corporate Services, and if required new 
counterparties which meet the criteria will be added to the list.  

 
The criteria for choosing counterparties set out above provide a sound 
approach to investment in “normal” market circumstances.  Whilst Members are 
asked to approve this base criteria above, under “exceptional” market 
conditions the Director of Corporate Services will temporarily restrict further 
investment activity to those counterparties considered of higher credit quality 
than the minimum criteria set out for approval. These restrictions will remain in 
place until the banking system returns to “normal” conditions. Similarly the time 
periods for investments will be restricted. 
 
This would potentially necessitate greater use of and/or increase(s) in the 
money limit(s) of the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF – an 
account within the Government Debt Management Office (DMO) which accepts 
local authority deposits), Money Market Funds, guaranteed deposit facilities 
and strongly rated institutions offered support by the UK Government.  

 
Tudalen 189



 14 

The present Schedule of Approved Counterparties for Lending 2023-2024 is 
shown in Appendix C. 

 
 

5.4 LIQUIDITY OF INVESTMENTS 
 

Investments are made for periods which coincide with the Council’s cash flow 
requirements. When investing (within the risk criteria mentioned above), the aim 
is to achieve a level of return greater than would be secured by internal 
investments. The “90 day uncompounded SONIA rate (backward looking)” is 
the recognised rate which the Council aims to exceed when lending money. 
This benchmark will be reviewed periodically with our advisors. 
 

 
5.5 INVESTMENTS THAT ARE NOT PART OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

ACTIVITY 
 

This Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property 
primarily for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, 
requires careful investment management. Such activity includes loans 
supporting service outcomes, investments in subsidiaries, and investment 
property portfolios.  

 
This Council will ensure that all the organisation’s investments are covered in 
the investment strategy or equivalent, and will set out, where relevant, the 
organisation’s risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements for non-
treasury investments. It will be recognised that the risk appetite for these 
activities may differ from that for treasury management. 

  
The council will maintain a schedule setting out a summary of existing material 
investments, subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities including financial 
guarantees and the organisation’s risk exposure. 

 
Prior to making these investments, appropriate financial review procedures will 
be undertaken, including due diligence covering Profit and Loss, Balance 
Sheet, cash flow monitoring, etc, as appropriate. 

 
This Council acknowledges that it is critical that due diligence processes and 
procedures reflect the additional risk an organisation is taking on. Due diligence 
procedures should ensure effective scrutiny of proposed investments, 
identification of risk to both capital and returns, any external underwriting of 
those risks, and the potential impact on the financial sustainability of the 
organisation if those risks come to pass. Where necessary independent and 
expert advice should be sought to ensure due diligence is suitably robust. 
 

 
5.6 CLIMATE CHANGE 

 
Where possible, consideration will be given to the disclosure of long term 
climate risks associated with investments, though with regard to treasury 
investments, any tangible information will be limited.  Greater disclosure for non 
specified investments and loans to third parties may be appropriate depending 
on the type of activity.   

Tudalen 190



 15 

 
 
 
6.  DEBT RESCHEDULING AND PREMATURE REPAYMENT OF DEBT 

  
  As short term borrowing rates are likely to be considerably cheaper than longer term 

fixed interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by 
switching from long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will need to 
be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of the cost of 
debt repayment (premiums incurred).  
 
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:  
• the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings 
• helping to fulfil the treasury strategy 
• enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance  
of volatility). 
 
Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for making 
savings by utilising current investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short 
term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.   

 
If rescheduling is to be undertaken, it will be reported to the Council at the earliest 
meeting following its action.  
 

 
7. PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 
The Code of Practice on Treasury Management requires the Council to set 
performance indicators to assess the adequacy of the treasury function over the year. 
These are distinct historic indicators, as opposed to the prudential indicators, which 
are predominantly forward looking.  Examples of performance indicators used for the 
treasury function are: 

 
• Debt (Borrowing) – New borrowing rate to outperform the average 

PWLB rate for the year  
 
• Debt – Average weighted debt rate movement year on year 
 
• Investments – Return on investment to outperform the 90-day 

uncompounded SONIA rate (backward looking)  
 

The results of these indicators will be reported in the Treasury Management Annual 
Report for 2023-24. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 191



 16 

8. TREASURY MANAGEMENT ADVISERS   

 
The Council has a contract with Link Group as its external treasury management 
advisor. 

 
Link provides a range of services which include:  

• Technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues including IFRS 
16 leases and the drafting of Member reports 

• Economic and interest rate analysis 

• Debt advisory services which includes advice on the timing of borrowing 

• Debt rescheduling advice surrounding the existing portfolio 

• Generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments 

• Credit ratings/market information service comprising the three main credit 
rating agencies 

 
Under current market rules and the Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice 2021 the responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
Council at all times ensuring that undue reliance is not placed upon the external 
service providers.  

 
The Council also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of 
treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. 
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their 
value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular 
review.  
 
 

9. MEMBER & OFFICER TRAINING 
 

The increased member consideration of treasury management matters and the need 
to ensure officers dealing with treasury management are trained and kept up to date 
requires a suitable training process for members and officers. This Council has 
addressed this important issue by: 
 

• Reviewing the treasury management function and ensuring officers are 
suitably qualified 

• Arranging external training for officers 

• Arranging training for those members charged with governance of the 
treasury management function 

• Recording training attendance  
 

A Knowledge and Skills Register will be created and shared with officers and 
members involved in treasury management. The training needs of treasury 
management officers/ members will be periodically reviewed. 

 
 
 

Tudalen 192



 17 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Council formally approves the Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy for 2023-2024 and recommendations therein. 
 

2. That Council formally approves the Treasury Management Indicators, 
Prudential Indicators, the MRP Statement, the Investment Strategy and 
recommendations therein. 

Tudalen 193



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 1 

     
            Appendix A 

 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMPs) 
                  
 
TMP1  RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
  General Statement 
 

This Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be 
the security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that robust 
due diligence procedures cover all external investment. 
 
The Director of Corporate Services or those persons to which delegation has been 
made will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, 
management and control of treasury management risk, will report at least annually 
on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of urgency, the 
circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation’s 
objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP 6 
Reporting requirements and management information arrangements. In respect of 
each of the following risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance 
with these objectives are set out below. 

 
 
1.1  Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 
 
  Explanation 
 

The risk of failure by a third party to meet its contractual obligations to the Council 
under an investment, borrowing, capital, project or partnership financing, 
particularly as a result of the third party’s diminished creditworthiness, and the 
resulting detrimental effect on the Council’s capital or current (revenue) resources.  

 
Council Action 

 
This Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be 
the security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its 
counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with 
whom funds may be deposited, and will limit its investment activities to the 
instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 Approved instruments, 
methods and techniques and listed in the Annual Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy Statement. It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore 
maintain, a formal counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which 
it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements. 
 
A detailed list of counterparties to which the Council will lend is appended to the 
Annual Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Statement. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 195



 2 

1.1.1 Policy on Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) considerations 
 
Explanation 
 
The Council’s credit and counterparty policies should set out its policy and 
practices relating to ESG investment considerations. This is a developing area, 
and it is not implied that the Council’s ESG policy will currently include ESG scoring 
or other real-time ESG criteria at individual investment level. 
  
Council Action 
 
For short term investments with counterparties, the Council utilises the ratings 
provided by Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s to assess creditworthiness, 
which already include analysis of ESG factors when assigning ratings. The 
Council will continue to evaluate additional ESG-related metrics and assessment 
processes that it could incorporate into its investment process and will update 
accordingly. 
 
Typical ESG considerations are shown below. Please note that these are 
examples of ESG factors that are considered by the Credit Rating Agencies 
above when assigning credit ratings to counterparties. The credit ratings 
provided by these agencies are also used as the basis for selecting suitable 
counterparties by the Council: 
 

• Environmental: Emissions and air quality, energy and waste management, 
waste and hazardous material, exposure to environmental impact.  
 

• Social: Human rights, community relations, customer welfare, labour relations, 
employee wellbeing, exposure to social impacts.  
 

• Governance: Management structure, governance structure, group structure, 
financial transparency. 

 
 
1.2  Liquidity Risk Management 
 
  Explanation 
 

The risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective 
management of liquidity creates additional budgeted costs, and that the 
organisation’s business/service objectives will therefore be compromised. 
 
Council Action 

 
The Council through its Treasury Management officers will ensure that at all times 
there will be a surplus of cash available which can be called upon at a moment’s 
notice.  Through its investments the Council holds cash on call account(s) which 
is available at any time.   By the use of an effective projected cash flow exercise 
the likelihood of cash being not readily available when required would be rare. 
Robust daily, weekly, monthly and annual cash flow forecasting is in place. Call 
accounts and fixed term investments are utilised to their full potential. 

Tudalen 196



 3 

This Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business 
case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance 
future debt maturities. 

 
 
1.3  Interest Rate Risk Management 
 
  Explanation  
 

The risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an unexpected or 
unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation 
has failed to protect itself adequately. 

 
  Council Action 
 

This Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view 
to containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance 
with the amounts provided in its budgetary arrangements as amended in 
accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information 
arrangements. 
 
It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment 
instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of 
costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility 
to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level 
or structure of interest rates. This should be the subject to the consideration and, 
if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.  
 
 

 
    

 
 
 
 
1.4  Exchange Rate Risk Management 
 
   

Explanation 
 

The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or 
unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s finances, against which the 
organisation has failed to protect itself adequately. The Council is awarded grant 
from specific programmes in Euro currency and consequently receives grant 
income in this currency.  Where the Council is a joint beneficiary and not a lead 
beneficiary, payments are received from the lead beneficiary in Euros into the 
Council’s Sterling bank account. 
There is a negligible risk where the Council is a joint beneficiary. 
Where the Council is a lead beneficiary for a grant and is receiving income in 
Euro currency on behalf of other beneficiaries, the income is received into and 
payments made in Euros from the Euro bank account. 

 
Tudalen 197



 4 

 
             

Council Action 
 

Currently the Council only invests in sterling products. Hence, there is no 
exchange rate risk with regard these investments. For grants where the Council 
is lead beneficiary, receiving income in Euro currency on behalf of other 
beneficiaries and reimbursing them, exchange risk is mitigated by using a Euro 
bank account. 
 
 

 
1.5  Inflation Risk Management 
 
  Explanation 
 

Inflation risk, also called purchasing power risk, is the chance that the cash flows 
from an investment won’t be worth as much in the future because of changes in 
purchasing power due to inflation. 
 

  Council Action 
 
 The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and 

liabilities to inflation and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of 
the whole Council’s inflation exposures. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.6  Refinancing Risk Management 
 
  Explanation 
 

The risk that maturing borrowings, capital project or partnership financing cannot 
be refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation or 
those refinancings, both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are 
inconsistent with prevailing market conditions at the time. 

 
  Council Action 
 
 This Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership 

arrangements are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile 
of the monies so raised are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for 
renewal or refinancing, if required, which are competitive and as favourable to the 
Council as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market conditions prevailing 
at the time. It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these 
transactions in such a manner as to secure this objective and will avoid 

Tudalen 198



 5 

overreliance on any one source of funding if this might jeopardise achievement of 
the above. 

 
 
 
1.7  Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 
 
  Explanation 
 
 The risk that an organisation itself, or a third party with which it is dealing in its 

treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or 
regulatory requirements, and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly. 

 
 
  Council Action 
 

 This Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with 
its statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such 
compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities. 
In framing its credit and counterparty policy under TMP 1 credit and counterparty 
risk management it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, 
authority and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect with the 
organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. 

 
 This Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact 

on its treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, 
will seek to minimize the risk of these impacting adversely on the Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.8 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management  
 
 Explanation 

 
 The risk that an organisation fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be 

exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in 
its treasury management dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and 
procedures and maintain effective contingency management arrangements to 
these ends.   It includes the area of risk commonly referred to as operational risk. 

 
 Council Action 

 
 This Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose 

it to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 
treasury management dealings.   Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and 
procedures, and will maintain effective contingency management arrangements, 
to these ends. 

 
 

Tudalen 199



 6 

 
 
 
 
 
1.9  Price Risk Management 
 
  Explanation 
 
 The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums 

the organisation invests, its stated treasury management policies and objectives 
are compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately. 

 
  Council Action 
 
 This Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and 

objectives will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of 
the principal sums it invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the 
effects of such fluctuations. 

 
 
 
 
TMP2  PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 
 
  Explanation 
 
 Performance measurement is a process designed to calculate the effectiveness of 

a portfolio’s or manager’s investment returns or borrowing costs and the 
application of the resulting data for the purposes of comparison with the 
performance of other portfolios or managers, or with recognised industry 
standards or market indices. 

 
 
Council Action 

 
 This Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury 

management activities, and to the use of performance methodology in support of 
that aim, within the framework set out in its treasury management policy statement. 

 
 Accordingly, the treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing 

analysis of the value it adds in support of the Council’s stated business or service 
objectives.   It will be the subject of regular examination of alternative methods of 
service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other grant or subsidy incentives, and 
of the scope of other potential improvements. 

 
 
 
 

TMP3  DECISION MAKING AND ANALYSIS 
   

Explanation 

Tudalen 200



 7 

 
 It is vital that the treasury management decisions of organisations in the public 

service should be subjected to prior scrutiny.  The treasury management strategy 
is approved annually by full council and supplemented by the provision of 
monitoring information and regular review by councillors in both executive and 
scrutiny functions.  In addition, all records should be kept of the processes and the 
rationale behind those decisions.   In respect of each decision made the Council 
should: 

   
 

3.1 ensure that its results are within the limits set in the Prudential Indicators. 
 

3.2 be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which the Council may 
become exposed. 

 
3.3 be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 

transaction, and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained. 
 
3.4 be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver the Council’s 

objectives and protect the Council’s interest, and to deliver good 
housekeeping. 
 

3.5 ensure that third parties are judged satisfactorily in the context of the 
Council’s credit worthiness policies, and that limits have not been 
exceeded. 

 
3.6 be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked 

against the market and have been found to be competitive. 
 

3.7 in respect of borrowing the Council should evaluate the economic and 
market factors that influence the manner and timing of any decision to fund. 

 
 
3.8 consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding, including 

funding from revenue, leasing and private partnerships. 
 

3.9 consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate 
periods to fund and repayment profiles to use and, if relevant, the 
opportunities for foreign currency funding. 

 
3.10 consider the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the 

Council’s future plans and budgets. 
 

3.11 in respect of investment decisions, the Council should consider the 
optimum period, in the light of cash flow availability and prevailing market 
conditions. 

 
3.12 consider the alternative investment products and techniques available, 

especially the implications of any which may expose the Council to changes 
in the value of its capital. 

 
 

Tudalen 201



 8 

 
Council Action 

 
This Council will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and 
of the processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions both for the 
purposes of learning from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps 
were taken to ensure that all issues relevant to those decisions were taken into 
account at the time. 

 

TMP4  APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 

 
Explanation 

 
It is important that the Council is clear about the treasury management instruments, 
methods and techniques used as one of the main issues to be taken into account 
when reaching decisions in the need to protect public funds. This treasury 
management practice requires that the Council is equipped with the skills and 
experience to evaluate and control the risks and advantages associated with using 
the instruments available to it before including them in the approved list. Only 
instruments that the organisation has the skills and experience to evaluate should 
be included in their approved list, even if they are legally permitted to do so. This 
principle applies to investment, borrowing and other means of raising capital and 
project finance, and to the use of one off-market or financial derivative instruments 
such as interest rate swaps. The consideration of skills and experience is 
particularly critical where organisations request to be treated as professional 
clients under MIFID II. Designation under MIFID II should be endorsed by the 
treasury management strategy and regularly reviewed to ensure that designation 
remains appropriate. 

 
 

 
Council Action 

 
This Council will undertake its treasury management activities by employing only 
those instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the policy, and within the 
limits and parameters defined in Treasury Management Practice 1 Risk 
Management. 
 

 
This Council has reviewed its classification with financial institutions under MIFID 
II and has set out in the schedule to this document those organisations with which 
it is registered as a professional client and those with which it has an application 
outstanding to register as a professional client. 

 
 
 
 
TMP5 ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES, 

AND DEALING ARRANGEMENTS 
 

Tudalen 202



 9 

Explanation 
 

It is considered vital that there should be a clear division of responsibilities, 
included in a written statement of the duties of each post engaged in Treasury 
Management. It is especially important that staff responsible for negotiating and 
closing deals are not responsible for recording them, or for maintaining the cash 
book. This is in order to create a framework for internal check and reflects both the 
variety of activities in treasury management and the very often large sums 
involved. 
 
 
 
Council Action 

 
This Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and 
monitoring of its treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk of 
fraud or error, and for the pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are 
structured and managed in a fully integrated manner, and that there is at all times 
a clarity of treasury management responsibilities. 

 
The principle on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those 
charged with setting treasury management policies and those charged with 
implementing and controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the 
execution and transmission of funds, the recording and administering of treasury 
management decisions, and the audit and review of the treasury management 
function. 
 
If and when this Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other 
circumstances, to depart from these principles, the responsible officer will ensure 
that the reasons are properly reported in accordance with Treasury Management 
Practice 6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements, 
and the implications properly considered and evaluated. 

 
The Director of Corporate Services will ensure that there are clear written 
statements of the responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, 
and the arrangements for absence cover.  
 
The Director of Corporate Services will ensure there is a proper documentation for 
all deals and transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission 
of funds. 

 
 

 
TMP6  REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 

ARRANGEMENTS 
 

Explanation 
 

It is recommended that the Council’s treasury management policy statement 
should specify formal reporting arrangements by the Director of Corporate 
Services to full Council, to include at a minimum, annual reports both before, mid-
year and after the year-end. 

Tudalen 203



 10 

 
Council Action 

 
This Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its treasury management policies, on the effects of decisions 
taken and transactions executed in pursuit of those policies, on the implications of 
changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or 
other factors affecting its treasury management activities and on the performance 
of the treasury management function. 

 
 

The following reporting process has been agreed by the Council: 
 

 6.1 Annual Reporting Requirements before the start of the year: 
 

• Review of the Council’s approved clauses, treasury management policy 
statement and practices 

 
• Strategy report on proposed treasury management activities for the 

year, including the MRP and Investment policies 
 

• Proposed Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators  
 

  
 6.2 Quarter 1 and Quarter 3 Reporting Requirements during the year which will 

be presented to both Cabinet and Corporate Performance and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee: 

                                  
• Activities undertaken 

 
• Variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 

 
• Performance report 

 
• Performance against Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators  

 
 6.3 Mid-Year Reporting Requirements during the year which will be presented 

to Council, Cabinet and Corporate Performance and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee: 

                                  
• Activities undertaken 

 
• Variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 

 
• Performance report 

 
• Performance against Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators 

 
  
 6.3 Annual Reporting Requirements after the year end 

 
• Transactions executed and their revenue (current) effects 

Tudalen 204



 11 

 
• Report on risk implications of decisions taken and transactions 

executed 
 

• Compliance report on agreed policies/practices, and on 
statutory/regulatory requirements 

 
• Performance report 

 
• Report on compliance with Revised CIPFA Treasury Management 

Code of Practice 2021 recommendations 
 

• Performance against Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators 
 

 
By undertaking the above it will ensure, as a minimum, that those with 
ultimate responsibility for the treasury management function appreciate fully 
the implications of treasury management policies and activities, and that 
those implementing policies and executing transactions have properly 
fulfilled their responsibilities with regard to delegation and reporting. 

 
 
 

 
 
TMP7  BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Explanation 

 
It is recommended that the Council brings together for budgeting and management 
control purposes, all of the costs and revenues associated with the Council’s 
treasury management activities, regardless of how the Council has actually 
organised the treasury management function. In this context the Council’s treasury 
management budgets and accounts should clearly identify. 

 
• Manpower numbers and related costs 

 
• Premises and other administrative costs 

 
• Interest and other investment income 

 
• Debt and other financing costs (or charges for the use of assets) 

 
• Bank and overdraft charges 

 
• Brokerages, commissions and other transaction-related costs 

 
• External advisers’ and consultants’ charges 

 
 
It is normal practice for the external auditor to have access to all papers supporting 
and explaining the operation and activities of the treasury management function. The 

Tudalen 205



 12 

auditor will be expected to enquire as to whether the Revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice 2021 has been adopted, and whether its principles 
and recommendations have been implemented and adhered to. Any serious breach 
of the recommendations of the Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice 2021 should be brought to the external auditor’s attention. 
 
 
 
Council Action 
 
The Director of Corporate Services will prepare, and this Council will approve and, if 
necessary, from time to time will amend, an annual budget for treasury management, 
which will bring together all of the costs involved in running the treasury management 
function, together with associated income. The matters to be included in the budget 
will at minimum be those required by statute or regulation, together with such 
information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP1 Risk management, TMP2 
Performance Measurement, and TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and 
techniques. The Director of Corporate Services will exercise effective controls over 
this budget and will report upon and recommend any changes required in accordance 
with TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements. 
 
The calculation and compliance of Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators 
will be examined by Audit Wales. 
This Council will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions made 
and transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and 
standards, and with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being. 
This Council will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, 
have access to all information and papers supporting the activities of the treasury 
management function as are necessary for the proper fulfillment of their roles, and 
that such information and papers demonstrate compliance with external and internal 
policies and approved practices.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

TMP8 CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT 
 
 
 Explanation 
 
 The preparation of cash flow projections on a regular and timely basis provides a 

sound framework for effective cash management. Procedures for their preparation 
and review/modification, the periods to be covered, sources of data etc. should be an 
integral part of the schedules to the Council’s approved treasury management 
practices. 

 
 
 Council Action 
 

Tudalen 206



 13 

 Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the 
hands of the Council will be under the control of the Director of Corporate Services 
and will be aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes. Cash 
flow projections will be prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the Director of 
Corporate Services will ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring 
compliance with Treasury Management Practice 1 (2) liquidity risk management.  

 
 
 
 
TMP9 ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING 
 
 Explanation 
 
 Money Laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated 

through criminal activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report 
suspicions of money laundering. Also, organisations such as Councils that undertake 
business under the Financial Services Act, or engage in certain specified activities, 
are required to set up procedures to comply with Anti-Money Laundering Regulations 
. These require Councils: 

 
• To set up procedures for verifying the identity of clients 

 
• To set up record-keeping procedures for evidence of identity and transactions 

 
• To set up internal reporting procedures for suspicions, including the appointment 

of a money laundering reporting officer 
 

• To train relevant employees in their legal obligations 
 

• To train those employees in the procedures for recognising and reporting 
suspicions of money laundering 

 
The Council should establish whether the Money Laundering Regulations apply to 
them. And it is for individual organisations to evaluate the prospect of laundered 
monies being handled by them, and to determine the appropriate safeguards to be 
put in place. It is the legal responsibility of every person engaged in treasury 
management, and indeed the Council, to make themselves aware of their personal 
responsibilities, but the Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 
2021 recommends that Councils bring them to their staff’s attention and consider the 
appointment of a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions. 
 
 
 

 Council’s Action 
 
 This Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to 

involve it in a transaction involving the laundering of money.  Accordingly, it will 
maintain procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and 
reporting suspicions and will ensure that staff involved in this are properly trained.  

 
 

Tudalen 207



 14 

 
TMP10 TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS 
 
 Explanation 
 
 All Councils should be aware of the growing complexity of treasury management. 

Modern treasury management demands appropriate skills, including a knowledge of 
money and capital market operations, an awareness of available sources of funds 
and investment opportunities, an ability to assess and control risk, and an 
appreciation of the implications of legal and regulatory requirements. 

 
 Every Council should provide the necessary training, having assessed the 

professional competence of both those involved in the treasury management 
function, and those with a policy, management or supervisory role.   If necessary, 
they should ensure that access exists to the necessary expertise and skills from 
external sources.   Arrangements to ensure the availability of suitable skills and 
resources should recognise the prospect that staff absences may, at times, demand 
that others step in who do not normally have involvement on a day-to-day basis with 
the treasury management function. 

 
 When feasible in the context of the size of a particular organisation and its treasury 

management function, career progression opportunities should be made available 
and succession issues should be properly addressed. Secondments of senior 
management to the treasury management function for appropriate periods may 
benefit the effectiveness of the function as a whole. 

 
 
Council Action 

 
 This Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the 

treasury management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them. It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are 
both capable and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to 
acquire and maintain an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills. The 
Director of Corporate Services will recommend and implement the necessary 
arrangements. 

 
The Director of Corporate Services will ensure that council members tasked with 
treasury management responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have 
access to training relevant to their needs and those responsibilities. 
 
Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure 
that they have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively. 
 
A Knowledge and Skills Register will be created and shared with officers and 
members involved in treasury management. The training needs of treasury 
management officers/ members will be periodically reviewed. 

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 208



 15 

TMP11 USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 
 
 There are a number of service providers available to support the treasury 

management activities of public service organisations. 
 
 Perhaps the most active and long-standing of these have been the money-broking 

companies, whose role it is to act as intermediaries, making introductions between 
the prospective parties to transactions. 

 
 It is not the role of brokers to provide advice on the creditworthiness of those 

organisations to which public service organisations may lend. They may provide 
information already in the public domain but may not interpret it. The use of brokers 
is a matter for local decision. But it is considered good practice, if their services are 
used, to ensure that business is spread between a reasonable number of them, and 
certainly no fewer than two.  

 
 Direct dealing with principals is a not uncommon feature of treasury management in 

the public services which, if nothing else, can provide a useful check on brokers’ 
performance. 

 
 An issue that causes some debate is whether it is necessary or desirable for public 

service organisations to tape conversations with brokers and principals. This is a 
matter for local discretion, particularly in the context of the costs involved, but brokers 
are required to maintain taped recordings which the Council can ask for copies if 
needed. 

 
 Most public service organisations require the services of clearing bankers, and a 

growing number make use of the services of a wider group of banks, particularly to 
meet their need for private finance and partnership funding. The principles of 
competition need to be recognised here, too. Certainly, it is highly desirable to subject 
clearing banking services to competition, perhaps as frequently as every three or four 
years. 

 
 There has also been a growing tendency for public service organisations to employ 

external advisers and consultants, often for the purposes of a general treasury 
management advisory service, but also for specific purposes, such as the securing 
and structuring of funding and for partnership arrangements. These, too, should be 
the subject of regular competitive tendering. 

 
 
 Further, many public service organisations employ the services of external 

investment managers to help manage their surplus cash and, where relevant, their 
pension fund, trust fund or endowment fund assets. 

 
 CIPFA advises all organisations using the services of external service providers to 

document comprehensively the arrangements made with them. 
  

 
Council Action 

 
 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remain 

with the Council at all times. It recognises the potential value of employing external 

Tudalen 209



 16 

providers of treasury management services, in order to acquire access to specialist 
skills and resources. When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does 
so for reasons which will have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and 
benefits. It will also ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented and 
subjected to regular review. And it will ensure, where feasible and necessary, that a 
spread of service providers is used, to avoid overreliance on one or a small number 
of companies.  

 
 
 
TMP12 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
 The Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021 recommends that 

public service organisations state their commitment to embracing the principles of 
corporate governance in their treasury management activities, notably openness and 
transparency. 

 
 It is CIPFA’s view that: 
 

• adoption of the principles and policies promoted in the Revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice 2021 and in these guidance notes will in itself 
deliver the framework for demonstrating openness and transparency in an 
organisation’s treasury management function 

 
• publication of and free access to information about an organisation’s treasury 

management transactions and other public documents connected with its 
treasury management activities will further assist in achieving this end 

 
• establishing clear treasury management policies, the separation of roles in 

treasury management and the proper management of relationships both within 
and outside the organisation will establish the integrity of the function 

 
• robust treasury management organisational structures, together with well-defined 

treasury management responsibilities and job specifications, will enhance 
accountability 

 
• equality in treasury management dealings, absence of business favouritism and 

the creation of keen competition in treasury management will lay the groundwork 
for fairness. 

 
 The following paragraphs further emphasise the practices that CIPFA believes an 

organisation should employ to ensure the principles of corporate governance are 
successfully implemented. 
 
 
Procedural responses 

 
 The policies, strategies of treasury management should link clearly to the 

organisation’s other key policies and strategies. In the management of risk, in 
particular, treasury risk management should be an integral part of its overall risk 

Tudalen 210



 17 

management processes, culminating in a well-defined, organisation-wide strategy for 
the control of risk and contingency planning. 

 
 The management and administration of treasury management should be robust, 

rigorous and disciplined. Over the years, some of the most significant examples of 
treasury mismanagement, in both the public services and the private sector, have 
resulted from procedural indiscipline. This has frequently been as a result of a failure 
to apply otherwise well-documented management and administration systems, or 
through failures in transmission, documentation or deal recording processes. 

 
 Reporting arrangements should be applied so as to ensure that those charged with 

responsibility for the treasury management policy have all the information necessary 
to enable them to fulfil openly their obligations; and that all stakeholders are fully 
appraised of and consulted on the organisation’s treasury management activities on 
a regular basis. 

 
 The procedures for monitoring treasury management activities through audit, scrutiny 

and inspection should be sound and rigorously applied, with an openness of access 
to information and well-defined arrangements for the review and implementation of 
recommendations for change. 

 
 The application and interpretation of performance data should be clear, concise and 

relevant to the organisation’s treasury management activities. 
 

Stewardship responsibilities 
 
 The Director of Corporate Services should ensure that systems exist to deliver proper 

financial administration and control, and a framework for overseeing and reviewing 
the treasury management function. 

  
As regards a control framework, an organisation’s formal policy documents should 
define clearly procedures for monitoring, control and internal check. 

 
 With regard to delegation it is vitally important that those involved in the 

implementation of treasury management policies and the execution of transactions 
are unambiguously empowered to undertake their tasks, and that reporting lines are 
well-defined. 

 
 
 An organisation’s adoption of and adherence to the Revised CIPFA Treasury 

Management Code of Practice 2021 should be widely broadcast, as should the 
principles of the Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021 and 
the method of its application in the organisation. 
 
The organisation’s procedures for reviewing the value of the treasury management 
function, and the implementation of opportunities for improvement, should be both 
continuous and open to examination. 
 
 
 
The governance of others 

 

Tudalen 211



 18 

 In respect of the organisation’s dealings with counterparties, external service 
providers and other interested parties, clear procedures should exist to enable the 
organisation, as far as is practicable, to monitor their adherence to the legal or 
regulatory regimes under which they operate. 
 
 
 
Council Action 

 
 This Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout 

its businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which 
this can be achieved.  Accordingly, the treasury management function and its 
activities will be undertaken with openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and 
accountability. 

  
In respect of external service providers appropriate financial review procedures will 
be undertaken, including Profit and Loss, Balance Sheet and cash flow monitoring. 
 
This Council has adopted and has implemented the key recommendations of the 
Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2021. This is considered 
vital to the achievement of proper corporate governance in treasury management, 
and the Director of Corporate Services will monitor and, if and when necessary, report 
upon the effectiveness of these arrangements.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 212



 1 

 
Appendix B 

SECURITY, LIQUIDITY AND YIELD BENCHMARKING 

  Member reporting on the consideration and approval of security and liquidity 
benchmarks will continue. These benchmarks are targets and so may be 
breached from time to time.  Any breach will be reported, with supporting 
reasons in the Annual Treasury Management Report. 

 
1. Security 

In context of benchmarking, assessing security is a subjective area to assess.  
Security is currently evidenced by the application of minimum credit quality 
criteria to investment counterparties, primarily through the use of credit ratings 
supplied by the three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard 
and Poor’s). Whilst this approach embodies security considerations, 
benchmarking levels of risk is more problematic. One method to benchmark 
security risk is to assess the historic level of default against the minimum criteria 
used in the Council’s investment strategy. 
The table below shows average defaults for differing periods of investment 
grade products for each Fitch/Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s long term rating 
category. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Council’s minimum long term rating criteria is currently “AA-” for any 
investment greater than one year and “A” for any investment up to one year. 
The average expectation of default for a one, two or three year investment in a 
counterparty with a “AA-” long term rating would be approximately 0.02% of the 
total investment and the average expectation of default for a one year 
investment in a counterparty with a “A” long term rating would be 0.05% of the 
total investment.  This is only an average, any specific counterparty loss is likely 
to be higher, but these figures do act as a proxy benchmark for risk across the 
portfolio.  

Long term rating 1 year 2 years 3 years 

AAA 0.04% 0.09% 0.17% 

AA  
(includes AA- and AA+) 

0.02% 0.04% 0.09% 

A 0.05% 0.14% 0.25% 

BBB 0.13% 0.36% 0.63% 

BB 0.62% 1.77% 3.05% 

B 2.73% 6.69% 10.34% 

CCC 19.10% 27.28% 32.05% 

Tudalen 213



 2 

 
The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the whole portfolio, when 
compared to these historic default tables, is: 

• 0.17% historic risk of default when compared to the whole 
portfolio. 

In addition, the security benchmark for each individual year is: 
 1 year 2 years 3 years 

Maximum 0.04% 0.09% 0.17% 

These benchmarks are embodied in the criteria for selecting cash investment 
counterparties and these will be monitored and reported to Members in the 
Annual Treasury Management Report. As this data is collated, trends and 
analysis will be collected and reported.  Where a counterparty is not credit rated 
a proxy rating will be applied in conjunction with our advisers, considering the 
regulatory environment and financial standing of an organisation.   
 

2. Liquidity 
This is defined as “having adequate, though not excessive cash resources, 
borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities to enable it at all times 
to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the 
achievement of its business/service objectives” (Revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice). In respect of this area the Council seeks to 
maintain: 

• Bank overdraft facility - £0.5m 

• Liquid short term deposits of at least £10m available immediately on 
call 

The availability of liquidity and the term risk in the portfolio can be benchmarked 
by the monitoring of the Weighted Average Life (WAL) of the portfolio – shorter 
WAL would generally embody less liquidity risk.  In this respect the proposed 
benchmark is to be used: 

• WAL benchmark is expected to be 0.5 years, with a maximum of 
1 year. 

 
3. Yield  

 
Benchmarks are currently widely used to assess investment performance. 
The local measure of the yield benchmark is: 
 

• Investments – Return on investments to outperform the 90-day 
uncompounded SONIA rate (backward looking) 

 
 Security and liquidity benchmarks are intrinsic to the approved treasury 

strategy through the counterparty selection criteria and some of the prudential 
indicators.  Proposed benchmarks for the cash type investments are shown 
above and form the basis of reporting in this area.  

Tudalen 214



Appendix C

Standard 

Fitch Moody's and Poors Money Time 

Short Long Short Long Short Long Limit Limit

Term Term Term Term Term Term £'m years

Upper Limit F1 AA- P-1 Aa3 A-1 AA- 10 3

UK Banks  

Middle Limit F1 A P-1 A2 A-1 A 7 1

UK Banks  

Banco Santander Central Hispano Group

- Santander UK Plc F1 A+ P-1 A1 A-1 A 7 1

Barclays Bank F1 A+ P-1 A1 A-1 A 7 1

HSBC Bank Plc F1+ AA- P-1 A1 A-1 A+ 7 1

Lloyds Banking Group

- Bank of Scotland Plc F1 A+ P-1 A1 A-1 A+ 7 1

- Lloyds Bank F1 A+ P-1 A1 A-1 A+ 7 1

Standard Chartered Bank F1 A+ P-1 A1 A-1 A+ 7 1

UK Building Societies

Nationwide F1 A P-1 A1 A-1 A+ 7 1

UK Banks Part Nationalised

Royal Bank of Scotland Group

- National Westminster Bank Plc F1 A+ P-1 A1 A-1 A 7 1

- Royal Bank of Scotland Plc F1 A+ P-1 A1 A-1 A 7 1

Council's Banker 3 1 day

Other Institution Limits

Local Authorities 

Any One Local Authority (including police and fire authority) 5 1

Money Market Funds 

Any AAA Rated Money Market Fund CNAV 10 1

Money Market Funds 

Any AAA Rated Money Market Fund LVNAV 10 1

Debt Management Office 125

6 months (max 

term specified 

by DMO)

(as at 10th January 2023)

Schedule of Approved Counterparties for Lending 2023-2024

Tudalen 215



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix D 

1. THE PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS  

The following indicators are based on the figures put forward within the 
Capital and Revenue Plans set out in this report. 

1.1. Affordability 

1.1.1. Estimates of ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
 
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other 
long term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue 
stream. 
 

 
 2023/24 

Estimate 
2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

Non-HRA    3.45%   3.77% 3.59% 
HRA (inclusive of 
settlement figure) 

28.03% 28.49% 28.83% 

 
 

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the 
proposals in this budget report. These figures are however subject to change 
as and when the final funding approvals come through from the Welsh 
Government. Updates will be provided if these figures require amendment. 

 
The indicators show the proportion of income taken up by capital financing 
costs. Indicative Aggregate External Finance (AEF) for 2024/2025 is a 2.4% 
increase on 2023/2024 and for 2025/2026 a 2.5% estimated increase on 
2024/2025.  
 

1.2. Prudence 

1.2.1. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
This prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR). The CFR is the total outstanding capital expenditure which has not 
yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a 
measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need. The capital expenditure 
above, which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR.   

 
The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 
 

£m 2023/24 
Estimate 

 

2024/25 
Estimate 

 

2025/26 
Estimate 

 
Non-HRA 305 323 323 
HRA 166 176 190 
HRAS* 67 66 65 
TOTAL 538 565 578 

 
 
*Housing Revenue Account Subsidy Buyout of £79m in April 2015. 
 

Tudalen 217



1.2.2. The Gross Borrowing and Capital Financing Requirement indicator 
 
The control mechanism to limit external debt. 
 
Estimated gross borrowing for the four years starting with the last full year 
(2021/22) must not exceed the CFR in the medium term but can in the short 
term due to cash flows. 
 
Ensures borrowing is only for approved capital purposes. 
 
The Director of Corporate Services reports that the Council complied with this 
requirement in 2021/22 and does not envisage difficulties for the future. This 
view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in the budget report. 
 
Details of Gross Borrowing: 
 

£m 2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

 

2023/24 
Estimate 

 

2024/25 
Estimate 

 

2025/26 
Estimate 

 
Debt at 1st April 414 401 410 467 519 
Expected Change 
in Debt 

(13) 9 57 52 59 
 

Gross debt at 31st 
March 

401 410 467 
 

519 578 

CFR  494 497 538 565 578 
Under / (Over) 
borrowing 

93 87 71 46 0 

 

1.2.3. External Debt 
 
The Authorised Limit and the Operational Boundary:  
 
The Authorised Limit prudential indicator represents a control on the overall level 
of borrowing. This represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, 
and this limit needs to be set or revised by full Council. It reflects the level of 
external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is 
not sustainable in the longer term. This is the statutory limit determined under 
section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003. The Government retains an 
option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific 
council, although no control has yet been exercised. 
 

£m 2023/24 
Estimate 

 

2024/25 
Estimate 

 

2025/26 
Estimate 

 
 
Borrowing 

 
590.9 

 
620.7 

 
634.6 

Other Long-
Term Liabilities 

 
0.5 

 
0.5 

 
0.5 

 
Total  

 
591.4 

 
621.2 

 
635.1 

   
 

 
 
 

Tudalen 218



The Operational Boundary for external debt is based on the same estimates 
as the authorised limit, but without the additional headroom for unusual and 
unexpected cash movements and equates to the level of projected external 
debt. This is clearly subject to the timing of borrowing decisions. 

 
 

£m 2023/24 
Estimate 

 

2024/25 
Estimate 

 

2025/26 
Estimate 

 
 
Borrowing 

 
537.6 

 
564.6 

 
577.9 

Other Long-
Term Liabilities 

 
0.1 

 
0.1 

 
0.1 

 
Total  

 
537.7 

 
564.7 

 
578.0 

 

  The Council is asked to approve both the Authorised Limit and the                 
Operational Boundary shown above. 

 

1.2.4. Actual External Debt 
 
The Council’s actual external debt at 31st March 2022 was £401m. The actual 
external debt is not directly comparable to the authorised limit and operational 
boundary because the actual external debt reflects the position at a point in 
time. 

 

1.3. Liability Benchmark 
 

1.3.1. Liability Benchmark 
 
A new Prudential Indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark. The 
Council is required to estimate and measure the Liability Benchmark for the 
forthcoming year and the following two years. The liability benchmark is a 
measure of how well the existing loans portfolio matches the Council’s 
planned borrowing needs. 
 
There are four components to the Liability Benchmark: 
 

• Existing Loan Debt Outstanding: The Council’s existing loans that 
are still outstanding in future years. 

• Loans CFR: This is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR 
definition in the Prudential Code and projected into the future based 
on approved prudential borrowing and planned Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP). 

• Net Loans Requirement: This will show the Council’s gross loan debt 
less treasury management investments at the last financial year-end, 
projected into the future and based on its approved prudential 
borrowing, planned MRP and any other major cash flows forecasted. 

• Liability Benchmark: This equals net loans requirement plus short-
term liquidity allowance. 

 
 
 

Tudalen 219



 
 
The purpose of this prudential indicator is to compare the Council’s existing loans 
outstanding (the black line) against its future need for loan debt, or liability 
benchmark (the red line). If the black line is below the red line, the existing portfolio 
outstanding is less than the loan debt required, and the Council will need to borrow 
to meet the shortfall. If the black line is above the red line, the Council will (based 
on its current plans) have more debt than it needs, and the excess will have to be 
invested. The chart therefore tells a Council how much it needs to borrow, when, 
and to want maturities to match its planned borrowing needs. 

 
It is recommended that the above Prudential Indicators are adopted and 
that the Director of Corporate Services is given delegated authority by 
Council to change the balance between borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities. 
 
Other long-term liabilities are other credit arrangements, which are, in 
the main, finance leases. These indicators may be affected once 
information is collated during 2023/24 for the new lease requirements 
under IFRS 16.  

CFR

Loans Outstanding

Tudalen 220



Appendix E 

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) STATEMENT 
 
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital spend 
each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue provision – MRP), 
although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary 
revenue provision – VRP). It is also required to charge an element of the accumulated HRA 
capital spend in line with Welsh Government requirements. 
 
Welsh Government regulations were issued with effect from 1st April 2010 which require the 
full Council to approve a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement in advance each 
year. A variety of options were provided to councils to replace the existing Regulations, as 
long as there is a prudent provision. 
 
Council have already approved the following approaches for calculating MRP: 
 
Supported Borrowing and Capital Expenditure 
Based on CFR  
The calculation is based on 2.5% of the opening Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) each 
year on a straight-line basis. 
 
Unsupported Borrowing  
Asset Life Method 
The future borrowing value of unsupported borrowing is to be charged to revenue over 40 
years or by the estimated economic life of the asset if shorter, please see below. 
 
Capital Expenditure on the Modernising Education Programme (MEP) and Local 
Government Borrowing Initiative (LGBI) 21st Century Schools is classed as Unsupported 
Borrowing. It is estimated that asset lives within these programmes are 30 years and this is 
the period that will be used to determine the MRP. 
 
Asset lives within the Fleet Programme range from 1 to 10 years, these are the periods 
that will be used to determine the MRP. 
 
Local Government Borrowing Initiative (LGBI) Highways. It is estimated that asset lives 
within this programme are 20 years and this is the period that will be used to determine the 
MRP. 
 
 
Housing Revenue Account 
The calculation is based on 2% of the opening Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) each 
year. 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 221



Loans to Third Parties 
The Council occasionally lends capital loans to third parties which forms part of the Capital 
Financing Requirement.  The Council’s policy is not to apply Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) to the loans but apply the loans repayments from the third party (which are capital 
receipts), in lieu of MRP.  In the event of any likely default, the Council will calculate an 
Expected Credit Loss and apply MRP accordingly. 
 
Swansea Bay City Deal  
 
MRP on the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) associated with City Deal expenditure 
financed by external loans will be profiled to match external grants received. If the grants 
are delayed the MRP will be reprofiled accordingly. 
 
Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement for 2023/2024: 
For Supported and Unsupported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will continue to 
follow the approaches above. 

Tudalen 222



Oct 2022 

 
 

Strategaeth Gorfforaethol Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin 2022-27 
 

Y Pwrpas: Mae’r Strategaeth Corfforaethol yn gosod y cyfeiriad strategol i’r Cyngor.  

Argymhellion y Cabinet: 
1. I gymeradwyo’r Strategaeth Gorfforaethol 2022-27. 

 
Y Rhesymau:  
O dan ofynion Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol mae'n rhaid i ni osod a chyhoeddi 
Amcanion Llesiant i'r Cyngor sy'n gwneud y mwyaf o'n cyfraniad at y 7 Nod Llesiant 
Cenedlaethol. 
 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad OES  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES 
YR AELOD O'R CABINET  SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-  Cyng. Darren Price, 
Arweinydd 
 
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:  
Prif Weithredwr 
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 
Noelwyn Daniel 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Gwyneth Ayers 

 
Swyddi: 
Pennaeth TGCh a Pholisi 
Corfforaethol 
 
Rheolwr Polisi Corfforaethol, 
Perfformiad a Phartneriaeth 

 
Rhifau ffôn: 
 
Cyfeiriadau E-bost: 
NDaniel@sirgar.gov.uk 
GAyers@sirgar.gov.uk  

 
  

CYNGOR
1 Mawrth 2023

Tudalen 223

Eitem Rhif  5.4

mailto:NDaniel@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:GAyers@sirgar.gov.uk


Oct 2022 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Carmarthenshire County Council  
Corporate Strategy 2022-27 

 
The Council’s Corporate Strategy, which includes the Council’s well-being objectives, sets the 
direction of travel and priorities for the organisation over the period of the current 
administration. The Strategy provides the framework for delivering on the Cabinet’s vision and 
commitments during that period. 
 
This new Corporate Strategy will focus on a smaller number of population-based objectives 
whilst identifying the thematic priorities, service priorities and core business enablers that the 
Council will aim to make progress on during this period. This approach has been developed 
following consideration of feedback from Engagement & Assurance sessions held with 
departmental teams during the 2021-22 business planning process, feedback from 
stakeholders including residents, staff, businesses and trade unions as well as findings of the 
PSB well-being assessment. 
 
Our new proposed Council well-being objectives are as follows: 

1. Enabling our children and young people to have the best possible start in life (Start 
Well) 

2. Enabling our residents to live and age well (Live & Age Well) 
3. Enabling our communities and environment to be healthy, safe and prosperous 

(Prosperous Communities) 
4. To further modernise and develop as a resilient and efficient Council (Our Council). 

 
At the heart of this approach is integration and collaboration across the Council and with our 
stakeholders, and our focus going forward will be on: 
Developing Carmarthenshire Together: One Council; One Vision; One Voice 
 
Within this Strategy we have identified a series of thematic and service priorities that are 
aligned to our well-being objectives. Detailed delivery plans (at a divisional level for the 2023-
24 business planning cycle) will outline actions to be taken for each well-being objective and 
thematic/service priority with clear measures to monitor progress against the overall well-being 
objective through a corporate data suite. These delivery plans will be reviewed annually (as 
part of business planning cycle) and monitored quarterly as part of current performance 
monitoring arrangements.  

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  
Corporate Strategy 2002-27 

 
 

 

Tudalen 224



Oct 2022 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 

Signed: Noelwyn Daniel, Head of ICT & Corporate Policy 
 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 
 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 
YES  NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

To comply with the Well-being of Future Generations (WbFG) Act 2015, we must (in 
carrying out sustainable development): 
• Set and publish well-being objectives  
• Take all reasonable steps to meet those 

objectives  
• Publish a statement about well-being 

objectives  

Corporate Strategy will fulfil these duties 

• Publish an annual report of progress Annual Report will fulfil this duty 
 

Only when a public body can demonstrate it has taken into account the sustainable 
development principle in the setting, taking steps and meeting of its well-being objectives will it 
be compliant with the Act. Public bodies may take other matters into account when making 
their decisions, but in order to comply with the Act they must take into account the 5 ways of 
working (long-term; integration; involvement; collaboration; prevention). 
 

Local Government and Elections Act (Wales) 2021 
The Local Government and Elections Wales Act 2021 provides for the establishment of a new 
and reformed legislative framework for local government elections, democracy, governance and 
performance. It replaces the Local Government Measure 2009.  
The Act requires that a Council must produce a self-assessment report in respect of each 
financial year. The report must set out its conclusions on the extent to which it met the 
performance requirements during that financial year, and any actions it intends to take, or has 
already taken, to increase the extent to which it is meeting the performance requirements 
 
The performance requirements are the extent to which:  

• we are exercising our functions effectively.  
• we are using our resources economically, efficiently and effectively.   
• our governance is effective for securing the above. 

Tudalen 225



Oct 2022 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed: Noelwyn Daniel, Head of ICT & Corporate Policy                                                  

 
(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against 
the following headings) 

1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  
Specific member development session held to seek 
feedback on draft Strategy. 

YES  

If yes include the following information: - 
Scrutiny Committee  All member development session 
Date the report was considered:- 27 January 2023 
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations:- 
Feedback from the member development session which has been reflected in the final 
draft of the Strategy: 
• Need to ensure all well-being objectives, thematic and service priorities take account 

of the key areas of decarbonisation, climate and nature emergencies, Welsh 
language and equalities. 

• Need to ensure feedback to stakeholders on involvement and consultation outcomes. 
• Need to ensure community safety and cohesion thematic priority also includes focus 

on community resilience. 
 
2.Local Member(s)   
Councillors have been engaged on the development of the new Corporate Strategy through 
member sessions and through the residents’ survey where feedback on Council priorities 
was sought.   
 
3.Community / Town Council  
Councils will have received information about the residents’ survey where feedback on 
Council priorities was sought.  
 
4.Relevant Partners   
Findings of the PSB well-being assessment have been considered in the development of 
the Council Corporate Strategy.  
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
Staff have been engaged on Council priorities through the staff survey undertaken.  

 
 

Tudalen 226



Oct 2022 

CABINET MEMBER  PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

Cllr. Darren Price supportive of the approach 
and links with the Cabinet Vision Statement  

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW      
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Well-being of Future 
Generations Act  
 

 Cymraeg: Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol 
(Cymru) 2015: yr hanfodion [HTML] | LLYW.CYMRU   
English: https://gov.wales/well-being-future-
generations-act-essentials-html  

 

Tudalen 227

https://llyw.cymru/deddf-llesiant-cenedlaethaur-dyfodol-cymru-2015-yr-hanfodion-html?_ga=2.248798147.517932152.1669136191-1452709576.1653314903&_gl=1*y9e6vv*_ga*MTQ1MjcwOTU3Ni4xNjUzMzE0OTAz*_ga_L1471V4N02*MTY2OTEzNjE5MC4xLjAuMTY2OTEzNjE5MC4wLjAuMA..
https://llyw.cymru/deddf-llesiant-cenedlaethaur-dyfodol-cymru-2015-yr-hanfodion-html?_ga=2.248798147.517932152.1669136191-1452709576.1653314903&_gl=1*y9e6vv*_ga*MTQ1MjcwOTU3Ni4xNjUzMzE0OTAz*_ga_L1471V4N02*MTY2OTEzNjE5MC4xLjAuMTY2OTEzNjE5MC4wLjAuMA..
https://gov.wales/well-being-future-generations-act-essentials-html
https://gov.wales/well-being-future-generations-act-essentials-html


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Carmarthenshire County Council 

Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Developing Carmarthenshire Together: 
One Council, One Vision, One Voice

sirgar.llyw.cymru
carmarthenshire.gov.wales

Tudalen 229



Tudalen 230



3  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Contents

/1 
Introduction by Leader	 4

/2 
Introduction by Chief Executive	 7

/3 
About Carmarthenshire	 8-9

/4 
About the Council	 10-11

/5 
Council Well-being Objectives	 12-30

/6 
How will we measure progress?	 31

a1 
Appendix 1: Well-being of Future  
Generations Act (Wales) 2015	 32

a2  
Appendix 2: How our Well-being Objectives 
support National Well-being Goals	 33

a3  
Appendix 3: Well-being Statement	 34

Tudalen 231



4  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

1 | Introduction by Cllr. Darren Price, Leader of Carmarthenshire County Council

Within our Cabinet Vision Statement we 
have set out a range of commitments 
that we will work towards achieving 
during the course of this administration 
until 2027. 
We have set these out with a view to 
addressing the key challenges and 
development areas facing Carmarthenshire 
but with a longer-term view to improving the 
social, economic, environmental and cultural 
well-being of the residents and communities 
of Carmarthenshire. 

We will ensure that we embed the sustainable 
development principle in all that we do by 
making sure that we act in a manner which 
seeks to ensure that the needs of the present 
are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.

We have set a vision statement for the Council 
but given the numerous externally driven 
pressures and challenges facing us as a 
population and as organisations over coming 
years we have to be realistic in terms of what’s 
achievable. We will have to continually review 
and assess what and where we need to invest 
and prioritise our interventions going forward 
and ensure we make the best use of resources 
available to us. 

This Corporate Strategy provides the 
framework for delivering on those 
commitments outlined in the Cabinet Vision 
Statement and detailed delivery plans, that 
will be monitored and reviewed regularly, 
will set out the exact actions we’ll be taking 
as a Council to make progress against our 
objectives. 

This Strategy and the detailed delivery plans 
have been developed taking into account 
feedback received through consultation with 
our residents, staff, businesses and trade 
unions undertaken during the Summer of 
2022. 

This type of stakeholder engagement and 
involvement is something I will ensure that the 
Council further develops and embeds across 
our service planning approaches. I will also 
ensure that we provide regular feedback to 
our stakeholders so that you know what we 
did as a result of your input. 

Local government has faced a challenging 
period in having to adapt in its response to 
the pandemic. There are many lessons to be 
learnt from that experience and good practice 
that needs to be embedded. However, we are 
entering another period of uncertainty over 
the next few years that are set to be just as 
challenging. We fully appreciate the cost of 
living pressures facing our residents and we 
want to ensure that the Council is able to 
provide support wherever we can. 

The Council itself is also facing tremendous 
budgetary pressures, which we have not seen 
the likes of before in public service, therefore, 
the next few years are likely to require a 
significant shift in the way that we provide 
our services. We must and will respond to this 
challenge again, ensuring we do all that we 
can to support the residents, businesses and 
communities of Carmarthenshire. 

Tudalen 232



5  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

As a Cabinet we will take collective and 
individual responsibility for ensuring progress 
against the well-being objectives, thematic 
and service priorities outlined in this Corporate 
Strategy with the Cabinet member portfolios 
focusing on key areas.

Cllr Philip Hughes
Cabinet Member for 

Organisation and Workforce 

Cllr Alun Lenny
Cabinet Member for 

Resources

Cllr Ann Davies
Cabinet Member for Rural 
Affairs and Planning Policy

 

Cllr Aled Vaughan Owen
Cabinet Member for Climate 

Change, Decarbonisation and 
Sustainability

Cllr Edward Thomas
Cabinet Member for 

Transport, Waste and 
Infrastructure

Cllr Gareth John
Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration, Leisure, 
Culture and Tourism

Cllr Glynog Davies
Cabinet Member for 

Education and Welsh 
Language

Cllr Jane Tremlett
Cabinet Member for Health 

and Social Services

Cllr Linda Evans 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes

We have identified the key areas of 
decarbonisation, climate and nature 
emergencies, and Welsh language as thematic 
priorities and, along with a focus on equality, 
we will ensure these key areas are embedded 
and progressed in all that we do.

Tudalen 233



6  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

? | XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

Tudalen 234



7  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

2 | Introduction by Wendy Walters, Chief Executive of Carmarthenshire County 

I am pleased to present this Corporate 
Strategy for Carmarthenshire County 
Council which sets out our direction of 
travel and priorities as an organisation.
In developing this Strategy we have taken time 
to reflect and refresh our approach following 
discussion with a range of stakeholders 
including councillors, officers and external 
partners. We have also sought feedback from 
residents, staff, businesses and trade unions 
on their views about the Council and priorities 
and these views have shaped our well-being 
objectives.

As we emerge and reflect on our experiences 
from the pandemic and look ahead at the 
extremely challenging period ahead for public 
services in terms of increasing demand and 
budgetary constraints, we have taken a fresh 
approach to our Corporate Strategy and well-
being objectives by focusing on a smaller 
number of population based objectives whilst 
identifying our thematic priorities, service 
priorities and core business enablers.

Our well-being objectives are focused on:

1.	 Enabling our children and young people to 
have the best possible start in life  
(Start Well)

2.	 Enabling our residents to live and age well 
(Live & Age Well)

3.	 Enabling our communities and 
environment to be healthy, safe and 
prosperous (Prosperous Communities)

4.	 To further modernise and develop as a 
resilient and efficient Council  
(Our Council)

At the heart of this approach is integration 
and collaboration across the Council and with 
our stakeholders, and our focus going forward 
will be on:

Developing Carmarthenshire 
Together: One Council; One 
Vision; One Voice

Within this Strategy we have identified a series 
of thematic and service priorities that are 
aligned to our well-being objectives. Detailed 
delivery plans will outline actions to be taken 
for each thematic and service priority with 
clear measures to monitor progress against 
the overall well-being objective. 

During the course of this Strategy, we will 
continuously challenge the status quo, ask 
questions of ourselves about how we are 
operating and consider best practice in Wales 
and beyond. We will critically self-assess 
our performance and seek feedback from 
stakeholders so that we can continue to learn 
and improve the way that we work.

Our staff are the driving force of the Council 
and their commitment and determination to 
do their best for the people of Carmarthenshire 
is never doubted and something I am 
tremendously proud of. 

As we enter another challenging period for 
public services, I will ensure that the Council 
is in the best position possible to respond to 
whatever that may bring. Going forward a 
focus on continuous service transformation 
is going to be critical, and I will drive this 
transformation within the organisation to 
make sure that we can adapt, be innovative 
and respond with the needs of our residents 
at the centre of all that we do despite the 
challenges ahead.

Tudalen 235



8  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

3 | About Carmarthenshire

8  Carmarthenshire County Council – Customer Charter

Employee jobs
Source: Census 2021

Total Employee Jobs:  

64,800 

16.2% (30,400) aged 0-14, 

59.7% (112,100) aged 15-64 and 

24.2% (45,400) aged over 65 

16.2%

59.7% 

24.2% 

Population 
Source: Census 2021

187,900 people live in Carmarthenshire

81,800 households

Gross weekly pay for full time 
workers

Source: ONS Annual Survey of hours and earnings

£623.40 –

Compared to £640 for GB.
Full-time: 72.0% (46,700) 

Part-time: 28.0% (18,100) 

72% 

28% 

Total Business Enterprises in 
Carmarthenshire 
Source: ONS: Inter Departmental Business Register

8,200  
Micro [0 - 9]: 91.6% (7,515) 

Small [10 to 49]: 7.2% (590) 

Medium [50 to 249]: 0.9% (75) 

Large [250+]: 0.2% (15) Tudalen 236



? | XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

9  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

9  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

31,000 / 37.9%   
Managers, Directors and Senior officials, 
Professional Occupations, Associate 
Professional Occupation

19,400 / 23.7%   
Administrative and Secretarial Occupations, 
Skilled Trades Occupations

16,900 / 20.6%  
Caring, Leisure and other service occupations, 
Sales and Customer Service occupations

14,600 / 17.8%  
Process Plant and Machine Operatives, 
Elementary occupations

Employment by Occupation
Source: 2021 Census 

Welsh Language
Source: 2021 Census 

39.9% of people in 
Carmarthenshire can speak Welsh. 

Qualifications
Source: ONS Annual Population Survey

NVQ 4 and above: 35.3% (37,700)
NVQ3 and above: 59% (63,000)
NVQ2 and above: 79% (84,300)
NVQ1 and above: 87.9% (93,900)
Other Qualifications: 3.8% (4,000)
No Qualifications: 8.3% (8,900)

37.9% 

23.7% 

20.6% 

17.8%

Tudalen 237



10  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

4 | About the Council

Education and 
Children Services

Place and 
Infrastructure

Carmarthenshire 
County Council 
has just over 
8,000 employees, 
split over five 
departments 
covering a wide 
range of services, 
with a Gross 
budget of £600m

• 	 Corporate Parenting 
and child welfare 

• 	 Family support 
• 	 Sustainable 

Communities for 
Learning 

• 	 Learner inclusion 
• 	 Safeguarding children 

and young people 
• 	 Adult community 

learning 
• 	 Early Years childcare, 

play and education 
• 	 Youth support service • 

Fostering and adoption 
support services 

• 	 Support services for 
supporting learner 
behaviour 

• 	 School services – 
catering, music, 
admissions and 
governance 

• 	 School improvement 
and learner progress 

• 	 Transition 
arrangements and 
support for children 
and young people with 
complex needs 

• 	 Welsh in Education

• 	 Building control
• 	 Emergency planning 
• 	 Environmental and 

planning enforcement 
• 	 Flood risk management 
• 	 Highway infrastructure 

management 
• 	 Passenger Transport
• 	 Planning and 

conservation 
• 	 Property/architectural 

design and 
maintenance 

• 	 Public rights of way 
• 	 Street cleansing, 

litter and grounds 
maintenance 

• 	 Traffic management, 
road safety and car 
parking 

• 	 Waste management 
and recycling 

• 	 Engineering Design 
• 	 Fleet Management

Tudalen 238



11  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

• 	 Chief Executive, Leader 
and Cabinet support 

• 	 Corporate 
communications 

• 	 Corporate policy and 
partnership 

• 	 Corporate strategy 
• 	 Democratic services 
• 	 Electoral and 

registration services 
• 	 Information technology 
• 	 Legal services 
• 	 People management 

and performance 
• 	 Performance 

management 
• 	 Regeneration and 

property

• 	 Accountancy and 
financial management 

• 	 Creditor payments 
• 	 Corporate procurement 
• 	 Internal audit 
• 	 Payroll control 
• 	 Pensions 

administration 
• 	 Revenues & Housing 

Benefits Services 
• 	 Revenue services 
• 	 Risk management 
• 	 Treasury management 

and pension 
investments 

• 	 Adult safeguarding 
• 	 Care and support 
• 	 Carmarthenshire Home 

standards+ 
• 	 Cultural services 
• 	 Environmental 

protection 
• 	 Home care 
• 	 Housing repairs and 

maintenance 
• 	 Independent living 
• 	 Licensing 
• 	 Mental health and 

learning disability 
services 

• 	 Older people and 
physical disability 
services 

• 	 Outdoor recreation 
• 	 Public protection 
• 	 Sport and leisure

Chief Executives Corporate Services Communities

Tudalen 239



12  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

? | XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

12  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

75 
 County Councillors 

representing  

51  
community wards

Keeping our website 
updated (Over  

3 million 
user sessions by the 

public on our website 
per annum)

Taking over 

250,000  
calls & responding to over  

25,000  
electronic enquiries annually 

in our contact centre 

Responsible for the 
highway network in 
Carmarthenshire of 

3,500 km.

Over  

80,000 
tonnes of municipal 

waste collected 
during the year

Determine an 
average of 

1,500 
Planning Applications 

a year

16,000 
school meals a day

Deal with over 

340,000 
invoices a year

1 nursery school,  
95 primary schools, 

12 secondary schools, 
1 special school and 1 
pupil referral unit which 

provide education for over 

27,000 pupils 

5 | About the Council - Key Statistics

Tudalen 240



? | XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

13  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

13  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Helping as many as possible of our 

8,000  
businesses in the County,  

(90% of which have fewer than 10 
employees), together with

Our registrars on average annually record around  

2,500 Deaths, 2,400 Births*  
and over  

500  
Marriages and Civil Partnerships

* Please note that birth figures include Ceredigion and 
Pembrokeshire residents who use the maternity services at 

Glangwili General Hospital

We manage just over 

9,000 
council houses

Over 3,500 
clients supported 
with a Social Care 

Service

We have  

20 
libraries in the County 
(including mobile and 

community run) 

We run  

6  
leisure centres  
in the County

Work with partners regionally to prevent, 
resolve and improve delivery of services 

•	Public Services Board; 
•	Corporate Joint Committee (transport, 

planning, economic well-being); 
•	Swansea Bay City Deal; 
•	Regional Learning & Skills Partnership;
•	Dyfed Powys Local Resilience Forum; 
•	Regional Safeguarding; 
•	Regional Partnership Board – West Wales 

Care Partnership; 
•	VAWDA-SV Regional Board;
•	Area Planning Board – Substance Misuse; 
•	Partneriaeth – education consortium.Tudalen 241



14  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

6 | Our Core Values:

Our values are at the heart of everything we do.  

They help us to make the right decision and shape how we work together.

Listening
Listening to our 
communities, partners, 
and colleagues to 
improve

One Team
Working together 
we will make things 
better

Integrity
Being fair, honest and 
always trying to do 
the right thing, safely

Customers 
First
Working to improve 
the lives of people in 
our community

Take 
Responsibility
Taking ownership of 
our actions and holding 
ourselves accountable

Excellence
Delivering to the best 
of our abilities and 
looking for better ways 
to do things

Tudalen 242



15  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

7 | Council Well-being Objectives

Why is this important? 
1.	 Giving every child the best start in life is crucial to reducing 

health inequalities across the life course. The foundations 
for virtually every aspect of human development – physical, 
intellectual and emotional – are laid in early childhood. 
What happens during these early years, starting in the 
womb, has lifelong effects on many aspects of health and 
well-being – from obesity, heart disease and mental health, 
to educational achievement and economic status. To 
have an impact on health inequalities we need to address 
the social gradient in children’s access to positive early 
experiences. Later interventions, although important, are 
considerably less effective if they have not had good early 
foundations. Fair Society, Healthy Lives, the Marmot Review, 
2010

2.	 Adverse Childhood Experiences ACE’s are stressful 
experiences during childhood that directly harm a child (e.g. 
sexual or physical abuse) or effect the environment in which 
they live (e.g. growing up in a house with domestic violence) 
that can impact throughout the course of life. For every 100 
adults in Wales, 47% have suffered at least one ACE and 
14% have suffered 4 or more.

3.	 Early language acquisition is important in the development 
of the child. Welsh language development in the early years 
can encourage feelings of belonging.

4.	 In March 2022, there were 165 Looked After Children 
in Carmarthenshire, which equates to 45 per 10,000 
population compared to the Welsh average of 112.

5.	 31% of children are living in poverty in Carmarthenshire 
(in households with less than 60% of the average income 
before housing costs). This is just above the Welsh average 
of 30.6%. 

6.	 Carmarthenshire is the 5th worst county in Wales for levels 
of childhood obesity. In 2018/19, almost a third of children 
aged 4 to 5 were overweight or obese. 

7.	 Compulsory education is changing in Wales and a new 
curriculum is being introduced that aims to provide young 
people with the skills they will need in the future. 

Well-being Objective 1

Enabling our children and young people to have the best 
possible start in life (Start Well)

Tudalen 243



16  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

A recent consultation with Carmarthenshire’s residents 
indicates that there is overall agreement that local 
schools provide children and young people with a good 
education. 
8.	 Children learn through play and develop essential skills - 

play sufficiency is essential.
9.	 Attendance at a quality pre-school (aged 0-3) is shown to 

improve outcomes for children.
10.	 Making sure young people are in Education, Employment 

or Training reduces the effects of poverty and the wider 
cost to society of support services, reliance on benefits and 
offending.  

11. Young carers are more likely to achieve poorer 
educational outcomes – there are 1,800 young carers in 
Carmarthenshire. 

12.	 There is a net migration over the last five years in the 16-24 
range. 

13.	 Key local issues identified by the Carmarthenshire Youth 
Forum are:
a. access to training and jobs with 21.3% of votes
b. homelessness with 20.9% of votes, 
c. domestic violence with 17 of votes%.

14.	 Concern over mental health is a key issue raised by young 
people.

15.	 Young people are also concerned with bullying and 
cyberbullying. 

16.	 Research on early years investment suggests significant 
returns for each £1 invested.

Tudalen 244



17  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Outcomes we hope to achieve
•	 Improved availability of early years 

education and childcare settings across 
the county, particularly in rural areas; 
with a particular focus on providing and 
strengthening Welsh-medium childcare.

•	 Pupils with Additional Learning Needs are 
fully supported. 

•	 Increased school attendance rates and 
access to education for vulnerable pupils.

•	 Deliver a rounded curriculum raising 
educational standards.

•	 Nutritious free school meals for all 
primary school pupils.

•	 Increased bilingual and Welsh medium 
education.

•	 Improved opportunities for all residents 
in literacy, numeracy and digital skills to 
upskill for employment.

•	 Schools for sustainable community 
learning that are fit for 21st Century

•	 Keeping children at home with their 
families whenever possible.

•	 Reducing the inequalities faced 
by children from disadvantaged 
backgrounds which may affect their later 
life chances. 

•	 Families facing difficulties are supported 
to provide stable, safe and secure home 
environments for their children. 

•	 Families from disadvantaged 
backgrounds are able to access health 
and well-being provision within their local 
areas. 

What will we do?
As a Council we will focus on the following 
thematic and service priorities with separate 
detailed delivery plans outlining our approach 
to making progress against our outcomes in 
each of the areas.

Thematic Priority: Healthy Lives – 
prevention /early intervention
We will give every child the best start in life, 
improving their early life experiences and 
ensuring they live healthy lifestyles. We will 
protect children and young people from 
harm and work to ensure their emotional and 
physical well-being.

Service Priority: Early years
Protecting children who are experiencing, or 
are at risk of abuse, neglect, or other kinds 
of harm is our priority. Our focus is on early 
intervention / prevention to ensure all children 
can reach their full potential and be healthy, 
happy and safe. Helping to give every child the 
best start in life and improve their early life 
experiences is our key aim.   

Service Priority: Education 
We will support all Carmarthenshire learners. 
We will ensure that they are happy, safe, are 
thriving, and are fulfilling their personal, social 
and learning potential.

The future direction of Education Services will 
focus on supporting learners to become:

•	 Ambitious, capable learners, ready to 
learn throughout their lives.

•	 Enterprising, creative contributors, ready 
to provide a full part in life & work.

•	 Healthy and confident individuals, ready 
to learn fulfilling lives as valued members 
of society.

•	 Ethical, informed citizens of Wales and 
the world.

Tudalen 245



18  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Why is this important? 
1.	 Poverty and deprivation have serious detrimental effects, 

impacting all aspects of well-being. Over a third of our 
households continue to live in poverty (35.6%), a level 
which has increased by 0.9% over the last ten years. This 
translates to around 29,500 households, suggesting that 
almost 600 additional households have slipped below the 
income threshold over the last ten years. 

	 A large proportion of respondents to a recent consultation 
agreed that poverty is a problem in their respective area.

2.	 The cost of living is rising across the UK, with more working 
families experiencing poverty.

3.	 According to the Census 2021, Carmarthenshire has an 
ageing population, whereby 11% of the county’s population 
are aged over 75 (above the national average of 9.8%).  
This will require the NHS and the Local Authority to plan for 
the expected increased demand for health and social care 
services. 

	 Health and Social Care was indicated to be the most 
important theme in terms of prioritisation for investment by 
Carmarthenshire’s residents through a recent consultation. 

4.	 The challenge is to prevent ill health, living healthy lives 
allows people to fulfil their potential, meet educational 
aspirations and play a full part in the economy and society 
of Carmarthenshire, many of the preventive services and 
interventions lie outside health and social care. 

5.	 Dementia prevalence is projected to significantly increase 
in the next 15 years. 

6.	 Mental ill health is something that one in four adults will 
experience in the course of their lifetime.

	 There was overall strong agreement from residents that it is 
important that consideration is given to supporting people’s 
mental health and wellbeing. 

Well-being Objective 2

Enabling our residents to live and age well  
(Live & Age Well)

Tudalen 246



19  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

7.	 Homelessness, and the risk of homelessness, poses 
significant risk to a person’s well-being, negatively 
impacting on emotional, mental and physical health as well 
as indicating poor social and economic circumstances

8.	 Access to good quality, affordable homes promotes 
improved health and well-being, meeting the individual 
needs of residents, building strong sustainable communities 
and places where people want to live. It is also good for 
the economy - in order to thrive, new businesses need easy 
access to its workforce and quality housing will help to 
attract this cohort.

	 There was overall strong agreement from residents that it 
is important that local people are supported to buy homes 
locally. 

9.	 Good quality energy efficient affordable homes are good 
for the people and the environment – well insulated homes 
fitted with the latest innovative technologies not only serve 
to reduce carbon emissions but also promote affordable 
warmth for our residents. 

Tudalen 247



? | XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

20  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

What will we do?
As a Council we will focus on the following 
thematic and service priorities with separate 
detailed delivery plans outlining our approach 
to making progress against our outcomes in 
each of the areas.

Thematic Priority: Tackling Poverty
Poverty and deprivation have serious 
detrimental effects across all aspects of well-
being. It limits the opportunities and prospects 
for children and young people and damages 
the quality of life for families and communities.

Poverty can be a barrier to full participation in 
society and is too often an intergenerational 
experience which poses a significant threat to 
experiencing positive well-being both now and 
in the future.

With the added pressures of the cost of 
living crisis impacting residents, businesses 
and organisations there is a need for a fully 
integrated and collaborative approach to 
responding and supporting in the areas that 
we can influence.  

Service Priority: Housing
Good quality affordable homes as well as 
continued significant investment in existing 
homes promotes health and well-being, 
meeting the individual needs of the residents, 
building resilient and cohesive communities 
and places where people want to live. Work to 
existing homes and availability of new provision 
across our rural and urban communities across 
the County will be key to enabling community 
resilience and cohesion.

Outcomes we hope to achieve
•	 Help and support to alleviate the effects 

of the ‘cost of living’ crises and poverty in 
the County. 

•	 Seamless integrated services between 
Health and Social Care.

•	 Accessible, inclusive, sustainable services, 
which promote and facilitate learning, 
culture, heritage, information, well-being 
and leisure.

•	 Improved preventative services to meet 
the demands of an ageing population.

•	 A reduction and working towards an end 
to homelessness.

•	 Availability to good quality and energy 
efficient affordable homes in the County.

•	 Recognise and seek to limit the 
disproportionate barriers faced by 
marginalised groups in accessing services 
and support which allow them to live and 
age well. 

•	 Improved opportunities for all residents 
in literacy, numeracy and digital skills to 
upskill for employment. 

•	 People are supported to take advantage 
of local opportunities whether it be 
through starting a business, gaining 
qualifications or gaining meaningful 
employment.

Tudalen 248



21  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Service Priority: Social Care
Social care services across a range of client 
group areas are likely to see an increase in 
demand over coming years and with the 
sector facing significant pressures in terms of 
workforce capacity there is a need to focus 
attention and respond innovatively. 

The further development of collaboration 
and integration with health will be essential 
in order to deliver the key principles and 
standards relating to prevention, system flow, 
proactive care and planned care, and long-
term care. The long-term aim is to wherever 
possible help people to maintain their 
independence at home for as long as possible, 
prevent unnecessary admissions to hospital 
and support timely discharge home from 
hospital to ensure that those that need good 
hospital care can access it. 

Tudalen 249



22  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Well-being Objective 3

Enabling our communities and environment to be healthy, 
safe and prosperous (Prosperous Communities)

Why is this important? 
1.	Providing secure and well-paid jobs for local people is crucial 

as increasing employability is fundamental to tackling 
poverty and reducing inequalities. This has a dramatic impact 
on our health and ability to function in everyday society. 

2.	Carmarthenshire has a high economic inactivity rate. This is 
a significant barrier to growth for Carmarthenshire, as the 
economically inactive represent a significant source of labour 
supply which is a crucial element of a well-functioning labour 
market. This is also concerning given that being inactive for 
a long period of time can negatively impact a person’s well-
being, health and life-satisfaction.

3.	A barrier to employment for many is a lack of qualifications or 
skills. This applies to those that have no qualifications at all 
and those that wish to re-skill or up-skill to better themselves 
and seek higher level or alternative employment. This is a 
pertinent issue for Carmarthenshire, as the county exhibits a 
higher-than-average number of people with no qualifications 
and a lower proportion than average of people with higher 
level qualifications. 

4.	Business birth rates in Carmarthenshire have seen a small 
decline in recent years when compared with regional and 
national averages. A stagnant start-up rate is a barrier to 
growth and suggests a lack of confidence and capacity 
within the economy. Evidence highlighted in recent work on 
the Innovation prospects for the county suggests that the 
potential entrepreneurial capacity of the county is amongst 
the highest in Wales. Therefore, whilst current businesses 
within the county need relevant support there is also a 
need to focus on creating an ecosystem which harnesses 
existing entrepreneurial flare and make Carmarthenshire an 
attractive place to start a business.

5.	The county is characterised by micro and small sized 
enterprises which account for 97.2% of the total business 
demography. Whilst they are the very foundation of the 
county’s economic and cultural ecosystem their combined 
annual turnover is significantly less than that generated by 
the county’s 430 (2.8%) medium and large sized enterprises.  

Tudalen 250



23  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

If we are to realise notable economic growth and increase 
productivity, there is a need to focus on supporting these 
businesses to upscale.

	 The local economy was highlighted as the third most 
important theme for prioritisation for investment by 
respondents to a recent consultation. This included sub-
themes such as local business investment and town centre 
regeneration. 

6.	Access to services is a challenge in some instances owing 
to a lower population density and rurality. Large travel 
distances increase the time and cost for accessing services, 
which can hinder an individual’s ability to feel connected 
to their communities, worsen isolation and reduce feelings 
of local pride and belonging. This is especially pertinent for 
marginalised groups. 

	 Findings from a recent Carmarthenshire residents survey 
highlights that whilst there was overall agreement from 
respondents that they can easily access services, a large 
proportion disagreed.  

7.	Transportation & highways play a key role in supporting 
and sustaining our communities, it provides the vital 
infrastructure which connects people to one another, binds 
communities and enables businesses to grow and expand. 
A modern, successful economy is reliant upon the safe and 
efficient movement of people and goods and providing 
opportunities for people to gain access to employment, 
education, health, leisure and shopping. The majority of 
respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed that there 
are good transportation links around them. 

8.	Areas of the county are susceptible to the negative effects of 
the climate emergency, especially flooding. Just over 15,000 
properties (mostly residential) in the county are currently at 
some level of flood risk. 3,151 of these properties are at high 
risk. Climate change will increase the number of properties, 
infrastructure and key services at risk of flooding. Places 
which do not currently flood will become at risk of flooding 
and those already known to be at risk will see the level of 
that risk become greater.

Tudalen 251



24  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

	 The threats of the climate and nature emergencies were 
highlighted by residents as being a concern. Particular 
reference was made by some to the threats posed by 
flooding. 

9.	 A biodiverse natural environment is good for well-being, 
with healthy functioning ecosystems, supporting social, 
economic and ecological resilience. Planning plays an 
integral role in order to deliver the Council’s vision.

10.	 To reduce carbon outputs and meet Welsh Government 
National targets, we must deliver our Waste Management 
and Recycling Strategy and meet our statutory recycling 
targets (70% by 2025 / 100% by 2050) and wider 
obligations including improvements to the quality of 
recyclable materials or suffer financial penalties.

11.	 The latest Census data for 2021 indicates that 
Carmarthenshire is home to 72,838 Welsh speakers which 
translates to 39.9% of the county’s total population. This 
figure has decreased by 5,210 since the last Census in 
2011, which translates to a percentage point decrease of 
4.0. This is the largest percentage point decrease of all local 
authorities in Wales. In 2001 and 2011, Carmarthenshire 
had the highest number of Welsh speakers of all local 
authorities in Wales, with 84,196 and 78,048 Welsh 
speakers respectively. These new figures mean that the 
county now has the second highest number of Welsh 
speakers of all local authorities in Wales and the fourth 
highest in terms of the percentage of the population 
that are able to speak Welsh.  The county remains a key 
strategic stronghold for the future of the Welsh language 
and the social and economic benefits of bilingualism are 
widely recognised. Evidence gathered via the residents’ 
survey indicates that overall respondents agreed that it 
is important that the Welsh language is promoted and 
protected.

	 Evidence gathered via the residents’ survey indicates that 
overall respondents agreed that it is important that the 
Welsh language is promoted and protected. 

12.	 Carmarthenshire exhibits increasing crime rates in some 
areas, however the county remains among the safest areas 
in the UK, with Carmarthenshire ranking 13th safest out 
of the 22 counties in Wales with a rate of 83.6 crimes per 
1,000 population. 

	 Overall, there was agreement that residents feel safe in 
their communities. 

© Alun Williams

Tudalen 252



25  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Outcomes we hope to achieve
•	 Businesses supported and employment 

provided.
•	 People are supported to take advantage 

of local opportunities whether it be 
through starting a business, gaining 
qualifications or gaining meaningful 
employment.

•	 Businesses are supported to take 
advantage of local supply chains and 
procurement opportunities. 

•	 People feel empowered to lead active 
and healthy lives through access to fit for 
purpose services and provision

•	 On track to meet the national recycling 
targets.

•	 Continue to work towards becoming a 
Net Zero Carbon Local Authority by 2030. 

•	 Look to improve the availability and 
affordability of early years education 
and childcare settings across the county, 
to address one of the common barriers 
faced by individuals looking to return to, 
or find employment.

•	 Look to improve access to services 
through enhanced transportation 
networks and infrastructure.

•	 Improve current and explore new 
developments to limit the effects of 
flooding and other environmental threats 
which affect our residents and service 
users.

•	 Sustain low crime rates whilst continuing 
effective partnership working to address 
increasing rates evident in some areas of 
the county. 

•	 Increase in the number of Welsh 
speakers.

•	 Increased confidence and use of the 
Welsh as a thriving language. 

What will we do?
As a Council we will focus on the following 
thematic and service priorities with separate 
detailed delivery plans outlining our approach 
to making progress against our outcomes in 
each of the areas.

Thematic Priority: Economic Recovery 
and Growth
The strength of our local economy is central 
to our communities’ wider well-being and 
going forward we will focus our regeneration 
efforts on developing our businesses, people 
and places. In our future plans we will enable 
Carmarthenshire to become more productive 
whilst being more equal, greener and healthier 
and supporting business and community 
resilience and growth. 

Thematic Priority: Decarbonisation & 
Nature Emergency
The Natural Environment is a core component 
of sustainable development. The Council has 
already declared its commitment to addressing 
the climate and nature emergencies and 
will continue on its route towards becoming 
a Net Zero Carbon Local Authority by 2030 
and addressing the issues that are driving a 
decline in our biodiversity and support nature 
recovery. 

Thematic Priority: Welsh Language & 
Culture
Carmarthenshire is a stronghold for the 
Welsh language and is considered to be 
of high strategic importance in its future. 
Bilingualism is beneficial to both the economy 
and individuals through cognitive and social 
benefits. We will work towards increasing the 
number of Welsh speakers and supporting the 
regular use of the language across all aspects 
of our daily lives. 

Tudalen 253



26  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Engaging in cultural activity has demonstrable 
positive impact on starting well, living well and 
ageing well. We want our future generations 
to be immersed in a strong, intriguing, wholly 
unique Carmarthenshire Culture, that reflects 
our past and shapes our future.

Thematic Priority: Community Safety, 
Resilience and Cohesion
Safety and a feeling of belonging are important 
to personal well-being and more people now 
appreciate the value of kindness and being 
part of a community. Supporting cohesive 
communities and ensuring those from different 
backgrounds share positive relationships, feel 
safe in their neighbourhood, and have a sense 
of mutual respect and shared values is central 
to having active and thriving communities.

Community Resilience is also essential to 
enable communities to respond to, withstand, 
and recover from adverse situations. When 
communities are able to work together to 
support each other it builds a sense of pride 
and belonging which is key for social well-
being.

Service Priority: Leisure & Tourism
Sport and leisure, culture and outdoor 
recreation are the heartbeat of our 
communities. These services provide a range 
of health and well-being activities, facilities 
and programmes in order to support our 
residents and communities to lead healthy, 
safe and prosperous lives.

In a similar way the promotion of our County 
as an attractive and commercially viable place 
to visit and invest in is a key economic and 
well-being factor. 

We will continue to develop these services 
in response to the need of our residents, 
businesses and visitors.

Service Priority: Waste
A circular economy keeps resources and 
materials in use for as long as possible and 
avoids all waste. Moving to a circular economy 
is key to the delivery of essential environmental 
outcomes in terms of the opportunity to reduce 
our carbon emissions and impact on natural 
resources whilst aiding nature recovery. We 
will ensure that we develop a new approach to 
waste management that embeds the circular 
economy principles in Carmarthenshire. 

Service Priority: Highways & Transport
Our highway and transportation networks 
underpin the economic prosperity of 
Carmarthenshire, facilitating access to 
employment and learning opportunities, social 
connections, health, leisure, active travel and 
delivering services that touch every home 
every day. Connectivity and accessibility are 
central to facilitating economic and social 
well-being and we will continue to develop 
and enhance our local infrastructure in order 
to support our communities.

Tudalen 254



27  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Well-being Objective 4 

To further modernise and develop as a resilient and 
efficient Council (Our Council)

Why is this important? 
1.	 In March 2020, we entered one of the most challenging 

periods ever faced by local government with the COVID-19 
pandemic. Emerging from the crisis, there was a 
recognition that ‘things would never quite be the same’ and 
we would not be the same organisation that we had been. 
We therefore wanted to capture the learning from our 
response to the pandemic; what worked well/did not work 
so well, and how this could potentially change ‘what we do’ 
and ‘how we do’, it in the future. This is now an opportunity 
to re-set or go back to basics in using some core principles 
that underpin service delivery.

	 Findings from a recent staff consultation indicate that 
the vast majority of respondents feel proud of the way we 
responded as an organisation to the pandemic. 

	 Additionally, the majority feel ready to move forward and 
work in a post covid world.

	 Mostly, staff agree that they were well led during the 
pandemic, however a lower proportion agreed that they 
feel valued for the contributions they made during this time. 

2.	 We had to adapt our services quickly to continued delivery, 
which often required innovative and creative thinking, and 
a multi-team approach within the Council and with other 
public sector partners. Services demonstrated extreme 
resilience and as a result are now armed with more robust 
service continuity plans and a more mature approach to 
risk – having greater confidence and ambition in seeking 
ways of developing more purposeful services.

Tudalen 255



28  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

3.	 The benefits of having a more flexible, dynamic, empowered 
workforce will be important to support a transformation 
programme, to help us achieve our wider aims and objectives. 
The likelihood is that our staff recruitment challenges are 
likely to be with us for at least the medium term, and therefore 
there will need to be a greater focus on the development and 
retention of staff - priority of our Workforce Strategy.

	 Overall respondents to the staff consultation strongly agree 
that they have the right skills and equipment to do their work, 
however a lower proportion agrees that they are encouraged to 
learn and develop in their role. 

4.	 We are able to develop a more sustainable approach to 
meet our future workforce needs by adopting a ‘grow your 
own’ strategy - our ‘Future Workforce’ programme will seek 
to increase graduate, apprenticeship and work experience 
opportunities. 

5.	 Therefore, our Transformation Programme based on what we 
have learnt, will design and implement a programme of internal 
change and transformation that will support the Council 
to deliver on our vision and priorities as set out within this 
Corporate Strategy.

Tudalen 256



29  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Outcome we hope to achieve
•	 To further modernise and develop the 

Council’s ways of working.
•	 Support the development of the Council 

as a modern, diverse, inclusive and 
responsive organisation and be an 
‘Employer of Choice’.

•	 Listen to our staff through regular staff 
engagement and empower them to 
improve their own service areas.

•	 Ensure local and regional partnership 
working is efficient and effective and 
adds value to the work of the Council.

•	 Increased public engagement through 
engagement, participation and 
consultation.

•	 A more commercial approach to the 
delivery of Council services with a view to 
increasing the level of income generated.

•	 Make better use of digital technology 
to further transform our services into 
smarter, efficient service processes 
and to deliver a better experience for 
customers.

•	 Embrace and promote agile working, 
hybrid meetings and new ways of working 
across the organisation, by being more 
sustainable and creative to improve 
Council services.

•	 Deliver organisational change that 
supports key Net Zero Carbon targets.

•	 Ensuring the Council is using its resources 
economically, efficiently and effectively.

•	 Embedding the sustainable development 
principle in all that the Council does. 

What will we do?
As a Council we will focus on the following 
thematic priorities with separate detailed 
delivery plans outlining our approach to 
making progress against our outcomes in each 
of the areas.

Thematic Priority: Organisational 
Transformation
Public service as a whole has been through 
a period like no other in responding to the 
pandemic and with a challenging period likely 
to be facing us in terms of budgetary pressure it 
is essential to improve our capabilities and the 
way that we use our resources economically, 
efficiently and effectively in order to provide 
more value and benefits to our customers and 
residents.

A focus on organisational transformation 
will further accelerate the process of 
modernisation across the Council and allow us 
to deliver high-quality, cost-effective services 
within the context of a challenging external 
environment. There will need to be an inclusive 
and integrated approach to transformation 
that makes the best use of its people, systems 
and processes whilst encouraging the 
adoption of modern working practices and 
speeding up of processes.

Tudalen 257



30  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

? | XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

30  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

Core Business Enablers
In addition to the identified thematic and service 
priorities, there are a range of core business enablers 
that will are essential to enable us to make progress 
against our well-being objectives. 

As part of the development of the delivery plans for 
the thematic and service priorities consideration will 
also be given to the support and function required from 
these core business enablers.  

•	 Information and Communication Technology (ICT)

•	 Marketing & Media including customer services

•	 Legal

•	 Planning

•	 Finance

•	 Procurement

•	 Internal Audit

•	 People Management (Human Resources, Learning 
& Development, Occupational Health)

•	 Democratic Services

•	 Policy & Performance

•	 Electoral Services & Civil Registration

•	 Estates & Asset Management

•	 Risk Management 

•	 Business Support

Tudalen 258



31  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

8 | How will we measure progress?

The Council’s Performance Management 
Framework sets out our approach to 
managing and monitoring performance 
against our Corporate Strategy and 
well-being objectives.
The specific actions and measures for how 
we will make progress against our Corporate 
Strategy and well-being objectives will be 
outlined within detailed delivery plans for 
the thematic and service priorities which 
will also recognise the work of the core 
business enablers. These delivery plans will be 
developed with the life cycle of this Corporate 
Strategy until 2027 in mind and will be 
reviewed and updated annually. 

On-going performance management 
will be undertaken through quarterly 
performance monitoring reports to the 
Corporate Management Team, Cabinet and 
Scrutiny which will be aided with a corporate 
performance data suite. 

An Annual Report on Council performance will 
be prepared in order to keep under review the 
extent to which:

•	 we are exercising our functions 
effectively;

•	 we are using our resources economically, 
efficiently and effectively;

•	 our governance is effective for securing 
this.

This will be developed through a self-
assessment approach alongside effective use 
of data, information and intelligence in order 
to inform and further develop our delivery 
plans and ways of working. 

We will also consult and engage with a 
range of stakeholders on our performance 
including residents, businesses, Council staff, 
organisations and trade unions in order to 
inform our self-assessment. 

Tudalen 259



32  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

9 | Appendix 1 - Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015

The general purpose of the Act is to 
ensure that the service planning and 
governance arrangements of public 
bodies focuses on improving the 
economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales whilst 
taking the needs of future generations 
into account, in line with the sustainable 
development principle. 

The Act provides a shared vision for all 
public bodies in Wales to work towards.

The Act states that: 

a)	 We must carry out and embed the 
sustainable development principle in all 
that we do. The Council must act in a 
manner which seeks to ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs.

b)	 We must set and publish Well-being 
Objectives for the Council that maximise 
our contribution to the 7 National Well-
being Goals.

a)	 We must demonstrate that we are 
giving due consideration to the 5 ways 
of working in all that we do. The 5 ways 
of working focus on long-term thinking, 
integration, involvement, collaboration 
and prevention. 

Tudalen 260



33  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

10 | Appendix 2 - How our Well-being Objectives support National Well-being Goals

Well-being Objectives	 7 National Well-being Goals

Pr
os

pe
rit

y

R
es

ili
en

ce

H
ea

lt
hi

er

M
or

e 
Eq

ua
l

C
oh

es
iv

e 
C

om
m

un
it

ie
s

V
ib

ra
nt

 C
ul

tu
re

 
an

d 
W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

G
lo

ba
l 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty

1.	 Enabling our children and young people to 
have the best possible start in life 
(Start Well)       

2.	 Enabling our residents to live and age well 
(Live & Age Well)       

3.	 Enabling our communities and environment 
to be healthy, safe and prosperous 
(Prosperous communities)       

4.	 To further modernise and develop as a 
resilient and efficient Council 
(Our Council)       

Tudalen 261



34  Carmarthenshire County Council – Corporate Strategy 2022-2027

11 | Appendix 3 - Well-being Statement

1.	 We feel that our Well-being Objectives 
contribute significantly to the 
achievement of the National Well-being 
Goals. Our Well-being Objectives relate 
to different aspects of life’s course 
and focuses on the areas that we can 
influence and shape in order to improve 
well-being in a systematic way. 

2.	 These Well-being Objectives have been 
identified following consultation and 
feedback with a range of stakeholders 
and developed alongside a basket 
of different sources of information 
focusing on the needs of our population, 
performance data and regulatory 
feedback. In developing delivery plans to 
achieve these objectives we will involve 
all relevant stakeholders with an interest 
in achieving them.

3.	 The steps we take to achieve the 
Well-being Objectives (through our 
delivery plans) will look to ensure that 
the 5 ways of working (long term, 
preventative, integrated, collaborative 
and involvement) are fully embraced and 
embedded in the way that we deliver.

4.	 Each Cabinet portfolio holder/s will have 
defined accountability for their relevant 
Well-being Objectives.

5.	 To ensure that we deliver the steps 
for each Well-being Objective we will 
implement our Performance Management 
Framework. All the delivery plans will be 
monitored and reported on a quarterly 
basis to Departmental Management 
Teams, Corporate Management Team 
and Cabinet. In addition, progress will be 
reported to Scrutiny Committees. The 
Council will prepare an Annual Report on 
its Well-being Objectives and revise the 
objectives if required.

6.	 The content of delivery plans to achieve 
the Well-being Objectives will need to be 
adequately resourced. To achieve these 
objectives services will integrate and 
collaborate with partners and fully involve 
citizens in all their diversity.

7.	 Our Objectives are long term, but our 
delivery plans will include milestones that 
will enable monitoring and assurance of 
progress.

8.	 To ensure that our Well-being Objectives 
are deliverable and that the expectations 
of the Act are embraced we will adapt 
financial planning, asset management, 
risk assessment, performance 
management and scrutiny arrangements.

9.	 The requirements of the Local 
Government and Elections Act 
2021 Governance and Performance 
requirements will also be embedded 
within this approach. 

We welcome our duties under the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act. We have already addressed much of the 
Act’s requirements but recognise that we can do more. 

Tudalen 262



 

CABINET 
 

DYDD LLUN, 30 IONAWR 2023 
 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd D. Price (Cadeirydd) 
 
Cynghorwyr (Yn y Siambr):  
G. Davies P.M. Hughes G.H. John A. Lenny 
E.G. Thomas J. Tremlett A. Vaughan Owen  

 
Cynghorwyr (Yn rhithwir):  
L.D. Evans    
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn rhithwir): 
Y Cynghorydd D.M. Cundy 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn y Siambr): 
 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant 
A. Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Amgylcheddol a Gwastraff 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
J. Jones, Pennaeth Adfywio 
D.W. John, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Gwastraff ac Amgylcheddol Dros Dro 
C. Higginson, Media Manager 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cymorth y Cabinet 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd 
J. Owens, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol  (Yn rhithwyr): 
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
S. Hendy, Swyddog Cefnogi Aelodau 
 
Siambr,  Neuadd Y Sir, Caerfyrddin, SA31 1JP - 10.00  - 10.41 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Cafwyd ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd A.Davies. 
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 
Ni ddatganwyd unrhyw fuddiannau personol. 
 

3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR GOFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A 
GYNHALWYD AR 09 IONAWR 2023 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cabinet 
a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Ionawr 2023 yn gofnod cywir. 
 

Tudalen 263

Eitem Rhif  6.1



 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu 
cyflwyno gan yr Aelodau. 
  
 

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
  

6. DEISEB AR GYFER DIOGELWCH PALMENTYDD A FFYRDD - 
CASTELLNEWYDD EMLYN 
 
Yn unol â chofnod 7 o gyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 12 Hydref 2022, bu'r 
Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad ar ddeiseb mewn perthynas â Diogelwch 
Palmentydd a Ffyrdd yng Nghastellnewydd Emlyn. 
  
Roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu ar y gwaith partneriaeth parhaus ym meysydd 
Addysg, Peirianneg a Gorfodaeth i alluogi'r Cyngor i gyflawni ei ddyletswyddau 
statudol i wella diogelwch ar y ffyrdd ac atal gwrthdrawiadau traffig.  
  
Roedd yr adroddiad hefyd yn nodi'r fframwaith dau gam a roddwyd ar waith gan y 
Cyngor mewn perthynas â blaenoriaethu gwelliannau i'r briffordd yng nghyd-
destun y cyfyngiadau cyllidebol er mwyn ymdrin â cheisiadau o'r fath ar sail 
tystiolaeth a sicrhau bod cyllid yn cael ei gyfeirio at y meysydd sydd â'r angen 
mwyaf.   
  
Nodwyd hefyd ddata perthnasol i'r Cabinet ei ystyried o ran y cyfleusterau croesi 
presennol, llif cerbydau, cyfansoddiad a chyflymder, llif cerddwyr a 
chyfansoddiad, nodweddion safle a data ynghylch damweiniau ar y ffordd, a 
nodwyd bod angen casglu data pellach o ran traffig a nifer y cerddwyr rhwng 
oriau brig ac oriau tawel i sicrhau asesiad safle cynhwysfawr. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
  
6.1 Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad 

  
6.2 Bod y deisebwyr yn cael gwybod am yr adroddiad. 

  
6.3 Bod arolygon traffig ac asesiadau croesfannau i gerddwyr yn cael 

eu cynnal mewn lleoliadau allweddol yng Nghastellnewydd Emlyn 
yng Ngwanwyn 2023 a bod y deisebwyr yn cael gwybod am y 
canfyddiadau. 

  
7. Y WYBODAETH DDIWEDDARAF AM GRONFA FFYNIANT GYFFREDIN Y DU 

 
Yn dilyn cofnod 7 o gyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 31 Hydref 2022, 
rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i adroddiad cynnydd  o ran y Gronfa Ffyniant Gyffredin.  
  
Cadarnhawyd bod Llywodraeth y DU wedi cymeradwyo Cynllun Buddsoddi 
Rhanbarthol y De-orllewin ym mis Rhagfyr 2022 ac roedd dyraniad cyllid o 

Tudalen 264



 

£38.6m ar gyfer Sir Gaerfyrddin wedi ei sicrhau er mwyn galluogi'r Awdurdod i 
gyflawni rhai o amcanion strategol y Sir. Cyfeiriwyd at y goblygiadau cyfreithiol a 
nodwyd yn yr adroddiad lle cadarnhawyd bod Cyngor Abertawe, fel yr Awdurdod 
Arweiniol ar ran rhanbarth y De-orllewin yn parhau â'r atebolrwydd cyffredinol o 
ran cyllido a gweithrediad y Gronfa Ffyniant Gyffredin, fodd bynnag cyfrifoldeb yr 
Awdurdod oedd rheolaeth a chyflawniad y rhaglen yn Sir Gaerfyrddin.  
  
Roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu ar y prif brosiectau o fewn y themâu Cymuned, 
Gwledig, Lle, Cefnogi Busnes Lleol a Chyflogadwyedd a Sgiliau. Rhoddwyd 
trosolwg i’r Cabinet o'r goblygiadau ariannol, y prosesau llywodraethu a'r 
prosesau hefyd.  Yn hyn o beth, rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r trefniadau gwneud 
penderfyniadau ar gyfer y prif brosiectau a'r prosiectau annibynnol a oedd yn 
cynnwys datblygu ffurflen gais a meini prawf asesu, fel yr atodir i'r adroddiad. 
  
I gydnabod fod Llywodraeth y DU wedi pennu dyddiad cwblhau o 31 Mawrth 
2025 ar gyfer holl weithgarwch y Gronfa Ffyniant Gyffredin, gofynnwyd am 
gymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i fwrw ymlaen â recriwtio staff ar gyfer timau mewnol y 
prif brosiectau a'r tîm Rheoli Rhaglen, ynghyd ag agor galwadau ar gyfer pob 
cais cyn ymrwymo i Gytundeb Lefel Gwasanaeth ffurfiol â Chyngor Abertawe.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
  
7.1 Cymeradwyo’r camau a gymerwyd hyd yma a'r rhai a gafodd eu 

cynnig i alluogi swyddogion i barhau â'u gwaith paratoi ar gyfer 
darparu'r cyllid, h.y. sefydlu prosesau a gweithdrefnau ar gyfer 
cyflawni, a datblygu cytundebau cyfreithiol ffurfiol yn ôl y gofyn. 
  

7.2 Cymeradwyo'r cais arfaethedig a'r broses o wneud penderfyniadau. 
  

7.3 Cymeradwyo hyblygrwydd yn y cyllidebau gwaith er mwyn eu 
mireinio mewn ymgynghoriad â Chyllid a'r Bartneriaeth Adfywio. 
  

7.4 Dirprwyo awdurdod i'r Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio, Hamdden, 
Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth i lofnodi'r manylion am y prif brosiectau yn 
dilyn argymhelliad y Bartneriaeth Adfywio. 
  

7.5 Symud ymlaen gyda risg o ran galw am geisiadau cyn dechrau ar 
Gytundeb Lefel Gwasanaeth ffurfiol â Chyngor Abertawe. 
  

7.6 Dirprwyo awdurdod i'r Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio, Hamdden, 
Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth i gymeradwyo prosiectau hyd at £100k. 
  

7.7 Symud ymlaen gyda risg o ran recriwtio staff ar gyfer timau mewnol y 
prif brosiectau a'r tîm Rheoli Rhaglen er mwyn galluogi'r rhaglen i 
ddechrau cyn gynted â phosib. 

  
 

8. CYMERADWYO ARFOR 2 (2022-2025) 
 
Dywedwyd wrth y Cabinet, ar sail llwyddiant cam cyntaf y Rhaglen, byddai £11 
miliwn arall yn cael ei ddarparu gan Lywodraeth Cymru tan fis Mawrth 2025 i 

Tudalen 265



 

gefnogi cymunedau i ffynnu drwy ymyriadau economaidd ac i gyfrannu at ragor o 
gyfleoedd o ran gwelededd a defnydd dyddiol o'r Gymraeg  . 
  
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried y trefniadau llywodraethu arfaethedig ar gyfer rhaglen 
Arfor 2, ynghyd â'r amcanion strategol a fyddai'n cael eu cyflawni trwy gyflwyno'r 
pecynnau gwaith canlynol: 
  

       Llwyddo'n Lleol - Rhaglen ieuenctid wedi'i thargedu i gefnogi sgiliau 
entrepreneuriaidd i geisio darbwyllo ieuenctid rhag gadael yr ardal. 

       Cymunedau Mentrus - Cynllun sy'n cael ei weinyddu gan Gyngor Sir 
Caerfyrddin i greu cyfleoedd i fusnesau newydd, twf a datblygiad yn y 
trydydd sector trwy gyfrwng trydydd grant sydd wedi'i alinio ag amcanion 
Arfor. 

       Cronfa Her Arfor - Cyfle i sefydliadau ar draws y rhanbarth gyflwyno 
ceisiadau am adnoddau i ddatblygu gweithgareddau a chynllun peilot a 
fydd yn mynd i'r afael ag amcanion strategol y Rhaglen. 

       Cryfhau hunaniaeth Cymunedau Arfor - Creu rhaglen gyfathrebu a 
marchnata ar gyfer y Rhaglen. 

       Monitro a Gwerthuso a dysgu 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
  
8.1 Bod y camau a gymerwyd hyd yn hyn i alluogi'r Sir i elwa ar Raglen 

Arfor 2 yn cael eu cymeradwyo. 
  

8.2 Cymeradwyo sefydlu trefniadau llywodraethu priodol ar gyfer 
gweithredu'r rhaglen ar lefel leol, gan gynnwys sefydlu'rgrant trydydd 
parti Cymunedau Mentrus. 

  
 

9. Y WYBODAETH DDIWEDDARAF AM Y STRATEGAETH WASTRAFF 
 
Yn dilyn cofnod 7 o gyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 11 Hydref 2022, 
rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi diweddariad ar y cynnydd a 
wnaed hyd yn hyn ynghylch Strategaeth Wastraff y Cyngor ar gyfer 2021-2025, 
gan gynnwys cyflwyno'r newidiadau dros dro i'r drefn casglu gwastraff wrth ymyl 
y ffordd.   
  
Nododd strategaeth yr Awdurdod raglen gynhwysfawr o waith i sicrhau newid 
trawsnewidiol o ran gwasanaethau yn unol â'i uchelgais i leihau carbon.  
Rhoddwyd trosolwg o'r sefyllfa interim i'r Cabinet, a oedd yn manylu ar y 
newidiadau a wnaed i'r casgliadau gwastraff ymyl y ffordd a oedd wedi dechrau 
ar 23 Ionawr 2023.  Dywedwyd wrth y Cabinet fod yr Awdurdod yn anelu at 
gyflwyno newid gwasanaeth mwy hirdymor i gyflawni methodoleg casglu'r 
Glasbrint erbyn 2024, a fyddai'n cynnwys gwelliannau i ddarpariaeth y fflyd 
bresennol. 
  
Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth hefyd i'r polisi rheoli gwastraff a atodir i'r adroddiad a oedd 
yn darparu dogfen gyfunol yn amlinellu darpariaeth yr Awdurdod o ran 
gwasanaethau casglu sbwriel ac ailgylchu, ei rwydwaith o Ganolfannau Ailgylchu 
Gwastraff y Cartref a  chyfleusterau ailddefnyddio yn unol ag amcan strategol yr 

Tudalen 266



 

Awdurdod o wella casgliadau gwastraff domestig ymyl y ffordd er mwyn 
cynyddu'r cyfraddau ailgylchu yn Sir Gaerfyrddin. 
  
Cyfeiriwyd at y cosbau ariannol sylweddol a fyddai'n cael eu rhoi pe bai'r 
Awdurdod yn methu â chyrraedd y targedau ailgylchu statudol.  Ar ben hynny, 
wrth ystyried rhwymedigaethau moesol yr Awdurdod i leihau ei ôl troed carbon, 
roedd y Cabinet yn cydnabod yr ymdrechion a wnaed hyd yma i symud tuag at 
system sy'n seiliedig ar egwyddorion economi gylchol. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
  
9.1 Nodi cynnydd a chyflawniad Strategaeth Wastraff 2021. 

  
9.2 Cymeradwyo'r Polisi Gwastraff ac Ailgylchu. 
  
 

10. I GADARNHAU PENODIAD IS-GADEIRYDD Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU - LLE, 
CYNALIADWYEDD A NEWID HINSAWDD FEL CYNRYCHIOLYDD YR 
AWDURDOD AR 'PATROL' A'R AELOD CABINET DROS WASANAETHAU 
GWASTRAFF, TRAFNIDIAETH A SEILWAITH FEL YR EILYDD ENWEBEDIG 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried enwebiadau mewn perthynas â phenodi Cynrychiolydd 
yr Awdurdod ac Eilydd ar PATROL (Rheoliadau Parcio a Thraffig y tu allan i 
Lundain). Roedd angen yr enwebiad o ganlyniad i ymddiswyddiad y 
cynrychiolydd presennol. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
  
10.1 Cadarnhau Is-gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Craffu Lleoedd, Cynaliadwyedd a 

Newid Hinsawdd fel cynrychiolydd yr Awdurdod ar 'PATROL’. 
  

10.2 Cadarnhau yr Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau Gwastraff, 
Trafnidiaeth a Seilwaith fel eilydd yr Awdurdod ar 'PATROL’. 

  
 

11. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 
 

Tudalen 267



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

CABINET 
 

DYDD LLUN, 13 CHWEFROR 2023  
 
 

PRESENNOL Cynghorydd  D Price (Cadeirydd)(Yn y Siambr) 
 
Cynghorwyr (Yn y Siambr): 
C.A. Davies L.D. Evans G. Davies P.M. Hughes 
G.H. John A. Lenny J. Tremlett  

 
Cynghorwyr (Yn rhithwir): 
A. Vaughan Owen    
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn rhithwir) 
Y Cynghorydd D.M. Cundy 
Y Cynghorydd R. James 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn y Siambr): 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad) 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant 
A. Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Amgylcheddol a Gwastraff 
D. Hockenhull, Rheolwr y Cyfryngau a Marchnata 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cymorth y Cabinet 
N. Daniel, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau TGCh a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
E. Bryer, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
M. Runeckles, Swyddog Cefnogi Aeolodau 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau DemocrataiddS. Hendy, Swyddog Cefnogi 
Aelodau 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol  (Yn rhithwyr): 
S. Hendy, Swyddog Cefnogi Aelodau 
 
Siambr - Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP ac o bell - 10.00  - 10.40 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Cafwyd ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd E. Thomas. 
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 
Cafwyd ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd E. Thomas. 
 

3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR GOFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A 
GYNHALWYD AR 30 IONAWR 2023 
 

Tudalen 269

Eitem Rhif  6.2



 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod Cabinet a 
gynhaliwyd ar 30 Ionawr 2023 yn gofnod cywir. 
 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd fod tri chwestiwn â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno gan yr 
Aelodau. 
 
4.1. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

GARETH JOHN YR AELOD CABINET DROS ADFYWIO HAMMDDEN 
DIWYLLIANT A THWRISTIAETH 

 
‘A all yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio roi diweddariad ar geisiadau'r Gronfa 
Ffyniant Bro  ar gyfer Llanelli a chadarnhau ai bwriad y weinyddiaeth yw 
ailgyflwyno'r cynlluniau yn ystod cam 3?. 
  
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Gareth John – yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio, 
Hamdden, Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth:- 
Diolch i chi am y cwestiwn. Gan fod y cwestiwn wedi ei anelu'n benodol at y 
gronfa ffyniant bro, does dim llawer y gallaf ei ychwanegu mewn gwirionedd at y 
datganiad a wnes i yng nghyfarfod diwethaf y Cyngor lle cyhoeddais ein bod wedi 
cael gwybod bod y ddau gais, neu'r ceisiadau, yr oeddem wedi'u cyflwyno mewn 
cysylltiad â'r gronfa, mewn perthynas ag adfywio canol Tref Llanelli a'r 
cysylltiadau trafnidiaeth gwell a'r gyfnewidfa rhwng y canol a'r orsaf reilffordd a 
bod Pentre Awel wedi bod yn aflwyddiannus. Fel y dywedais, mae'n debyg bod 
525 o geisiadau, y dyfarnwyd cyllid i 111 ohonynt yn rownd dau, cyfanswm sy'n 
cyfateb i ychydig dros £2bn, ac mae hyn yn cyfateb i gyfradd llwyddiant o 1 allan 
o 5. Eto, fel y nodais yng nghyfarfod y Cyngor, rydym yn parhau i fod yn siomedig 
yn naturiol gyda'r newyddion yn enwedig o ystyried yr angen clir, cryfder ac 
ansawdd ein cais a'r swm helaeth o amser, ymdrech a chostau a fuddsoddwyd 
wrth gyflwyno'r cais. 
  
Fel y dywedais, rydym wedi gofyn, ac wedi cael ein haddo, ac yn dal i ddisgwyl 
adborth gyda'r nod o gefnogi cynigion a chyflwyniadau yn y dyfodol gan gofio gan 
ein bod yn gwybod y bydd trydedd rownd o'r gronfa ffyniant bro maes o law. Yr 
unig beth y byddwn i'n ei ychwanegu yw na nodwyd ar unrhyw adeg yn ystod y 
broses ymgeisio y byddai'r awdurdod o dan unrhyw anfantais yn ystod yr ail 
rownd o gynnig o ganlyniad i lwyddiant yn y rownd gyntaf. Nid yw'n ymddangos 
bod hyn yn wir, gan y byddai'n ymddangos, wrth ddadansoddi'r dyfarniadau, nad 
oedd unrhyw awdurdod wedi bod yn llwyddiannus yn y rownd gyntaf wedi derbyn 
cynnig yn yr ail rownd ac mai dim ond pedwar awdurdod lleol yng Nghymru sydd 
heb gael unrhyw lwyddiant yn y ddwy rownd. Ac, fel y nodais i'r Cyngor, gan fynd 
â'r ddwy rownd gyda'i gilydd, mae Sir Gaerfyrddin yn ail yn unig i Gaerdydd ar 
gyfanswm y cyllid sydd wedi'i ddyrannu hyd yma.  
  
Rydym yn aros am yr adborth fel y nodais a byddwn wedyn yn ei asesu cyn 
ailgyflwyno neu ddiwygio ein cyflwyniad, os yn gymwys, o dan y drydedd rownd a 
addawir pan fyddwn yn derbyn yr adborth hwnnw o'r cyhoeddiad.  Diolch yn fawr 
   
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James:- 
Nid oedd unrhyw gwestiwn atodol 
 

Tudalen 270



 

4.2. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 
ALUN LENNY, YR AELOD CABINET DROS ADNODDAU 

 
‘A all yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau ddweud a oes camau'n cael eu cymryd yn 
ddi-oed i gwblhau misoedd o waith yn Heol Las, Caerfyrddin, wedi i'r tarfu hwn 
daro'n ariannol ar fusnesau, ac a fydd y Cyngor yn ymgysylltu â'r busnesau yr 
effeithiwyd arnynt i drafod iawndal am golli busnes’ 
  
Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Alun Lenny - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau:- 
Rwy'n ddiolchgar iawn i'r Cynghorydd James am y cyfle i roi diweddariad ar y 
cynllun i wella gorsaf fysiau Caerfyrddin, sy'n cynnwys Heol Las, cynllun a 
alluogwyd trwy Gymorth Llywodraeth Cymru fel rhan o'i strategaeth i wella 
seilwaith trafnidiaeth gyhoeddus. Bydd y cynllun yn cydymffurfio â'r strategaeth 
drafnidiaeth newydd sy'n amlinellu ffyrdd gwahanol o gefnogi trafnidiaeth 
gyhoeddus. Mae'n blaenoriaethu teithwyr a newid hinsawdd fel yr eglurodd Lee 
Waters AS, Dirprwy Weinidog, ar gyfer newid hinsawdd ddydd Mercher diwethaf. 
Ar ôl i'r gwaith gael ei orffen, ac fe fydda i'n trafod hynny yn y man, bydd gorsaf 
fysiau Caerfyrddin yn lle llawer mwy croesawgar, atyniadol a diogel i deithwyr, 
gan gynnwys cysgodfannau bysiau mwy yn Heol Las, gyda byrddau electronig yn 
darparu amseroedd bysiau, yn debyg i'r rheiny a geir mewn gorsafoedd 
rheilffordd. Mae Heol Las eisoes yn stryd fwy deniadol oherwydd y gwaith gan 
fod wyneb newydd wedi'i osod ar y palmentydd ac mae lleoedd mwy diogel i 
gerddwyr groesi'r ffordd. Bydd hefyd yn gysylltiad llawer gwell rhwng yr orsaf 
reilffordd a'r Dref. Rhaid i mi gydnabod nad yw'r datblygiad wedi bod heb ei 
anawsterau ac rwy'n gwerthfawrogi'n llwyr bod ambell siop yn Heol Las yn dweud 
ei fod wedi cael effaith andwyol ar fusnes. Yn anffodus, rhwystrwyd y gwaith 
oherwydd ymatebion hwyr gan ddarparwyr cyfleustodau. Hynny yw, cwmnïau a 
allai fod â gwifrau neu bibellau o dan y ddaear. Cafodd gwaith ei atal hefyd rhwng 
canol Tachwedd a dechrau Ionawr er mwyn peidio amharu ar fusnesau lleol dros 
gyfnod y Nadolig. Darparwyd llefydd parcio am ddim ym maes parcio Heol Las 
hefyd yn ystod y cyfnod hwnnw er mwyn lliniaru'r effaith ar fusnesau. Mae'n wir y 
bu rhai rhwystrau i rai mynedfeydd busnesau am resymau anochel, ond mae'n 
debyg mai dim ond am ychydig oriau y bu hynny a bu i'r contractwr ymdrechu i 
gynnig mynedfeydd dros dro i gwsmeriaid. Erbyn hyn mae'r gwaith ar y palmant 
tu allan i'r siopau wedi ei orffen ers rhai wythnosau ac mae'n edrych yn wych. 
Bydd y gwaith o osod wyneb newydd ar y stryd ei hun yn dechrau heno. Bydd y 
gwaith yn digwydd dros nos am bedair noson, os yw'r tywydd yn caniatáu. 
Wedyn bydd gwaith yn parhau i wneud gwelliannau sylweddol y tu mewn i ardal 
bresennol yr orsaf fysiau sydd i ffwrdd o'r stryd. Daw hynny i ben yn ystod y 
gwanwyn. Yn dilyn hynny bydd gan Dref Caerfyrddin orsaf fysiau o'r radd flaenaf 
a dylai hynny ddenu rhagor o deithwyr i Heol Las er lles y siopau sydd yno ac, yn 
wir, y dref ei hun. 
  
Gan gyfeirio'n fyr at ail ran y cwestiwn, sef, yr ymholiad am iawndal, nid oes 
cynllun digolledu o fewn y system Trethi Annomestig. Fodd bynnag, os gall 
busnesau unigol brofi eu bod wedi dioddef caledi ariannol, mae'n bosibl y gallai'r 
Cyngor ystyried hynny o dan yr hyn a elwir yn Adran 13A. Byddai angen i 
swyddogion weld cyfrifon banc ac ati fel tystiolaeth fod y caledi o ganlyniad 
uniongyrchol i'r gwaith datblygu. Ond er bod trafferthion dros dro, rwy'n hyderus y 
bydd perchnogion y siopau yn Heol Las yn gweld cyn bo hir bod y datblygiad 
presennol yn creu dyfodol mwy llewyrchus i'r busnesau. 
  

Tudalen 271



 

Diolch eto am y cwestiwn    
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James:- 
  
Alla i ddiolch i'r aelod Cabinet am y wybodaeth fanwl iawn honno. Rwy'n siŵr fel 
aelod lleol bod busnesau hefyd wedi cysylltu ag ef ynglŷn â'r tarfu. Yn amlwg, 
rydym yn croesawu'r datblygiad, ond efallai fod tarfu wedi bod ar rai o'r 
busnesau. Mae'n bwysig eich bod wedi tynnu sylw at Adran 13A. Diolch i chi am 
hynny.   
  
A fyddech chi'n cwrdd â mi fy hun a busnesau yr effeithir arnynt, gyda 
Swyddogion, i ymchwilio i weld a oes cyfle i'r busnesau dan sylw wneud cais o 
dan Adran 13A am yr iawndal hwnnw am y tarfu. Diolch 
  
Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Alun Lenny - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau 
  
Rwy'n credu y byddai hynny'n destun cliriad cyfreithiol gan ein swyddogion ond, 
byddaf yn sicr yn ystyried hynny, os yw hynny'n dderbyniol. Diolch yn fawr 
 
4.3. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

DARREN PRICE, ARWEINYDD Y CYNGOR 
 
‘A fyddai Arweinydd y Cyngor yn cytuno â mi, lle mae busnes wedi creu llety - 
drwy ddefnyddio rhandy, adnewyddu ysgubor segur ar fferm neu rhyw ddull arall 
- nad yw'r arfer hwn yn tynnu stoc dai o gymunedau lleol nac ychwaith yn ail 
gartref yn yr ystyr draddodiadol, ac, o'r herwydd, ni ddylai fod yn destun unrhyw 
bremiwm y Dreth Gyngor? 
  
Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole, Arweinydd y Cyngor:- 
  
Diolch am y cwestiwn ac rwy'n meddwl ei fod yn gyfle da mewn gwirionedd i 
geisio archwilio rhai o'r materion sy'n ymwneud â hyn. Fel y byddwch yn 
ymwybodol, rydym yn ymgynghori ar hyn o bryd ynghylch cyflwyno Premiwm 
Treth Gyngor ar eiddo gwag ac ail gartrefi ac mae'r ymgynghoriad hwnnw'n 
parhau a bydd adroddiad yn dod i'r Cabinet a'r Cyngor dros yr wythnosau nesaf 
felly, ei amserol.  Yn amlwg, rydych chi'n ymwybodol o'r manylion ynghylch hyn 
ond, roeddwn i'n meddwl y byddai'n gyfle i roi rhywfaint o gyd-destun i eraill sy'n 
gwrando sydd heb gael y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf o ran y cyd-destun. Felly, yn 
amlwg, fel y soniais, rydym yn ymgynghori. Mae gennym ni 2,000 o eiddo gwag 
ar draws y sir ar hyn o bryd. Mae gennym ni tua 1,000 o ail gartrefi / tai gwyliau 
ar draws y sir hefyd. Felly, mae hynny'n golygu bod gennym 3,000 o eiddo ar 
draws y sir sydd naill ai ddim yn cael eu defnyddio o gwbl neu'n cael eu 
tanddefnyddio mewn rhai achosion. Y gwrthwyneb i hynny, wrth gwrs, yw ein bod 
ni'n gwybod bod gennym ni dros 3,000 o bobl yn aros ar y rhestr dai ac, yn 
foesol, rwy'n credu bod yna ddyletswydd arnom ni a'r llywodraeth genedlaethol i 
geisio mynd i'r afael â'r sefyllfa honno ac ail-gydbwyso'r farchnad. 
  
Rwy'n meddwl bod yna farn unfrydol, yn genedlaethol, bod angen gwneud 
rhywbeth i fynd i'r afael â phroblem eiddo gwag ac ail gartrefi ac, wrth gwrs mae 
Llywodraeth Cymru wedi bod yn glir yn dilyn trafodaethau gyda Phlaid Cymru, a 
chynnwys y Cytundeb Cydweithredu, bod angen gweithredu ar ystod eang o 
faterion. Yn amlwg mae'r Gweinidog, Julie James, yn awyddus i wneud cynnydd 
ar hyn ac mae hi wedi cael ei dyfynnu'n barhaus a byddaf yn ei dyfynnu'n 

Tudalen 272



 

uniongyrchol, dim ond er mwyn rhoi rhywfaint o gyd-destun. Beth mae hi'n ei 
ddweud yw 'bod y cynnydd parhau ym mhrisiau tai yn golygu na all y bobl, yn 
enwedig cenedlaethau iau, fforddio byw yn y cymunedau maen nhw wedi eu 
magu ynddyn nhw bellach. Mae nifer uchel o ail gartrefi neu dai gwyliau yn gallu 
cael effaith andwyol iawn ar gymunedau bychain ac mewn rhai ardaloedd gallai 
fod yn fygwth i'r Gymraeg yn cael ei siarad ar lefel gymunedol. Bod brys a 
phwysigrwydd y sefyllfa yn galw am ymyrraeth bellach sy'n golygu bod camau 
gweithredu gwirioneddol ac uchelgeisiol yn cael eu cyflawni ar gyflymder i 
sicrhau tegwch yn y system dai’. Mae'n rhaid i mi ddweud fy mod i'n cytuno'n 
gyfan gwbl gyda'r teimladau hynny. Rwy'n credu ei bod yn bwysig iawn bod 
Llywodraeth Cymru'n gweithredu mewn sawl ffordd i geisio mynd i'r afael â hyn. 
Un o'r pwerau maen nhw wedi rhoi i awdurdodau lleol wrth gwrs yw cynllun 
premiwm y dreth gyngor. Yn y gorffennol roedd penderfyniad i sicrhau bod 
Cynghorau yn gallu cyflwyno premiwm y dreth gyngor o 100% ond ers hynny 
mae wedi cael ei gynyddu i 300%. Mae newidiadau o ran y broses gynllunio i 
sicrhau bod y gwahaniaeth a'r eglurder rhwng prif annedd, ail gartrefi a thai 
gwyliau tymor byr yn cael eu mireinio ymhellach yn y dyfodol ac mae camau 
hefyd i ddatblygu trefn drwyddedu statudol ar gyfer tai gwyliau. Rwy'n credu bod 
yr holl fesurau hyn yn bwysig, ac ni ellir eu hystyried ar wahân. Mae angen eu 
hystyried yn eu cyfanrwydd.  
  
Rwy'n credu ei bod hefyd yn bwysig nodi bod awdurdodau lleol ar draws Cymru 
yn ystyried hyn bellach. Mae nifer o Gynghorau, er enghraifft Gwynedd a Sir 
Benfro, eisoes wedi cyflwyno Premiymau'r Dreth Gyngor yn yr ardaloedd hyn ac 
wedi gwneud hynny ers nifer o flynyddoedd. Ond mae gyda ni sefyllfa nawr lle 
mae cynghorau fel Rhondda Cynon Taf, Sir Fynwy, Conwy, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 
a ni ein hunain wrth gwrs yn ystyried cyflwyno mesurau tebyg ac mae'n dda 
gweld bod cynghorau ledled Cymru yn cymryd camau cadarnhaol yn hynny o 
beth. 
  
Gan gyfeirio'n benodol at y manylion yn eich cwestiwn, Rob, mae nifer o 
eithriadau sy'n berthnasol o ran premiymau'r dreth Gyngor, yn enwedig o ran ail 
gartrefi. Mae saith dosbarth sydd wedi'u heithrio o bremiwm y dreth gyngor:- 

       Yr un cyntaf yw preswylfeydd sy'n cael eu marchnata i'w gwerthu;        
       Yr ail un yw preswylfeydd sy'n cael eu marchnata i'w gosod;        
       Y trydydd un, sy'n adlewyrchu'n uniongyrchol y cwestiwn rydych chi'n 

ei ofyn y bore yma, yw rhandai sy'n rhan o'r brif breswylfa neu yr 
ystyrir eu bod yn rhan ohoni;        

       Mae dosbarth pedwar yn ymwneud â phreswylfeydd a fyddai'n unig 
neu'n brif breswylfa rhywun oni bai eu bod yn byw yn llety'r lluoedd 
arfog. Rwy'n credu bod hynny'n bwysig iawn; 

       Mae dosbarth pump yn ymwneud â lleiniau carafanau ac angorfeydd 
cychod sydd wedi'u meddiannu. Maent wedi'u heithrio; 

       Mae dosbarth chwech yn cyfeirio at gartrefi tymhorol lle mae amodau 
cynllunio yn gwahardd meddiannaeth gydol y flwyddyn ac, unwaith 
eto, mae hynny'n cyfeirio at y cyfeiriad sydd gennych y bore yma o ran 
ysguboriau mewn llawer o achosion         

       Mae dosbarth saith yn ymwneud â phreswylfeydd sy'n gysylltiedig â 
swyddi         

  

Tudalen 273



 

Felly, mae amrywiaeth o breswylfeydd ac eiddo sy'n disgyn y tu allan i Reoliadau 
Premiwm y Dreth Gyngor. Y diffiniad o ail gartref yw 'preswylfa nad yw'n unig 
neu'n brif gartref rhywun ac sydd wedi'i dodrefnu'n sylweddol. Mae preswylfeydd 
lle mae amod cynllunio yn atal deiliadaeth am gyfnod parhaus o leiaf 28 diwrnod 
o leiaf mewn unrhyw gyfnod o ddeuddeg mis megis chalets a chartrefi gwyliau 
pwrpasol wedi'u cynnwys yn y diffiniad hwn ac mae gan breswylfeydd o'r fath 
hawl i eithriadau dosbarth chwech, fel y soniais.  
  
Gan gyfeirio at yr enghraifft ysgubor a roddwyd gennych, byddwch yn ymwybodol 
mai'r arfer cyffredin yw rhoi caniatâd cynllunio ar gyfer datblygiad preswyl a 
chyfyngu ar ei feddiannaeth i ddefnydd llety gwyliau yn unig. Gall hyn fod yn wir 
yn aml gydag addasiadau ysgubor lle mae'r caniatâd a geisir ar gyfer ei 
ddefnyddio at ddibenion llety gwyliau yn hytrach na llety preswyl parhaol ac, fel y 
soniwyd, rhoddir eithriad i'r rheiny o dan ddosbarth tri. Fodd bynnag, os yw 
ysgubor wedi'i haddasu heb y cyfyngiad o ran defnydd llety gwyliau yn unig, neu i 
fod yn brif breswylfa neu'n unig breswylfa i rywun, wedyn byddai angen ei 
dosbarthu'n ail gartref neu'n llety gwyliau ac felly byddai tâl premiwm yn 
berthnasol.  
  
Felly, ar y cyfan, beth rwy'n trio ei ddweud Rob, yw ei bod yn sefyllfa eithaf 
cymhleth. Mae llawer o bethau i'w hystyried yma. Nid achos o Bremiwm y Dreth 
Gyngor yn unig ydyw. Mae'r drefn gynllunio wir yn rhan annatod o hyn wrth i ni 
geisio gweithredu premiwm y dreth gyngor ond hefyd wrth i ni geisio datblygu'r 
ardal yn y blynyddoedd i ddod. Rwy'n credu ei bod yn deg dweud bod hwn wedi 
bod yn faes heb ei reoleiddio ers cryn dipyn o amser, ond rwy'n meddwl bod y 
strwythur y mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn ei gyflwyno i'r sector o'r diwedd wedi'i 
groesawu. Yn olaf, hoffwn ychwanegu na hoffwn ragweld unrhyw gyfraniad o ran 
yr ymgynghoriad, sy'n cael ei gynnal o hyd, ond, yn amlwg, wrth i ni ystyried hyn 
fel Cabinet, byddwn yn sicrhau bod yr holl dystiolaeth hon yn cael ei hystyried 
cyn cyrraedd penderfyniad. Diolch yn fawr 
  
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James:- 
  
Diolch am y wybodaeth honno. Dros yr wythnosau a'r misoedd diwethaf, rwyf 
wedi bod yn cyfarfod ag unigolion sy'n rhan o'r sector twristiaeth amaethyddol 
sydd, yn fy marn i, yn sector pwysig i'r Cyngor hwn. Rwy'n credu bod angen i ni 
gefnogi deiliaid ffermydd i arallgyfeirio'u gweithrediadau ac rwy'n credu bod 
cynnal llety gwyliau fel rhan o hynny yn gam pwysig. Un o'r pethau sydd wedi'i 
ddweud wrthyf yw bod y newidiadau i'r cyfraddau deiliadaeth h.y. rwy'n credu mai 
180 diwrnod sydd eu hangen i gael eu dosbarthu fel busnes hyfyw gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru oherwydd newidiadau diweddar yn golygu yr effeithir arnynt 
yn fawr gan y newid hwn yn y dreth gyngor. Felly, yr hyn yr wyf ei eisiau gennych 
chi yw Arweinydd, ymrwymiad ein bod yn ceisio amddiffyn twristiaeth 
amaethyddol yn y cyngor hwn gydag unrhyw newidiadau y gallem ystyried eu 
cyflwyno. Diolch yn fawr ichi   
  
Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole, Arweinydd y Cyngor:- 
  
Diolch Rob. Y trothwy yw 182 diwrnod, nid 180, ond mae'r pwynt wedi'i wneud yn 
dda. O'r dechrau, rwy'n meddwl ei bod yn bwysig nodi nad cael unrhyw effaith 
negyddol ar y diwydiant twristiaeth yw ein bwriad. Rydym yn cydnabod yn llwyr 
bod y sector twristiaeth yn hanfodol, yn enwedig mewn rhai rhannau o'r sir, ac 

Tudalen 274



 

rwy'n credu bod y cynnig sy'n destun ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ar hyn o bryd yn 
adlewyrchu hynny. Fel y soniais yn gynharach, mae lle i gyflwyno premiwm o 
300% ar ail gartrefi ac nid ydym wedi awgrymu gwneud hynny fel rhan o'r 
ymgynghoriad. Rydym wedi awgrymu y byddai cyfraniad o 50% neu 100% yn 
ddoeth. Rwy'n credu bod hynny wedi'i seilio ar y dysgu a'r profiad ymysg 
awdurdodau eraill sydd eisoes wedi gweithredu hyn. Fel y soniais mae wedi cael 
ei weithredu yng Ngwynedd a Sir Benfro ers cryn amser. Mae'r ardaloedd hynny 
yn dibynnu'n fawr ar y sector twristiaeth ac nid wyf yn cael yr adborth gan yr 
ardaloedd hynny bod y premiwm ar y lefelau hynny wedi cael effaith niweidiol 
sylweddol ar y sector twristiaeth. Ond rwy'n credu bod pwynt ehangach yma y 
mae angen i ni ei ystyried, ac rwy'n meddwl bod y drefn gynllunio yn cynnig cyfle 
i ni fynd i'r afael â hyn dros y blynyddoedd sydd i ddod, sef llety gwyliau tymor byr 
yn y sir. Os ydym yn gweld bod busnesau ar draws y sir yn cael trafferth cyrraedd 
y trothwy hwn, rwy'n credu bod trafodaeth i'w chael o ran cyflenwad llety gwyliau 
tymor byr a chynaliadwyedd y busnesau hynny. Rydym yn awyddus i ymgysylltu 
â'r sector ynghylch hyn dros y misoedd a'r blynyddoedd sydd i ddod. Diolch  
  
 

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

6. STRATEGAETH GORFFORAETHOL CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN 2022-27 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried Strategaeth Gorfforaethol 2022-2027 y Cyngor, oedd yn 
cynnwys amcanion llesiant y Cyngor a phennu cyfeiriad teithio a blaenoriaethau 
ar gyfer y sefydliad dros gyfnod y weinyddiaeth bresennol, gan hefyd gyflawni 
fframwaith gweledigaeth ac ymrwymiadau'r Cyngor yn ystod y cyfnod. Byddai'r 
strategaeth newydd yn canolbwyntio ar nifer llai o amcanion ar sail poblogaeth 
wrth nodi'r blaenoriaethau thematig, blaenoriaethau gwasanaethau a galluogwyr 
busnes craidd y byddai'r Cyngor yn ceisio gwneud cynnydd yn eu cylch yn ystod 
y cyfnod hwnnw.  
  
Nodwyd mai dyma oedd amcanion llesiant arfaethedig newydd y Cyngor:- 
  

1.     Galluogi ein plant a'n pobl ifanc i gael y dechrau gorau posibl mewn 
bywyd (Dechrau'n Dda) 

2.     Galluogi ein preswylwyr i fyw a heneiddio'n dda (Byw a Heneiddio'n Dda) 
3.     Galluogi ein cymunedau a'n hamgylchedd i fod yn iach, yn ddiogel ac yn 

ffyniannus (Cymunedau Ffyniannus) 
4.     Moderneiddio a datblygu ymhellach fel Cyngor gwydn ac effeithlon (Ein 

Cyngor) 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR gymeradwyo 
Strategaeth Gorfforaethol 2022-2027 y Cyngor. 
 

7. STRATEGAETH DRAWSNEWID Y CYNGOR 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried y Strategaeth Drawsnewid arfaethedig oedd â'r nod o 
ddarparu fframwaith strategol i fod yn sail i raglen o newid sefydliadol sylweddol i 
gefnogi'r Cyngor i gyflawni ei nodau a'i amcanion ehangach, fel y nodir yn y 
Strategaeth Gorfforaethol (Gweler Cofnod 5 uchod). Y nod hefyd oedd cyflymu'r 

Tudalen 275



 

broses foderneiddio ar draws y Cyngor ymhellach, gan ei ganiatáu i barhau i 
ddarparu gwasanaethau cost effeithiol o ansawdd uchel o fewn cyd-destun 
amgylchedd allanol heriol. 
  
Nodwyd bod y Strategaeth yn cynnwys yr 8 blaenoriaeth thematig ganlynol:- 

       Y gweithlu, 
       Y gweithle, 
       Arbedion effeithlonrwydd a gwerth am arian 
       Incwm a masnacheiddio 
       Dylunio a gwella gwasanaethau 
       Digidol a chwsmeriaid 
       Datgarboneiddio 
       Ysgolion 

  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo'r Strategaeth Drawsnewid. 
 

8. LLOFNODI DATGANIAD CAEREDIN GAN GYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad ar lythyr a ddaeth i law gan Julie James 
(Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd Llywodraeth Cymru), a anfonwyd ym mis Medi 
2021, i bob Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru gan geisio addewidion o gefnogaeth 
dros Ddatganiad Caeredin, oedd yn cefnogi'r gwaith o ddatblygu fframwaith 
bioamrywiaeth byd-eang ôl-2020 h.y: “yn cydnabod y rôl bwysig y mae 
llywodraethau is-genedlaethol yn ei chwarae wrth gefnogi natur a bioamrywiaeth” 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL 
8.1 Bod y Cyngor yn llofnodi Datganiad Caeredin ar Fioamrywiaeth 

Fyd-eang a bod yr Aelod Cabinet dros Ddatgarboneiddio, Newid 
Hinsawdd a Chynaliadwyedd yn llofnodi'r datganiad; 

8.2 Bod swyddogion yn sicrhau bod y broses ddyledus ar gyfer 
llofnodi'r Datganiad yn cael ei gweithredu a bod llofnodi 
Datganiad Caeredin yn cael cyhoeddusrwydd gan Dîm 
Marchnata a Chyfathrebu Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin. 

  
 

9. LLAWLYFR CYNNAL A CHADW Y CYNLLUN RHEOLI ASEDAU PRIFFYRDD 
- RHANNAU 4.5, 4.6 A 4.7 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad ar fabwysiadu rhannau 4.5-4.7 o Lawlyfr 
Cynnal a Chadw y Cynllun Rheoli Asedau Priffyrdd. Er bod y cynllun wedi'i 
fabwysiadu gan Fwrdd Gweithredol y Cyngor ym mis Gorffennaf 2018, rhoddwyd 
gwybod i'r Cabinet fod y llawlyfr cynnal a chadw, yr oedd rhan 4 yn rhan ohono, 
yn cael ei ddatblygu fel portffolio o lawlyfrau penodol ynghylch rheoli amrywiaeth 
o asedau priffyrdd. Yn unol â hynny, roedd Rhannau 4.1- 4.4 o'r llawlyfr wedi'u 
mabwysiadu yn 2021, a byddai adrannau 4.5 – 4.7, pe bai'n cael eu 
mabwysiadu, yn rhoi sylw i'r agweddau a nodir isod, gydag adrannau pellach yn 
cael eu datblygu yn y blynyddoedd i ddod:- 
  
Rhan 4.5 - Rheoli Draenio Priffyrdd 
Rhan 4.6 - Rheoli Geotechnegol 
Rhan 4.7 - Ymateb Brys ar y Priffyrdd.  

Tudalen 276



 

  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL fod Rhannau 4.5, 4.6 a 4.7 o Lawlyfr 
Cynnal a Chadw y Cynllun Rheoli Asedau Priffyrdd yn cael eu mabwysiadu. 
 

10. CYLLIDEB PARTNERIAETH 2022 -2023 
 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Cabinet fod y Cytundeb Cyfreithiol mewn perthynas â 
sefydlu Consortiwm Addysg Rhanbarthol Partneriaeth yn darparu'r mater 
canlynol a gadwyd yn ôl i bob un o'i awdurdodau cyfansoddol "Cymeradwyo 
Cyllideb Flynyddol gyntaf Partneriaeth ac unrhyw Gyllideb Flynyddol ddilynol a 
fyddai y tu hwnt i gwmpas yr awdurdod a ddirprwyir i'r Cyd-bwyllgor yn ei gylch 
gorchwyl" 
  
Yn unol â'r gofyniad hwnnw, bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried gyllideb flynyddol gyntaf 
Partneriaeth, fel y'i cymeradwywyd gan Gyd-bwyllgor Partneriaeth ar 29 Ebrill 
2022. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL:- 
10.1 Nodi'r rhagdybiaethau a'r amcangyfrifon a wnaed wrth lunio'r 

Gyllideb Flynyddol Gyntaf ar gyfer 2022-23 a chymeradwyo'r 
Gyllideb Flynyddol gyntaf ar gyfer Consortiwm Addysg 
Rhanbarthol Partneriaeth, gan gynnwys cyfraniadau pob 
Cyngor, a gyfrifwyd yn unol â thelerau'r cytundeb cyfreithiol; 

10.2 Nodi bod y Cyd-bwyllgor wedi penderfynu yn ei gyfarfod a 
gynhaliwyd ar 29 Ebrill 2022 bod Prif Swyddog Cyllid Arweiniol 
Partneriaeth (Swyddog Adran 151 y Cyngor Arweiniol sy'n 
gyfrifol am gyllid) wedi'i awdurdodi i wneud gwelliannau i'r 
Gyllideb Flynyddol gyntaf ar gyfer 2022-23 wrth i ragdybiaethau 
ac amcangyfrifon gael eu cadarnhau a bod y sefyllfa honno'n 
cael ei chymeradwyo. 

  
 

11. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 
 

Tudalen 277



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	4 LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR 25 IONAWR 2023
	5.1 STRATEGAETH CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2023/24 I 2025/26
	Adroddiad
	1.	Introduction
	1.1.	The Cabinet in January 2023 considered and endorsed the Revenue Budget Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 for consultation. The report indicated, after taking account of the provisional settlement, a Council tax increase of 7.00%. The Cabinet, in endorsing the report for consultation, specifically sought comments from consultees on the detailed efficiency proposals appended to the report.
	1.2.	This report updates members on the latest position for the Revenue Budget including:
	o	Budget Consultation Results
	o	The Medium Term Spending Plans
	o	Implication and proposal on the Council Tax for 2023/2024.
	1.3.	There are inherent risks attached to this Budget Strategy and they are detailed within the body of this report, however the Director of Corporate Services confirms that the proposed Budget has been prepared in a robust manner.
	1.4.	The Cabinet needs to consider these detailed proposals and make recommendations to County Council in accordance with Council policy.
	1.5.	The provisional settlement was more favourable than expected, however there remains considerable uncertainty facing local authority finances, as outlined in this report.  Local Government financing remains on a precarious footing and is likely to remain so for a number of years. Yet again, decisions have had to be made in respect of prioritisation of services and the inclusion of further budget reductions in order to achieve what hopefully is an acceptable Council Tax increase.

	2.	Consultation
	2.1.	The original proposals have been subjected to a wide ranging consultation exercise since the Budget Strategy. In order to seek the widest possible response, the public consulation was launched on 21st December 2022, ahead of the budget reports presented to the Cabinet on the 9th January 2023.  with the groups and committees being invited to comment:-

	3.	Budget requirement 2023/24
	3.1.	Current Year Performance (2022/23) and Pay award Impact
	3.1.1.	As the Authority’s core spending requirements remains constant year on year, a review of current year’s performance is important in identifying whether there are any underlying problems within the base budget.
	3.1.2.	The current projection for the Revenue Outturn for 2022/23 (based on the October 2022 monitoring) is as follows:
	The main reasons for the departmental variances are as follows:
	o	Chief Executive’s Department: underspends on member pay and travelling, registrars and vacant posts across the department, offset by People Management overspends
	o	Education and Children’s Services: Significant overspends in Children’s services due to increased demand and agency costs, overspends in ALN budgets and School Meals Service, offset by additional grants in Early Years non-maintained provision.
	o	Communities Department: underspends in Older Peoples and Physical Disabilities budgets are offset by overspends in Learning Disabilities and Mental Health divisions. Additionally, Leisure income levels have been gradually returning to pre-pandemic levels, however this creates an in-year overspend. It should also be noted that without the sectoral staffing shortages in social care, the overspend could be significantly higher.
	o	Corporate Services: there are underspends on pre-Local Government Reorganisation pension costs, and Council Tax Reduction, partially offset by an overspend in Rent Allowances.
	o	Environment Department: Overspends in waste services, school transport and reduced car park usage post-pandemic, offset by vacant posts and reduced property maintenance activity due to contractor capacity.
	The teachers enhanced pay offer made by Welsh Government is not included in the above figures however it is assumed that in respect of 2022/23 it will be funded.
	3.1.3.	In planning for next year’s budget and the medium term, the single largest financial risk is the level of inflation, including how it affects the level of nationally agreed pay awards and the cost of purchasing 3rd party goods and services, in particular commissioned care.
	Validation
	3.1.4.	Validation reflects the changes in expenditure requirements to deliver the current level of services in future years. Primarily this is inflation, but also includes some service specific changes.
	3.1.5.	At the time of last year’s report, CPI inflation was at 5.4% and was forecast by the Bank of England to peak at over 7% and then reduce. Against this, CPI reached 11.1% in October 2022 and has remained above 9% since last April. In line with its overarching mandate to target a 2% level, the Bank of England has responded with multiple interest rate rises, most recently to 4%. Given the current uncertainty, our budget strategy is to set inflationary assumptions for next year at 5% generally, with specifically higher allowances for energy, transport fuel and food purchases. Further ahead, we have assumed a gradual easing over years 2 and 3 of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). This provides departments with an element of protection against price movements, however this is recognised as a key risk. The proposed validation factors are detailed below:
	When considering changes to the final budget, members should note that the whilst the 10% income validation was set as a corporate approach where possible, individual service changes are expected to follow the detail charging digests provided to scrutiny committees as part of the consultation process. Many of our charges are not able to be varied from nationally set levels or caps. On this basis, income was estimated on a conservative basis in the draft budget, and following more detailed calculations, can now be uplifted by £850k.
	3.1.6.	It is proposed that for 2023/24, the requirement to increase capital charges can be removed. Challenging contractor capacity constraints have caused delays to existing capital schemes, which has lessened our need to borrow, and there is currently an increased offset from the increased investment income generated from positive cash balances. This is however expected to be only temporary, as interest rates are expected to reduce again over the medium term, and industry capacity issues ease, leading to greater delivery, not least of which is our investment in the coming years as part of the Swansea Bay City Region.
	3.1.7.	The Swansea Bay City Region is responsible for 9 projects and is reliant upon £241m of UK and Welsh Government Funding. During 2018/19 a joint agreement was approved by all four Local Authorities and a Joint Committee was created. The principle behind the funding structure of the City Deal is that each Local Authority will be required to borrow the value of the funding allocated to their project and the UK and Welsh Government will repay this debt over a period of up to 15 years. The County Council is the Accountable Body for the whole City Deal and also has ownership of four projects: Yr Egin; Pentre Awel (Wellness & Life Science Village); Skills and Talent programme; and Digital Infrastructure – the last two being regional projects.
	Phase 1 of Y Egin project is complete and ideas for Phase 2 are being developed. The Pentre Awel project, which is the County Council’s main strategic project is at an exciting position, where enabling works has commenced and the main contractor for the Zone 1 contract is imminently due to be signed for the delivery of the core elements of the project including the Leisure, Health and Academic elements of the build. This key development is due to be completed and occupied in Autumn 2024.
	The value of the Pentre Awel project (Zone 1) and the funding has been included within the Capital Programme, as the County Council will be required to borrow against this scheme.
	3.1.8.	In large part driven by inflationary forces, there is significant uncertainty in the budget which relates to pay costs for all staff. This final budget maintains the budget strategy assumption of a 5% award for our NJC staff in April 2023.
	For staff on NJC terms and conditions, the nationally set April 2022 award of a fixed cash sum of £1,925 was predicated on the need to deliver against a substantial increase in the National Living Wage. In order to maintain pay differentials between spinal pay points, the fixed sum was for employers the most affordable way to achieve this, and delivered an increase of more that 10% at the lowest point, with the percentage reducing gradually, the higher the grade.
	It is possible that a similar approach may again be applied next year – should this be the case, our 5% assumption would allow for an increase of around £1,400 - £1,500 – anything above this would represent an unfunded budget pressure.
	Calculations on our pay budgets this year have been particularly detailed – in addition to the normal uplifts, the following amendments have been incorporated:
		The required budgetary “catchup” for the April 2022 award,  previously estimated at an additional 3.1%
		Application of reductions from top of scale budgeting to exact pay points, including incremental drift for around 1,500 staff, and adjustments for income generating services, Housing Revenue Account funded roles and capitalised salaries
		Applying the reversal of the health and social care levy of 1.25% National Insurance
		A reduction of 1.8% to Employer pension contributions
	3.1.9.	For teachers pay, the picture is likewise complicated:
		There is a similar need to build in “budgetary catchup” for the full year effect of the September 2022 pay award. The previous offer was 5% versus a 4% assumption – i.e. a 1% catchup.
		However, less than a fortnight ago, an improved offer of 6.5% was made by Welsh Government plus a one-off sum of 1.5% extra. Our budget assumption is that additional funding will be forthcoming from Welsh Government to meet this additional cost, either through specific grants or increased Aggregate External Finance.
		Looking ahead to the September 2023 award, the recommendation of the Independent Welsh Pay Review Body was an increase of 3.5%, which would raise teachers starting salaries to above £30,000. However, media outlets are now reporting that Ministers have agreed to relook at this as part of current pay negotiations with Unions. Given this, it is questionable how deliverable the 3.5% now is. As such it seems prudent to maintain our 5% assumption.
	3.1.10.	The budget strategy provided for an increase in the Fire Levy of 13%, as well as an explicit pressure in respect of Welsh Government withdrawal of grants. The Fire Authority has now agreed its final budget, including the reserve funding to meet additional costs arising from the cessation of the Emergency Services Network grant, but have increased the Levy to cover the the redesignation of a pensions grant by Welsh Government – we are informed that this will be added into the final Local Authority settlement. Pending formal confirmation of figures, our assumption is that the original £150k pressure allowed for will be sufficient to meet any shortfall, but this will not be clear until the final settlement is received on 1 March.
	There are minor changes to the Levies of the Brecon Beacons National Park Levy and South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee
	3.1.11.	There is a clear risk to the Budget Strategy as departments may find it difficult to manage their expenditure within these parameters, especially where service specific inflationary increases may differ to the global validation rates. Following the removal of £1.5m from the corporate contingency as proposed in the budget strategy report, this budget currently stands at £1.3m pending any future allocations. This risk is something that will require close monitoring during the year.
	3.1.12.	In total validation adds £30.3m onto the current year’s budget.

	3.2.	Cost Reduction Programme
	3.2.1.	As detailed in the report to Cabinet on 9th January 2023, in anticipation of the settlement not being sufficient to cover demand pressures and inflationary factors, significant work in identifying further service efficiencies/ rationalisation proposals had been undertaken and more than 100 individual savings proposals were included for consideration.
	3.2.2.	The current proposals are attached in Appendix B and are categorised as follows:
	Managerial – cost reductions that result in no perceivable change to the overall level of service delivery or Council policy
	Policy – Efficiency or service rationalisation proposals that will directly affect service delivery (generally frontline).

	3.2.3.	Equality Impact Assessments have been conducted on new policy proposals. These are intended to identify whether these savings could have a disproportionate impact on one or more groups. Where this is the case appropriate consultation with representatives of such groups will be conducted and measures to mitigate the impact will be considered where possible.
	3.2.4.	All ‘existing policy’ proposals have undergone public consultation and Equality Impact Assessments have been prepared in previous years, and updated where necessary.
	3.2.5.	The cost reductions included in the draft budget strategy were as follows:
	Following feedback from the budget consultation activities undertaken, it is recommended that the following amendments are made to the budget:
	Adjustments to savings proposals have been reflected in the detailed list provided in Appendix B, giving a revised total for 2023/24 of £8.078m.

	3.3.	New Expenditure  Pressures
	3.3.1.	New expenditure pressures are the combination of additional cost to meet existing service needs e.g. increased client base/greater service take up and the costs of meeting change in service provision e.g. policy changes.
	3.3.2.	The draft budget provided £12.150m of funding towards known and unavoidable service pressures. This included a sum of £250k unallocated, to provide for any new risks that were identified. As this has not been the case, this sum can now be released.
	A full list of core funded pressures is provided at Appendix C.
	3.3.3.	After pay awards, the single largest budget increase for the authority next year is the uplift in energy costs. At the time of draft budget preparation, around two thirds of energy volumes had been secured by Crown Commercial Services, with a forecast increase of £9.5m required. Now that almost all purchases have been completed for next year, a reduction in wholesale market prices over recent months has reduced this sum to £8.4m, reducing the budget requirement by £1.1m.
	In addition, members should note that there were increases to specific grant funding allocations made by Welsh Government alongside the provisional settlement in respect of Additional Learning Needs, Pupil Development Grant, and Recruit Recover Raise Standards funding.

	3.4.	Schools Delegated Budgets
	3.4.1.	The draft budget was constructed on the basis of full funding to schools for known and unavoidable pay, pensions and inflationary increases. Against this, an explicit reduction of £2.7m (2.1%) was proposed, which recognised the scale of overall budget shortfall and the need for all areas of Council services to find efficiencies. As referenced in the table at paragraph 3.2.5 above and in appendix C, this sum has been reduced by £700k to £2.0m in recognition of the public consultation responses.
	3.4.2.	With teachers pay representing the largest line item in school budgets, there remains continued financial risk over pay rises, and the funding required by schools to meet them. As identified in paragraph 3.1.3 above, there is this year a double risk with not only uncertainty about the September 2023 award, but the current negotiations regarding the September 2022 award. This remains a considerable risk to school finances. Should any further increase agreed by Welsh Government not be accompanied by additional funding, this would fall upon Council/school budgets.


	4.	Funding
	4.1.	Revenue Settlement 2023/24
	4.1.1.	WG are not due to publish the final local government settlement for 2023/24 until 1st March 2023.
	4.1.2.	Consequently, this paper is based on information already released in relating to specific funding elements as well as officers’ assumptions where appropriate. Our working assumption is that the only change WG will make to the headline level of funding is the transfer in of the firefighters pension funding as explained in paragraph 3.1.4 above. This sum, calculated at £383k, has been added to our provisional settlement for final budget calculations.
	4.1.3.	Our draft budget was based on the actual increase of 0.50% to the tax base in 2023/24, increasing budgeted Council Tax receipts by around £0.5m when compared to the current year.
	4.1.4.	When added to the contingency sum in the draft budget, the items highlighted in the report create total budget headroom of £1.790m as set out below:
	Bringing together all the proposals contained in the paper, the final budget amendments are summarised below:
	Taking account of the budget amendments outlined above responding to individual pressure points and consultation feedback, it is recommended that the remaining sum be applied to Council Tax. The outcome would allow members to reduce the planned increase slightly to 6.8% in response to the clear consultation feedback from the public. Whilst this is higher than desirable, this is nevertheless considerably lower than the prevailing level of inflation at this time, and represents a reasonable balance between Council Tax and the need to protect essential daily services.
	Taking account of any recommendations made by Cabinet to County Council, the Director of Corporate Services will need to make any future changes necessary in consultation with the Chief Executive, the Leader and the Cabinet Member for Resources, following receipt of the Final Settlement information from WG on 1st March.
	4.1.5.	Based on the provisional information, the salient points of next year’s settlement are noted below:
	4.1.6.	The draft settlement for 2023/24 gave an increase in Standard Spending Assessment (SSA) for Carmarthenshire of £28.0m (6.6%) with a similar increase on an all Wales basis reflecting the significant pressures the sector is facing.
	4.1.7.	There remains considerable uncertainty in future years. Whilst Welsh Government did announce an uplift from 2.4% to 3.0% for 2024/25, this change is dwarfed by other figures such as pay awards, inflation, and even the variation between individual local authorities. As we do not know what these assumptions are, it is hard to assess how generous the uplift is.
	4.1.8.	Welsh Government confirmed in its draft budget on 20th  December that Business Rate Poundage is to be frozen at the current rate of 53.5p, providing at least some budgetary relief, the Authority’s own business rates bill is c. £6m, with the lion’s share of costs borne by schools, car parks and leisure centres.
	4.1.9.	The table below provides a summary of the overall position for this authority after the final settlement:

	The difference represents the sum which WG estimates Local Authorities will need to raise through taxation or charging. The SSA update this year has incorporated some unusual changes, including a 7% reduction in the assumed cost of debt financing (vs rising interest rates) and a fire levy uplift assumption of 3%, versus 16.5% notified.
	Internal Funding
	4.1.10.	Generally speaking, whilst the use of reserves to support annual budgets should not be summarily discounted, it must be treated with caution. Funding on-going expenditure from such funds merely defers and compounds difficult financial problems to the following year. One-off items of expenditure within any budget proposal lend themselves better for such funding support.
	4.1.11.	In deliberating this point however, members must bear in mind any inherent risks that may be built into the budget strategy. These include:
	4.1.12.	The following table summarises the main categories of reserves held by the Authority.

	4.2.	School Reserves
	4.2.1.	Schools have delegated responsibility for the management of their own finances.   The level of reserves held by an individual school at any point in time will depend on a number of factors including the level of contingency fund that the school governing body considers appropriate and the particular plans each school has for expenditure. The forward forecast is based on the current year budget monitoring and an expectation of multi-year deficit recovery plans to be finalised.
	4.2.2.	Legislation allows schools to carry forward reserves from one financial period to another.  Current guidance requires schools to limit their carry forward to £50,000 for Primary Schools and £100,000 for Secondary Schools or 5% of their budget dependent on what is greater. School Improvement officers continually work with schools to ensure they comply with the guidance. As at 31st March 2022, 17 primary, 2 secondary and one special school were in deficit.


	5.	General Reserves
	5.1.1.	In the changeable and challenging environment currently facing Local Government the Authority is committed to maintaining a reasonable level of General Reserves or Balances.   Whilst there is no prescribed minimum level for Balances, the Authority has previously deemed 3% of net expenditure as being a prudent level, which has been accepted by our Auditors as being reasonable. As at 31st March 2022, General Reserves stood at £13.468m, or 3.2% of the 2022/23 net revenue budget.
	5.1.2.	The overall level of Balances is taken into consideration each year when the annual budget is set and has on occasions been utilised to augment expenditure/reduce Council Tax. The 2022/23 budget was set on the basis of a nil transfer from General Reserves.
	5.1.3.	As outlined in paragraph 3.1.2, the current year forecast is indicating an overspend position of £3.5m. This prudently assumed an in-year overspend on grant funded posts which would need to be met from core budgets – as such the overspend is expected to reduce somewhat, though it is likely an overspend position will remain. On this basis it is deemed imprudent at this stage to assume any further support for future years budgets from the current General Reserves.
	5.2.	Earmarked Reserves
	5.2.1.	The Authority holds earmarked reserves which have been set up to finance the delivery of specific projects, or in protecting the authority against future liabilities or issues. The reserves can be summarised as follows:
	5.2.2.	As can be seen from the table above the level of earmarked reserves fluctuates greatly year on year, and whilst the level in each fund is not an exact science it is based on an informed estimate and past experience of the likely call on the authority in future years in line with the intended purpose of each reserve. Great care must therefore be taken when considering utilising such funds for purposes other than those which they were created as this could lead to the authority being faced with substantial unfunded liabilities in the future.
	5.2.3.	Taking account of the proposals within this report, including the use of reserves, the Director of Corporate Services confirms that overall the estimated level of financial reserves (as indicated above) is adequate for the financial year 2023/24, with the General Reserves as set out in paragraph 5.1.1 being at the minimum that could be supported.


	6.	Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
	6.1.	In considering the budget proposals, members need to take into consideration the requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The Act requires that we must carry out sustainable development, improving the economic, social environmental and cultural well-being of Wales.
	‘… the public body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs’
	6.2.	In doing so, we must demonstrate the following 5 ways of working:
		Looking at the long-term so that we do not compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs
		Understanding the root causes of the issues to prevent them recurring
		Taking an integrated approach so that we look at all well-being goals and objectives of other services and partners
		Collaboration – Working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions
		Involving a diversity of population in decisions that affect them
	6.3.	Carmarthenshire’s Well Being objectives were updated in April 2021:
	Start Well
	1. Help to give every child the best start in life and improve their early life experiences
	2. Help children live healthy lifestyles
	Live Well
	3. Support and improve progress, achievement, and outcomes for all learners
	4. Tackle poverty by doing all we can to prevent it, help people into work and improve the lives of those living in poverty
	5. Create more jobs and growth throughout the county
	6. Increase the availability of rented and affordable homes
	7. Help people live healthy lives (tackling risky behaviour and obesity)
	8. Support community cohesion, resilience and safety
	Age Well
	9. Support older people to age well and maintain dignity and independence in their later years
	In a Healthy and Safe Environment
	10. Look after the environment now and for the future
	11. Improve the highway and transport infrastructure and connectivity
	12. Promote Welsh Language and Culture
	Corporate governance
	13. Better Governance and use of Resources

	7.	medium term financial plan  and council tax proposal 2023/24
	7.1.	The table below provides members with a summary of the latest position which reflects the contents of this report.
	Assuming that the Council Tax increase is set to 6.8%, this will give an estimated income from Council Tax of £111.930m which when added to the Welsh Government settlement will provide a net available expenditure budget for the Authority of £450.330m.
	A full summary of the Budget Build up can be seen in Table 1.
	7.1.1.	Years 2 and 3 of the Medium Term Financial Plan assume the identification of a further £2.329m and £0.314m savings proposals in 2024/25 and 2025/26 respectively, and delivery of all proposals in full in order to achieve a balanced budget. These will be re-visited when we are preparing the following years draft budget strategy
	7.1.2.	It must be emphasised that the figures for the outer two years of the plan are indicative only and must therefore be treated with caution as the settlement figures, growth pressures and the inflation assumptions contained therein will all be subject to revision as the year progresses and firmer data becomes available.
	Recommendations

	7.2.	That Cabinet consider and recommend to County Council:
	7.2.1.	The Budget Strategy for 2023/24, which includes the amendments at paragraph 4.1.4;
	7.2.2.	The Band D Council Tax for 2023/24 of £1,490.97 (an increase of 6.80%);
	7.2.3.	The removal of specific savings proposals as identified in paragraph 3.2.5
	7.2.4.	The restriction of income uplifts to school meals and car parks as identified in paragraph 3.2.5
	7.2.5.	The discretionary allocation of pressures funding to highways and town centres as identified in paragraph 3.2.5
	7.2.6.	The Medium Term Financial Plan which will form the basis for future years financial planning;

	7.3.	That Cabinet/County Council delegates to the Director of Corporate Services, in consultation with the Chief Executive, Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources, to make any amendments necessary as a consequence of the WG final settlement due on 1st March 2023.


	Atodiad A
	1) OUTLINE OF APPROACH AND CONSULTATION METHODS
	2) RESPONDENT PROFILE
	3) SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS
	4) CONSULTATION FINDINGS – ALL PROPOSALS
	Increase in chargable services
	Council Tax
	5) INSIGHT 2023
	6) NOTES FROM BUDGET CONSULTATION MEETINGS
	7) MINUTES OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS

	Atodiad B
	Atodiad C
	TABLE 1

	5.2 RHAGLEN GYFALAF PUM MLYNEDD 2023/24 - 2027/28.
	Adroddiad
	1	INTRODUCTION
	1.1.	The report provides members with a view of the proposed five-year Capital Programme 2023/24, 2024/25, 2025/26,2026/27 and 2027/28.
	1.2.	This report reflects the position following consultation and sets out the proposals for the authority’s capital programme for the next five years.
	1.3.	In response to the consultation and the matters raised in the scrutiny committee meeting, the capital programme has been updated to give additional support for flood mitigation and decarbonisation measures.
	1.4.	The authority is required to approve a rolling capital programme each year as part of its budget setting process. This facilitates forward planning and is consistent with the requirements of the Prudential Code in terms of financial planning and funding while assisting officers in bidding for external funding.
	1.5.	The Cabinet needs to consider the detailed proposals within the report and approve the recommendations in accordance with council policy.

	2.	CONSULTATION
	2.1.	The detailed provisional capital programme (Appendix A) was presented to the Corporate Performance and Resources Scrutiny Committee on                30th January 2023 to seek its views on the proposals. An extract from the relevant Committee meeting minutes is appended (Appendix B) for information.

	3.	Background
	3.1.	Last year the authority agreed a fully funded five-year capital programme 2022/23 to 2026/27 which was approved at County Council on 2nd March 2022.
	3.2.	2021 was an unprecedented year and saw us reprioritise our capital strategy and capital programme to reflect the desire to boost local businesses and local economies in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  This commitment remained our focus last year and coupled with the UK Government’s levelling up funding saw the start of significant investments to boost the Carmarthenshire economy.  During 2022 we faced multiple challenges from rising costs, rising inflation and reductions in government funding, those challenges remain as we look to prioritise our spending in 2023/24 and beyond.  The truth is that the council has never faced the pressures on budgets that we currently face.   The capital programme has been reviewed and departments also submitted proposals for new critically urgent projects for the programme. Projects have been assessed and prioritised with only the highest priorities being included in the programme.  Given the cost pressures on the revenue budgets no wider expressions of interest were invited.  This will enable projects already approved to be completed without putting addition pressures on resources and local contractor capacity.
	3.3.	The proposed capital programme is attached in Appendix A and shows the anticipated expenditure and sources of funding over the five year period.
	3.4.	The proposed capital programme and funding is based on the Welsh Government’s (WG) provisional settlement, received on 14th December 2022.  This year the capital funding across Wales has been confirmed at £180m for 2023/24 and 2024/25 which is 8.1% lower in real terms compared to the 2022/23 capital budget. For Carmarthenshire this means an allocation of non-hypothecated capital funding of £11.989m.  Other hypothecated capital funding grants across Wales totalling £925.948m was announced in the settlement and we will be applying to take advantage of this grant funding in due course but it is not reflected in the programme at this time.  Any successful applications for funding will be reported separately.  The Final Settlement, is due in March.  Should there be any amendments in the funding figures Cabinet/County Council is asked to delegate to the Director of Corporate Services authority to adjust the programme accordingly, in liaison with the Chief Executive, Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources.  Similarly, delegated authority to update the programme is sought should any other award of grant funding be received at the same time, again in consultation with the same.

	4.	Priorities
	4.1.	The current Corporate Strategy for 2018-2023 (refreshed June 2021) sets out the Authority’s strategic priorities, aspirations, overarching themes and core values, and the programme has been developed in line with these, whilst also recognising the priorities that have come forward as a consequence of the pandemic and Levelling Up funding.
	4.2.	The proposed capital programme of £265m over the five years (which includes some reprofiled projects from previous years), is aimed at delivering a number of key projects that will create jobs and improve the quality of life for the people of Carmarthenshire.
	The key investments within the programme are:
	£’m
	Schools					73
	Housing (Non HRA)			12
	Lesiure & Culture			  4
	Regeneration				27
	Swansea City Deal Region	           86
	ICT and Property			  4
	Place and Infrastructure		59

	5.	Funding
	The provisional settlement received from WG allocated capital funding of £11.989m for the Authority in 2023/24, made up of non-hypothecated supported borrowing of £5.914m and General Capital Grant of £6.075m.
	5.1.	The level of capital receipts funding included within the programme is £3.5m for the Llanelli Leisure centre project. It should be noted that there may be a need to amend future capital programmes if there is a shortfall in expected receipts.
	5.2.	The use of earmarked reserves was approved as part of previous years’ reports and were included as funding for the current capital programme. In total £45.2m of reserve funding is included over the five years of the programme.
	5.3.	The existing levels of investment into the schools estate programme is maintained with a realisation that additional funding will be needed in future years to deliver the whole MEP programme.  New match funding is made available from reserves and prudential borrowing to deliver the next phase of new school builds.
	5.4.	Funding from external parties in the form of grants for the whole of the capital programme is currently expected to be in the region of £100.4m. which includes City Deal, Levelling Up projects and anticipated schools gants.
	5.5.	As part of the provisional annual settlement from Welsh Government, funding was made available on an all Wales basis for the following areas:
		Active Travel Fund, Local Transport Fund, Bus Infrastructure, Road Safety and Safe Routes in Communities - £107m for 2023/24. Carmarthenshire will bid for funding from these grants and any successful awards will be added to the capital programme in due course.

	5.6.	Disappointingly, no award was made for Highways Refurbishment or Resilient Roads funding as in previous years which means we have had to revise down our commitments in this area.

	6.	Capital pROGRAMME 2023/24 to 2027/28
	6.1.	When the capital programme was approved at County Council on 2nd March 2022 it was fully funded. The new capital programme again remains fully funded over the five-year period, however, it is proposed to undercommit some of the available funding from the Welsh Government in order to give flexibility across the programme to cover any unexpected additional costs on approved projects.
	Community Services
	6.2.	In recent years there have been significant investments across the Community Services portfolio with investments in the new Carmarthenshire Archive, Museums in Abergwili and Parc Howard and the ongoing development at Oriel Myrddin.
	6.3.	The new programme includes the provision of a new leisure centre in Llanelli, which will be delivered in conjunction with the Pentre Awel development under the umbrella of the Swansea Bay City Region.
	6.4.	In 2027/28 within Private Sector Housing, further funding is provided for Disabled Facility Grants of £2.5m.
	Environment
	6.5.	For 2027/28 further allocations to existing rolling programmes of work are included, namely Highway Improvements £600k, Highway Drainage £250K, Bridge Maintenance £400k, Road Safety Improvement £250k, public lighting £400k.
	Given the disappointing omission of specific Highways Improvement grant funding in the WG settlement, in 2022/23 we were able to supplement this with £1m of our own resources.  We will be able to continue this support in 2023/24 funded from borrowing because we have been able to take advantage of more favourable borrowing rates than was supported by the Welsh Government under the LGBI initiativie.  This is in addition to our annual commitment of £600k already mentioned.  We will continue to work with the WG in the hope that funding towards highways can be restored in future years.
	6.6.	2027/28 also sees the continuation of our commitment to Rights of Way and Byways with funding of £66k, in recognition of our obligations in this area and the wider community health and environmental benefits provided by these valuable resources.
	6.7.	Our commitment to the Tywi Valley Path project continues with £18.2m included in the new programme, £1,864k in-house funding together with the grant of £16.8m from the UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund.    A major investment which will bring significant benefits to the rural economy in the medium to long-term and improvements in  health and wellbeing for residents.
	6.8.	Funding for flood risk management of £75k in 2023/24 continues in order to  match fund external grants.
	6.9.	£1m additional funds have been incorporated within the first three years to support flood mitigation.
	6.10.	£500k in provided in 2023/24 to further support the Council’s decarbonisation programme.
	6.11.	Significant investment continues to be made available to the upkeep and refurbishment of the County’s estate.
		Works continue at County Hall, alongside £300k for county farms slurry infrastructure.
		In addition in 2027/28 it is proposed to continue the annual allocation towards Capital Maintenance across the county estate at £3m. (£15.2m across the five years.) This maintains our investment is this area whilst recognising that the estate may be downsized in coming years as we aim to release capital receipts to fund future programmes.
	6.12.	£4.7m for refuse and recycling vehicle replacement is included, which will see the rollout of kerbside sorting for recycling collections.  It is hoped that this project will attract significant funding from WG in the future which will see investment in the infrastructure at Nantycaws and the replacement of the current refuse lorries with an electric fleet in the coming years.  It will make a huge contribution to our efforts to decarbonise our services to address local, national and global commitments to Net Zero Carbon.
	6.13.	A five-year Fleet Replacement Programme for £4.5m, excluding refuse and recycling collection vehicles, is included to ensure that vehicles and plant machinery assets are replaced when they reach the end of their viable economic life. The funding for this capital spend will be provided directly from revenue budgets of the service users via prudential borrowing.
	6.14.	As part of the provisional settlement, £20m per annum from 2023/24 will be made available on an all Wales basis for the decarbonisation agenda.  We will work with the WG and other local authorities and organisations to see how this funding can be best utilised to have the greatest impact across the authority’s estate, and across Wales, in response to the climate emergency.
	Education and Children
	6.15.	In the Education and Children Services capital programme, the MEP includes the continuation of the Sustainable Communities for Learning improvement programme. Schemes are funded jointly by Welsh Government grant and the Authority.
	6.16.	There are eight schools included in the programme at design stage.  As they complete final business case stage and receive offers of grant funding from the Welsh Government they will be included in the delivery stage of the programme.  Future reports will seek approval for inclusion in the programme if and when external funding is secured. Internal match funding will be from the Consolidated MEP Delivery Fund.
	6.17.	It is proposed to award a further £500k in 2027/28 to fund ongoing pressures on the education budget, namely: Equalities Works, Health and Safety measures, Mobile Classroom Provision.
	6.18.	To mitigate ongoing health and safety concerns at a number of school drop-off sites we propose to provide £850k in 2023/24 and 2024/25 for the provision of new bus bays and traffic management projects.  This will be funded by MEP unsupported prudential borrowing.
	6.19.	An autism spectrum disorder (ASD) unit for secondary age pupils is urgently needed in the east of the county. This will be accommodated in the Llanelli/ Burry Port Area.  It is hoped that this will attract government funding of approximately £1.5m. It is proposed to provide a further £500k in match funding for the provision of the same from our own resources to meet our responsibilities in this area.  This will be funded by MEP unsupported prudential borrowing.
	Chief Executive
	6.20.	ICT services are crucial to our future ways of working.  There is £2.4m allocated across the programme for this area.  It includes annual funding of £200k per ammun to support digital transformational projects across council services. The county council will also see the benefit of the Swansea Bay City Region Digital Project across the county.
	Regeneration
	6.21.	The work to deliver the new Carmarthen town centre hub continues.  A new community resource, in partnership with healthcare and education providers. It will also see a new home for some of the county’s art collections currently unseen by the public, and a new fitness suite. This development will bring footfall back to the town centre and be a catalyst for the regeneration and revitalisation of Carmarthen town centre.
	6.22.	In the medium term we will need to be able to support new regeneration projects as they are developed. We are therefore making new awards of £2m per year in 2026/27 and 2027/28 to Regeneration Schemes Match Funding, which in turn will be utilised to attracted external grant funding to developments across the county.
	6.23.	Work continues on the Pentre Awel project (Zone 1), delivered under the Swansea Bay City Region programme, which will create five distinct buildings linked with a “street” space, comprising an aquatics centre, sports hall, multipurpose sports and fitness rooms and gym, education and training facilities, clinical delivery and research and innovation and business space. The budgeted costs of Zone 1 which started in 2018/19 are increasing at the moment and we are in negotiations with the contractor currently. The  funding will be via City Deal (£40m), County Council finances, Llanelli Waterfront JV, third party Health parters, and external market funding, £26m of which falls within year one of the new programme.  The latest estimated cost is included within the programme.
	The project also includes the provision of a hydro-therapy pool, which will be part of the leisure element, the funding for which includes approximately £1m from a trust.  This project has recently been subject to a separate County Councvil report.  With reference to the City Deal funding, the expenditure - whilst being incurred by the Authority, will be repaid to the Authority over a period of up to 15 years by both Welsh and UK governments. The structure of the City Deal projects means that WG expects the Authority to deliver the projects and raise the funding through borrowing which will then be repaid over a 15 year period. The projects or the Authority will need to accommodate the interest payments on this borrowing.
	6.24.	The Pentre Awel development also provides for an assisted housing development programme, in Zone 3, which is part of the HRA capital programme.
	6.25.	The County Council will also have an input in other regional projects delivered by the Swansea Bay City Region given its role as lead body.

	7.	Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
	7.1.	In considering the capital programme, members need to take into consideration the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The Act requires the public bodies to carry out development sustainably, improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales.
	‘… the public body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs’
	7.2.	In doing so, we must demonstrate the following five ways of working:
	i.	Looking at the long-term so that we do not compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs
	ii.	Understanding the root causes of issues to prevent them recurring
	iii.	Taking an integrated approach so that we look at all well-being goals and objectives of other services and partners
	iv.	Working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions
	v.	Involving a diversity of population in decisions that affect them
	7.3.	The act identifies seven well-being goals and provide a shared vision for public bodies to work towards. We must work towards achieving all of them.
	i.	A prosperous Wales
	ii.	A resilient Wales
	iii.	A healthier Wales
	iv.	A more equal Wales
	v.	A Wales of cohesive communities
	vi.	A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language
	vii.	A globally responsible Wales

	7.4.	Our well-being objectives are designed to maximise our contribution to achieving the seven well-being goals of the Act.
	7.5.	All projects within the programme have been assesses and scored with the five ways of working, the seven goals and our corporate well-being statement in mind.

	8.	Summary
	The table below gives a breakdown of the expenditure by departments and the sources of funding.
	8.1.	To summarise the overall position, all approved projects within the capital programme are fully funded for the five years from 2023/24 to 2027/28, however, not all available funding is commited at this time in order to give us flexibility to deal with future cost pressures or urgent works which may arise.
	8.2.	The total cost of the programme is £264.9m of which £100.4m is funded from external grants and contributions.
	8.3.	The full detail of the proposed five-year capital programme is attached in Appendix A.

	9.	Revenue IMPLICATIONS
	9.1.	The revenue budget strategy in 2023/24 allows for a £400k increase in the revenue budget implications of the capital programme.

	10.	Recommendations
	10.1.	The five-year Capital Programme and funding as detailed in Appendix A, with 2023/24 being a hard budget and 2024/25 to 2027/28 soft/indicative budgets.
	10.2.	That the programme be reviewed, as is usual, if predicted external or county council funding does not materialise.
	10.3.	That the Capital Strategy in Appendix C be approved.
	and
	10.4.	That Cabinet/County Council delegates to the Director of Corporate Services, in consultation with the Chief Executive, Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources, authority to make any amendments to the programme necessary as a consequence of the final settlement from the Welsh Government due on        1st March 2023.


	Atodiad A
	Atodiad B
	Atodiad C

	5.3 POLISI RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS A STRATEGAETH  2023-24
	Adroddiad
	MEETING OF THE COUNCIL
	B.	CIPFA PRUDENTIAL CODE AND CIPFA TREASURY MANAGEMENT CODE OF PRACTICE
	C.	TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY
	1.	This Council defines its Treasury Management activities as:

	Atodiad A
	Council Action
	Explanation
	Council Action

	Atodiad B
	Atodiad C
	Atodiad D
	1.	THE PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS
	The following indicators are based on the figures put forward within the Capital and Revenue Plans set out in this report.
	1.1.	Affordability
	1.1.1.	Estimates of ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

	1.2.	Prudence
	1.2.1.	The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)
	The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below:
	1.2.2.	The Gross Borrowing and Capital Financing Requirement indicator
	1.2.3.	External Debt
	The Council is asked to approve both the Authorised Limit and the                 Operational Boundary shown above.
	1.2.4.	Actual External Debt

	1.3.	Liability Benchmark
	1.3.1.	Liability Benchmark



	Atodiad E
	minimum revenue provision (mrp) statement


	5.4 STRATEGAETH GORFFORAETHOL CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN 2022-27
	Adroddiad

	6.1 30 IONAWR, 2023
	6.2 13 CHWEFROR 2023

